VASCULAR DYSFUNCTION BEYOND PATHOLOGICAL PREGNANCIES. AN INTERNATIONAL EFFORT ADDRESSED TO FILL THE GAPS IN LATIN AMERICA

EDITED BY: Carlos Alonso Escudero, Fernanda Regina Giachini, Carlos Galaviz-Hernandez and Alicia E. Damiano PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Physiology







Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2019 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved. All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use. ISSN 1664-8714

ISBN 978-2-88963-201-5 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88963-201-5

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

VASCULAR DYSFUNCTION BEYOND PATHOLOGICAL PREGNANCIES. AN INTERNATIONAL EFFORT ADDRESSED TO FILL THE GAPS IN LATIN AMERICA

Topic Editors:

Carlos Alonso Escudero, University of the Bío Bío, Chile **Fernanda Regina Giachini**, Universidade Federal de Mato Grosso, Brazil **Carlos Galaviz-Hernandez**, National Polytechnic Institute, Mexico **Alicia E. Damiano**, University of Buenos Aires, Argentina



Pregnancy is a physiologically stressful condition that generates a series of functional adaptations in the cardiovascular system. The impact of pregnancy on this system persists from conception beyond birth. Recent evidence suggests that vascular changes associated with pregnancy complications, such as preeclampsia; gestational diabetes; growth restriction; autoimmune diseases; among others, affect the function of the maternal and offspring vascular systems, after delivery and may be extended until adult life. Since the vascular system contributes to systemic homeostasis, defective development or function of blood vessels predisposes both mother and infant to future risk for chronic disease. In Latin American countries, like other low (LIC) and middle-income countries (MIC) worldwide, the rate of morbi-mortality due to both pregnancy complications and cardiovascular diseases have a higher incidence than in high-income countries (HIC). But, investigation in LIC and MIC, in particular in Latin America, still fall short of what would be expected considering the magnitude of those diseases. Although there are obvious deficiencies in terms of economies and scientific infrastructure between HIC and MIC or LIC, Latin American strength in terms of scientific productivity in this filed could be underestimated due to language limitation and publication in journals not indexed in major citation databases, resulting in low impact publications. As a result, we could speculate that potentially unique features of vascular disease associated to pregnancies complications can be unnoted in the global scientific community. Then, we would like to encourage researchers in vascular biology, in which, many groups in Latin America have contributed to both better understand vascular dysfunction associated to pregnancy diseases and show

the gaps in the literature, to overcome this hidden effect of our scientific production. This effort also will homogenize clinical concepts and knowledge that may strength the scientific effort in Latin America.

Citation: Escudero, C. A., Giachini, F. R., Galaviz-Hernandez, C., Damiano, A. E., eds. (2019). Vascular Dysfunction Beyond Pathological Pregnancies. An International Effort Addressed to Fill the Gaps in Latin America. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88963-201-5

Table of Contents

- 06 Editorial: Vascular Dysfunction Beyond Pathological Pregnancies. An International Effort Addressed to Fill the Gaps in Latin America Fernanda Regina Giachini, Carlos Galaviz-Hernandez, Alicia E. Damiano, Carlos Escudero and RIVA-TREM
- 09 Genetic Variants in Preeclampsia: Lessons From Studies in Latin-American Populations

Rafael Tomoya Michita, Valéria de Lima Kaminski and José Artur Bogo Chies

- **35** Paternal Determinants in Preeclampsia Carlos Galaviz-Hernandez, Martha Sosa-Macias, Enrique Teran, Jose Elias Garcia-Ortiz and Blanca Patricia Lazalde-Ramos, on behalf of RIVA-TREM
- **42 Obesity and Preeclampsia: Common Pathophysiological Mechanisms** Patricio Lopez-Jaramillo, Juan Barajas, Sandra M. Rueda-Quijano, Cristina Lopez-Lopez and Camilo Felix
- 52 Antioxidants and Oxidative Stress: Focus in Obese Pregnancies Martin Alcala, Sebastián Gutierrez-Vega, Erica Castro, Enrique Guzman-Gutiérrez, Maria Pilar Ramos-Álvarez and Marta Viana
- 62 Mechanisms of Endothelial Dysfunction in Antiphospholipid Syndrome: Association With Clinical Manifestations Manuela Velásquez, Mauricio Rojas, Vikki M. Abrahams, Carlos Escudero and Ángela P. Cadavid
- 72 *Mitochondria and Coenzyme Q10 in the Pathogenesis of Preeclampsia* Enrique Teran, Isabel Hernández, Leandro Tana, Santiago Teran, Carlos Galaviz-Hernandez, Martha Sosa-Macías, Gustavo Molina and Andrés Calle
- 79 New Insights Into the Role of Placental Aquaporins and the Pathogenesis of Preeclampsia

Natalia Szpilbarg, Nora A. Martínez, Mauricio Di Paola, Julieta Reppetti, Yollyseth Medina, Abril Seyahian, Mauricio Castro Parodi and Alicia E. Damiano, on behalf of Red Iberoamericana de alteraciones Vasculares Asociadas a Trastornos del Embarazo (RIVATREM)

86 Crosstalk Between Nitric Oxide and Endocannabinoid Signaling Pathways in Normal and Pathological Placentation

Cyntia E. Abán, Paula L. Accialini, Tomás Etcheverry, Gustavo F. Leguizamón, Nora A. Martinez and Mariana G. Farina

95 O-GlcNAc Modification During Pregnancy: Focus on Placental Environment

Victor Vitorino Lima, Vanessa Dela Justina, Rinaldo Rodrigues dos Passos Jr., Gustavo Tadeu Volpato, Paula Cristina S. Souto, Sebastian San Martin and Fernanda Regina Giachini on behalf of the RIVA-TREM

103 Novel Insights Into the Role of Glycans in the Pathophysiology of Glomerular Endotheliosis in Preeclampsia

M. F. Galvis-Ramírez, J. C. Quintana-Castillo and J. C. Bueno-Sanchez

113 Drug Transport at the Brain and Endothelial Dysfunction in Preeclampsia: Implications and Perspectives

Pablo Torres-Vergara, Carlos Escudero and Jeffrey Penny

125 Are the Cognitive Alterations Present in Children Born From Preeclamptic Pregnancies the Result of Impaired Angiogenesis? Focus on the Potential Role of the VEGF Family

Evelyn Lara, Jesenia Acurio, José Leon, Jeffrey Penny, Pablo Torres-Vergara and Carlos Escudero





Editorial: Vascular Dysfunction Beyond Pathological Pregnancies. An International Effort Addressed to Fill the Gaps in Latin America

Fernanda Regina Giachini¹, Carlos Galaviz-Hernandez², Alicia E. Damiano^{3,4}, Carlos Escudero^{5*} and RIVA-TREM[†]

¹ Laboratory of Vascular Biology, Institute of Biological Sciences and Health, Federal University of Mato Grosso, Barra do Garças, Brazil, ² Academia de Genómica, Instituto Politécnico Nacional-CIIDIR Durango, Durango, Mexico, ³ Laboratorio de Biología de la Reproducción, IFIBIO Houssay-UBA- CONICET, Buenos Aires, Argentina, ⁴ Cátedra de Biología Celular y Molecular, Departamento de Ciencias Biológicas, Facultad de Farmacia y Bioquímica, Universidad de Buenos Aires, Buenos Aires, Argentina, ⁵ Group of Investigation in Tumor Angiogenesis, Group of Research and Innovation in Vascular Health (GRIVAS Health), Vascular Physiology Laboratory, Department of Basic Sciences, Universidad del Bío-Bío, Chillán, Chile

Keywords: vascular, dysfuction, Latin America, pregnancy, pathological pregnancy

Editorial on the Research Topic

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Gerald A. Meininger, University of Missouri, United States

*Correspondence:

Carlos Escudero cescudero@ubiobio.cl orcid.org/0000-0001-7688-4621

[†]Red Iberoamericana de alteraciones Vasculares Asociadas a TRastornos del EMbarazo, Chillan, Chile

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Vascular Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 03 June 2019 **Accepted:** 09 July 2019 **Published:** 24 July 2019

Citation:

Giachini FR, Galaviz-Hernandez C, Damiano AE, Escudero C and RIVA-TREM (2019) Editorial: Vascular Dysfunction Beyond Pathological Pregnancies. An International Effort Addressed to Fill the Gaps in Latin America. Front. Physiol. 10:950. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00950

Vascular Dysfunction Beyond Pathological Pregnancies. An International Effort Addressed to Fill the Gaps in Latin America

Pregnancy is a physiologically stressful condition that generates a series of functional adaptations in the cardiovascular system. Recent evidence suggests that vascular changes associated with pregnancy complications may impair the function of the maternal and offspring vascular systems after delivery, being possibly extended until adult life.

In Latin American countries, like other low (LIC) and middle-income countries (MIC) worldwide, the rate of morbi-mortality due to both pregnancy complications and cardiovascular diseases have a higher incidence than in high-income countries. Paradoxically, research in this field is limited in Latin America (Giachini et al., 2017). Then, in addition to the scientific and public health implications of the maternal morbi-mortality in LIC and MIC, we also aimed to overcome geographic limitations. Therefore, our Research Topic titled "Vascular Dysfunction Beyond Pathological Pregnancies. An International Effort Addressed to Fill the Gaps in Latin America" intends to positively contribute in the scientific field, but also to visualize the challenging need for more investigation in our countries.

A highly diverse human population is observed within Latin America, and then many, risk factors for pregnancy complications are present in Latin American women. For example, the evaluation of genetic variants is critical to identify candidate genes that may contribute to the pathophysiology of pre-eclampsia in any specific population. Michita et al. have provided an integrative view of the genes evaluated by Latin American research groups, displaying a specific role on different aspects related to pre-eclampsia. They also discussed important topics related to pregnancy vascular disorders, which may be related to pre-eclampsia development, including epigenetics, transplantation biology, and non-coding RNAs.

Another interesting aspect on the pathophysiology of pre-eclampsia is that not only the mother, but also the father may be involved in the early onset of the disease, as revised by Galaviz-Hernandez et al. Indeed, the existence of a paternal antigen in the placenta has already been proposed in the specialized literature. For instance, evidences of paternal contribution include nulliparity, number

6

of partners, among others, are remarked in the Galaviz-Hernandez et al. manuscript. Interestingly, not only maternal but also paternal obesity is a risk factor for pre-eclampsia.

Maternal nutritional condition is a key component in normal pregnancy development; and malnutrition by excess constitutes another increasing risk factor to pregnancy morbidity including pre-eclampsia. Despite that, as Lopez-Jaramillo et al. remark, not only obesity increases the risk of pre-eclampsia, but also some nutritional deficiencies of essential elements, predispose the mother to suffer pregnancy complications. On this regard, Lopez-Jaramillo et al. have discussed the alterations in the L-arginine/nitric oxide pathway that are commonly observed during obesity and may represent a key element in pre-eclampsia.

Another aspect related to nutritional deficiencies as well as obesity in pregnancies is the oxi-redox balance. In this regard, Alcala et al. review current evidences related with the negative impact of obesity (a well-characterized low-state chronic inflammation and high oxidative stress condition) to generate an unhealthy environment that predispose to development of adverse outcomes during gestation. Nevertheless, they also discuss the controversial results on antioxidant supplementation as a therapeutic tool during obese pregnancies.

Another risk factor to pathological pregnancies is the antiphospholipid syndrome (APS), a well-known condition linked with endothelial dysfunction. Velásquez et al. have compared the current understanding about the mechanisms of endothelial dysfunction induced by patient-derived antiphospholipids auto-antibodies (aPL) under the two main clinical manifestations of APS: thrombosis and gestational complications, either alone or in combination. Analyzing current evidences in the field, Velásquez et al. challenge the current knowledge proposing that the mechanism of aPL-induced endothelial dysfunction depends on clinical manifestation of APS.

Placentation is clearly a key process for normal pregnancy development and many groups in Latin America have studied the placenta function. Indeed, the Latin American Society for Materno Fetal Interaction and Placenta (SLIMP) agglutin groups of researchers in this field. Teran et al. analyze the role of coenzyme Q10 (CoQ10) in placentation during pre-eclampsia. In their manuscript, extend the well-described role of CoQ10 as antioxidant and part of the mitochondria respiration chain into an effective intervention to reduce pre-eclampsia occurrence in Ecuadorian pregnant women.

We also highlight participation of other components such as aquaporins (AQPs) in the placentation process. On this regard, Szpilbarg et al. explain us how AQPs, a family of proteins that are known to work as water channel proteins, may display an additional role in the cellular homeostasis. This family of proteins also participates in cell signaling process including migration and apoptosis, which in turn are remarked component of normal placentation. Szpilbarg's manuscript details how a defective expression and activity of AQPs may result in the characteristic impaired placentation and systemic endothelial dysfunction underlying pre-eclampsia. Continuing with analysis of placentation, Abán et al., provide current evidences about the interactions between endocannabinoids (ECS) and nitrergic signaling pathways during normal and pathological placentation process, observed both in intrauterine growth restriction and pre-eclampsia. In particular, ECS (a group of lipid-signaling molecules that include amides, esters and ethers of long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids) can activate cannabinoid receptors, such as CB1 and CB2, leading to generation of nitric oxide (NO). Despite current knowledge about the relationship between ECS and NO synthesis, the underling molecular mechanisms, as well as its implications for abnormal placentation are still unclear.

In addition, Lima et al. present their work related with disturbances in the polysaccharide metabolism that may result in intracellular saccharide deposition, modulating cellular function. *O*-GlcNAcylation is a reversible post-translational modification that has been implicated as a modulator of protein function, both in physiological and pathological conditions including those in placental tissue. The interplay between *O*-GlcNAcylated placental proteins and the possible implications of this post-translational modification through placental development and pregnancy were also discussed.

Alterations in pregnancy due to pre-eclampsia, intrauterine growth restriction, or any other placental alterations are linked to systemic endothelial dysfunction, which then has profound implications in future cardiovascular health in both mother and her children. We started this analysis with the Galvis-Ramírez et al. manuscript, who reviewed the role of the structural domains of heparin sulfate (HS) in the process of selective permeability through the glomerular filtration barrier (GFB) and how these domains may be implicated in the glomerular inflammation processes observed in pre-eclamptic pregnancies.

Another key biological barrier forming by endothelial cells is the blood brain barrier (BBB), a tightly sealed monolayer of brain microvascular endothelial cells characterized by absence of fenestrations, low number of pinocytic vesicles and junctional complex formed by tight junctions and adherent junctions. In particular, it is known that the majority of maternal deaths resulting from pre-eclampsia are attributed to the coexistence of neurological complications. Torres-Vergara et al. help us to better understand this process by reviewing preclinical studies related to how the BBB is impaired in pre-eclampsia predisposing to cerebral edema and therefore brain complications in the mother not only during her pregnancy but even years after that.

Following brain complications and extending to offspring, Lara et al. propose a challenging hypothesis about how preeclampsia might impair brain angiogenesis in the offspring. In particular, they speculate how angiogenesis, as a key event for favoring the correct neurodevelopment and function could be disrupted in children born to pre-eclampsia. Proposed mechanism for impaired brain angiogenesis should consider imbalance of pro-angiogenic factors, including the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and placental growth factor (PIGF), with anti-angiogenic factors such as soluble VEGF receptor type 1 (or Flt-1).

In conclusion, although there are obvious deficiencies in terms of economies and scientific infrastructure between countries, Latin American researchers have been able to generate milestone knowledge and contribute in the better understanding of vascular alterations present in pregnancy complications, indeed, it is the spirit of the Iberoamerican consortium called RIVA-TREM (Red Iberoamericana de alteraciones Vasculares Asociadas a TRastornos del EMbarazo).

We challenge ourselves to continuing our effort to visualize productivity and more important potential geographic and cultural particularities that are partially considered in the specialized literature. Then, we would like to encourage vascular biology researchers in Latin America that have continuing contributing to both better understand vascular dysfunction associated to pregnancy diseases and show the gaps in the literature, to overcome this hidden effect of our scientific production (Alperin, 2014; Van Noorden, 2014). This effort

REFERENCES

- Alperin, J. P. (2014). South America: citation databases omit local journals. Nature 511:155. doi: 10.1038/511155c
- Giachini, F. R., Galaviz-Hernandez, C., Damiano, A. E., Viana, M., Cadavid, A., Asturizaga, P., et al. (2017). Vascular dysfunction in mother and offspring during preeclampsia: contributions from Latin-American countries. *Curr. Hypertens. Rep.* 19:83. doi: 10.1007/s11906-017-0781-7
- Van Noorden, R. (2014). The impact gap: South America by the numbers. *Nature* 510, 202–203. doi: 10.1038/510202a

also will homogenize clinical concepts and knowledge that may strength the scientific effort in Latin America focused in reducing maternal and fetal morbi-mortality in our countries.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank all research staff from the Red Iberoamericana de alteraciones Vasculares Asociadas a TRastornos del EMbarazo (RIVA-TREM) (https://www.rivatrem.org).

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Giachini, Galaviz-Hernandez, Damiano, Escudero and RIVA-TREM. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Genetic Variants in Preeclampsia: Lessons From Studies in Latin-American Populations

Rafael Tomoya Michita, Valéria de Lima Kaminski and José Artur Bogo Chies*

Immunogenetics Laboratory, Department of Genetics, Biosciences Institute, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre, Brazil

Placental vascularization is a tightly regulated physiological process in which the maternal immune system plays a fundamental role. Vascularization of the maternal-placental interface involves a wide range of mechanisms primarily orchestrated by the fetal extravillous trophoblast and maternal immune cells. In a healthy pregnancy, an immune cross-talk between the mother and fetal cells results in the secretion of immunomodulatory mediators, apoptosis of specific cells, cellular differentiation/proliferation, angiogenesis, and vasculogenesis, altogether favoring a suitable microenvironment for the developing embryo. In the context of vasculopathy underlying common pregnancy disorders, it is believed that inefficient invasion of extravillous trophoblast cells in the endometrium leads to a poor placental blood supply, which, in turn, leads to decreased secretion of angiogenic factors, hypoxia, and inflammation commonly associated with preterm delivery, intrauterine growth restriction, and preeclampsia. In this review, we will focus on studies published by Latin American research groups, providing an extensive review of the role of genetic variants from candidate genes involved in a broad spectrum of biological processes underlying the pathophysiology of preeclampsia. In addition, we will discuss how these studies contribute to fill gaps in the current understanding of preeclampsia. Finally, we discuss some trending topics from important fields associated with pregnancy vascular disorders (e.g., epigenetics, transplantation biology, and non-coding RNAs) and underscore their possible implications in the pathophysiology of preeclampsia. As a result, these efforts are expected to give an overview of the extent of scientific research produced in Latin America and encourage multicentric collaborations by highlighted regional research groups involved in preeclampsia investigation.

Keywords: preeclampsia, vasculopathy, endothelial damage, inflammation, SNPs, Latin America, polymorphism

INTRODUCTION

In all pregnancies that can potentially lead to living birth, a major concern is the high prevalence of disorders that can affect healthy pregnancies. Maternal mortality is a global health issue. One of the eight goals of the United Nations Millennium Development Goals (MDG) was to reduce maternal mortality by three quarters from 1990 to 2015. As of 2013, the worldwide maternal mortality ratio has dropped 45%, yet maternal deaths are still the primary cause of death. For the same period, an

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fernanda Regina Giachini, Universidade Federal de Mato Grosso, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Adenilda Cristina Honorio-França, Universidade Federal de Mato Grosso, Brazil Victor Vitorino Lima, Universidade Federal de Mato Grosso, Brazil Nubia Souza Lobato, Institute of Health Sciences, Federal University of Goias, Brazil

*Correspondence:

José Artur Bogo Chies jabchies@terra.com.br

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Vascular Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 20 July 2018 Accepted: 23 November 2018 Published: 14 December 2018

Citation:

Michita RT, Kaminski VL and Chies JAB (2018) Genetic Variants in Preeclampsia: Lessons From Studies in Latin-American Populations. Front. Physiol. 9:1771. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01771

9

estimated 289,000 maternal deaths due to pregnancy- or childbirth-related complications occurred, particularly in developing countries, since mortality rates vary according to geographical area and different social and ethnic characteristics. These estimates expose the alarming healthcare situation in developing countries where the maternal mortality ratio is ~ 14 times higher than in developed countries. Actual numbers might be even higher because only 51% of the countries evaluated in the MDG had data on maternal causes of death (United Nations, 2015). In Latin America, pregnancy vascular disorders are the leading cause of maternal mortality and morbidity (Khan et al., 2006). These disorders cover a wide range of clinically characterized phenotypes with a common underlying dysfunction in the endothelial and vascular systems, including preeclampsia (PE), and will be appropriately discussed in this review.

Owing to a lack of robust experimental animal models and ethical issues related to early pregnancy tissue usage, elucidation of the underlying mechanisms involved in the pathophysiology of pregnancy disorders remains the "holy grail" of reproductive biology. Considering that fetal cells inherit half paternal genetic material, this "non-self" status (compared to the mother) represents a challenge to the maternal immunological system. In this sense, a question naturally arises: How does the fetus avoid rejection by the maternal immune system? Since rejection occurs at different levels, it is reasonable to consider that genetic disparity, or the genetic background of the parents may account for an increased risk of pregnancy disorders (Goldenberg et al., 2009; Gardosi et al., 2013; Lisonkova and Joseph, 2013). Human pregnancy is a phenomenon that relies on immunological adaptations (Aghaeepour et al., 2017). Since maternal immune tolerance is essential to the maintenance of pregnancy, breakage of such tolerance is an accepted hypothesis for the occurrence of pregnancy-related disorders, including PE (Christiansen, 2013; Redman et al., 2014), which is briefly reviewed in sections Placental Vasculogenesis and Angiogenesis: Immune System and Vascular Remodeling During Pregnancy and Preeclampsia.

Pregnancy is a highly coordinated process that requires the involvement of a well-regulated network of biological mechanisms. Briefly, pregnancy establishment initiates through blastocyst implantation and endometrial invasion. Blastocyst invasion requires the expression of a wide range of factors by both maternal and fetal cells, including adhesion molecules, pregnancy hormones, and inflammatory mediators (Norwitz et al., 2001). In this context, inefficient blastocyst implantation is related to impaired endometrial vascular remodeling and immunological tolerance, which are commonly observed in a broad spectrum of pregnancy disorders. The extent of maternal physiological responses driven by the foreign developing embryo involves both maternal/paternal and fetal aspects. The response for such stimuli varies between healthy and pathological pregnancies, or even among individuals of the same group. This implies that the genetic variability is a critical component and accounts in the susceptibility for (but not limited to) pregnancy vascular disorders by influencing both local and systemic responses. In Latin America, the genetic and molecular basis of PE is a rapidly developing field of investigation, and many studies approaching basic science or even extending to cutting-edge technologies have been published and will be reviewed in the sections Genetic Studies in Latin-American Populations, Genetic Variation in Histocompatibility-Related Genes in PE, Gene Variants Involved in Metabolic Processes, and Variants in Detoxification, DNA-Repair, and Apoptosis-Related Genes.

Latin America contains a highly diverse human population. This admixed population is also under the influence of environmental factors, such as climate, lifestyle, and pathogen exposure. As pregnancy disorders are affected by both genetic and environmental factors, it is difficult to extrapolate data obtained in specific human populations to other ones. Therefore, we provide an extensive review of studies developed in Latin America (Figure 1) as a contribution to the understanding of pregnancy disorders, mainly focusing on PE. Since Brazil and Mexico are at the forefront of PE investigation in Latin America, we call attention to the lack of investigative studies in countries not represented here. Also, we highlight the urgent need for collaborative studies and extensive efforts to fill gaps in the current scenario of hypertensive pregnancy disorder epidemiology in Latin America. Here, we will discuss current knowledge about the role of the maternal immune system in pregnancy vasculogenesis and PE. Also, we will review the literature concerning genetic studies evaluating the contribution of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in candidate genes from distinct biological systems and discuss their involvement in PE pathogenesis by analyzing data from Latin America as well as from other human populations when appropriate. For the sake of clarity, reference SNP cluster (rs#) will be cited as it appears in the text and the SNP nomenclature will be maintained according to the original cited article.

PLACENTAL VASCULOGENESIS AND ANGIOGENESIS: IMMUNE SYSTEM AND VASCULAR REMODELING DURING PREGNANCY

Tissue remodeling and angiogenesis are the results of a tightly regulated interaction between the immune system and the vascular system (Ribatti and Crivellato, 2009). In pregnancy, an adequate placental vascularization depends on the proliferation and differentiation of the trophoblast cells in the placental villi (Herr et al., 2010). Adaptation and changes in maternal anatomy and physiology are fundamental for the establishment of an adequate blood supply for the developing fetus (Boeldt and Bird, 2017). After implantation, the invasion of the endometrium by the cytotrophoblast drives the first steps of human placentation. Initially, myometrial spiral arteries are remodeled in the second trimester, changing from a highresistance state of coiled vessels to dilated low-resistance vessels (Boeldt and Bird, 2017). In low-resistance vessels, the exchange of gas and nutrients is highly facilitated, since there is a decrease in blood flow to the intervillous spaces of the placenta (Boeldt and Bird, 2017). According to the immunological aspects of pregnancy, it is accepted that a mild pro-inflammatory stimulus is essential for local tissue remodeling, neovascularization, and



the establishment of successful embryo attachment enabling fetal development (Chaouat, 2002). Decidual immune cells, invading trophoblasts and endothelial cells interact and orchestrate placental vascularization. Leukocytes represent 15-30% of all cells in human early pregnant decidua (Mincheva-Nilsson et al., 1994). The organization of these immune cells is unique and includes lymphoid cell clusters, and randomly distributed immune cells, such as uterine natural killer (uNK) cells, $\alpha\beta$ -T, and $\gamma\delta$ -T cells, dendritic cells (DCs), and macrophages. B cells and regulatory B cells are less represented in number, and their emerging roles in pregnancy are discussed elsewhere (Muzzio et al., 2013; Fettke et al., 2014; Mor et al., 2017; Esteve-Solé et al., 2018). uNK cells represent ~70% of leukocytes in the decidua (Moffett-King, 2002), and are essential to the angiogenesis and maintenance of vascular stability by secreting specific sets of cytokines: the vascular endothelial growth factor C (VEGFC), the placental growth factor (PIGF), and angiopoietin 2 (ANG2) (Li et al., 2001).

PREECLAMPSIA

Worldwide, PE affects 2–8% of pregnant women. In addition, it accounts for \sim 40% of preterm births (<35 weeks of gestation) (Khan et al., 2006; Duley, 2009). PE incidence differs mainly between low- and high-income countries. In Latin American countries, \sim 26% of maternal deaths are attributed to PE.

However, the actual impact of PE in developing countries is underestimated due to differences in PE diagnostic criteria and the fact that reporting the maternal cause of death is not compulsory in several countries (Giachini et al., 2017).

PE usually manifests in the second trimester. Although new definitions for PE include organ dysfunction (Tranquilli et al., 2014) and no longer require proteinuria if other severe PE features are present (ACOG, 2013), traditionally PE is defined by onset of hypertension after 20 weeks of gestation (systolic \geq 140 mmHg; diastolic \geq 90 mmHg), proteinuria (\geq 300 mg/24 h or protein/creatinine ratio >0.5 in random sample) and edema. While untreated PE can be lethal, the clinical complications vary and include seizures, liver rupture, pulmonary edema, and renal insufficiency (Adu-Bonsaffoh et al., 2013). Despite advances in the clinical management of PE (symptomatic treatment), the only effective treatment remains clinical intervention and delivery, resulting in low birth weight and premature birth. In fact, $\sim 23\%$ of low birth weight and $\sim 20\%$ of preterm birth occurrences in Latin America are attributed to PE (Bilano et al., 2014). In clinical practice, therapies involving antiplatelet agents such as low aspirin doses (Duley et al., 2007; Roberge et al., 2013; Xu et al., 2015; ACOG, 2018) and calcium supplementation in women with low calcium diets (Hofmeyr et al., 2014) have proven to bring small to moderate benefit to women with high risk pregnancies. Symptomatic treatments include different strategies targeting gestational hypertension (antihypertensive therapy), eclamptic seizures (anticonvulsive therapy), and other symptoms as reviewed elsewhere (Ramos et al., 2017).

The impact of PE on both maternal and fetal health goes beyond pregnancy, and represents a significant burden on public health services, especially, in low-income countries where the incidence rates can reach up to 6% in Latin America, 2.3% in Africa, and 3.2% in Asia (Bilano et al., 2014). Preeclamptic women have an increased risk of post-partum depression, cardiovascular disorders, metabolic diseases and hypertension later in life (Ramsay et al., 2003; Hoedjes et al., 2011; Behrens et al., 2017; Neiger, 2017; Timpka et al., 2017; Zoet et al., 2018), while newborns are at higher risk to develop autistic spectrum disorders, cerebral palsy, and bronchopulmonary dysplasia due to low birth weight and preterm birth (Hansen et al., 2010; Mann et al., 2010; Strand et al., 2013).

Despite extensive efforts in the last two decades, the etiopathology of PE is still unclear, although some environmental and genetic risk factors have been reported (Fong et al., 2014; Ye et al., 2017). The variety of candidate genes evaluated by Latin American research groups and the critical events of each stage of PE development are summarized in Figure 2 (for more details see Redman, 2014; Redman et al., 2014). Classically, PE development follows a two-stage model including a pre-clinical and a clinical period (Redman, 1991). This model was recently updated into a sequential four- and six-stage model to accommodate all immune aspects of PE: In the first stage of PE, environmental and genetic factors represent a critical component. The latter element involves several genes from different signaling pathways, revealing the polygenic nature of PE (for example, it is suggested that limited exposure to paternal antigens likely increases PE risk, being clinically relevant in primiparous women). In the next stage, inefficient trophoblast invasion in the decidua may result in poor placentation and abnormal uteroplacental perfusion. In the third stage, placental ischemia and hypoxia result in local oxidative stress and inflammatory response. Secondary to placental damage, in the fourth stage, impaired secretion of placental and maternal factors lead to the manifestation of the clinical symptoms of PE. In the fifth stage, diagnosis of PE is clear. At this stage, the vascular damage is augmented in response to systemic inflammation (i.e., Th1/Th17 cytokines). The last stage characterizes a more severe form of the disorder (observed in up to 40% of placentas) and involves atherosis, a focal lesion in the spiral arterial wall associated with placental infarction and arterial thrombosis (Harsem et al., 2007).

Placental hypoxia and impaired perfusion lead to the release of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and endothelial damage. Thus, the release of fetal cell debris and syncytiotrophoblast microparticles into maternal circulation prompts an intense pro-inflammatory response by maternal immune cells (Redman and Sargent, 2000; Sibai et al., 2005). Also worth mentioning is the pregnancy stress test hypothesis, which postulates that pregnancy is a maternal stress test for the vascular, metabolic or immunological systems (Williams, 2003; Roberts and Hubel, 2010; Myatt and Roberts, 2015). Following this idea, women with pre-existing vascular dysfunction would present a lower threshold for the stress test, and a higher predisposition to develop PE and chronic disorders later in life.

PE might also be the manifestation of two extreme situations converging in a common phenotype. Sometimes, in maternal PE, normal placentation occurs in women with the preexisting chronic disease. Conversely, in placental PE, abnormal placentation results in poor placental perfusion (Valenzuela et al., 2012). This concept highlights a not exclusive dependency of PE in placentation failure and explains the variability of clinical phenotypes and timing of PE development.

Familial history and hypertensive disorders increase the risk of PE, implying that the genetic components are also risk-modifying factors (Bezerra et al., 2010). PE is a polygenic disorder, and although no single genetic variant is believed to be responsible for all cases of PE, individual *loci*, environmental factors, and epistasis are components that should not be neglected (Staines-Urias et al., 2012; Williams, 2016). In this sense, the evaluation of genetic variants in PE risk could partially explain disorder susceptibility and would be of great importance to identify candidate targets for gene-gene interaction analyses, as well as to better follow-up/management of women at higher risk.

GENETIC STUDIES IN LATIN-AMERICAN POPULATIONS

Pro- and Anti-inflammatory Mediators in PE

In Latin America, several immune-related genes have been evaluated, and most of the studies are summarized in **Table 1**. For example, costimulatory molecules play a role in immune cell differentiation and activation, SNPs in the *CTLA4* (rs231775), *CD28* (rs3116496), and *ICOS* (rs4675378) were evaluated in

Brazilian women with PE (Pendeloski et al., 2011). An association between the ICOS (-1564 T/C) SNP and PE was suggested based on a lower frequency of the ICOS "T" allele and the "TT" genotype in PE cases compared to controls. A systemic inflammatory response mediated by cytokines can cause endothelial damage, and thus it plays a central role in PE severity. In this scenario, six SNPs of pro-inflammatory genes were studied: IL1R1 (rs2234650), IL12 (rs3212227), IL18 (rs187238), IL18 (rs1946519), TLR2 (rs5743708), and TLR4 (rs4986790). However, no differences in genotypic and allelic frequencies between PE and controls were observed (Franchim et al., 2011). In a Northern Mexico population study, the association between PE risk and the TGFB1 SNPs: -800G/A (rs1800468), -509C/T (rs1800469), and +869T/C (rs1800470) and their haplotypes were evaluated. No association between PE development and the SNPs or haplotypes was observed, although the +869TT genotype was suggested as a protective factor against severe PE (Aguilar-Duran et al., 2014).

Since different cytokine profiles have been associated with PE development (Saito and Sakai, 2003), de Lima et al. (2009) investigated SNPs of cytokine genes in eclampsia and PE in northwestern Brazilian individuals. They evaluated the SNPs TNFA (-308 G>A), IL6 (-174 G>C), IFNG (+874 A>T), IL10 (-1082 A>G, -819 C>T, -592 C>A), and TGFB1 (+869 T>C, +915 G>C). No differences in genotypes and allelic frequencies were observed (de Lima et al., 2009). However, in a previous study by the same group, individuals were stratified according to ethnic origin in Caucasian and non-Caucasian, and the association of PE with TNFA (-308), TGFB1 (+10;25), IL10 (-1082), IL6 (-174), and IFNG (+874) SNPs was evaluated. Intriguingly, the IL10 -1082G/G SNP was associated with PE in Caucasian women, which is the most frequent allelic variant in people of African ancestry (Daher et al., 2006). A possible association between SNPs in IL1B was investigated in Brazilian women with severe PE. In this study, the "rs1143630 T" allele was associated with PE (Leme Galvão et al., 2016). In a Maya-Mestizo population sample, no association between TNFA (-308G/A)-850C/T) SNPs and PE was observed (Canto-Cetina et al., 2007). Another study reported no association of IL10 (rs1800896), IL6 (rs1800795), and IL1RA variable number of tandem repeats (VNTR) in intron 2 with PE susceptibility in Mexican-Mestizo women and Maya-Amerindian women from Mexico (Valencia Villalvazo et al., 2012).

The influence of *TNFA*, *IL6*, *IFNG*, and *IL10* gene SNPs and their relationship with cytokine plasma levels in severe PE, normotensive pregnancy, and in non-pregnant women from Brazil was investigated by Pinheiro et al. (2015). The SNPs evaluated in the study were *TNFA* (-308), *TGFB1* (+10;25), *IL10* (-1082), *IL6* (-174), and *IFNG* (+874). Interesting, they observed higher IL-10 levels in normotensive pregnant women compared to preeclamptic women. Conversely, higher plasma levels of IL-6 and IFN- γ were detected in PE in comparison to non-pregnant and normotensive pregnant women. Also, a positive correlation between IFN- γ plasma levels and the *IFNG* +874T allele was observed, and when the three groups were evaluated separately, a positive correlation between IL-6 levels



and the presence of the IL6 -174C allele in normotensive pregnant women was observed (Pinheiro et al., 2015).

Mannose-binding lectin (MBL) is a pro-inflammatory protein that modulates inflammation and ultimately induces apoptosis (Turner, 2003). Polymorphisms in the *MBL2* gene located at exon 1: at codons 54 (allele B, rs1800450), 57 (allele C, rs1800451), and 52 (allele D, rs5030737) were evaluated in women with PE and in healthy pregnant controls from Brazil. The absence of all the variants characterize the wild-type allele "A." In this study, an association between genotypes coding for low MBL levels and a severe PE was evidenced. In the AD genotype, the C and D alleles were more frequent in PE compared to controls. Moreover, in relation to MBL levels, three groups of haplotypes were observed: group 1 (H/L)YA/(H/L)YA and (H/L)YA/LXA genotypes were related to high MBL serum levels; group 2 encompasses LXA/LXA and (H/L)YA/O genotypes, which were related to intermediate MBL serum levels; and group 3 was defined by low MBL serum levels, resulting in MBL deficiency, corresponding to LXA/O and O/O genotypes (Vianna et al., 2010). Cysteine-cysteine chemokine receptor type 5 (CCR5) is an essential receptor for inflammatory reactions expressed in leukocytes and other cell types (Barmania and Pepper, 2013). CCR5 Δ 32 is a 32-base pair deletion in the *CCR5* that, in homozygosis, results in a lack of expression of the functional CCR5 on the cell surface. Heterozygous carriers express lower levels of functional CCR5 compared to wild-type homozygous individuals (Venkatesan et al., 2002). Considering the intense inflammatory response in PE, and based on the high frequency of the deletion allele in healthy pregnant women, Telini et al. (2014) suggested a protective role of the $CCR5\Delta 32$ allele against PE development in a Brazilian study.

Adipocytokines are involved in trophoblast invasion and successful placentation. Visfatin is an adipocytokine also known as nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase (NAMPT), which has a potential role in the pathophysiology of metabolic disorders such as hypertension and obesity (Dahl et al., 2012). A study by Luizon et al. (2015) evaluated visfatin/NAMPT plasma levels in healthy pregnant women and in patients with gestational hypertension or PE, in the context of the NAMPT SNPs -423T<C (rs1319501) and rs3801266A<G in intron 1. No effects were observed concerning rs1319501. Nevertheless, gestational hypertensive patients carrying the rs3801266 "AG" and "GG" genotypes had higher visfatin/NAMPT levels compared to gestational hypertensive patients carrying the "AA" genotype (Luizon et al., 2015). Moreover, Luizon et al. (2017) evaluated whether NAMPT SNPs (rs1319501T>C, rs3801266A>G), haplotypes and gene-gene interactions in the NAMPT pathway could affect plasma visfatin/NAMPT levels, and the response to antihypertensive therapy in PE and hypertensive pregnant women. Low circulating visfatin/NAMPT levels were seen in non-responsive PE patients with the rs1319501 TC+CC genotypes. Conversely, high circulating visfatin/NAMPT levels were detected in non-responsive PE patients with the rs3801266 AG+GG genotypes. Haplotype analysis revealed an association of the 'C, A' haplotype with response to antihypertensive treatment and with low visfatin/NAMPT levels in PE (Luizon et al., 2017). Since lymphotoxin alpha (LTa) is an inflammatory mediator, this molecule was evaluated in the context of PE development, but no association of LTA +252 (rs909253) with PE risk was reported in a Brazilian study (Pissetti et al., 2015).

In order to evaluate the contribution of the inflammasome in PE development, SNPs in the genes coding for nod-like receptors with a pyrin domain 1 (*NLRP1*), *NLRP3*, caspase recruitment domain 8 (*CARD8*), and *IL1B* were studied in a Brazilian population. The *NLRP1* rs12150220A/T SNP was associated with PE. The minor "T" allele was more frequent in PE compared to healthy pregnancy controls, indicating that this allele might be relevant in PE susceptibility. A strong association with *NLRP1* (rs12150550) was also observed in this study, suggesting a role for this molecule in the pathogenesis of PE. Besides, *NLRP1* SNPs produce six main haplotypes, and the rs11651270/C-rs12150220/A-rs2670660/A combination was less frequent amongst PE women compared to controls, suggesting a protective effect against PE (Pontillo et al., 2015).

In the context of gestational hypertension, the relationship between aldosterone levels and SNPs of the aldosterone synthase (*CYP11B2*) gene (-344T/C) and the mineralocorticoid receptor gene (S810L) was investigated in a Mexican population. No differences in genotype distributions or in aldosterone levels were found (Ramírez-Salazar et al., 2011). Similar results were obtained for a Brazilian population (de Vasconcelos et al., 2009).

In summary, several studies covered in this review (**Table 1**), and other approaches have reinforced that PE is a polygenic disorder and manifests as complex phenotypes, resulting from

both maternal and fetal genetic features (Triche et al., 2014). In Latin American populations, conflicting results regarding genetic variants and PE risk were observed, implying that genetic variability does account for this complex phenomenon. Therefore, the search for potential genetic components involved in PE, or its severity, is of paramount importance for a better understanding of the genetic basis of PE pathophysiology (**Figure 2**). Importantly, we observed a worrying lack of familybased studies evaluating the genetic components of both the fetus/placenta and its biological parents. Thus, such an approach would provide a more actual picture of the genetic risk factors involved in PE and possibly a more accurate disease monitoring and clinical management.

Vascular and Angiogenic Mediators

Studies also examined gene variants involved in vasculogenesis and angiogenesis, given the importance of establishing an adequate and efficient placental vascular system for a favorable gestational outcome (Herr et al., 2010). Studies from Latin America are summarized in Table 2. Nitric Oxide (NO) has a primary role in the circulatory system. Also, NO is a critical regulatory molecule in ovulation, embryo implantation, pregnancy maintenance, labor, and delivery. Imbalances in NO levels during gestation were suggested as a cause of the development of pregnancy-induced hypertension and PE (Maul et al., 2003). Several studies have evaluated SNPs in both endothelial and inducible nitric oxide synthase genes (eNOS and iNOS, respectively). In a multicenter study in Colombia, Serrano et al. (2004) evaluated the role of eNOS SNPs: Glu298Asp, $-786T \rightarrow C$, and VNTR b/a (27 bp-tandem repeat, where "a" and "b" refer to PCR product size, comprising 420 bp for "b" and 393 bp for "a" alleles) as potential risk factors for PE. Young Colombian women homozygous for the Asp298 allele were reported to have an increased risk for PE. The authors suggested that homozygous women for the Asp298 allele are more susceptible to endothelial dysfunction and at increased risk for PE development, since the homozygous state is likely to generate low NO levels. In addition, the presence of the "Asp298-786C-4b" haplotype was associated with an increased PE risk (Serrano et al., 2004). Similarly, Sandrim et al. (2008) compared the same eNOS SNPs in women with and without PE from Brazil. Interestingly, the study observed that two eNOS haplotypes ("T Glu a" and "C Glu a") were associated with PE and gestational hypertension. The same SNPs were also evaluated in a Maya-Mestizo Mexican population. The Asp298 allele was associated with PE in a recessive model. In addition, the "-786C-4b-Asp298" haplotype was more frequent in PE than in controls, whereas the "-786T-4b-Asp298" and "-786C-4b-Glu298" haplotypes had lower frequencies or were absent in patients (Díaz-Olguín et al., 2011). In another study, Alpoim et al. (2014) evaluated these same eNOS SNPs in early and late severe preeclamptic Brazilian women, and in a group of normotensive/healthy pregnant controls. The frequency of the 894T allele was higher in late severe PE compared to early severe PE. Also, the overall 894T frequency was higher in PE when compared to controls. Regarding the VNTR b/a SNP, higher "aa" genotype and "a"

TABLE 1 | Summary of studies developed in Latin America evaluating the role of genetic variation in pro- and anti-inflammatory mediators in PE.

Factors	Sample size †	Key findings	Country	References
ICOS (T-1564C) CTLA4 (A49G) CD28 (T17C)	130/260	Association with protection for PE: ICOS-1564T allele and-1564TT genotype.	Brazil	Pendeloski et al., 2011
<i>TGFB1</i> (G800A, C509T, T869C)	175/253	Association with protection for severe PE: TGFB1 869TT genotype.	Mexico	Aguilar-Duran et al., 2014
L1R1 (rs2234650) L12 (rs3212227) L18 (rs187238, rs1946519) TLR2 (rs5743708) TLR4 (rs4986790)	109/174	No association with PE.	Brazil	Franchim et al., 2011
TNFA (G308A) L6 (G174C) FNG (A874T) L10 (A1082G, C819T, C592A) TGFB1 (T869C, G915C)	165/101 ^a	No association with PE.	Brazil	de Lima et al., 2009
(NFA (G308A) (GFB1 (T10C, C25G) L10 (G1082A) L6 (G174C) FNG (A874T)	151/189 ^b	Association with PE risk: IL10–1082GG genotype in white women.	Brazil	Daher et al., 2006
L1B (rs1143630)	169/287	Association with PE risk: IL1B rs1143630 'T' allele.	Brazil	Leme Galvão et al., 2016
NFA (G308A,C850T)	105/200	No association with PE.	Mexico	Canto-Cetina et al., 2007
<i>_10</i> (G1082A) _6 (G174C) _ <i>1RA</i> (86bp-VNTR)	411/613	No association with PE.	Mexico	Valencia Villalvazo et al., 2012
NFA (G308A) L6 (G-174C) FNG (A874T) L10 (A1082G, C819T, C592A) GFB1 (T869C,G915C)	116/165°	Association with protection for PE: IL6–174C allele.	Brazil	Pinheiro et al., 2015
<i>IBL2</i> Ilele B (rs1800450), Ilele C (rs1800451), Ilele D (rs5030737)	157/162	Association with PE severity: "AD" genotype, "C" and "D" alleles.	Brazil	Vianna et al., 2010
CCR5 (CCR5Δ32)	155/144	Association with protection for PE: CCR5 Δ 32 allele.	Brazil	Telini et al., 2014
IAMPT (rs3801266)	389/212 ^d	Association with GH: rs3801266 "AG" and "GG" genotypes.	Brazil	Luizon et al., 2015
<i>IAMPT</i> (rs1319501; rs3801266)	379/207 ^e	Association with PE risk: rs1319501 "TC+CC" and rs3801266 "AG+GG" genotypes.	Brazil	Luizon et al., 2017
.TA (+252A>G)	30/115 286/309	No association with PE. Association with risk for PE: rs12150220	Brazil Brazil	Pissetti et al., 2015 Pontillo et al., 2015
<i>ILRP1</i> (rs11651270, s12150550, rs2670660) <i>ILRP3</i> (rs35829419, s10754558) SARD8 (rs2043211, rs6509365) .1B (rs1143634)	20000	(L155H) and the "rs11651270/C- rs12150220/A-rs2670660/A" haplotype.		i ontailo ot al., 2010
<i>CYP11B2</i> (T344C) <i>M</i> R (S810L)	100/100	No association with PE.	Mexico	Ramírez-Salazar et al., 2011
CYP11B2 (T344C)	185/118 ^f	No association with PE.	Brazil	de Vasconcelos et al., 2009

[†] Pooled cases/controls.

^aCases were grouped according severity: PE (n = 92) and eclampsia (n = 73).

^b Studied population was grouped according to skin color (white and non-white); white: PE (n = 56) and control (n = 92); non-white: PE (n = 95) and control (n = 97).

^cCases were compared to healthy pregnant (n = 107) and non-pregnant women (n = 58).

^dCases correspond to PE (n = 208) and gestational hypertension (GH) cases (n=181).

^eCases were grouped according to disorder severity and response to anti-hypertensive therapy: PE responsive (n = 60) and non-responsive (n = 145); GH responsive (n = 120) and non-responsive (n = 54).

^fCases were grouped in PE (n = 70) and GH (n = 115).

allele frequencies were observed in early severe PE compared to late severe PE and controls. Also, the "T-b-C" haplotype was more frequent in late severe PE compared to early severe PE and controls.

Although anti-hypertensive treatment has never been demonstrated to reverse PE outcome, its usage could prevent cardiovascular and cerebrovascular adverse consequences, due to severe and rapid elevations of the blood pressure, being a critical tool for clinical PE management. In this sense, it was proposed that anti-hypertensive therapy can enable maintenance of gestation and increase the gestational age of delivery, thus decreasing adverse fetal and maternal outcomes (Podymow and August, 2008). In this context, an elegant study compared the distribution of eNOS variants in gestational hypertensive and PE cases who were responsive to anti-hypertensive therapy versus cases who did not respond to treatment. Interestingly, a difference in the overall distribution of eNOS haplotypes was observed when PE responsive to treatment groups and PE nonresponsive to treatment groups were compared. The "C Glu a" haplotype was more frequent in the responsive PE group than in the nonresponsive PE group, and the "T Asp a" haplotype was less frequent in the active PE group than in the nonresponsive PE group. This was a pioneer study approaching the genetic background in the context of gestational hypertension treatment (Sandrim et al., 2010b).

The distribution of two *eNOS* Tag SNPs, rs743506 and rs7830, as well as the SNPs T-768C, Intron-4, and G894T, among healthy pregnant controls, gestational hypertensive subjects, and PE subjects was assessed by Muniz et al. (2012). No differences were detected among genotype frequencies in the three groups studied. However, the haplotype H5 "CbGGC" ("C" of rs2070744, "b" of intron 4, "G" of rs1799983, "G" of rs743506, and "C" of rs7830) was more frequent in the control group compared to gestational hypertensive and PE individuals, suggesting a potential protective effect against hypertensive disorders development in pregnancy.

Two *iNOS* SNPs, C-1026A (rs2779249) and G2087A (rs2297518), were evaluated in Brazilian healthy pregnant/control, gestational hypertension, and PE groups. The "GA" genotype and the "A" allele for the G2087A were more commonly found amongst PE subjects. No differences were observed concerning the other variants evaluated (Amaral et al., 2012).

Considering that increased levels of hemoglobin (Hb) and haptoglobin (Hp) complexes contribute to impaired NO bioavailability in PE (Sandrim et al., 2010a), the role of a haptoglobin SNP (duplication of exons 3 and 4 of *HP* gene) was evaluated in PE and non-pregnant women, in the context of NO bioavailability. Higher NO consumption was detected in association with increased cell-free Hb in plasma from PE patients carrying the allele *HP2* (duplicated exons 3 and 4 of the *HP1*), suggesting a functional association between *HP* SNPs and the hemodynamic imbalances observed in PE (Sertório et al., 2013).

Thrombin-activated fibrinolysis inhibitor (*TAFI*) gene has also attracted attention in the context of SNPs and their possible association with vascular disorders in pregnancy. In this scenario, a case-control study investigated the possible association between PE and *TAFI* SNPs (G505A, C1040T, and G-438A), together with TAFIa plasma levels in a Mexican-Mestizo population. No associations with increased PE risk were observed. However, due to higher plasma TAFIa levels and the presence of the G505A mutant genotype, together with wild-type forms of C1040C and G-438G, it was suggested that *TAFI* SNPs in the coding region or in nearby regulatory elements could contribute to variations in TAFIa plasma concentrations (Acosta-Tejeda et al., 2011).

The methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) enzyme is critical for homocysteine (HCY) metabolism, where it catalyzes the NADPH-linked reduction of 5,10-MTHF to 5-MTHF, and subsequently the methylation of HCY to methionine in a vitamin B12-dependent manner (Barbosa et al., 2008). In a Tunisian study, low MTHFR activity levels were associated with mild to moderate increases in plasma HCY levels in placental vascular complications (Klai et al., 2011). In the same study, the MTHFR A1298C variant was associated with recurrent pregnancy loss, intrauterine growth restriction, and placental abruption. In the context of PE, a differential distribution of the MTHFR C677T alleles was associated with thrombosis markers and endothelial activation in a study with Mexican women (Rojas et al., 2010). Moreover, a possible association between C677T SNP of MTHFR gene and PE was investigated in pregnant women from the Yucatan Peninsula in southeastern Mexico, although no differences between cases and controls were observed (Pérez-Mutul et al., 2004).

In another study evaluating MTHFR (C677T) in Maya-Mestizo PE women, it was observed that MTHFR "T" allele and the "TT" genotype were more frequent in controls, suggesting a decreased risk of PE in women carrying this variant (Canto et al., 2008). Amongst a Mestizo-Ecuadorian population, the prevalence of C677T and A1298C MTHFR SNPs was also investigated in the context of PE, with the "CC" genotype of A1298C occurring in higher prevalence in PE women than controls (Chedraui et al., 2014). Nevertheless, contradictory results regarding PE, the placental genotype, and allele frequencies of the MTHFR C677T were observed (Chedraui et al., 2015). Interestingly, for the C677T SNP, the mutant "TT" genotype was threefold more frequent in preeclamptic placentas than controls. In a Chilean population, epistatic interactions between MTHFR and catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT) gene were evaluated in maternal-fetus dyads. The increased PE risk was observed exclusively when the fetus harbored both the COMT "ATCA" haplotype (respectively composed by the SNPs rs6269, rs4633, rs4818, rs4680) and the MTHFR 677T allele (Hill et al., 2011a).

SNPs in the vascular endothelial growth factor (*VEGF*) gene are also largely studied in PE. Importantly, the low production of VEGF by peripheral blood mononuclear cells is associated with PE (Cardenas-Mondragon et al., 2014). The possible role of SNPs at the promoter region of *VEGF* was addressed by Sandrim et al. (2009). The study reported an association between PE development and the SNPs -2578C/A (rs699947), -1154G/A (rs1570360), and -634G/C (rs2010963). Importantly, interethnic differences account for differential allelic and haplotype distributions, and this is particularly relevant for Latin American populations. In this context, the authors observed that *VEGF* TABLE 2 | Summary of studies developed in Latin America evaluating the role of genetic variation in vascular- and angiogenesis-related genes in PE.

Factors	Sample size †	Key findings	Country	References
eNOS (-786T>C, intron-4 b/a, Glu298Asp)	322/522	Association with PE risk: 298Asp/Asp genotype and eNOS C-b-Asp haplotype.	Colombia	Serrano et al., 2004
eNOS (–786T>C, intron-4 b/a, Glu298Asp)	216/110 ^a	Association with PE and GH risk: <i>eNOS</i> C-a-Glu haplotype. Association with protection for PE and GH: <i>eNOS</i> T-a-Glu haplotype	Brazil	Sandrim et al., 2008
eNOS (–786T>C, intron-4 b/a, Glu298Asp)	127/263	Association with PE risk: 298Asp/Asp genotype and eNOS C-b-Asp.	Mexico	Díaz-Olguín et al., 2011
eNOS (–786T>C, intron-4 b/a, Glu298Asp) MMP2 (C-1306T) MMP9 (C-1562T)	77/266	Association with PE risk and severity: -786CC genotype and -786C allele, respectively.	Brazil	Leonardo et al., 2015
eNOS (—786T>C, intron-4 b/a, Glu298Asp)	98/103 ^b	Association with late-onset PE risk: 298Asp/Asp genotype and 298Asp allele; intron-4 aa genotype and a allele; <i>eNOS</i> C-b-Asp.	Brazil	Alpoim et al., 2014
eNOS (-786T>C), intron-4 b/a, Glu298Asp	152/152 ^c	Association with anti-hypertensive therapy in PE, eNOS haplotypes: C-a-Glu responsive and T-a-Asp non-responsive.	Brazil	Sandrim et al., 2010a
eNOS (–786T>C, intron-4 b/a, Glu298Asp, rs743506, rs7830)	295/122 ^d	Association with protection for PE and GH: eNOS C-b-Glu-G-C haplotype.	Brazil	Muniz et al., 2012
eNOS (C-1026A, G2087A)	353/212 ^e	Association with PE risk: 2087GA genotype and the 2087A allele.	Brazil	Amaral et al., 2012
HP (Hp1-1, Hp2-1, Hp2-2)	92/105	No association with PE risk. Nitric Oxide byproducts in PE associated with Hp2-1 and Hp2-2 genotypes.	Brazil	Sertório et al., 2013
TAFI (G505A, C1040T, G-438A)	87/87	No association with PE.	Mexico	Acosta-Tejeda et al., 2011
<i>MTHFR</i> (C677T) <i>FV LEIDEN</i> (G1691A) PROTHROMBIN (G20210A)	28/41	No association with PE.	Mexico	Rojas et al., 2010
MTHFR (C677T)	148/490 ^f	No association with PE	Mexico	Pérez-Mutul et al., 2004
MTHFR (C677T, A1298C)	150/150	Association with PE risk: 1298CC genotype.	Ecuador	Chedraui et al., 2014
MTHFR (C677T)	125/274	Association with protection for PE: 677TT genotype and 677T allele.	Mexico	Canto et al., 2008
VEGF (C-2578A, G-1154A, G-634C)	195/108 ⁹	Association with protection for PE: VEGF – 2578C/-1154G/-634C haplotype. Low proportion of-2578AA and –634GG genotypes in white PE women.	Brazil	Sandrim et al., 2009
VEGF (C936T, C-2578A)	52/28	Association with protection for PE: VEGF-2578A allele.	Brazil	Cunha et al., 2011
VEGF (C2578A, G634C)	113 ^h	No association with PE.	Brazil	Sandrim et al., 2015
VEGF (G634C) IL1A (rs3783550)	79/210	Association with PE risk: IL1A rs3783550 "A" allele.	Brazil	Silva et al., 2015
<i>VEGF</i> (A2578C, C1498T, A1154G, C634G,C936T)	31/31 ⁱ	No association with PE.	Ecuador	Chedraui et al., 2013
eNOS (T786C, VNTR, G894T) <i>MTHFR</i> (C677T) <i>AGT</i> (C704T)	230/350	No association with PE.	Mexico	Coral-Vázquez et al., 2013
MMP9 (C1562T, (CA)n repeats)	300/176 ^j	Association with risk for GH: <i>MMP</i> 9 C1562 T allele. No association with PE.	Brazil	Palei et al., 2010
eNOS (T786C, VNTR, G894T) MMP9 (C1562T, (CA)n repeats) VEGF (C2578A, G634C)	229/102 ^k	Association with protection for PE: combination of MMP9-1562CC with VEGF-634GG genotypes. Association with PE risk: combination of MMP9-1562CC with VEGF-634CC or MMP9-1562CT with VEGF-634CC or-634GG genotypes.	Brazil	Luizon et al., 2012
MMP2 (C1306T, C735T)	263/130 ¹	No association with PE.	Brazil	Palei et al., 2012a
MMP9 (C1562T, (CA)n repeats)	399/214 ^m	Association with GH: combination of the "T" allele for the C1562T and "H" allele of 90(CA)13–25.	Brazil	Palei et al., 2012b

(Continued)

TABLE 2 | Continued

Factors	Sample size †	Key findings	Country	References
MTHFR (C677T) Factor II (G20210A) FV LEIDEN (G1691A) PAI1 (4G/5G I/D)	75/145	No association with PE.	Brazil	Dalmáz et al., 2006
<i>MTHFR</i> (C677T) <i>FV LEIDEN</i> (G1691A)	33/62	No association with PE.	Mexico	Dávalos et al., 2005
ACVR2A (rs1424954, rs1014064, rs1424941, rs2161983, rs3768687)	613/693 ⁿ	Association with severe early-onset PE risk: SNPs rs1014064 "G," rs1424954 "A," and rs2161983 "A."	Brazil	Ferreira et al., 2015
ACE (287 bp I/D in intron 16)	51/71	No association with PE.	Brazil	Galão et al., 2004
FV LEIDEN (G1691A) Factor II (G20210A) MTHFR (C677T)	30/83	No association with PE.	Brazil	Dusse et al., 2007
ACE (287 bp I/D in intron 16)	66/37	Association with risk for PE: ACE "DD" genotype.	Mexico	González-Garrido et al., 2017
<i>EDN1</i> (G5665T)	61/49 ⁰	Association with protection for PE: paternal <i>EDN1</i> "GG" and "GT" genotypes.	Mexico	Galaviz-Hernandez et al., 2016
MTHFR (C677T, A1298C)	50/50 ^p	Association with risk for PE: <i>MTHFR</i> 677TT genotype.	Ecuador	Chedraui et al, 2015
ACE (287 bp I/D in intron 16)	665/1,046	No association with PE.	Colombia	Serrano et al., 2006
HIF1A (C1772T, G1790A)	150/105	No association with PE.	Mexico	Nava-Salazar et al., 2011
/DR (Fokl, Apal, Bsml)	316/213 ^q	No association with PE.	Brazil	Rezende et al., 2012
COMT (rs6269, rs4633, rs4680, and rs4818), MTHFR (C677T)	528/575 ^r	Association with PE risk: "ATCA" haplotype of COMT (SNPs rs6269, rs4633, rs4818, rs4680, and MTHFR 677T)	Chile	Hill et al., 2011a

[†]Pooled cases/controls.

^bCases were stratified in early severe PE (n = 53) and late severe PE (n = 45).

^cCases were stratified in PE (n = 152) and GH (n = 152).

^dCases were stratified in PE (n = 157) and GH (n = 138).

^eCases were stratified in PE (n = 187) and GH (n = 166).

^fSample size composed by PE cases (n = 148), health pregnant woman (N = 177), and health non-pregnant volunteers (313).

 g Cases were stratified in PE (n = 94) and GH (n = 101).

^hSample size was composed by 113 PE white women who were responsive (n = 46) and non-responsive (n = 67) to anti-hypertensive treatment.

ⁱSample size was composed by 62 cord vessels of singleton gestations with severe PE (n = 31) and controls (n = 31).

^jCases were stratified in PE (n = 154) and GH (n = 146).

^kCases were stratified in PE (n = 122) and GH (n = 107).

^ICases were stratified in PE (n = 133) and GH (n = 130).

^mCases were stratified in PE (n = 214) and GH (n = 185).

ⁿCases were stratified in PE (n = 443), eclampsia (n = 138), and HELLP syndrome (n = 693).

° Sample size composed by PE cases (n = 61) and their partners (n = 61), and the control group was health pregnant woman (N = 49) and their partners (n = 49).

 p Sample size composed by 100 placental tissues of PE cases (n = 50) and controls (n = 50).

 q Cases were stratified in PE (n = 162) and GH (n = 154).

^rSample size was composed by maternal-fetus dyads from PE cases (n = 528) and controls (n = 575).

-2578A and -1154A alleles were more frequent in Europeandescendants subjects compared to Afro-descendants, while no inter-ethnic differences were observed regarding the G-634C SNP. Ethnic origin is also correlated with differences in *VEGF* haplotypic frequencies (Muniz et al., 2009). Cunha et al. (2011) evaluated *VEGF* variants +936C/T and -2578C/A in PE cases and controls. The *VEGF* -2578A allele showed a higher frequency in the control group, suggesting a possible protective effect against PE, while no association of *VEGF* +936C/T was observed in PE or controls (Cunha et al., 2011).

In the context of antihypertensive therapy, VEGF SNPs (C-2578A and G-634C) were evaluated in European-derived

Brazilian women with PE classified according to response to antihypertensive therapy. No associations were observed, suggesting that these *VEGF* SNPs does not influence the antihypertensive therapy responsiveness in PE (Sandrim et al., 2015). The *VEGF* G-634C and *IL1A* (rs3783550) SNPs were evaluated in Brazilian women with PE and in controls. An association between *IL1A* (rs3783550) SNP and PE development was observed in this population sample. However, no differences were observed regarding the *VEGF* G-634C variant (Silva et al., 2015).

An elegant study investigated VEGF SNPs (-2578 A/C, -1498 C/T, -1154 A/G, -634 C/G, and +936 C/T) in samples

^aCases were stratified in PE (n = 113) and gestational hypertension (GH, n = 103).

from cord vessels of singleton gestations with severe PE. Additionally, they investigated NO plasmatic levels, asymmetric dimethyllarginine and VEGF levels in fetal circulation. The SNPs showed similar distributions in cases and controls. Significantly higher NO plasma levels in umbilical vessels were seen in PE. Arterial VEGF levels were significantly lower in PE cases, and a positive correlation was found between NO and asymmetric dimethylarginine levels amongst PE cases (Chedraui et al., 2013).

The influence of SNPs in *eNOS*, *MTHFR*, *GSTP1*, and angiotensinogen (*AGT*) genes on PE was evaluated by Coral-Vázquez et al. (2013). The *eNOS* variants covered in the study were: $-786T \rightarrow C$ (rs2070744), VNTR (27 bp) in intron 4, and G-894T \rightarrow Glu298Asp (rs1799983). The C-704T \rightarrow Met235Thr (rs699) was the variant studied in *MTHFR*, the C-704T \rightarrow Met235Thr (rs699) in *AGT*, and the A-313G \rightarrow Ile105Val (rs1695) in *GSTP1*. No differences in the distribution of the genotypes or haplotypes between controls and PE cases were observed.

Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) are enzymes responsible for the degradation of various extracellular matrix molecules. In pregnancy, a disturbance in MMP activity could indicate abnormal trophoblast invasion. Moreover, detection of MMP upregulation could reflect an interaction between oxidative stress and inflammatory mediators, which could result in the delivery of cell debris in maternal circulation and accumulation in various maternal organs (Chen and Khalil, 2017). The involvement of MMPs in vascular disorders of pregnancy may worsen the response to antihypertensive therapy (Palei et al., 2012a). In this context, a study investigated two matrix metalloproteinase 9 (MMP9) SNPs, the g.-1562C>T (rs3918242) and microsatellite g.-90(CA)13-25 (rs3222264). They report an association of the MMP9 SNP with gestational hypertension, but not with PE (Palei et al., 2010).

The association of PE and SNPs of nitric oxide synthase 3, NOS3 (G894T, T-786C, and a VNTR with intron 4), MMP2 (C-1306T), and MMP9 (C-1562T) genes was investigated through a prospective case-control study in a southeastern Brazilian population. No association with PE development was found regarding MMP2 and MMP9 variants. Considering the NOS3 gene, the SNP T-786C showed association with PE development (Leonardo et al., 2015). Luizon et al. (2012) evaluated whether epistatic interactions among seven clinically relevant SNPs of eNOS (T-786C, rs2070744, a VNTR in intron 4, and Glu298Asp, rs1799983), MMP-9 [C-1562T, rs3918242 and -90(CA)13-25, rs2234681] and VEGF (C-2578A, rs699947, and G-634C, rs2010963) could be associated with PE or gestational hypertension. Significant interactions between the MMP9 and VEGF genes were seen in PE samples (Luizon et al., 2012). The MMP2 SNPs: g-1306 C>T (rs243865) and g-735 C>T (rs2285053) were analyzed in the context of both PE and gestational hypertension together with circulating MMP-2 and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase (TIMP)-2 levels. High MMP-2/TIMP-2 ratios were observed in gestational hypertensive patients, but no differences in the genotype and allelic frequencies were found (Palei et al., 2012a). The same above-mentioned approach was used regarding MMP9 SNPs: g.-90(CA)13-25 (rs3222264) and g.-1562C>T (rs3918242) and circulating levels of MMP-9 and TIMP-1. Higher plasma concentrations of MMP-9 and TIMP-1 were detected in gestational hypertensive patients compared to controls. TIMP-1 levels were higher in PE cases, but MMP-9 and MMP-9/TIMP-1 ratios were similar between PE and gestational hypertensive subjects. Haplotype analyses suggested that the presence of the H4 haplotype increases susceptibility to gestational hypertension (Palei et al., 2012b).

Dalmáz et al. (2006) assessed the prevalence of four thrombophilic genes in women with mild or severe PE in Southern Brazil. Variants studied include the *MTHFR* C677T, prothrombin gene (*F II*) G20210A, *Factor V* (*FV Leiden*) G1691A, and insertion/deletion (4G/5G) in the plasminogen activator inhibitor type 1 (*PAI1*) gene promoter region. No association between PE and the SNPs was observed (Dalmáz et al., 2006). *MTHFR* C677T and *Factor V Leiden* SNPs were also investigated as potential genetic risk factors for eclampsia and PE in a group of women from western Mexico, without statistically significant results (Dávalos et al., 2005). Furthermore, *Factor V Leiden* (G1691A), *Factor II* (G20210A), and *MTHFR* (C677T) variants were investigated in the context of inherited thrombophilia in Brazilian PE women and controls. Again, no differences were observed (Dusse et al., 2007).

The gene *ACVR2A* encodes the activin A type II receptor (ActRIIA), an essential factor for pregnancy establishment during decidualization, trophoblast invasion, and placentation. Concerning the regulation of trophoblast invasion, abnormal decidual *ACVR2A* expression may affect placentation and lead to PE development (Yong et al., 2018a). In this context, five *ACVR2A* SNPs (rs1424954, rs1014064, rs1424941, rs2161983, and rs3768687) were investigated in a northwestern Brazilian population approaching PE cases and controls. These five SNPs showed no association with PE. Nevertheless, haplotype analysis revealed a strong association among SNPs rs1014064, rs1424954, and rs2161983 and severe early-onset PE (Ferreira et al., 2015).

Considering that the cardiovascular system of a pregnant woman adapts to allow and support increased blood flow toward the placenta, angiotensin-converting enzyme gene (ACE) SNPs were investigated in vascular disorders of pregnancy. A common 287-bp insertion/deletion SNP within ACE (ACE-I/D) was investigated as a possible risk factor for PE development in a south Brazilian population. The allele frequencies of this ACE variant were not associated with PE development (Galão et al., 2004). Subsequently, a case-control study and meta-analysis were also unable to show the association between the ACE-I/D variant and PE (Serrano et al., 2006). In a Mexican population, González-Garrido et al. (2017) evaluated the ACE-I/D SNP in relation to ACE activity and oxidative damage in PE. Higher ACE activity was found in PE cases compared to controls. Also, higher "DD" genotype and "D" allelic frequencies were found in PE compared to the control group. In summary, the results suggested that ACE-I/D SNP, high ACE activity, body mass index and oxidative damage are important factors in the pathogenesis of PE (González-Garrido et al., 2017).

The Endothelin 1 protein is a potent vasoconstrictor molecule, and its encoding gene, *END1*, is also a candidate gene for PE. A case-control study investigated women affected with PE and their partners in comparison to healthy pregnant women and their partners regarding the *EDN1* rs5370 SNP. A negative association between the rs5370 SNP and PE in the male sub-group was observed, while no association was observed between cases and controls in the female sub-group (Galaviz-Hernandez et al., 2016). This study reminds us of the importance of including the paternal genetic background and the effect of the male genetic contribution in pregnancy outcomes.

Hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF) is a highly conserved transcription factor that coordinates an adaptive response in physiological and pathophysiological situations. Several cell types up-regulate *HIF* in response to low oxygen levels. In human pregnancy, HIF signaling in the gravid uterus is critical for fetal and placental development (Macklin et al., 2017). The Influence of *HIF1A* C1772T and G1790A SNPs was evaluated in PE patients and controls in a Mexican population, although no association of these variants with PE risk was observed (Nava-Salazar et al., 2011).

Finally, vitamin D is an essential molecule during pregnancy. The levels of its active form increase throughout healthy gestation and are critical for an adequate calcium supply for fetal growth (Urrutia and Thorp, 2012). Given its importance and relevance in gestational outcome, Vitamin D Receptor (*VDR*) SNPs have been studied in PE and gestational hypertension. Rezende et al. (2012) evaluated three *VDR* SNPs (*FokI, ApaI*, and *BsmI*) in a Brazilian population, and also investigated the potential association of hypertensive pregnancy disorders with *VDR* haplotypes. No differences in genotype, allele, or haplotype frequencies were observed between PE or pregnant hypertensive women and controls, these findings suggested that the investigated SNPs do not influence pregnancy outcome (Rezende et al., 2012).

Studies in vascular and angiogenic gene polymorphisms have shown conflicting results in Latin American populations (Table 2). Besides genetic variants alone, PE-associated haplotypes and the interaction among SNPs of distinct genes further support the importance of exploratory studies in this rapidly developing field. The conflicting results evidenced in this review are partially explained by the differences in the genetic background of distinct Latin American populations, which result from high admixture (Salzano and Sans, 2014). Besides, the different genotypic and allelic frequencies of the studied SNPs corroborate the PE classification as a complex disease. For a better understanding of the whole scenario involving this disease, robust studies and several exploratory studies still need to be put into practice. Also, the publication of negative results is important, mainly for the correct performance of meta-analyses encompassing preexisting data that would better reflect the actual frequency of genetic variants in Latin American populations.

GENETIC VARIATION IN HISTOCOMPATIBILITY-RELATED GENES IN PE

The major histocompatibility complex (MHC) is fundamental to the immunological system allowing the development of immune responses against foreign antigens or immunogenic epitopes

through recognition of self- and non-self. Traditionally, the MHC complex is defined by two well-known genetic loci: MHC class-I and MHC class-II, although MHC class-III and -IV also exist and are relevant to complex diseases (Gruen and Weissman, 2001; Yau et al., 2016). MHC class-I members split in "classical" [human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-A, -B, and -C] and "non-classical" (HLA-E, -F, -G and -H: or MHC-Ib) molecules. Classical genes are ubiquitously expressed on virtually all nucleated cells (with a few exceptions), are highly polymorphic, and their primary function is as peptide presenting molecules. On the contrary, expression of non-classical molecules are restricted to some cellular types (for example, EVT), have a limited degree of polymorphism, and do not present peptides as a major function but rather act as signaling molecules to immune cells. Classical MHC class-II (HLA-DR, -DQ, and -DP) expression is restricted to antigen presenting cells, such as B cells, macrophages, and DCs. MHC class-III and IV are otherwise very distinct molecules comprising members of the complement system and induced-stress/inflammatory proteins, respectively (Gruen and Weissman, 2001).

The role of the MHC-Ib molecules in pregnancy has been a focus since the discovery of HLA-G expression in human trophoblast cells (Kovats et al., 1990). In the maternal-placental interface, an exciting aspect is the expression of HLA-G, -E, -F, and -C antigens on EVT cells (Hackmon et al., 2017).

Among the non-classical MHC-I molecules, HLA-G is a most enigmatic member. It interacts with several maternal immune cells, including those in the decidua (i.e., dNK, decidual macrophages, dCD4+, dCD8+), and has the potential to inhibit or activate their immunologic functions. Recently, it was reported that soluble HLA-G (sHLA-G) affinity for its cognate receptors [i.e., dimers binding to LILRB1 (leukocyte Ig-like receptor 1) with increased affinity] is likely impacted by sHLA-G heterodimerization in inflamed patients, which is likely to occur in PE and explains the variable findings reported so far (Veit et al., 2015). Also, LILRB1 receptors bind to β2-microglobulin(m)associated HLA-G, whereas the LILRB2 receptors bind to nonβ2m-associated HLA-G molecules. Alternative splicing of the gene results in seven isoforms: four membrane-bound HLA-G isoforms (HLA-G1 to -G4) and three soluble isoforms (HLA-G5 to G7). HLA-G1 undergoes proteolytic cleavage by metalloproteinase-2 (MMP-2) giving rise to sHLA-G1 (Rizzo et al., 2013).

In Latin America, several groups have evaluated the role of candidate genes belonging to the MHC loci and PE susceptibility (**Table 3**). *HLA-G* is the most studied *MHC* gene due to its immunotolerogenic properties, and several aspects of *HLA-G* have been explored. An SNP located in the 3' untranslated region (UTR) of the gene, namely 14-bp insertion(ins)/deletion(del) (rs66554220), is well-known due to its influence on mRNA stability which affects the expression patterns of the gene (Rousseau et al., 2003; Porto et al., 2015). We have recently reported that specific haplotypes and variants in the 3'UTR increase the risk for recurrent pregnancy loss in Brazilian women (Michita et al., 2016). Also, we suggested that a maternal 14 bp del/del homozygous status might predispose primiparous women to PE (Vianna et al., 2007). An increased risk for

PE was also observed in neonates who preferentially inherit the maternal HLA-G*0104 allele (Carreiras et al., 2002), which has been associated with the 14 bp del allele present in the UTR-3 haplotype (Castelli et al., 2014). In another study, a concomitantly low frequency of CD8+CD28- T cells (CD8+T memory cells), low monocyte (CD14+HLA-G+), and low T cell (CD3+HLA-G+) counts in PE women were associated with a pro-inflammatory status, which was confirmed by proinflammatory cytokine measurements (Vianna et al., 2016); however, no differences in 14 bp ins/del and +3142C/G (rs1063320) SNP frequencies between PE and non-PE women were observed. Similarly, in a Mexican PE cohort, although HLA-G expression was not evaluated, a reduced frequency of CD3+ T cells was observed in third trimester decidual tissue, and most importantly, dNK cells (CD3-CD56+CD16-CD9+) persisted throughout pregnancy and shared the same phenotype as the ones detected in early pregnancy (Sánchez-Rodríguez et al., 2011). This implies that long-term persistence of dNK cells could play important physiological roles in labor by the secretion of inflammatory mediators and fighting against infectious agents. Still considering HLA-G, Ferreira et al. (2017) reported that the 14 bp variant had no influence on PE predisposition, although the specific contribution of this SNP for PE in primiparous women was not evaluated. Hitherto, the role of the 14 bp variant in PE has been a matter of debate (Vianna et al., 2007; Pabalan et al., 2015; Ferreira et al., 2017). However, in a recent meta-analysis, the ethnicity (European-derived) and the 14 bp ins/ins genotype status in neonates were pointed as likely involved in PE risk in primiparous women (Pabalan et al., 2015).

PE development probably involves the interaction of maternal and fetal features. Also, a contribution of paternal origin has been suggested (Dahl et al., 2014; Saftlas et al., 2014). Functional variants within the endoplasmic reticulum aminopeptidase gene (ERAP2) have been associated with PE in non-Latin American populations (Johnson et al., 2009). In a study by Hill et al. (2011a), the ERAP variants rs2549782 and rs17408150 were evaluated in Chilean dyads (mother-neonate) and African American subjects (78% were dyads) with PE. In this study, no influence of ERAP SNPs in PE predisposition was reported. The lack of association with PE risk could be partially explained by differences in population structure and linkage disequilibrium patterns (Hill et al., 2011b). A study evaluating Venezuelan dyads reported an increased risk for PE in both mothers and neonates carrying the HLA-DRB1*07 DQA1*0201 DQB1*0201 haplotype. In addition, mothers carrying the HLA-DRB1*06/07 allele were more likely to be infected by the human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) (Carreiras et al., 2002). Since the recent Zika virus epidemics in Brazil (Schuler-Faccini et al., 2016), the relevance of viral infections during pregnancy is once more in the spotlight. Of note, recent evidence suggests that some viral infections modify the threshold of placental cell immunologic response to bacterial lipopolysaccharides (LPS) resulting in an exacerbated inflammatory response, and thus contributing to the development of pregnancy disorders including PE (Cross et al., 2017; Nourollahpour Shiadeh et al., 2017).

Other polymorphic loci immunologically relevant in PE comprise the *KIR* (Killer-cell immunoglobulin-like receptors)

family. This gene family encompasses both activating (S) and inhibitory (L) receptors and can be functionally characterized in two additional groups: A (inhibitory) or B (activating) group. There is evidence of maternal *KIR* contribution in PE development. Indeed, it was suggested that the predominance of inhibitory receptors in PE women conferred an increased risk for PE in Mexican women (Sánchez-Rodríguez et al., 2011). Interestingly, a higher frequency of CMV-positivity was observed in third trimester Mexican women carrying the inhibitory *KIR* bB03|tA01 haplotype (*KIR* A) (Alvarado-Hernández et al., 2016), reinforcing the theory that imbalances between activating and inhibitory receptors expressed on cytotoxic cells influence viral infection predisposition and are possibly a risk-modifying factor for pregnancy disorder development.

GENE VARIANTS INVOLVED IN METABOLIC PROCESSES

Changes in maternal metabolism occur during gestation, allowing adaptation to the energetic and nutritional needs of the developing fetus and ensuring its healthy development. Some changes involve the metabolism of carbohydrates and lipids. Such metabolic changes occur in a spatial and temporal manner as pregnancy develops. Early in gestation, glucose and insulin levels are comparable to those of non-pregnant women, with a slight increase in insulin sensitivity (Butte, 2000). A decrease in insulin sensitivity occurs naturally, becoming evident in the second trimester, however, a noticeable loss of insulin sensitivity can lead to systemic resistance, hyperglycemia, and gestational diabetes mellitus (DM). The effects of hyperglycemia in pregnancy are associated with several adverse clinical outcomes for both mother and newborn, the latter associated with overweight and cardiometabolic risk later in life (Thaware et al., 2015; Zhu et al., 2016; Tam et al., 2017). It was suggested that gestational hyperglycemia or pre-pregnancy DM are risk factors for gestational disorders, including PE (Wendland et al., 2008). Interestingly, the expression of cytokines (i.e., IL-10 and TNF-alpha) relevant to the pathophysiology of PE (Daher et al., 2006; Pinheiro et al., 2015) is associated with maternal glycemia (Moreli et al., 2012), implying that maternal glycemia not only affects the metabolic status but also the immunological profile of pregnant women.

Some studies have evaluated the role of critical mediators in metabolic processes and their influence on PE development (**Table 4**). Adiponectin (ADIPOQ) is an adipokine, a term referring to adipose tissue-derived signaling molecules with broad biological functions (Ruan and Dong, 2016). ADIPOQ enhances cellular insulin sensitivity and thus is involved in adipose tissue expansion. Besides metabolic signaling, ADIPOQ has anti-inflammatory, anti-atherogenic and antiproliferative functions, but paradoxically it is associated with coronary diseases (Sattar and Nelson, 2008). In addition, it enhances human EVT cell invasion *in vitro* by means of MMP-9 and -2 expression and TIMP-2 repression (Benaitreau et al., 2010). Expression of both MMPs in EVT cells may

Factors	Sample size †	Key findings	Country	References
HLA-A, -G, -DRB1, -DQA1, -DQB1 alleles	27/29 ^a	Association with PE risk: <i>HLA-G</i> *0104 allele, <i>DRB1</i> *07 <i>DQA1</i> *0201 <i>DQB1</i> *0201 haplotype and <i>DRB1</i> *07 and/or <i>DRB1</i> *06 alleles in presence of HCMV detection.	Venezuela	Carreiras et al., 2002
HLA-G (14 bp ins/del)	157/162	No association with PE.	Brazil	Vianna et al., 2007
KIR inhibitory(2DL1, 2DL2, 2DL3, 2DL4, 2DL5, 3DL1, 3DL2, 3DL3); activating (2DS1, 2DS2, 2DS3, 2DS4, 2DS5, 3DS1); pseudogenes (2PQ1, 3DP1)	90/86	No association with PE.	Mexico	Sánchez-Rodríguez et al., 2011
HLA-G (14 bp ins/del, +3142C>G).	26/32 ^b	No association with PE.	Brazil	Vianna et al., 2016
HLA-G (14 bp ins/del)	409/332 ^c	No association with PE.	Brazil	Ferreira et al., 2017
ERAP2 (rs2549782, rs17408150)	528/575 ^d	No association with PE.	Chile	Hill et al., 2011b

[†] Pooled cases/controls.

^aSamples were mother-neonate dyads.

^bControls were grouped in non-PE (n = 25) and healthy group (n = 7).

^c Cases were grouped in PE (n = 246), eclampsia (n = 57), and HELLP (n = 106). PE, preeclampsia; HLA, human leukocyte antigen; HCMV, human cytomegalovirus; ins, insertion; del, deletion; KIR, killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor; ERAP2, endoplasmic reticulum aminopeptidase-2

^dOnly Chilean mother-neonate dyads.

increase membrane cleavage of the immunomodulatory molecules MIC-A and HLA-G (Sun et al., 2011; Rizzo et al., 2013). SNPs in ADIPOQ influence basal expression of the gene and predispose occurrences of metabolic disorders in French and Japanese populations (Hara et al., 2002; Fumeron et al., 2004). In a cohort of Brazilian PE women ADIPOQ variants -11391G/A (rs17300539), -11377C/G (rs266729), 45T/G (rs2241766), and 276G/T (rs1501299) were evaluated. The rs266729 GG genotype presented a higher frequency in PE (Machado et al., 2014). The -11377G allele is suggested to decrease the affinity of nuclear proteins in the ADIPOQ promoter and putatively the transcriptional activity (Bouatia-Naji et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2009). Therefore, preeclamptic -11377GG genotype carriers are likely to express low levels of adiponectin, resulting in impaired control of glycemia. Also, -11377G allele carriers have been associated with chronic hypertension (Ong et al., 2010), recurrent pregnancy loss (Dendana et al., 2018), and gestational diabetes (Pawlik et al., 2017) in non-Latin American populations.

Lipid metabolism and plasmatic concentration are regulated by an enzyme encoded in lipase hepatic gene *LIPC*. *LIPC* -514C/T (rs1800588) is a promoter SNP which influences hepatic lipase levels. In fact, the -514TT genotype is associated with the lowest enzyme activity, although the variant effect is variable among non-Latin American populations (Tahvanainen et al., 1998; Ordovas et al., 2002; Isaacs et al., 2004). This variant was evaluated in a cohort of PE Peruvian women (Enquobahrie et al., 2005). Although no direct association with PE risk was observed, overweight status during pregnancy was a modifying risk factor for PE in *LIPC* -514TT genotype.

Changes in insulin responsiveness are essential in pregnancy and affect both mother and fetus. As pregnancy develops, maternal insulin resistance increases, which in turn facilitates glucose transport across the placenta and stimulates fetal insulin production, favoring normal fetal growth and development (Farrar, 2016). Hyperinsulinemia is harmful and resembles the endothelial dysfunction observed in PE pathophysiology (Muniyappa and Sowers, 2014). An interesting Mexican study evaluating the role of genetic variants of genes involved in insulin responsiveness in PE development focused on: insulin [(INS); PstI (rs3842752) and MaeIII (rs689)], insulin receptor [(INSR); NsiI (rs2059806)], and insulin receptor substrate [(IRS1); Ala513Pro (rs1801276) and Gly972Arg (rs1801278)] (Machorro-Lazo et al., 2009). Although no statistical difference in SNPs frequencies was observed, a previous study evaluating different ethnic groups in Mexico observed differences in the MaeII, PstI, and NsiI genotype distribution when stratified by fasting insulin and serum triglyceride levels (Flores-Martínez et al., 2004; Sánchez-Corona et al., 2004). Also, the IRS1 972Arg allele was associated with gestational diabetes in a meta-analysis (Zhang et al., 2013) and the INSR NsiI SNP (rs2059806AA genotype) was associated with PE in an Australian cohort and also in PE newborns small for the gestational age in a Sinhalese cohort (Andraweera et al., 2017). The lack of association with PE is possibly due to the stringent inclusion/exclusion criteria of the study since pregnant women with undiagnosed insulin resistance before pregnancy were excluded.

As insulin signaling involves an intricate network of molecules, it is unlikely that a single gene or SNP results in an insulin-resistant phenotype. Nevertheless, SNPs in leptin (*LEP*) and leptin receptor (*LEPR*) genes seem to have the potential to

TABLE 4 Summary of studies in Latin America eva	aluating the role of genetic variants	within genes involved in metabo	olic changes during pregnancy.

Factors	Sample size †	Key findings	Country	References
ADIPOQ (-11391G>A,-11377C>G, 45T>G, 276G>T)	240/161 ^a	Association with PE risk: –11377GG genotype.	Brazil	Machado et al., 2014
INS (Pstl, Maelll) INSR (Nsil) IRS1 (Ala513Pro, Gly972Arg)	43/46	No association with PE.	Mexico	Machorro-Lazo et al., 2009
LEP (G2548A) LEPR (Gin223Arg, Lys109Arg)	146 ^b	Association with GH clinical findings: LEP 2548AA genotype with BMI and 2548G allele with systemic BP; LEP 109 Lys/Lys genotype with BMI and Insulin resistance.	Brazil	Farias et al., 2017
<i>LIPC</i> (-514C>T)	157/180	Association with PE risk: <i>LIPC</i> –514TT genotype in overweight pregnant women.	Peru	Enquobahrie et al., 2005

[†] Pooled cases/controls.

^aCases were grouped in PE (n = 127) and gestational hypertension (n = 113).

^b Prospective cohort of pregnant women. PE, preeclampsia; ADIPOQ, adiponectin; INS, insulin; INSR, insulin receptor; IRS1, insulin receptor substrate-1; LEP, leptin; LEPR, leptin receptor; GH, gestational hypertension; BP, blood pressure; BMI, body mass index; LIPC, hepatic lipase.

influence blood pressure during pregnancy as an indirect effect on insulin sensitivity and BMI, and therefore are relevant in PE pathophysiology (Fan and Say, 2014; Taylor et al., 2015). In a Brazilian study, LEP G2548A (rs7799039), LEPR Q223R (rs1137101), and K(Lys)109R(Arg) (rs1137100) variants were evaluated regarding their influence on maternal blood pressure during pregnancy and the postpartum period (Farias et al., 2017). Although no association with leptin levels and SNPs were observed, homozygous individuals for 2548AA genotype had lower BMI in early pregnancy, and the effect of BMI on blood pressure levels was higher in 2548AA homozygous carriers compared to G allele carriers (GA+GG). On the contrary, 2548GG+GA showed a positive increase in systemic blood pressure in early pregnancy. In a more recent study, the 2548A allele was associated with an increased risk for gestational weight gain (Martins et al., 2017). The influence of G2548A SNP in leptin levels during pregnancy is still not evident (Sugathadasa et al., 2010; Yang et al., 2016; Farias et al., 2017). Nevertheless, in non-pregnant Brazilian women, associations with obesity risk and increased leptin levels for 2548GG genotype and 2548G allele were reported (Hinuy et al., 2008). In PE, plasma levels of leptin are higher than in normotensive pregnant women (Sugathadasa et al., 2010). Also, women with impaired fasting glucose have higher levels of both insulin and leptin compared to euglycemic pregnant women (Yang et al., 2016). These observations are relevant since leptin-induced obesity is associated with hyperglycemia, hypertension, and endothelial damage.

VARIANTS IN DETOXIFICATION, DNA-REPAIR, AND APOPTOSIS-RELATED GENES

Vascular dysfunction is one hallmark of PE that is intensified by positive feedback involving altered maternal immune tolerance and placental hypoxia. In addition, endothelial damage observed

in PE is the prima facie of impaired clearance of oxidative stress byproduct by endogenous detoxifying agents. Oxidative stress causes membrane lipid peroxidation, DNA damage and is possibly implicated in the pathogenesis of essential hypertension (González, 2014). Functional SNPs in candidate genes of the detoxification system, DNA repair, and apoptosis genes have been suggested to play roles in PE development (Table 5). Glutathione-S-transferase (GST) is an endogenous detoxifying enzyme superfamily that protects against oxidative stress and exogenous toxins or xenobiotics. The functional variant GSTP1 313A/G (rs1695) lies within the active site of the GSTP1 enzyme, and the 313G allele (valine) is associated with low catalytic activity (Ali-Osman et al., 1997). Studies evaluating this variant in different continental cohorts of PE have reported conflicting results (Zusterzeel et al., 2000; Gerhardt et al., 2004; Canto et al., 2008; Coral-Vázquez et al., 2013; Gao et al., 2016). On the one hand, it was observed that GSTP1 313G allele and 313GG/AG genotypes are protective factors for PE development in Maya-Mestizo women (Canto et al., 2008), a finding inconsistent with a Dutch study (Zusterzeel et al., 2000). This same variant had no influence on severe PE development in Mexican-Mestizo women (Coral-Vázquez et al., 2013), highlighting differences in results according to ethnic origin. Studies evaluating the role of GSTP1 313A/G in PE risk reported conflicting results, probably due to the high inter-variation and intra-variation (i.e., admixture) of the GSTP1 313G allele frequency (Zerbino et al., 2018). Another interesting GST variant is the complete deletion of GSTM1 and GSTT1 (Anvar et al., 2011). It is reported that Mexican-Mestizo women homozygous for GSTT1 null genotype have a higher risk for PE, and those double homozygous for both GSTM1 and GSTT1 null genotypes have a 5-fold increased risk for PE (Sandoval-Carrillo et al., 2014a). These findings contribute to the conflicting body of evidence as pointed out by a meta-analysis (Anvar et al., 2011; Ge et al., 2015). Although the frequency of single deletions varies (Palma-Cano et al., 2017), we hypothesized that populations showing a high frequency of both GSTs deletions could have a high frequency of individuals carrying both deletion

Factors	Sample size †	Key findings	Country	References
GSTP1 (313A>G)	125/274	Association with protection for PE: 313GG and AG genotypes.	Mexico	Canto et al., 2008
GSTP1 (313A>G)	230/352	No association with PE.	Mexico	Coral-Vázquez et al., 2013
GSTM1, GSTT1	112/233	Association with PE risk: GSTT1 deletion, and combined GSTM1/GSTT1 deletion (highest risk).	Mexico	Sandoval-Carrillo et al., 2014a
APEX1 (Asp148Glu) XPD (Lys751Gln) XRCC (Arg399Gln) XRCC3 (Thr241Met)	202/350	Association with PE risk and disorder severity: <i>APEX1</i> 148Glu allele.	Mexico	Sandoval-Carrillo et al., 2014b
<i>TP53</i> (Arg72Pro) <i>MDM2</i> (309T>G)	119/99	No association with PE.	Brazil	Busatto et al., 2015
CASP-8 (rs13416436, rs2037815)	55/162	No association with PE.	Brazil	Orlando et al., 2018

TABLE 5 | Summary of the studies in Latin America evaluating the role of genetic variants in genes involved in detoxification, DNA repair and apoptosis in PE.

[†] Pooled cases/controls. PE, preeclampsia; GSTP, glutathione s-transferase Pi-1; GTSM1, glutathione s-transferase Mu-1; GSTT1, glutathione s-transferase Theta-1; APEX1, Apex nuclease 1; XPD, Xeroderma pigmentosum complementation group D; XRCC, x-ray repair cross-complementing protein; XRCC3, x-ray repair cross-complementing protein 3; TP53, tumor protein p53; MDM2, mouse double minute-2 homolog; CASP8, caspase-8.

alleles, implying an increased risk to oxidative stress-related disorders such as PE or vasculopathies.

Most DNA damage caused by endogenous ROS generated from oxidative stress is corrected by the DNA repairing machinery through diverse pathways (see Chatterjee and Walker, 2017). It is not clear whether DNA damage is an effect or cause of PE pathophysiology, although impaired DNA repair is observed in placental tissue from PE women (Tadesse et al., 2014). Also, accumulation of DNA errors results in cell death, and DNA repair efficiency is impacted by genetic variation in DNA repair genes. Hitherto, few studies have investigated such variants in PE development (Vural et al., 2009; Saadat et al., 2012; Sandoval-Carrillo et al., 2014b). In a study enrolling Mexican women with PE, SNPs in DNA repair genes from nucleotide and base excision pathways, homologous recombination and single-strand break repair mechanisms were evaluated. Among the variants evaluated, a possible role for the functional variant T1349G (Asp148Glu; rs1130409) in the apurinic/apyrimidinic (AP) endonuclease (APEX1) gene in PE development was observed. Although no difference in overall genotype distribution between PE and normotensive pregnant women was observed, consistent with a previous study (Vural et al., 2009), the 1349G (148Glu) allele frequency was higher in PE subjects compared to normotensive women. Also, the G allele frequency was higher in severe PE compared to mild-PE (Sandoval-Carrillo et al., 2014b). Although a functional study reported no difference in endonuclease activity between APEX1-148Glu and APEX1-148Asp molecules (Hadi et al., 2000), the role of this variant in PE is supported by impaired enzyme functionality (impaired DNAbinding and endonuclease activity) associated with the 1349G (148Glu) allele (Almutairi et al., 2015), and also by the fact that APEX-1 is essential for the base excision repair pathway, apoptosis, response to oxidative stress, and cell cycle control.

Essential for genomic stability and cell cycle control, the tumor suppressor protein p53 is also implicated in human reproduction (Kang and Rosenwaks, 2018). Our research group

has investigated the role of the *TP53* Arg72Pro (rs1042522) and *MDM2* 309T/G (rs2279744) variants in PE development (Busatto et al., 2015). Despite a lack of association with PE risk in our study, it is reported that *MDM2* 309GG genotype confers an increased risk for PE in an Iranian population (Salimi et al., 2017). Interestingly, MDM2 309G allele frequency in normotensive and PE women was similar in both studies, although genotypic frequencies differed. These findings highlight that interaction among SNPs from the regulatory *TP53* network are likely to account for observed differences and should be addressed in further studies (Jacovas et al., 2015). Genetic variants in apoptosis-related genes, such as *CASPASE-8* (rs13416436T/A and rs2037815G/A) were evaluated in PE in a small cohort of Brazilian women, although no association with disorder risk was observed (Orlando et al., 2018).

FUTURE DIRECTIONS: CHALLENGES AND PERSPECTIVES

Over the past decade, our understanding of the molecular basis of many disorders has increased in an unprecedented manner. Despite improvements in understanding the contribution of paternal, maternal, and placental factors in PE pathophysiology, the identification of reliable predictive biomarkers for PE remains elusive. We do not wish to distract from the importance and biological implications of the many other advances in PE understanding, however, based on our knowledge we suggest future directions/studies and challenges in PE research by highlighting and discussing some emerging trends from distinct but related biological fields (**Figure 2**).

MHC Class-I Related Sequence A

It is well known that some biological aspects inherent to host immunologic tolerance to solid organ allograft transplantation (tx) could overlap to some extent with those directly related to human pregnancy (sometimes considered as a naturally

occurring grafting event). Relevant in human pregnancy, the MHC Class-Ib molecules are becoming a target of studies in human transplantation, since the rejection of allografts fully matched for HLA antigens still occur. In this context, the nonclassical MHC class-I related sequence A (MIC-A or MICA), a stress-induced protein has attracted attention due to its immunomodulatory properties (Baranwal and Mehra, 2017; Risti and Bicalho, 2017). MICA has restricted tissue expression in normal physiological conditions (i.e., gastrointestinal tract and endothelial cells) (Baranwal and Mehra, 2017). MICA mRNA transcripts are detected in decidual, placental, and trophoblast cells from healthy pregnancies, although the MICA molecule is barely detected on placental tissues (Mincheva-Nilsson et al., 2006; Apps et al., 2008). It has been proposed that soluble MICA (sMICA) in pregnant women may participate in fetal immune escape (Mincheva-Nilsson et al., 2006; Huang et al., 2011), although high levels of sMICA were considered a predictive biomarker for in vitro fertilization failure (Porcu-Buisson et al., 2007). Indeed, in pathological situations, MICA expression patterns might change. A dimorphism known as MICA-129Val/Met (rs1051792), is reported to influence both sMICA levels and affinity to the NKG2D receptor expressed on cytotoxic cells, including uNK cells. It was observed that soluble NKG2D has a higher affinity to 129Met molecules (range 10to 50-fold) compared to 129Val MICA (Steinle et al., 2001). Thus, this variant seems relevant in inflammatory disorders (Isernhagen et al., 2016), but its influence on pregnancy disorders is yet to be addressed. Besides, high sMICA levels are observed in PE and other vascular pregnancy disorders, often being absent in healthy pregnancies. Further, sMICA maternal plasma from PE women downregulates NKG2D expression on CD3-CD56+NK cells from healthy donors (Haumonte et al., 2014), suggesting that sMICA impairs vascular remodeling through downregulation of NK effector functions by means of interferon-gamma secretion and cytotoxicity (Haumonte et al., 2014; Zhou et al., 2014). Additionally, microvesicles derived from early placenta harbor MICA which has potential to downregulate NKG2D (Hedlund et al., 2009).

Non-coding RNAs and Epigenetics

In the era of genomics, next-generation DNA sequencing is becoming a technique accessible to most laboratories. The possibility of massively interrogating millions of DNA strands at the same time has fostered research in the search of causal genetic variation involved in PE pathophysiology (see Yong et al., 2018b). The profile of non-coding RNA (ncRNA) in distinct tissues, body fluids and disorders has revealed a universe of RNAs, which is currently under extensive investigation. Traditionally, ncRNAs are divided into two classes based on size: small ncRNA (<200 nt) and long ncRNA (>200 nt). The small ncRNA includes microRNA (miRNA), small interfering RNA, small nuclear RNA, small nucleolar RNA, ribosomal RNA, transfer RNA, and P-element-induced-wimpy testis (piwi)interacting RNA. Their regulatory activity extends to different levels of transcription and post-transcriptional control (Anfossi et al., 2018). Although little is known about long non-coding RNA (lncRNA) functions, they participate in several biological processes such as epigenetic regulation, transcriptional and posttranscriptional control, regulation of miRNAs (by acting as sequence decoys) and acting as scaffolds for protein complex (Li et al., 2014), suggesting a more extensive biological versatility compared to small ncRNAs.

Currently, ncRNAs are considered promising diagnostic tools and disease progression biomarkers in the clinical setting, because their level of presence is expected to correlate with repressive activity (Bounds et al., 2017). In PE, an increasing number of studies have identified potential regulatory ncRNAs, most of them miRNAs such as miR-155 and miR-210 (Bounds et al., 2017; Wei et al., 2017; Winger et al., 2018; Yoffe et al., 2018). miRNAs are of particular interest due to their high stability in body fluids (Brase et al., 2010) and their potential to be released inside microvesicles (Salomon et al., 2017). An emerging role of genetic variants within miRNAs (even virally encoded miRNAs) highlights their influence in the susceptibility to viral infections (Ellwanger et al., 2018).

Despite the promising applications of ncRNAs as biomarkers in distinct pathologies, the increasing complexity for use due to ncRNA heterogeneity as well as the diversity of methodologies implemented for their isolation (Anfossi et al., 2018) highlight some challenges that should be addressed, including the need for sample collection, processing, and analysis standardization in order to increase the feasibility and replicability of studies.

It is clear that epigenetics is a mechanism involved in the development of a healthy pregnancy. Partially methylated domains (PMDs) are regions showing reduced average methylation levels which cover up to 40% of the genome. PMDs are observed in only a few cell types: cultured cells, malignant cells and placental cells (Hansen et al., 2011; Schroeder and LaSalle, 2013). Interestingly, PMD covers 37% of the placental genome, and most of the genes in PMD are repressed, suggesting that repression of specific genes within PMD during pregnancy is needed for healthy development (Schroeder et al., 2013). Following this reasoning, disruption in the epigenetic program could lead to placental dysfunction and associated disorders (Robinson and Price, 2015). Some studies have evaluated the methylation status, or methylome, of the placenta in pregnancy disorders such as preterm birth (Hong et al., 2017), intrauterine growth restriction (Hillman et al., 2015), and PE (Blair et al., 2013; Anton et al., 2014; Chu et al., 2014; Liu et al., 2014). Owing to the fact that different methodologies exist, the comparison between studies is not always possible. Nonetheless, two genes (DAPK3 and PAPPA2) were observed to share methylation patterns in preeclamptic placenta (Blair et al., 2013; Chu et al., 2014; Bianco-Miotto et al., 2016). Apart from pregnancy disorders, the methylation patterns in placental PMD suggest a causal link to autism spectrum disorders because behavioral genes are overrepresented in placental PMD (Schroeder et al., 2016). There is also a suggestion of an interaction between environmental factors and DNA, altering epigenetic features and therefore susceptibility to many disorders including PE (Chelbi and Vaiman, 2008).

Analysis of DNA methylation in cord blood cells may improve our knowledge of epigenetic signatures in pregnancy (and PE) and improve understanding of their implications for adult life. For example, hypomethylation of the 11βhydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type-2 (*HSD11B2*) gene promoter is suggested to increase fetal glucocorticoid levels identified as risk factors for metabolic diseases (Hu et al., 2014). In a study evaluating cord blood in early preeclamptic women, different sets of genes from lipid metabolism, cellular proliferation and inflammation showed variable levels of methylation in their promoter regions, suggesting that early epigenetic signatures are detected in newborns and could be associated with predisposition to cardiovascular diseases in adulthood (Ching et al., 2015). Nevertheless, whether early risk epigenetic modifications remain constant and act as disease triggers or risk-modifying factors is still an open question.

Genomic imprinting is closely associated with parental origin, which highlights that epigenetic disruption can result in abnormal expression of imprinted genes in the placenta and contributes to PE development. The distal-less homeobox-5 (DLX5) gene is paternally imprinted (maternally expressed gene) in normal healthy placenta, but its status is upregulated in PE as a result of the loss of paternal imprinting. DLX5 was upregulated in up to 70% of PE placentas correlating positively with classical PE markers (i.e., PlGF:sFLT). Of note, overexpression of DLX5 in vitro led to reduced proliferation and endoplasmic reticulum stress of trophoblast cells (Zadora et al., 2017). GATA-binding protein 3 (GATA3), a gene relevant to trophoblast invasion, was also identified as a candidate for future research concerning dysregulated imprint and pregnancy disorders (Chiu and Chen, 2016; Zadora et al., 2017).

Overall, the methylome opens new perspectives for comprehension of the phenomenon of inherited traits unrelated to classical nucleotide sequence changes in the genome (SNPs or mutations) and how they affect phenotype. The future is promising, but some important issues should be addressed. For example, PMD is overrepresented in the placental methylome, but most of the studies published so far have ignored them, raising the question of whether PMD occurs in specific trophoblast cell lineages or at specific stages of development (Schroeder et al., 2013; Bianco-Miotto et al., 2016). Interestingly, methylation patterns in early extraembryonic tissues resemble those commonly observed in cancer (Smith et al., 2017), implying that comprehension of the epigenomic landscape of these two phenomena would provide some clues to the inherent process of cellular invasion, proliferation, and vasculogenesis. Also, the paradox of high methylation of CpG islands in genes within placental PMD is yet to be addressed. Lastly, future studies should differentiate hypomethylation patterns occurring in PMD regions from those occurring in other genomic regions (Schroeder et al., 2013).

Placental Microbiome-Friend or Foe

The fact that microorganisms are detected in the placenta, the womb, and the fetus, once thought of as sterile entities, has attracted much attention. The detection of bacterial DNA in the placenta (Aagaard et al., 2014; Collado et al., 2016) and in the amniotic fluid (Collado et al., 2016) has brought the "placental microbiome" into the spotlight. This concept challenges the traditional belief that newborns acquire their first bacteria only



as they pass through the birth canal. The observation that *Enterococcus faecium* from human breast milk orally inoculated in pregnant mice can be detected in the amniotic fluid, and the pup's meconium (Jiménez et al., 2005, 2008; Aagaard et al., 2014) further supports the concept of the placental microbiome. In this same line, it seems that the newborn gut microbiome shares similarities to the maternal oral microbiome (Aagaard et al., 2014). The nature of symbiosis between extraembryonic tissues and the local community of microorganisms is still unknown. Although studies support the existence of fetal microbiomes, there is currently skepticism surround the concept, as discussed in other studies (Lauder et al., 2016; Perez-Muñoz et al., 2017).

The presence of placental microbiota in normal pregnancy (Aagaard et al., 2014; Parnell et al., 2017) intuitively implies that an altered microbiome would underlie pregnancy disorders such as chorioamnionitis and preterm birth (Antony et al., 2015; Prince et al., 2016). In this sense, a novel mechanism by which viruses may alter immunologic tolerance to intrauterine bacteria was suggested (Cross et al., 2017). It demonstrated that polymicrobial exposure of human fetal membranes (FM; amnion and chorion) explanted to bacterial LPS and virus [Herpes simplex virus type 2 (HSV2)] samples result in the aberrant expression of IL-1β, which is commonly observed in chorioamnionitis and preterm birth (Gomez-Lopez et al., 2017). The mechanism is not fully understood, however, it involves downregulation of the MER tyrosine kinase protooncogene (MERKT) receptor, allowing the activation of Nodlike receptor protein-3 (NLRP3) also known as the NLRP3 inflammasome through a synergistic signaling by LPS/TLR4 (TLR: toll-like receptor-4) and viral double strand dsRNA/TLR3 (dsRNA: double strand RNA) (Cross et al., 2017). It is worth mentioning that some viruses exploit TAM receptors for cell attachment and entry, but whether they are surrogates capable of suppressing TLR signaling is unclear (Best, 2013; Bhattacharyya et al., 2013). This observation is relevant since NLRP3 expression seems to be higher in the placental villi of preeclamptic women compared to normotensive women (Weel et al., 2017). However, if polymicrobial exposure underlies NLRP3 expression in preeclamptic placentas, and if different herpesviruses (i.e., congenital Cytomegalovirus infection) besides the ones evaluated are also able to reduce LPS threshold response are still open questions.

GENERAL CONCLUDING REMARKS

In Latin America, several studies approached the molecular basis of PE pathogenesis, documented by the increasing amount of

REFERENCES

- Aagaard, K., Ma, J., Antony, K. M., Ganu, R., Petrosino, J., and Versalovic, J. (2014). The placenta harbors a unique microbiome. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 6:237ra65. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3008599
- ACOG (2013). Hypertension in pregnancy. Report of the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists' Task Force on Hypertension in Pregnancy. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 122, 1122–1131. doi: 10.1097/01.AOG.0000437382.03963.88

scientific study and its impact on local and international scientific communities. In this endeavor, Brazil and Mexico are at the forefront of scientific production. However, we call attention to the need for studies in other Latin American countries, since these regions are characterized by a highly genetically diverse human population. Additionally, PE and gestational hypertensive disorders are a heavy burden in Latin America, strongly affecting maternal and fetal health.

Several genetic variants influencing PE predisposition were reported (Figure 3), some consistently associated with PE across different populations, despite disparities in the genetic/ethnic background inherent in Latin American populations. Genetic intra- and inter-variation have a great influence on genetic predisposition to PE. Although a comprehensive literature review was performed in this study, it may not be representative of the genetic variability present in Latin America since human population studies focus on small samples and therefore may not represent the genetic variability of entire local populations. Additionally, in developing countries, medical specialties (i.e., high-risk pregnancy care) are often centralized in the biggest cities. Therefore, replication of studies in different populations and multicentric collaborative studies are encouraged and would provide a better evaluation of the maternal genetic components of PE development in Latin America. Finally, PE and other hypertensive pregnancy disorders are the primary cause of maternal-fetal morbidity and mortality in low- and middleincome countries, representing a significant burden on public healthcare services. Therefore, it is imperative that public health policies assure prenatal care, perinatal monitoring, and health education in order to reduce the risk of pregnancy-related complications.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RM designed the review, planned the topics, wrote the review, reviewed the literature, and designed the figures and tables. VK wrote the review, reviewed the literature, designed the figures, and proofread the review. JC designed the review, contributed to writing the topics and critically reviewed the manuscript.

FUNDING

RM received a doctoral scholarship from Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq)—Brazil. VK received a doctoral scholarship from Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES)—Brazil. JC received a fellowship from CNPq.

- ACOG (2018). ACOG committee opinion No. 743: low-dose aspirin use during pregnancy. Obstet. Gynecol. 132, e44–e52. doi: 10.1097/AOG.00000000002708
- Acosta-Tejeda, M., Baptista-González, H., Rosenfeld-Mann, F., Trueba-Gómez, R., and García-Latorre, E. (2011). Association between genotype and plasma levels of thrombin-activated fibrinolysis inhibitor (TAFI) in the development of preeclampsia. *Thromb. Res.* 128, e39–e42. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2011. 05.019

- Adu-Bonsaffoh, K., Samuel, O. A., Binlinla, G., and Samuel, O. A. (2013). Maternal deaths attributable to hypertensive disorders in a tertiary hospital in Ghana. *Int. J. Gynecol. Obstet.* 123, 110–113. doi: 10.1016/j.ijgo.2013. 05.017
- Aghaeepour, N., Ganio, E. A., Mcilwain, D., Tsai, A. S., Tingle, M., Van Gassen, S., et al. (2017). An immune clock of human pregnancy. *Sci. Immunol.* 2:eaan2946. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.aan2946
- Aguilar-Duran, M., Salvador-Moysén, J., Galaviz-Hernandez, C., Vázquez-Alaniz, F., Sandoval-Carrillo, A. A., Velázquez-Hernández, N., et al. (2014). Haplotype analysis of TGF-β1 gene in a preeclamptic population of northern Mexico. *Pregnancy Hypertens.* 4, 14–18. doi: 10.1016/j.preghy.2013.07.007
- Ali-Osman, F., Akande, O., Antoun, G., Mao, J.-X., and Buolamwini, J. (1997). Molecular cloning, characterization, and expression in *Escherichia coli* of fulllength cDNAs of three human glutathione S -transferase Pi gene variants. *J. Biol. Chem.* 272, 10004–10012. doi: 10.1074/jbc.272.15.10004
- Almutairi, F., Ali Khan Pathan, A., Alanazi, M., Shalaby, M., Alabdulkarim, H. A., Alamri, A., et al. (2015). Association of DNA repair gene APE1 Asp148Glu polymorphism with breast cancer risk. *Dis. Markers* 2015:869512. doi: 10.1155/2015/869512
- Alpoim, P. N., Gomes, K. B., Pinheiro, Mde. B., Godoi, L. C., Jardim, L. L., Muniz, L. G., et al. (2014). Polymorphisms in endothelial nitric oxide synthase gene in early and late severe preeclampsia. *Nitric oxide Biol. Chem.* 42, 19–23. doi: 10.1016/j.niox.2014.07.006
- Alvarado-Hernández, D. L., Benítez-Sánchez, A., Rodríguez-Cuevas, J. S., Rosales-Saavedra, T., Guerra-Palomares, S. E., Comas-García, A., et al. (2016). Killercell immunoglobulin-like receptors and cytomegalovirus reactivation during late pregnancy. *Int. J. Immunogenet.* 43, 189–199. doi: 10.1111/iji.12271
- Amaral, L. M., Palei, A. C., Sandrim, V. C., Luizon, M. R., Cavalli, R. C., Duarte, G., et al. (2012). Maternal iNOS genetic polymorphisms and hypertensive disorders of pregnancy. J. Hum. Hypertens. 26, 547–552. doi: 10.1038/jhh.2011.65
- Andraweera, P. H., Gatford, K. L., Dekker, G. A., Leemaqz, S., Jayasekara, R. W., Dissanayake, V. H. W., et al. (2017). The INSR rs2059806 single nucleotide polymorphism, a genetic risk factor for vascular and metabolic disease, associates with pre-eclampsia. *Reprod. Biomed. Online* 34, 392–398. doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2017.01.001
- Anfossi, S., Babayan, A., Pantel, K., and Calin, G. A. (2018). Clinical utility of circulating non-coding RNAs — an update. *Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol.* 15, 541–563. doi: 10.1038/s41571-018-0035-x
- Anton, L., Brown, A. G., Bartolomei, M. S., and Elovitz, M. A. (2014). Differential methylation of genes associated with cell adhesion in preeclamptic placentas. *PLoS ONE* 9:e100148. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0100148
- Antony, K. M., Ma, J., Mitchell, K. B., Racusin, D. A., Versalovic, J., and Aagaard, K. (2015). The preterm placental microbiome varies in association with excess maternal gestational weight gain. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 212, 653.e1–653.e16. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2014.12.041
- Anvar, Z., Saadat, I., Namavar-Jahromi, B., and Saadat, M. (2011). Genetic polymorphisms of glutathione S-transferase M1 (GSTM1) and T1 (GSTT1) and susceptibility to pre-eclampsia: a case-control study and a meta-analysis. *EXCLI* J. 10, 44–51.
- Apps, R., Gardner, L., Traherne, J., Male, V., and Moffett, A. (2008). Natural-killer cell ligands at the maternal-fetal interface: UL-16 binding proteins, MHC class-I chain related molecules, HLA-F and CD48. *Hum. Reprod.* 23, 2535–2548. doi: 10.1093/humrep/den223
- Baranwal, A. K., and Mehra, N. K. (2017). Major histocompatibility complex class I chain-related A (MICA) molecules: relevance in solid organ transplantation. *Front. Immunol.* 8:182. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00182
- Barbosa, P. R., Stabler, S. P., Machado, A. L., Braga, R. C., Hirata, R. D., Hirata, M. H., et al. (2008). Association between decreased vitamin levels and MTHFR, MTR and MTRR gene polymorphisms as determinants for elevated total homocysteine concentrations in pregnant women. *Eur. J. Clin. Nutr.* 62, 1010–1021. doi: 10.1038/sj.ejcn.1602810
- Barmania, F., and Pepper, M. S. (2013). C-C chemokine receptor type five (CCR5): An emerging target for the control of HIV infection. *Appl. Transl. Genomics* 2, 3–16. doi: 10.1016/j.atg.2013.05.004
- Behrens, I., Basit, S., Melbye, M., Lykke, J. A., Wohlfahrt, J., Bundgaard, H., et al. (2017). Risk of post-pregnancy hypertension in women with a history of hypertensive disorders of pregnancy: nationwide cohort study. *BMJ* 358:j3078. doi: 10.1136/bmj.j3078

- Benaitreau, D., Dos Santos, E., Leneveu, M. C., Alfaidy, N., Feige, J. J., de Mazancourt, P., et al. (2010). Effects of adiponectin on human trophoblast invasion. *J. Endocrinol.* 207, 45–53. doi: 10.1677/JOE-10-0170
- Best, S. M. (2013). Viruses play dead to TAMe interferon responses. Cell Host Microbe 14, 117–118. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2013.07.014
- Bezerra, P. C., Leão, M. D., Queiroz, J. W., Melo, E. M., Pereira, F. V., Nóbrega, M. H., et al. (2010). Family history of hypertension as an important risk factor for the development of severe preeclampsia. *Acta Obstet. Gynecol. Scand.* 89, 612–617. doi: 10.3109/00016341003623720
- Bhattacharyya, S., Zagórska, A., Lew, E. D., Shrestha, B., Rothlin, C. V., Naughton, J., et al. (2013). Enveloped viruses disable innate immune responses in dendritic cells by direct activation of TAM receptors. *Cell Host Microbe* 14, 136–147. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2013.07.005
- Bianco-Miotto, T., Mayne, B. T., Buckberry, S., Breen, J., Rodriguez Lopez, C. M., and Roberts, C. T. (2016). Recent progress towards understanding the role of DNA methylation in human placental development. *Reproduction* 152, R23–R30. doi: 10.1530/REP-16-0014
- Bilano, V. L., Ota, E., Ganchimeg, T., Mori, R., and Souza, J. P. (2014). Risk factors of pre-eclampsia/eclampsia and its adverse outcomes in low- and middle-income countries: a WHO secondary analysis. *PLoS ONE* 9:e91198. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0091198
- Blair, J. D., Yuen, R. K., Lim, B. K., McFadden, D. E., von Dadelszen, P., and Robinson, W. P. (2013). Widespread DNA hypomethylation at gene enhancer regions in placentas associated with early-onset pre-eclampsia. *Mol. Hum. Reprod.* 19, 697–708. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gat044
- Boeldt, D. S., and Bird, I. M. (2017). Vascular adaptation in pregnancy and endothelial dysfunction in preeclampsia. J. Endocrinol. 232, R27–R44. doi: 10.1530/JOE-16-0340
- Bouatia-Naji, N., Meyre, D., Lobbens, S., Séron, K., Fumeron, F., Balkau, B., et al. (2006). ACDC/adiponectin polymorphisms are associated with severe childhood and adult obesity. *Diabetes* 55, 545–550. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.55.02.06.db05-0971
- Bounds, K. R., Chiasson, V. L., Pan, L. J., Gupta, S., and Chatterjee, P. (2017). MicroRNAs: new players in the pathobiology of preeclampsia. *Front. Cardiovasc. Med.* 4:60. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2017.00060
- Brase, J. C., Wuttig, D., Kuner, R., and Sültmann, H. (2010). Serum microRNAs as non-invasive biomarkers for cancer. *Mol. Cancer* 9:306. doi: 10.1186/1476-4598-9-306
- Busatto, M., Fraga, L. R., André Boquett, J., Rovaris, D. L., Luiz Vianna, F. S., Faccini, L. S., et al. (2015). Polymorphisms of the Apoptotic genes TP53 and MDM2 and Preeclampsia Development. J. Fertil. In Vitro IVF Worldw. Reprod. Med. Genet. Stem. Cell Biol. 3:135. doi: 10.4172/2375-4508.1000135
- Butte, N. F. (2000). Carbohydrate and lipid metabolism in pregnancy: normal compared with gestational diabetes mellitus. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 71, 1256S-1261S. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/71.5.1256s
- Canto, P., Canto-Cetina, T., Juárez-Velázquez, R., Rosas-Vargas, H., Rangel-Villalobos, H., Canizales-Quinteros, S., et al. (2008). Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase C677T and glutathione S-transferase P1 A313G are associated with a reduced risk of preeclampsia in Maya-Mestizo women. *Hypertens. Res.* 31, 1015–1019. doi: 10.1291/hypres.31.1015
- Canto-Cetina, T., Canizales-Quinteros, S., de la Chesnaye, E., Coral-Vázquez, R., Méndez, J. P., and Canto, P. (2007). Analysis of C-850T and G-308A polymorphisms of the tumor necrosis factor-alpha gene in Maya-Mestizo women with preeclampsia. *Hypertens. Pregnancy* 26, 283–291. doi: 10.1080/10641950701372732
- Cardenas-Mondragon, M. G., Vallejo-Flores, G., Delgado-Dominguez, J., Romero-Arauz, J. F., Gomez-Delgado, A., Aguilar-Madrid, G., et al. (2014). Preeclampsia is associated with lower production of vascular endothelial growth factor by peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *Arch. Med. Res.* 45, 561–569. doi: 10.1016/j.arcmed.2014.10.004
- Carreiras, M., Montagnani, S., and Layrisse, Z. (2002). Preeclampsia: a multifactorial disease resulting from the interaction of the feto-maternal HLA genotype and HCMV infection. *Am. J. Reprod. Immunol.* 48, 176–183. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0897.2002.01076.x
- Castelli, E. C., Ramalho, J., Porto, I. O., Lima, T. H., Felício, L. P., Sabbagh, A., et al. (2014). Insights into HLA-G genetics provided by worldwide haplotype diversity. *Front. Immunol.* 5:476. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00476

- Chaouat, G. (2002). A brief review of recent data on some cytokine expressions at the materno- foetal interface which might challenge the classical Th1 / Th2 dichotomy. J. Reprod. Immunol. 53, 241–256. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0378(01)00119-X
- Chatterjee, N., and Walker, G. C. (2017). Mechanisms of DNA damage, repair, and mutagenesis. *Environ. Mol. Mutagen.* 58, 235–263. doi: 10.1002/em.22087
- Chedraui, P., Andrade, M. E., Salazar-Pousada, D., Escobar, G. S., Hidalgo, L., Ramirez, C., et al. (2015). Polymorphisms of the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene (C677T and A1298C) in the placenta of pregnancies complicated with preeclampsia. *Gynecol. Endocrinol.* 31, 569–572. doi: 10.3109/09513590.2015.1031104
- Chedraui, P., Salazar-Pousada, D., Villao, A., Escobar, G. S., Ramirez, C., Hidalgo, L., et al. (2014). Polymorphisms of the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene (C677T and A1298C) in nulliparous women complicated with preeclampsia. *Gynecol. Endocrinol.* 30, 392–396. doi: 10.3109/09513590.2014.895807
- Chedraui, P., Solis, E. J., Bocci, G., Gopal, S., Russo, E., Escobar, G. S., et al. (2013). Feto-placental nitric oxide, asymmetric dimethylarginine and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) levels and VEGF gene polymorphisms in severe preeclampsia. J. Matern. Fetal. Neonatal Med. 26, 226–232. doi: 10.3109/14767058.2012.733760
- Chelbi, S. T., and Vaiman, D. (2008). Genetic and epigenetic factors contribute to the onset of preeclampsia. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* 282, 120–129. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2007.11.022
- Chen, J., and Khalil, R. A. (2017). *Matrix Metalloproteinases in Normal Pregnancy and Preeclampsia, 1st Edn.* Boston, MA: Harvard Medical School, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Elsevier Inc.
- Ching, T., Ha, J., Song, M. A., Tiirikainen, M., Molnar, J., Berry, M. J., et al. (2015). Genome-scale hypomethylation in the cord blood dnas associated with early onset preeclampsia. *Clin. Epigenetics* 7:21. doi: 10.1186/s13148-015-0052-x
- Chiu, Y. H., and Chen, H. (2016). GATA3 inhibits GCM1 activity and trophoblast cell invasion. *Sci. Rep.* 6, 1–10. doi: 10.1038/srep21630
- Christiansen, O. B. (2013). Reproductive immunology. Mol. Immunol. 55, 8–15. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2012.08.025
- Chu, T., Bunce, K., Shaw, P., Shridhar, V., Althouse, A., Hubel, C., et al. (2014). Comprehensive analysis of preeclampsia-associated DNA methylation in the placenta. *PLoS ONE* 9:107318. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0107318
- Collado, M. C., Rautava, S., Aakko, J., Isolauri, E., and Salminen, S. (2016). Human gut colonisation may be initiated in utero by distinct microbial communities in the placenta and amniotic fluid. *Sci. Rep.* 6:23129. doi: 10.1038/srep23129
- Coral-Vázquez, R. M., Romero Arauz, J. F., Canizales-Quinteros, S., Coronel, A., Valencia Villalvazo, E. Y., Hernández Rivera, J., et al. (2013). Analysis of polymorphisms and haplotypes in genes associated with vascular tone, hypertension and oxidative stress in Mexican-Mestizo women with severe preeclampsia. *Clin. Biochem.* 46, 627–632. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2012.12.016
- Cross, S. N., Potter, J. A., Aldo, P., Kwon, J.Y., Pitruzzello, M., Tong, M., et al. (2017). Viral infection sensitizes human fetal membranes to bacterial lipopolysaccharide by MERTK inhibition and inflammasome activation. J Immunol. 199, 2885–2895. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1700870
- Cunha, V. M., Grecco, R. L., Paschoini, M. C., Silva, S. R., Ruiz, M. T., and Balarin, M. A. (2011). [Genetic polymorphisms of vascular endothelial growth factor in pre-eclampsia]. *Rev. Bras. Ginecol. Obstet.* 33, 158–163. doi: 10.1590/S0100-72032011000700007
- Daher, S., Sass, N., Oliveira, L. G., and Mattar, R. (2006). Cytokine genotyping in preeclampsia. Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 55, 130–135. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2005.00341.x
- Dahl, M., Perin, T. L., Djurisic, S., Rasmussen, M., Ohlsson, J., Buus, S., et al. (2014). Soluble human leukocyte antigen-g in seminal plasma is associated with HLA-G Genotype: possible implications for fertility success. Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 72, 89–105. doi: 10.1111/aji.12251
- Dahl, T. B., Holm, S., Aukrust, P., and Halvorsen, B. (2012). Visfatin/NAMPT: a multifaceted molecule with diverse roles in physiology and pathophysiology. *Annu. Rev. Nutr.* 32, 229–243. doi: 10.1146/annurev-nutr-071811-150746
- Dalmáz, C. A., Santos, K. G., Botton, M. R., Tedoldi, C. L., and Roisenberg, I. (2006). Relationship between polymorphisms in thrombophilic genes and preeclampsia in a Brazilian population. *Blood Cells, Mol. Dis.* 37, 107–110. doi: 10.1016/j.bcmd.2006.07.005

- Dávalos, I. P., Moran, M. C., Martínez-Abundis, E., González-Ortiz, M., Flores-Martínez, S. E., Machorro, V., et al. (2005). Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase C677T polymorphism and Factor V Leiden variant in Mexican women with preeclampsia/eclampsia. *Blood Cells Mol. Dis.* 35, 66–69. doi: 10.1016/j.bcmd.2005.03.008
- de Lima, T. H., Sass, N., Mattar, R., Moron, A. F., Torloni, M. R., Franchim, C. S., et al. (2009). Cytokine gene polymorphisms in preeclampsia and eclampsia. *Hypertens. Res.* 32, 565–569. doi: 10.1038/hr.2009.58
- de Vasconcelos, D., Izidoro-Toledo, T. C., Sandrim, V. C., Tanus-Santos, J. E., Palei, A. C. T., and Cavalli, R. C. (2009). Aldosterone synthase gene polymorphism is not associated with gestational hypertension or preeclampsia. *Clin. Chim. Acta* 400, 139–141. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2008.11.002
- Dendana, M., Bahia, W., Finan, R. R., Al-Mutawa, M., and Almawi, W. Y. (2018). Association of adiponectin gene variants with idiopathic recurrent miscarriage according to obesity status: a case-control study. J. Transl. Med. 16, 1–9. doi: 10.1186/s12967-018-1453-3
- Díaz-Olguín, L., Coral-Vázquez, R. M., Canto-Cetina, T., Canizales-Quinteros, S., Ramírez Regalado, B., Fernández, G., et al. (2011). Endothelial nitric oxide synthase haplotypes are associated with preeclampsia in Maya mestizo women. *Dis. Markers* 31, 83–89. doi: 10.1155/2011/380153
- Duley, L. (2009). The Global Impact of Pre-eclampsia and Eclampsia. Semin. Perinatol. 33, 130–137. doi: 10.1053/j.semperi.2009.02.010
- Duley, L., Henderson-Smart, D. J., Meher, S., and King, J. F. (2007). Antiplatelet agents for preventing pre-eclampsia and its complications. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* CD004659, doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD004659.pub2
- Dusse, L. M., Carvalho, M. d., Bragança, W.F., Paiva, S. G., Godoi, L. C., Guimarães DA et al. (2007). Inherited thrombophilias and pre-eclampsia in Brazilian women. *Eur. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Reprod. Biol.* 134, 20–23. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2006.09.006
- Ellwanger, J. H., Zambra, F. M. B., Guimarães, R. L., and Chies, J. A. B. (2018). microrna-related polymorphisms in infectious diseases-tiny changes with a huge impact on viral infections and potential clinical applications. *Front. Immunol.* 9:1316. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01316
- Enquobahrie, D. A., Sanchez, S. E., Muy-Rivera, M., Qiu, C., Zhang, C., Austin, M. A., et al. (2005). Hepatic lipase gene polymorphism, pre-pregnancy overweight status and risk of preeclampsia among Peruvian women. *Gynecol. Endocrinol.* 21, 211–217. doi: 10.1080/09513590500279626
- Esteve-Solé, A., Luo, Y., Vlagea, A., Deyà-Martínez, Á., Yagüe, J., Plaza-Martín, A. M., et al. (2018). B regulatory cells: Players in pregnancy and early life. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 19, 1–17. doi: 10.3390/ijms19072099
- Fan, S.H., and Say, Y.H. (2014). Leptin and leptin receptor gene polymorphisms and their association with plasma leptin levels and obesity in a multiethnic Malaysian suburban population. J. Physiol. Anthropol. 33:15. doi: 10.1186/1880-6805-33-15
- Farias, D. R., Franco-Sena, A. B., Rebelo, F., Salles, G. F., Struchiner, C. J., Martins, M. C., et al. (2017). Polymorphisms of leptin (G2548A) and leptin receptor (Q223R and K109R) genes and blood pressure during pregnancy and the postpartum period: a cohort. Am. J. Hypertens. 30, 130–140. doi: 10.1093/ajh/hpw147
- Farrar, D. (2016). Hyperglycemia in pregnancy: Prevalence, impact, and management challenges. Int. J. Womens. Health 8, 519–527. doi: 10.2147/IJWH.S102117
- Ferreira, L. C., Gomes, C. E., Araújo, A. C., Bezerra, P. F., Duggal, P., and Jeronimo, S. M. (2015). Association between ACVR2A and early-onset preeclampsia: replication study in a Northeastern Brazilian population. *Placenta* 36, 186–190. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2014.11.007
- Ferreira, L. C., Lopes, T. P. B., Guimarães, T. B., Gomes, C. E. M., and Jeronimo, S. M. B. (2017). The maternal 14 bp Ins/Del polymorphism in HLA-G is not associated with preeclampsia risk. *Int. J. Immunogenet.* 44, 350–355. doi:10.1111/iji.12344
- Fettke, F., Schumacher, A., Costa, S. D., and Zenclussen, A. C. (2014). B cells: the old new players in reproductive immunology. *Front. Immunol.* 5:285. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00285
- Flores-Martínez, S. E., Islas-Andrade, S., Machorro-Lazo, M. V., Revilla, M. C., Juárez, R. E., Mújica-López, K. I., et al. (2004). DNA polymorphism analysis of candidate genes for type 2 diabetes mellitus in a Mexican ethnic group. *Ann. Génétique* 47, 339–348. doi: 10.1016/j.anngen.2004. 05.004

- Fong, F. M., Sahemey, M. K., Hamedi, G., Eyitayo, R., Yates, D., Kuan, V., et al. (2014). Maternal genotype and severe preeclampsia: a HuGE review. Am. J. Epidemiol. 180, 335–345. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwu151
- Franchim, C. S., Sass, N., Mattar, R., Pendeloski, K. P., Lin, L. H., Torloni, M. R., et al. (2011). Inflammatory mediators gene polymorphisms in preeclampsia. *Hypertens. Pregnancy* 30, 338–346. doi: 10.3109/10641950903455389
- Fumeron, F., Aubert, R., Siddiq, A., Betoulle, D., Péan, F., Hadjadj, S., et al. (2004). Adiponectin gene polymorphisms and adiponectin levels are independently associated with the development of hyperglycemia during a 3-year period: the epidemiologic data on the insulin resistance syndrome prospective study. *Diabetes* 53, 1150–1157. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.53.4.1150
- Galão, A. O., de Souza, L. H., da Costa, B. E., Scheibe, R. M., and Poli de Figueiredo, C. E. (2004). Angiotensin-converting enzyme gene polymorphism in preeclampsia and normal pregnancy. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 191, 821–824. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2004.01.047
- Galaviz-Hernandez, C., Arámbula-Meraz, E., Medina-Bastidas, D., Sosa-Macías, M., Lazalde-Ramos, B. P., Ortega-Chávez, M., et al. (2016). The paternal polymorphism rs5370 in the EDN1 gene decreases the risk of preeclampsia. *Pregnancy Hypertens.* 6, 327–332. doi: 10.1016/j.preghy.2016.07.002
- Gao, H., Liu, C., Lin, P., Xu, L., Li, X., Chen, Y., et al. (2016). Effects of GSTP1 and GPX1 polymorphisms on the risk of preeclampsia in Chinese han women. *Cell. Physiol. Biochem.* 39, 2025–2032. doi: 10.1159/000447898
- Gardosi, J., Madurasinghe, V., Williams, M., Malik, A., and Francis, A. (2013). Maternal and fetal risk factors for stillbirth: population based study. *BMJ* 346:f108. doi: 10.1136/bmj.f108
- Ge, B., Song, Y., Zhang, Y., Liu, X., Wen, Y., and Guo, X. (2015). Glutathione S-transferase M1 (GSTM1) and T1 (GSTT1) null polymorphisms and the risk of hypertension: a meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE* 10:e0118897. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0118897
- Gerhardt, G. S., Peters, W. H. M., Hillermann, R., Odendaal, H. J., Carelse-Tofa, K., Raijmakers, M. T. M., et al. (2004). Maternal and fetal single nucleotide polymorphisms in the epoxide hydrolase and gluthatione Stransferase P1 genes are not associated with pre-eclampsia in the Coloured population of the Western Cape, South Africa. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. 24, 866–872. doi: 10.1080/01443610400018841
- Giachini, F. R., Galaviz-Hernandez, C., Damiano, A. E., Viana, M., Cadavid, A., Asturizaga, P., et al. (2017). Vascular dysfunction in mother and offspring during preeclampsia: contributions from Latin-American Countries. *Curr. Hypertens. Rep.* 19:83. doi: 10.1007/s11906-017-0781-7
- Goldenberg, R. L., Culhane, J. F., Iams, J. D., and Romero, R. (2009). Preterm birth 1: epidemiology and causes of preterm birth. *Obstet. Anesth. Dig.* 29, 6–7. doi: 10.1097/01.aoa.0000344666.82463.8d
- Gomez-Lopez, N., Romero, R., Xu, Y., Plazyo, O., Unkel, R., Than, N. G., et al. (2017). A role for the inflammasome in spontaneous labor at term with acute histologic chorioamnionitis. *Reprod. Sci.* 24, 934–953. doi: 10.1177/1933719116675058
- González, J. (2014). Essential hypertension and oxidative stress: New insights. *World J. Cardiol.* 6:353. doi: 10.4330/wjc.v6.i6.353
- González-Garrido, J. A., García-Sánchez, J. R., Tovar-Rodríguez, J. M., and Olivares-Corichi, I. M. (2017). Preeclampsia is associated with ACE I/D polymorphism, obesity and oxidative damage in Mexican women. *Pregnancy Hypertens*. 10, 22–27. doi: 10.1016/j.preghy.2017.04.001
- Gruen, J. R., and Weissman, S. M. (2001). Human MHC class III and IV genes and disease associations. *Front. Biosci.* 6, D960–D972.
- Hackmon, R., Pinnaduwage, L., Zhang, J., Lye, S. J., Geraghty, D. E., and Dunk, C. E. (2017). Definitive class I human leukocyte antigen expression in gestational placentation: HLA-F, HLA-E, HLA-C, and HLA-G in extravillous trophoblast invasion on placentation, pregnancy, and parturition. *Am. J. Reprod. Immunol.* 77, 1–11. doi: 10.1111/aji.12643
- Hadi, M. Z., Coleman, M. A., Fidelis, K., Mohrenweiser, H. W., and Wilson, D. M. (2000). Functional characterization of Ape1 variants identified in the human population. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 28, 3871–3879. doi: 10.1093/nar/28.20.3871
- Hansen, A. R., Barnés, C. M., Folkman, J., and McElrath, T. F. (2010). Maternal preeclampsia predicts the development of bronchopulmonary dysplasia. J. Pediatr. 156, 532–536. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2009.10.018
- Hansen, K. D., Timp, W., Bravo, H. C., Sabunciyan, S., Langmead, B., McDonald, O. G., et al. (2011). Increased methylation variation in epigenetic domains across cancer types. *Nat. Genet.* 43, 768–775. doi: 10.1038/ng.865

- Hara, K., Boutin, P., Mori, Y., Tobe, K., Dina, C., Yasuda, K., et al. (2002). Genetic variation in the gene encoding adiponectin is associated with an increased risk of type 2 diabetes in the Japanese population. *Diabetes* 51, 536–540. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.51.2.536
- Harsem, N. K., Roald, B., Braekke, K., and Staff, A. C. (2007). Acute atherosis in decidual tissue: not associated with systemic oxidative stress in preeclampsia. *Placenta* 28, 958–964. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2006.11.005
- Haumonte, J. B., Caillat-Zucman, S., Bretelle, F., Lambert, M., Lyonnet, L., Levy-Mozziconacci, A., et al. (2014). Enhanced prevalence of plasmatic soluble MHC class I chain-related molecule in vascular pregnancy diseases. *Biomed Res. Int.* 2014, 1–11. doi: 10.1155/2014/653161
- Hedlund, M., Stenqvist, A.C., Nagaeva, O., Kjellberg, L., Wulff, M., Baranov, V., et al. (2009). Human placenta expresses and secretes NKG2D Ligands via exosomes that down-modulate the cognate receptor expression: evidence for immunosuppressive function. *J. Immunol.* 183, 340–351. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0803477
- Herr, F., Baal, N., Widmer-Teske, R., McKinnon, T., and Zygmunt, M. (2010). How to study placental vascular development? *Theriogenology* 73, 817–827. doi: 10.1016/j.theriogenology.2009.11.003
- Hill, L. D., Hilliard, D. D., York, T. P., Srinivas, S., Kusanovic, J. P., Gomez, R., et al. (2011a). Fetal ERAP2 variation is associated with preeclampsia in African Americans in a case-control study. *BMC Med. Genet.* 12:64. doi: 10.1186/1471-2350-12-64
- Hill, L. D., York, T. P., Kusanovic, J. P., Gomez, R., Eaves, L. J., Romero, R., et al. (2011b). Epistasis between COMT and MTHFR in maternalfetal dyads increases risk for preeclampsia. *PLoS ONE* 6, e16681. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0016681
- Hillman, S. L., Finer, S., Smart, M. C., Mathews, C., Lowe, R., Rakyan, V. K., et al. (2015). Novel DNA methylation profiles associated with key gene regulation and transcription pathways in blood and placenta of growth-restricted neonates. *Epigenetics* 10, 50–61. doi: 10.4161/15592294.2014.989741
- Hinuy, H. M., Hirata, M. H., Forti, N., Diament, J., Sampaio, M. F., Armaganijan, D., et al. (2008). Leptin G-2548A promoter polymorphism is associated with increased plasma leptin and BMI in Brazilian women. Arq. Bras. Endocrinol. Metabol. 52, 611–616. doi: 10.1590/S0004-273020080004 00006
- Hoedjes, M., Berks, D., Vogel, I., Franx, A., Bangma, M., Darlington, A. S., et al. (2011). Postpartum depression after mild and severe preeclampsia. J. Women's Health 20, 1535–1542. doi: 10.1089/jwh.2010.2584
- Hofmeyr, J. G., Lawrie, T. A., Atallah, A. N., Duley, L., and Torloni, M. R. (2014). Calcium supplementation during pregnancy for preventing hypertensive disorders and related problems. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* 24:CD001059. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD001059.pub4
- Hong, X., Sherwood, B., Ladd-Acosta, C., Peng, S., Ji, H., Hao, K., et al. (2017). Genome-wide DNA methylation associations with spontaneous preterm birth in us blacks: findings in maternal and cord blood samples. *Epigenetics* 13, 163–172. doi: 10.1080/15592294.2017.1287654
- Hu, W., Weng, X., Dong, M., Liu, Y., Li, W., and Huang, H. (2014). Alteration in methylation level at 11β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 gene promoter in infants born to preeclamptic women. *BMC Genet.* 15:96. doi: 10.1186/s12863-014-0096-5
- Huang, S. Y., Chiang, C. H., Chen, F. P., and Yu, C. L. (2011). The alteration of placental-derived soluble MHC class I chain-related protein A and B during pregnancy. *Acta Obstet. Gynecol. Scand.* 90, 802–807. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0412.2011.01131.x
- Isaacs, A., Sayed-Tabatabaei, F. A., Njajou, O. T., Witteman, J. C., and van Duijn, C. M. (2004). The-514 C->T hepatic lipase promoter region polymorphism and plasma lipids: a meta-analysis. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 89, 3858–3863. doi: 10.1210/jc.2004-0188
- Isernhagen, A., Malzahn, D., Bickeböller, H., and Dressel, R. (2016). Impact of the MICA-129Met/val dimorphism on NKG2D-mediated biological functions and disease Risks. Front. Immunol. 7:588. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00588
- Jacovas, V. C., Rovaris, D. L., Peréz, O., de Azevedo, S., Macedo, G. S., Sandoval, J. R., et al. (2015). Genetic variations in the TP53 pathway in native americans strongly suggest adaptation to the high altitudes of the andes. *PLoS ONE* 10:e137823. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0137823
- Jiménez, E., Fernández, L., Marín, M. L., Martín, R., Odriozola, J. M., Nueno-Palop, C., et al. (2005). Isolation of commensal bacteria from umbilical cord blood

of healthy neonates born by cesarean section. *Curr. Microbiol.* 51, 270–274. doi: 10.1007/s00284-005-0020-3

- Jiménez, E., Marín, M. L., Martín, R., Odriozola, J. M., Olivares, M., Xaus, J., et al. (2008). Is meconium from healthy newborns actually sterile? *Res. Microbiol.* 159, 187–193. doi: 10.1016/j.resmic.2007.12.007
- Johnson, M. P., Roten, L. T., Dyer, T. D., East, C. E., Forsmo, S., Blangero, J., et al. (2009). The ERAP2 gene is associated with preeclampsia in Australian and Norwegian populations. *Hum. Genet.* 126, 655–666. doi: 10.1007/s00439-009-0714-x
- Kang, H. J., and Rosenwaks, Z. (2018). P53 and reproduction. *Fertil. Steril.* 109, 39–43. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2017.11.026
- Khan, K. S., Wojdyla, D., Say, L., Gülmezoglu, A. M., and Van Look, P. F. (2006). WHO analysis of causes of maternal death: a systematic review. *Lancet* 367, 1066–1074. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06)68397-9
- Klai, S., Fekih-Mrissa, N., El Housaini, S., Kaabechi, N., Nsiri, B., Rachdi, R., et al. (2011). Association of MTHFR A1298C polymorphism (but not of MTHFR C677T) with elevated homocysteine levels and placental vasculopathies. *Blood Coagul. Fibrinolysis* 22, 374–378. doi: 10.1097/MBC.0b013e32834 4f80f
- Kovats, S., Main, E. K., Librach, C., Stubblebine, M., Fisher, S. J., and DeMars, R. (1990). A class I antigen, HLA-G, expressed in human trophoblasts. *Science* 248, 220–223.
- Lauder, A. P., Roche, A. M., Sherrill-Mix, S., Bailey, A., Laughlin, A. L., Bittinger, K., et al. (2016). Comparison of placenta samples with contamination controls does not provide evidence for a distinct placenta microbiota. *Microbiome* 4, 1–11. doi: 10.1186/s40168-016-0172-3
- Leme Galvão, L. P., Menezes, F. E., Mendonca, C., Barreto, I., Alvim-Pereira, C., Alvim-Pereira, F., et al. (2016). Analysis of association of clinical aspects and IL1B tagSNPs with severe preeclampsia. *Hypertens. Pregnancy* 35, 112–122. doi: 10.3109/10641955.2015.1116554
- Leonardo, D. P., Albuquerque, D. M., Lanaro, C., Baptista, L. C., Cecatti, J. G., Surita, F. G., et al. (2015). Association of nitric oxide synthase and matrix metalloprotease single nucleotide polymorphisms with preeclampsia and its complications. *PLoS ONE* 10:e136693. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.01 36693
- Li, X., Wu, Z., Fu, X., and Han, W. (2014). LncRNAs: Insights into their function and mechanics in underlying disorders. *Mutat. Res. Rev. Mutat. Res.* 762, 1–21. doi: 10.1016/j.mrrev.2014.04.002
- Li, X. F., Charnock-Jones, D. S., Zhang, E., Hiby, S., Malik, S., Day, K., et al. (2001). Angiogenic growth factor messenger ribonucleic acids in uterine natural killer cells. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 86, 1823–1834. doi: 10.1210/jc.86. 4.1823
- Lisonkova, S., and Joseph, K. S. (2013). Incidence of preeclampsia: risk factors and outcomes associated with early-versus late-onset disease. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 209, 1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2013.08.019
- Liu, L., Zhang, X., Rong, C., Rui, C., Ji, H., Qian, Y. J., et al. (2014). Distinct DNA methylomes of human placentas between pre-eclampsia and gestational diabetes mellitus. *Cell. Physiol. Biochem.* 34, 1877–1889. doi: 10.1159/000366386
- Luizon, M. R., Belo, V. A., Palei, A. C., Amaral, L. M., Lacchini, R., Sandrim, V. C., et al. (2015). Effects of NAMPT polymorphisms and haplotypes on circulating visfatin/NAMPT levels in hypertensive disorders of pregnancy. *Hypertens. Res.* 38, 361–366. doi: 10.1038/hr.2015.15
- Luizon, M. R., Palei, A. C. T., Belo, V. A., Amaral, L. M., Lacchini, R., Duarte, G., et al. (2017). Gene-gene interactions in the NAMPT pathway, plasma visfatin/NAMPT levels, and antihypertensive therapy responsiveness in hypertensive disorders of pregnancy. *Pharmacogenomics J.* 17, 427–434. doi: 10.1038/tpj.2016.35
- Luizon, M. R., Sandrim, V. C., Palei, A. C., Lacchini, R., Cavalli, R. C., Duarte, G., et al. (2012). Epistasis among eNOS, MMP-9 and VEGF maternal genotypes in hypertensive disorders of pregnancy. *Hypertens. Res.* 35, 917–921. doi: 10.1038/hr.2012.60
- Machado, J. S., Palei, A. C., Amaral, L. M., Bueno, A. C., Antonini, S. R., Duarte, G., et al. (2014). Polymorphisms of the adiponectin gene in gestational hypertension and pre-eclampsia. *J. Hum. Hypertens.* 28, 128–132. doi: 10.1038/jhh.2013.53
- Machorro-Lazo, M. V., Sanchez-Corona, J., Martínez-Abundis, E., González-Ortiz, M., Galaviz-Hernandez, C., Perea, F. J., et al. (2009). Analysis of the association

of preeclampsia with polymorphisms of the INS, INSR and IRS1 genes in Mexican women. *Gynecol. Obstet. Invest.* 67, 14–19. doi: 10.1159/000151500

- Macklin, P. S., McAuliffe, J., Pugh, C. W., and Yamamoto, A. (2017). Hypoxia and HIF pathway in cancer and the placenta. *Placenta* 56, 8–13. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2017.03.010
- Mann, J. R., McDermott, S., Bao, H., Hardin, J., and Gregg, A. (2010). Preeclampsia, birth weight, and autism spectrum disorders. J. Autism Dev. Disord. 40, 548–554. doi: 10.1007/s10803-009-0903-4
- Martins, M. C., Trujillo, J., Farias, D. R., and Kac, G. (2017). Polymorphisms in the leptin (rs7799039) gene are associated with an increased risk of excessive gestational weight gain but not with leptin concentration during pregnancy. *Nutr. Res.* 47, 53–62. doi: 10.1016/j.nutres.2017.09.003
- Maul, H., Longo, M., Saade, G. R., and Garfield, R. E. (2003). Nitric oxide and its role during pregnancy: from ovulation to delivery. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 9, 359–380. doi: 10.2174/1381612033391784
- Michita, R. T., Zambra, F. M. B., Fraga, L. R., Sanseverino, M. T. V., Callegari-Jacques, S. M., Vianna, P., et al. (2016). A tug-of-war between tolerance and rejection – New evidence for 3'UTR HLA-G haplotypes influence in recurrent pregnancy loss. *Hum. Immunol.* 77, 892–897. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2016.07.004
- Mincheva-Nilsson, L., Baranov, V., Yeung, M. M., Hammarström, S., and Hammarström, M. L. (1994). Immunomorphologic studies of human deciduaassociated lymphoid cells in normal early pregnancy. *J. Immunol.* 152, 2020–2032.
- Mincheva-Nilsson, L., Nagaeva, O., Chen, T., Stendahl, U., Antsiferova, J., Mogren, I., et al. (2006). Placenta-derived soluble MHC class I chain-related molecules down-regulate NKG2D receptor on peripheral blood mononuclear cells during human pregnancy: a possible novel immune escape mechanism for fetal survival. J. Immunol. 176, 3585–3592. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.176.6.3585
- Moffett-King, A. (2002). Natural killer cells and pregnancy. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 2, 656–663. doi: 10.1038/nri886
- Mor, G., Aldo, P., and Alvero, A. B. (2017). The unique immunological and microbial aspects of pregnancy. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 17, 469–482. doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.64
- Moreli, J. B., Morceli, G., De Luca, A. K. C., Magalhães, C. G., Costa, R. A. A., Damasceno, D. C., et al. (2012). Influence of maternal hyperglycemia on IL-10 and TNF-α production: the relationship with perinatal outcomes. *J. Clin. Immunol.* 32, 604–610. doi: 10.1007/s10875-011-9634-3
- Muniyappa, R., and Sowers, J. R. (2014). Role of insulin resistance in endothelial dysfunction. *Rev. Endocr. Metab. Disord.* 14, 5–12. doi: 10.1007/s11154-012-9229-1
- Muniz, J. J., Izidoro-Toledo, T. C., Metzger, I. F., Sandrim, V. C., and Tanus-Santos, J. E. (2009). Interethnic differences in the distribution of clinically relevant vascular endothelial growth factor genetic polymorphisms. DNA Cell Biol. 28, 567–572. doi: 10.1089/dna.2009.0925
- Muniz, L., Luizon, M. R., Palei, A. C., Lacchini, R., Duarte, G., Cavalli, R. C., et al. (2012). eNOS tag SNP haplotypes in hypertensive disorders of pregnancy. DNA Cell Biol. 31, 1665–1670. doi: 10.1089/dna.2012.1768
- Muzzio, D., Zenclussen, A. C., and Jensen, F. (2013). The role of B cells in pregnancy: the good and the bad. Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 69, 408–412. doi: 10.1111/aji.12079
- Myatt, L., and Roberts, J. M. (2015). Preeclampsia: syndrome or disease? Curr. Hypertens. Rep. 17:83. doi: 10.1007/s11906-015-0595-4
- Nava-Salazar, S., Sánchez-Rodríguez, E. N., Mendoza-Rodríguez, C. A., Moran, C., Romero-Arauz, J. F., and Cerbón, M. A. (2011). Polymorphisms in the hypoxia-inducible factor 1 alpha gene in Mexican patients with preeclampsia: a case-control study. *BMC Res. Notes* 4:68. doi: 10.1186/1756-0500-4-68
- Neiger, R. (2017). Long-term effects of pregnancy complications on maternal health: a review. J. Clin. Med. 6:76. doi: 10.3390/jcm6080076
- Norwitz, E. R., Schust, D. J., and Fisher, S. J. (2001). Implantation and the survival of early pregnancy. N. Engl. J. Med. 345, 1400–1408. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra000763
- Nourollahpour Shiadeh, M., Behboodi Moghadam, Z., Adam, I., Saber, V., Bagheri, M., and Rostami, A. (2017). Human infectious diseases and risk of preeclampsia: an updated review of the literature. *Infection* 45, 589–600. doi: 10.1007/s15010-017-1031-2
- Ong, K. L., Li, M., Tso, A. W., Xu, A., Cherny, S. S., Sham, P. C., et al. (2010). Association of genetic variants in the adiponectin gene with adiponectin level

and hypertension in Hong Kong Chinese. Eur. J. Endocrinol. 163, 251–257. doi: 10.1530/EJE-10-0251

- Ordovas, J. M., Corella, D., Demissie, S., Cupples, L. A., Couture, P., Coltell, O., et al. (2002). Dietary fat intake determines the effect of a common polymorphism in the hepatic lipase gene promoter on high-density lipoprotein metabolism: evidence of a strong dose effect in this genenutrient interaction in the Framingham study. *Circulation* 106, 2315–2321. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000036597.52291.C9
- Orlando, I. C., Tanaka, S. C. S. V., Balarin, M. A. S., da Silva, S. R., and Pissetti, C. W. (2018). CASPASE-8 gene polymorphisms (rs13416436 and rs2037815) are not associated with preeclampsia development in Brazilian women. J. Matern. Neonatal Med. 31, 289–293. doi: 10.1080/14767058.2017.1285882
- Pabalan, N., Jarjanazi, H., Sun, C., and Iversen, A. C. (2015). Meta-analysis of the human leukocyte antigen-G (HLA-G) 14 bp insertion/deletion polymorphism as a risk factor for preeclampsia. *Tissue Antigens* 86, 186–194. doi: 10.1111/tan.12627
- Palei, A. C., Sandrim, V. C., Amaral, L. M., Machado, J. S., Cavalli, R. C., Duarte, G., et al. (2012a). Association between matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-2 polymorphisms and MMP-2 levels in hypertensive disorders of pregnancy. *Exp. Mol. Pathol.* 92, 217–221. doi: 10.1016/j.yexmp.2012.01.008
- Palei, A. C., Sandrim, V. C., Amaral, L. M., Machado, J. S., Cavalli, R. C., Lacchini, R., et al. (2012b). Matrix metalloproteinase-9 polymorphisms affect plasma MMP-9 levels and antihypertensive therapy responsiveness in hypertensive disorders of pregnancy. *Pharmacogenomics J.* 12, 489–498. doi: 10.1038/tpj.2011.31
- Palei, A. C., Sandrim, V. C., Duarte, G., Cavalli, R. C., Gerlach, R. F., and Tanus-Santos, J. E. (2010). Matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-9 genotypes and haplotypes in preeclampsia and gestational hypertension. *Clin. Chim. Acta* 411, 874–877. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2010.03.002
- Palma-Cano, L. E., Córdova, E. J., Orozco, L., Martínez-Hernández, A., Cid, M., Leal-Berumen, I., et al. (2017). GSTT1 and GSTM1 null variants in Mestizo and Amerindian populations from northwestern Mexico and a literature review. *Genet. Mol. Biol.* 40, 727–735. doi: 10.1590/1678-4685-GMB-2016-0142
- Parnell, L. A., Briggs, C. M., Cao, B., Delannoy-Bruno, O., Schrieffer, A. E., and Mysorekar, I. U. (2017). Microbial communities in placentas from term normal pregnancy exhibit spatially variable profiles. *Sci. Rep.* 711200. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-11514-4
- Pawlik, A., Teler, J., Maciejewska, A., Sawczuk, M., Safranow, K., and Dziedziejko, V. (2017). Adiponectin and leptin gene polymorphisms in women with gestational diabetes mellitus. *J. Assist. Reprod. Genet.* 34, 511–516. doi: 10.1007/s10815-016-0866-2
- Pendeloski, K. P., Sass, N., Torloni, M. R., Mattar, R., Moron, A. F., Franchim, C. S., et al. (2011). Immunoregulatory gene polymorphisms in women with preeclampsia. *Hypertens. Res.* 34, 384–388. doi: 10.1038/hr.2010.247
- Perez-Muñoz, M. E., Arrieta, M. C., Ramer-Tait, A. E., and Walter, J. (2017). A critical assessment of the "sterile womb" and "in utero colonization" hypotheses: implications for research on the pioneer infant microbiome. *Microbiome* 5:48. doi: 10.1186/s40168-017-0268-4
- Pérez-Mutul, J., González-Herrera, L., Sosa-Cabrera, T., and Martínez-Olivares, R. (2004). A mutation in the 5,10-methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene is not associated with preeclampsia in women of southeast Mexico. Arch. Med. Res. 35, 231–234. doi: 10.1016/j.arcmed.2004.02.004
- Pinheiro, M. B., Gomes, K. B., Ronda, C. R., Guimarães, G. G., Freitas, L. G., Teixeira-Carvalho, A., et al. (2015). Severe preeclampsia: association of genes polymorphisms and maternal cytokines production in Brazilian population. *Cytokine* 71, 232–237. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2014.10.021
- Pissetti, C. W., Bianco, T. M., Tanaka, S. C., Da Silva, S. R., and Balarin, M. A. (2015). Polymorphism in the lymphotoxin-α gene, position +252 (rs909253), is not associated with preeclampsia development in Brazilian women. *Rev. Bras. Ginecol. Obstet.* 37, 516–519. doi: 10.1590/SO100-720320150005454
- Podymow, T., and August, P. (2008). Update on the use of antihypertensive drugs in pregnancy. *Hypertension* 51, 960–969. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.106.075895
- Pontillo, A., Reis, E. C., Bricher, P. N., Vianna, P., Diniz, S., Fernandes, K. S., et al. (2015). NLRP1 L155H polymorphism is a risk factor for preeclampsia development. *Am. J. Reprod. Immunol.* 73, 577–581. doi: 10.1111/aji.12353
- Porcu-Buisson, G., Lambert, M., Lyonnet, L., Loundou, A., Gamerre, M., Camoin-Jau, L., et al. (2007). Soluble MHC Class I chain-related molecule serum levels

are predictive markers of implantation failure and successful term pregnancies following IVF. *Hum. Reprod.* 22, 2261–2266. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dem157

- Porto, I. O., Mendes-Junior, C. T., Felício, L. P., Georg, R. C., Moreau, P., Donadi, E. A., et al. (2015). MicroRNAs targeting the immunomodulatory HLA-G gene: a new survey searching for microRNAs with potential to regulate HLA-G. *Mol. Immunol.* 65, 230–241. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2015.01.030
- Prince, A. L., Ma, J., Kannan, P. S., Alvarez, M., Gisslen, T., Harris, R. A., et al. (2016). The placental membrane microbiome is altered among subjects with spontaneous preterm birth with and without chorioamnionitis. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 214, 627e1–627e16. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2016.01.193
- Ramírez-Salazar, M., Romero-Gutiérrez, G., Zaina, S., Malacara, J. M., Kornhauser, C., and Pérez-Luque, E. (2011). Relationship of aldosterone synthase gene (C-344T) and mineralocorticoid receptor (S810L) polymorphisms with gestational hypertension. J. Hum. Hypertens. 25, 320–326. doi: 10.1038/jhh.2010.58
- Ramos, J. G. L., Sass, N., and Costa, S. H. M. (2017). Preeclampsia. Rev. Bras. Ginecol. Obstet. 39, 496–512. doi: 10.1055/s-0037-1604471
- Ramsay, J. E., Stewart, F., Greer, I. A., and Sattar, N. (2003). Microvascular dysfunction: a link between pre-eclampsia and maternal coronary heart disease. BJOG An Int. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. 110, 1029–1031. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.2003.02069.x
- Redman, C. (2014). The six stages of pre-eclampsia. Pregnancy Hypertens. 4:246. doi: 10.1016/j.preghy.2014.04.020
- Redman, C. W. (1991). Immunology of preeclampsia. Semin. Perinatol. 15, 257–262.
- Redman, C. W. G., and Sargent, I. L. (2000). Placental debris, oxidative stress and pre-eclampsia. *Placenta* 21, 597–602. doi: 10.1053/plac.2000.0560
- Redman, C. W. G., Sargent, I. L., and Taylor, R. N. (2014). Immunology of Normal Pregnancy and Preeclampsia, Fourth Edition. Elsevier Inc.
- Rezende, V. B., Sandrim, V. C., Palei, A. C., Machado, L., Cavalli, R. C., Duarte, G., et al. (2012). Vitamin D receptor polymorphisms in hypertensive disorders of pregnancy. *Mol. Biol. Rep.* 39, 10903–10906. doi: 10.1007/s11033-012-1988-y
- Ribatti, D., and Crivellato, E. (2009). Immune cells and angiogenesis. J. Cell. Mol. Med. 13, 2822–2833. doi: 10.1111/j.1582-4934.2009.00810.x
- Risti, M., and Bicalho, M. D. (2017). MICA and NKG2D: is there an impact on kidney transplant outcome? *Front. Immunol.* 8:179. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00179
- Rizzo, R., Trentini, A., Bortolotti, D., Manfrinato, M. C., Rotola, A., Castellazzi, M., et al. (2013). Matrix metalloproteinase-2 (MMP-2) generates soluble HLA-G1 by cell surface proteolytic shedding. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 381, 243–255. doi: 10.1007/s11010-013-1708-5
- Roberge, S., Nicolaides, K. H., Demers, S., Villa, P., and Bujold, E. (2013). Prevention of perinatal death and adverse perinatal outcome using lowdose aspirin: a meta-analysis. *Ultrasound Obstet. Gynecol.* 41, 491–499. doi: 10.1002/uog.12421
- Roberts, J. M., and Hubel, C. A. (2010). Pregnancy. A screening test for later life cardiovascular disease. Women's Health Issues 20, 304–307. doi: 10.1016/j.whi.2010.05.004
- Robinson, W. P., and Price, E. M. (2015). The human placental methylome. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. 5, 1–16. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a023044
- Rojas, J. C., Luna, M., Rangel-Nava, H., Baños, D., and Collados, M. T. (2010). [Genetic thrombophilia and markers of endothelial activation in patients with preeclampsia]. *Ginecol. Obstet. Mex.* 78, 401–409. Available online at: http:// www.medigraphic.com/pdfs/ginobsmex/gom-2010/gom108b.pdf
- Rousseau, P., Le Discorde, M., Mouillot, G., Marcou, C., Carosella, E. D., and Moreau, P. (2003). The 14 bp deletion-insertion polymorphism in the 3' UT region of the HLA-G gene influences HLA-G mRNA stability. *Hum. Immunol.* 64, 1005–1010. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2003.08.347
- Ruan, H., and Dong, L. Q. (2016). Adiponectin signaling and function in insulin target tissues. J. Mol. Cell Biol. 8, 101–109. doi: 10.1093/jmcb/ mjw014
- Saadat, I., Beyzaei, Z., Aghaei, F., Kamrani, S., and Saadat, M. (2012). Association between polymorphisms in DNA repair genes (XRCC1 and XRCC7) and risk of preeclampsia. *Arch. Gynecol. Obstet.* 286, 1459–1462. doi: 10.1007/s00404-012-2471-7
- Saftlas, A. F., Rubenstein, L., Prater, K., Harland, K. K., Field, E., and Triche, E. W. (2014). Cumulative exposure to paternal seminal fluid prior to conception and subsequent risk of preeclampsia. *J. Reprod. Immunol.* 101–102, 104–110. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2013.07.006

Saito, S., and Sakai, M. (2003). Th1/Th2 balance in preeclampsia. J. Reprod. Immunol. 59, 161-173. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0378(03)00045-7

- Salimi, S., Mohammadpour-Gharehbagh, A., Rezaei, M., Sajadian, M., Teimoori, B., Yazdi, A., et al. (2017). The MDM2 promoter T309G polymorphism was associated with preeclampsia susceptibility. *J. Assist. Reprod. Genet.* 34, 951–956. doi: 10.1007/s10815-017-0941-3
- Salomon, C., Guanzon, D., Scholz-Romero, K., Longo, S., Correa, P., Illanes, S. E., et al. (2017). Placental exosomes as early biomarker of preeclampsia: Potential role of exosomalmicrornas across gestation. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 102, 3182–3194. doi: 10.1210/jc.2017-00672
- Salzano, F. M., and Sans, M. (2014). Interethnic admixture and the evolution of Latin American populations. *Genet. Mol. Biol.* 37(1 Suppl), 151–170. doi: 10.1590/S1415-47572014000200003
- Sánchez-Corona, J., Flores-Martínez, S. E., Machorro-Lazo, M. V., Galaviz-Hernández, C., Morán-Moguel, M. C., Perea, F. J., et al. (2004). Polymorphisms in candidate genes for type 2 diabetes mellitus in a Mexican population with metabolic syndrome findings. *Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract.* 63, 47–55. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2003.08.004
- Sánchez-Rodríguez, E. N., Nava-Salazar, S., Mendoza-Rodríguez, C. A., Moran, C., Romero-Arauz, J. F., Ortega, E., et al. (2011). Persistence of decidual NK cells and KIR genotypes in healthy pregnant and preeclamptic women: a casecontrol study in the third trimester of gestation. *Reprod. Biol. Endocrinol.* 9, 1–9. doi: 10.1186/1477-7827-9-8
- Sandoval-Carrillo, A., Aguilar-Duran, M., Vázquez-Alaniz, F., Castellanos-Juárez, F. X., Barraza-Salas, M., Sierra-Campos, E., et al. (2014a). Polymorphisms in the GSTT1 and GSTM1 genes are associated with increased risk of preeclampsia in the Mexican mestizo population. *Genet. Mol. Res.* 13, 2160–2165. doi: 10.4238/2014.January.17.3
- Sandoval-Carrillo, A., Méndez-Hernández, E., Vazquez-Alaniz, F., Aguilar-Durán, M., Téllez-Valencia, A., Barraza-Salas, M., et al. (2014b). Polymorphisms in DNA repair genes (APEX1, XPD, XRCC1 and XRCC3) and risk of preeclampsia in a Mexican Mestizo population. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 15, 4273–4283. doi: 10.3390/ijms15034273
- Sandrim, V. C., Montenegro, M. F., Palei, A. C., Metzger, I. F., Sertorio, J. T., Cavalli, R. C., et al. (2010a). Increased circulating cell-free hemoglobin levels reduce nitric oxide bioavailability in preeclampsia. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 49, 493–500. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2010.05.012
- Sandrim, V. C., Palei, A. C., Cavalli, R. C., Araújo, F. M., Ramos, E. S., Duarte, G., et al. (2008). eNOS haplotypes associated with gestational hypertension or preeclampsia. *Pharmacogenomics* 9, 1467–1473. doi: 10.2217/14622416.9.10.1467
- Sandrim, V. C., Palei, A. C. T., Cavalli, R. C., Araújo, F. M., Ramos, E. S., Duarte, G., et al. (2009). Vascular endothelial growth factor genotypes and haplotypes are associated with pre-eclampsia but not with gestational hypertension. *Mol. Hum. Reprod.* 15, 115–120. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gan076
- Sandrim, V. C., Palei, A. C. T., Eleuterio, N., Tanus-Santos, J. E., and Cavalli, R. C. (2015). Antihypertensive therapy in preeclampsia is not modulated by VEGF polymorphisms. *Arch. Gynecol. Obstet.* 291, 799–803. doi: 10.1007/s00404-014-3475-2
- Sandrim, V. C., Palei, A. C. T., Luizon, M. R., Izidoro-Toledo, T. C., Cavalli, R. C., and Tanus-Santos, J. E. (2010b). ENOS haplotypes affect the responsiveness to antihypertensive therapy in preeclampsia but not in gestational hypertension. *Pharmacogenomics J.* 10, 40–45. doi: 10.1038/tpj.2009.38
- Sattar, N., and Nelson, S. M. (2008). Adiponectin, diabetes, and coronary heart disease in older persons: unraveling the paradox. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 93, 3299–3301. doi: 10.1210/jc.2008-1435
- Schroeder, D. I., Blair, J. D., Lott, P., Yu, H. O. K., Hong, D., Crary, F., et al. (2013). The human placenta methylome. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, 6037–6042. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1215145110
- Schroeder, D. I., and LaSalle, J. M. (2013). How has the study of the human placenta aided our understanding of partially methylated genes? *Epigenomics* 5, 645–654. doi: 10.2217/epi.13.62
- Schroeder, D. I., Schmidt, R. J., Crary-Dooley, F. K., Walker, C. K., Ozonoff, S., Tancredi, D. J., et al. (2016). Placental methylome analysis from a prospective autism study. *Mol. Autism* 7:51. doi: 10.1186/s13229-016-0114-8
- Schuler-Faccini, L., Ribeiro, E. M., Feitosa, I. M., Horovitz, D. D., Cavalcanti, D. P., Pessoa, A., et al. (2016). Possible association between Zika virus infection

and microcephaly — Brazil, 2015. Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep. 65, 59-62. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6503e2

- Serrano, N. C., Casas, J. P., Díaz, L. A., Páez, C., Mesa, C. M., Cifuentes, R., et al. (2004). Endothelial NO synthase genotype and risk of preeclampsia: a multicenter case-control study. *Hypertension* 44, 702–707. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000143483.66701.ec
- Serrano, N. C., Díaz, L. A., Páez, M. C., Mesa, C. M., Cifuentes, R., Monterrosa, A., et al. (2006). Angiotensin-converting enzyme I/D polymorphism and preeclampsia risk: evidence of small-study bias. *PLoS Med.* 3:e30520. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0030520
- Sertório, J. T., Lacchini, R., Amaral, L. M., Palei, A. C., Cavalli, R. C., Sandrim, V. C., et al. (2013). Haptoglobin polymorphism affects nitric oxide bioavailability in preeclampsia. *J. Hum. Hypertens.* 27, 349–354. doi: 10.1038/jhh.2012.57
- Sibai, B., Dekker, G., and Kupferminc, M. (2005). Pre-eclampsia. Lancet 365, 785-799. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05)71003-5
- Silva, V. R., Soardi, F. C., Tanaka, S. C., da Silva-Grecco, R. L., Paschoini, M. C., and Balarin, M. A. (2015). Investigation of polymorphisms in pre-eclampsia related genes VEGF and IL1A. Arch. Gynecol. Obstet. 291, 1029–1035. doi: 10.1007/s00404-014-3503-2
- Smith, Z. D., Shi, J., Gu, H., Donaghey, J., Clement, K., Cacchiarelli, D., et al. (2017). Epigenetic restriction of extraembryonic lineages mirrors the somatic transition to cancer. *Nature* 549, 543–547. doi: 10.1038/nature23891
- Staines-Urias, E., Paez, M. C., Doyle, P., Dudbridge, F., Serrano, N. C., Ioannidis, J. P., et al. (2012). Genetic association studies in pre-eclampsia: systematic meta-analyses and field synopsis. *Int. J. Epidemiol.* 41, 1764–1775. doi: 10.1093/ije/dys162
- Steinle, A., Li, P., Morris, D. L., Groh, V., Lanier, L. L., Strong, R. K., et al. (2001). Interactions of human NKG2D with its ligands MICA, MICB, and homologs of the mouse RAE-1 protein family. *Immunogenetics* 53, 279–287. doi: 10.1007/s002510100325
- Strand, K. M., Heimstad, R., Iversen, A. C., Austgulen, R., Lydersen, S., Andersen, G. L., et al. (2013). Mediators of the association between preeclampsia and cerebral palsy: population based cohort study. *BMJ* 347:f4089. doi: 10.1136/bmj.f4089
- Sugathadasa, B. H., Tennekoon, K. H., Karunanayake, E. H., Kumarasiri, J. M., and Wijesundere, A. P. (2010). Association of 2548 GA polymorphism in the leptin gene with preeclampsiapregnancy-induced hypertension. *Hypertens. Pregnancy* 29, 366–374. doi: 10.3109/10641950903214617
- Sun, D., Wang, X., Zhang, H., Deng, L., and Zhang, Y. (2011). MMP9 mediates MICA shedding in human osteosarcomas. *Cell Biol. Int.* 35, 569–574. doi: 10.1042/CBI20100431
- Tadesse, S., Kidane, D., Guller, S., Luo, T., Norwitz, N. G., Arcuri, F., et al. (2014). In vivo and in vitro evidence for placental DNA damage in preeclampsia. PLoS ONE 9:e86791. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0086791
- Tahvanainen, E., Syvanne, M., Frick, M. H., Murtomaki-Repo, S., Antikainen, M., Kesaniemi, Y. A., et al. (1998). Association of variation in hepatic lipase activity with promoter variation in the hepatic lipase gene. The LOCAT study invsestigators. J. Clin. Invest. 101, 956–960. doi: 10.1172/JCI1144
- Tam, W. H., Ma, R. C. W., Ozaki, R., Li, A. M., Chan, M. H. M., Yuen, L. Y., et al. (2017). In utero exposure to maternal hyperglycemia increases childhood cardiometabolic risk in offspring. *Diabetes Care* 40, 679–686. doi: 10.2337/dc16-2397
- Taylor, B. D., Ness, R. B., Olsen, J., Hougaard, D. M., Skogstrand, K., Roberts, J. M., et al. (2015). Serum leptin measured in early pregnancy is higher in women with preeclampsia compared with normotensive pregnant women. *Hypertension* 65, 594–599. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.114.03979
- Telini, B., Veit, T. D., Chies, J. A. B., and Vianna, P. (2014). The CCR5∆32 polymorphism as a pre-eclampsia susceptibility marker: an evaluation in Brazilian women. *Arch. Gynecol. Obstet.* 290, 1–3. doi: 10.1007/s00404-014-3246-0
- Thaware, P. K., McKenna, S., Patterson, C. C., Hadden, D. R., Pettitt, D. J., and McCance, D. R. (2015). Untreated mild hyperglycemia during pregnancy and anthropometric measures of obesity in offspring at age 5-7 years. *Diabetes Care* 38, 1701–1706. doi: 10.2337/dc14-2797
- Timpka, S., Stuart, J. J., Tanz, L. J., Rimm, E. B., Franks, P. W., and Rich-Edwards, J. W. (2017). Lifestyle in progression from hypertensive disorders of pregnancy to chronic hypertension in Nurses' Health Study II: observational cohort study. *BMJ* 358:j3024. doi: 10.1136/bmj.j3024

- Tranquilli, A. L., Dekker, G., Magee, L., Roberts, J., Sibai, B. M., Steyn, W., et al. (2014). The classification, diagnosis and management of the hypertensive disorders of pregnancy: A revised statement from the ISSHP. *Pregnancy Hypertens.* 4, 97–104. doi: 10.1016/j.preghy.2014.02.001
- Triche, E. W., Uzun, A., DeWan, A. T., Kurihara, I., Liu, J., Occhiogrosso, R., et al. (2014). Bioinformatic approach to the genetics of preeclampsia. Obstet Gynecol. 123, 1155–1161. doi: 10.1097/AOG.00000000000293
- Turner, M. (2003). The role of mannose-binding lectin in health and disease. Mol. Immunol. 40, 423–429. doi: 10.1016/S0161-5890(03)00155-X
- United Nations (2015). *The Millennium Development Goals Report*. United Nations, 72.
- Urrutia, R. P., and Thorp, J. M. (2012). Vitamin D in pregnancy: current concepts. *Curr. Opin. Obstet. Gynecol.* 24, 57–64. doi: 10.1097/GCO.0b013e3283505ab3
- Valencia Villalvazo, E. Y., Canto-Cetina, T., Romero Arauz, J. F., Coral-Vázquez, R. M., Canizales-Quinteros, S., Coronel, A., et al. (2012). Analysis of polymorphisms in interleukin-10, interleukin-6, and interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in Mexican-Mestizo women with pre-eclampsia. *Genet. Test. Mol. Biomarkers* 16, 1263–1269. doi: 10.1089/gtmb.2012.0181
- Valenzuela, F. J., Pérez-Sepúlveda, A., Torres, M. J., Correa, P., Repetto, G. M., and Illanes, S. E. (2012). Pathogenesis of preeclampsia: the genetic component. J. Pregnancy 2012:632732. doi: 10.1155/2012/632732
- Veit, T. D., Chies, J. A., Switala, M., Wagner, B., Horn, P. A., Busatto, M., et al. (2015). The paradox of high availability and low recognition of soluble HLA-G by LILRB1 receptor in rheumatoid arthritis patients. *PLoS ONE* 10:e123838. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0123838
- Venkatesan, S., Petrovic, A., Van Ryk, D. I., Locati, M., Weissman, D., and Murphy, P. M. (2002). Reduced cell surface expression of CCR5 in CCR5Delta 32 heterozygotes is mediated by gene dosage, rather than by receptor sequestration. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 2287–2301. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M108321200
- Vianna, P., Da Silva, G. K., Dos Santos, B. P., Bauer, M. E., Dalmáz, C. A., Bandinelli, E., et al. (2010). Association between mannose-binding lectin gene polymorphisms and pre-eclampsia in Brazilian women. Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 64, 359–374. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2010.00846.x
- Vianna, P., Dalmáz, C. A., Veit, T. D., Tedoldi, C., Roisenberg, I., and Chies, J. A. B. (2007). Immunogenetics of pregnancy: role of a 14-bp deletion in the maternal HLA-G gene in primiparous pre-eclamptic Brazilian women. *Hum. Immunol.* 68, 668–674. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2007.05.006
- Vianna, P., Mondadori, A. G., Bauer, M. E., Dornfeld, D., and Chies, J. A. (2016). HLA-G and CD8+ regulatory T cells in the inflammatory environment of pre-eclampsia. *Reproduction* 152, 741–751. doi: 10.1530/REP-15-0608
- Vural, P., Degirmencioglu, S., Dogru-Abbasoglu, S., Saral, N. Y., Akgül, C., and Uysal, M. (2009). Genetic polymorphisms in DNA repair gene APE1, XRCC1 and XPD and the risk of pre-eclampsia. *Eur. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Reprod. Biol.* 146, 160–164. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2009.06.007
- Wang, X., Zhang, S., Chen, Y., Liu, H., Lan, C., Chen, X., et al. (2009). APM1 gene variants–11377C/G and 4545G/C are associated respectively with obesity and with non-obesity in Chinese type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract.* 84, 205–210. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2009.03.004
- Weel, I. C., Romão-Veiga, M., Matias, M. L., Fioratti, E. G., Peraçoli, J. C., Borges, V. T., et al. (2017). Increased expression of NLRP3 inflammasome in placentas from pregnant women with severe preeclampsia. *J. Reprod. Immunol.* 123, 40–47. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2017.09.002
- Wei, J., Blenkiron, C., Tsai, P., James, J. L., Chen, Q., Stone, P. R., et al. (2017). Placental trophoblast debris mediated feto-maternal signalling via small RNA delivery: implications for preeclampsia. *Sci. Rep.* 7:14681. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-14180-8
- Wendland, E. M., Duncan, B. B., Belizán, J. M., Vigo, A., and Schmidt, M. I. (2008). Gestational diabetes and pre-eclampsia: common antecedents? Arq. Bras. Endocrinol. Metabol. 52, 975–984. doi: 10.1590/S0004-27302008000600008
- Williams, D. (2003). Pregnancy: A stress test for life. *Curr. Opin. Obstet. Gynecol.* 15, 465–471. doi: 10.1097/00001703-200312000-00002
- Williams, P. J. (2016). "Molecular genetics of preeclampsia," in eLS (Chichester: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd), 1–8. doi: 10.1002/9780470015902.a0025247
- Winger, E. E., Reed, J. L., Ji, X., and Nicolaides, K. (2018). Peripheral blood cell microRNA quantification during the first trimester predicts preeclampsia: proof of concept. *PLoS ONE* 13:ee0190654. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.01 90654

- Xu, T., Zhou, F., Deng, C., Huang, G., Li, J., and Wang, X. (2015). Low-dose aspirin for preventing preeclampsia and its complications: a meta-analysis. J. Clin. Hypertens. 17, 567–573. doi: 10.1111/jch.12541
- Yang, M., Peng, S., Li, W., Wan, Z., Fan, L., and Du, Y. (2016). Relationships between plasma leptin levels, leptin G2548A, leptin receptor Gln223Arg polymorphisms and gestational diabetes mellitus in Chinese population. *Sci. Rep.* 6:e23948. doi: 10.1038/srep23948
- Yau, A. C., Tuncel, J., Haag, S., Norin, U., Houtman, M., Padyukov, L., et al. (2016). Conserved 33-kb haplotype in the MHC class III region regulates chronic arthritis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 113, E3716–E3724. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1600567113
- Ye, Y., Zhou, Q., Feng, L., Wu, J., Xiong, Y., and Li, X. (2017). Maternal serum bisphenol A levels and risk of pre-eclampsia: a nested case-control study. *Eur. J. Public Health* 27, 1102–1107. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/ckx148
- Yoffe, L., Gilam, A., Yaron, O., Polsky, A., Farberov, L., Syngelaki, A., et al. (2018). Early detection of preeclampsia using circulating small non-coding RNA. *Sci. Rep.* 8, 1–11. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-21604-6
- Yong, H. E. J., Murthi, P., Brennecke, S. P., and Moses, E. K. (2018b). Genetic approaches in preeclampsia. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 1710, 53–72. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-7498-6_5
- Yong, H. E. J., Murthi, P., Kalionis, B., Keogh, R. J., and Brennecke, S. P. (2018a). Decidual ACVR2A regulates extravillous trophoblast functions of adhesion, proliferation, migration and invasion *in vitro*. *Pregnancy Hypertens*. 12, 189–193. doi: 10.1016/j.preghy.2017.11.002
- Zadora, J., Singh, M., Herse, F., Przybyl, L., Haase, N., Golic, M., et al. (2017). Disturbed placental imprinting in preeclampsia leads to altered expression of DLX5, a human-specific early trophoblast marker. *Circulation* 136, 1824–1839. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.117.028110
- Zerbino, D. R., Achuthan, P., Akanni, W., Amode, M. R., Barrell, D., Bhai, J., et al. (2018). Ensembl 2018. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 46, D754–D761. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkx1098
- Zhang, C., Bao, W., Rong, Y., Yang, H., Bowers, K., Yeung, E., et al. (2013). Genetic variants and the risk of gestational diabetes mellitus: a systematic review. *Hum. Reprod. Update* 19, 376–390. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmt013
- Zhang, D., Ma, J., Brismar, K., Efendic, S., and Gu, H. F. (2009). A single nucleotide polymorphism alters the sequence of SP1 binding site in the adiponectin promoter region and is associated with diabetic nephropathy among type 1 diabetic patients in the Genetics of Kidneys in Diabetes Study. J. Diabetes Complications 23, 265–272. doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2008.05.004
- Zhou, J., Xiao, X.-M., and Wu, Y.-H. (2014). Expression of interferon-γ in decidual natural killer cells from women with hypertensive disorder complicating pregnancy. *J. Obstet. Gynaecol. Res.* 40, 670–676. doi: 10.1111/jog.12216
- Zhu, Y., Olsen, S. F., Mendola, P., Yeung, E. H., Vaag, A., Bowers, K., et al. (2016). Growth and obesity through the first 7 y of life in association with levels of maternal glycemia during pregnancy: a prospective cohort study. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 103, 794–800. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.115.121780
- Zoet, G. A., Benschop, L., Boersma, E., Budde, R. P. J., Fauser, B. C. J. M., van der Graaf, Y., et al. (2018). Prevalence of subclinical coronary artery disease assessed by coronary computed tomography angiography in 45- to 55-year-old women with a history of preeclampsia. *Circulation* 137, 877–879. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.117.032695
- Zusterzeel, P. L., Visser, W., Peters, W. H., Merkus, H. W., Nelen, W. L., and Steegers, E. A. (2000). Polymorphism in the glutathione Stransferase P1 gene and risk for preeclampsia. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 96, 50–54. doi: 10.1016/S0029-7844(00)00845-0

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Michita, Kaminski and Chies. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Paternal Determinants in Preeclampsia

Carlos Galaviz-Hernandez^{1*}, Martha Sosa-Macias¹, Enrique Teran², Jose Elias Garcia-Ortiz³ and Blanca Patricia Lazalde-Ramos⁴, on behalf of RIVA-TREM

¹ Instituto Politécnico Nacional, CIIDIR-Durango, Academia de Grnómica, Mexico City, Mexico, ² Colegio de Ciencias de la Salud, Universidad San Francisco de Quito, Quito, Ecuador, ³ Centro de Investigacón Biomédica de Occidente, Centro Médico Nacional de Occidente-Instituto Mexicano del Seguro Social (CMNO-IMSS), Guadalajara, Mexico, ⁴ Unidad Académica de Ciencias Químicas, Universidad Autónoma de Zacatecas, Zacatecas, Mexico

Preeclampsia is a condition associated with high rates of maternal-fetal morbidity and mortality. It usually occurs in 3-10% of nulliparous women and 18% of previously affected women. Different lines of evidence have demonstrated the role of the father in the onset of preeclampsia. The placenta is the cornerstone of preeclampsia and poses important paternal genetic determinants; in fact, the existence of a "paternal antigen" has been proposed. Nulliparity is a well-known risk factor. Change of partner to a woman without history of preeclampsia increases the risk; however, this change decreases in women with history of the condition. High interval between pregnancies, short sexual intercourse before pregnancy, and conception by intracytoplasmic sperm injection suggest a limited exposure to the so-called paternal antigen. A man who was born from a mother with preeclampsia also increases the risk to his partner. Not only maternal but also paternal obesity is a risk factor for preeclampsia. Fetal HLA-G variants from the father increased the immune incompatibility with the mother and are also significantly associated with preeclampsia in multigravida pregnancies. An analysis of a group of Swedish pregnant women showed that the risk for preeclampsia is attributable to paternal factors in 13% of cases, which could be related to genetic interactions with maternal genetic factors. This review aimed to evaluate the evidences of the father's contribution to the onset of preeclampsia and determine the importance of including them in future studies.

Keywords: preeclampsia, paternal, primipaternity, placenta, immunology, genetics

BACKGROUND

Preeclampsia is a condition in pregnant women associated with high rates of maternal and fetal morbidity and mortality worldwide. This disease is characterized as a systemic syndrome with *de novo* hypertension occurring after 20 weeks of gestation as well as proteinuria (300 mg in 24 h) (NHBPEP, 2000). In 2013, the Task Force on Hypertension in Pregnancy established new diagnostic criteria for hypertension in pregnancy.

Preeclampsia is related to deficient placental implantation, with multisystem consequences (generalized endotheliosis) in the mother (Roberts and Hubel, 2009). Its incidence in industrialized

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Antonio Colantuoni, University of Naples Federico II, Italy

Reviewed by:

Keshari Thakali, University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences, United States Tommaso Angelone, Università della Calabria, Italy

> *Correspondence: Carlos Galaviz-Hernandez

carlosgalavizhernandez55@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Vascular Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 31 July 2018 Accepted: 11 December 2018 Published: 07 January 2019

Citation:

Galaviz-Hernandez C, Sosa-Macias M, Teran E, Garcia-Ortiz JE and Lazalde-Ramos BP (2019) Paternal Determinants in Preeclampsia. Front. Physiol. 9:1870. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01870

35
countries ranges from 3 to 5% (Stone et al., 1995; Dahlstrom et al., 2006; Wallis et al., 2008), which reaches up to 16% in Nigeria (Osungbade and Ige, 2011). The frequency of maternal and perinatal deaths in Mexico is 34 and 33%, respectively (Peralta Pedrero et al., 2006).

Preeclampsia is classified as mild and severe and can complicate to hemolysis, elevated liver enzymes, and low platelet count (HELLP) syndrome and eclampsia (Geller et al., 2004).

The pathophysiology of preeclampsia is characterized by placental hypoxia and/or ischemia leading to overexpression of hypoxia-inducible factor 1 (HIF1), which in turn increases the expression of the soluble isoform of vascular endothelial growth factor (sFlt) (Nevo et al., 2006). Hypoxic placenta also releases the soluble endoglin, antagonizing the production of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) through sequestering of transforming growth factor beta1 (TGFb1) (Sandrim et al., 2008). In addition, the proangiogenic factors such as the placental growth factor (PIGF) and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (Reuvekamp et al., 1999). Together, they can trigger the antiangiogenic state in the mother, which resulted in generalized endothelial dysfunction.

Risk factors for disease development include nulliparity, pregnancy with multiple products, previous history of preeclampsia, vascular and connective tissue diseases, maternal age of >35 years, Afro-American ethnicity, preexistent renal disease, arterial hypertension, type 2 diabetes, and obesity (Eiland et al., 2012).

Previous studies on preeclampsia have considered the mother's participation almost exclusively. However, the placenta is a transient biparental organ with maternal and paternal contributions. In this way, changes on the expression profile of genes involved in the metabolism and transport in the placenta depend on various maternal and paternal genetic profiles (Zusterzeel et al., 2002; Dekker et al., 2011).

Increasing evidence has demonstrated the father's role in the onset of preeclampsia. In Astin et al. (1981) reported a case of a man who fathered two consecutive women who developed severe preeclampsia and passed away, suggesting the existence of a "fatal father factor."

The risk of preeclampsia is genetically attributable to the mother (35%), fetus (20%), and couple (13%) (Cnattingius et al., 2004). Women and men who were born from a pregnancy with preeclampsia are at higher risk to have a baby, result of a preeclamptic pregnancy (Esplin et al., 2001). The change of partner increases the risk for preeclampsia in 1.6%, which increases up to 2.9% in a woman whose second pregnancy is the result of union with a man who has had a previous partner with preeclampsia (Lie et al., 1998). Change of partner plays a predisposing or protective role, depending of the presence or absence of the disease in the first pregnancy (Wikström et al., 2012). The presence of fetal variants of HLA-G from the father and those outside the mother generate a paternal-fetal susceptibility component for the development of preeclampsia (Tan et al., 2008).

Paternal genetic material plays an important role for the onset of preeclampsia. A triploid (69 XXX) partial mole, with paternal isodisomy in the placenta and a disomic fetus, increases preeclampsia-like symptoms at 19 weeks of gestation (Yoneda et al., 2013). Although preeclampsia is a human-specific disorder, animal models of the disease have been created to show the role of the paternal genetic factors. A female transgenic mouse for human angiotensinogen gene was mated with a male transgenic mouse for human renin gene, originating a preeclampsia-like syndrome (Takimoto et al., 1996).

In this review, we aimed to describe different lines of evidence regarding the paternal contribution on preeclampsia.

EPIDEMIOLOGICAL AND CLINICAL EVIDENCE

Preeclampsia has been traditionally considered as a disease during first pregnancies; however, an early study by Need (1975) showed that a woman, pregnant by different fathers, had a healthy twin pregnancy with the first men, but severe preeclampsia occurred in the second one. The analysis of 34,201 patients revealed the presence of 47 multigravid patients with severe preeclampsia. A new partner was demonstrated in 13 among them (19.1%), and significant difference was observed than those in the control group (p < 0.01) (Feeney and Scott, 1980). Ikedife (1980) showed that change of partners was observed in 34 (74%) out of 46 multiparous patients with eclampsia. A woman with three different husbands presented preeclampsia only in the first pregnancy of the second and third spouses. Therefore, preeclampsia is not just a primiparous woman disease but also a condition related to the first pregnancy with a particular partner (Chng, 1982). The Guadeloupe study revealed an increased change of partner in multiparous women who were affected with preeclampsia (Robillard et al., 1993). The same group demonstrated that the incidence of preeclampsia was 11.9% among primigravidae, 4% among multigravidae without a change of paternity, and 24% among multigravidae with a new partner; however, these numbers depend on the duration of sexual cohabitation before conception (Robillard et al., 1994).

When evaluating paternal vs. maternal half-sisters with preeclampsia, Lie et al. (1998) found an increased risk for the disease in the former. Likewise, they showed that 13% of primiparous mothers with preeclampsia had recurrence in the second pregnancy, decreasing the influence of partner's change (11.8%), which is opposite in mothers without preeclampsia in their first pregnancy (Lie et al., 1998).

The same results were obtained by Li and Wi (2000). Pipkin (2001) observed that partner's change increases the risk for preeclampsia occurrence in primiparous women.

A woman pregnant by a partner who previously fathered a woman with preeclampsia was highly at risk to develop the disease. In 2004, Cnatinggius et al. evaluated three different scenarios: (1) mothers without preeclampsia and no partner change (control group); (2) mothers with previous preeclampsia, current preeclampsia, and change of spouse who was not fathered by a previous couple with preeclampsia; and (3) mothers with preeclampsia and change of couple who fathered another woman with preeclampsia. The maternal effect was 45%, meanwhile the paternal one was 10% (Cnattingius et al., 2004). Conversely, Chigbu et al. (2009) evaluated two groups of Nigerian women with and without change of partner in their second pregnancy and found no differences for the development of preeclampsia.

Marti and Herrmann (1977) found that preeclampsia is associated with shorter exposure to spermatozoa in younger women and more frequent use of barrier contraceptive methods. Therefore, the authors coined the term "immunogestosis" to denote the immune nature of preeclampsia. The use of barrier contraceptive methods was significantly higher in women with preeclampsia compared to healthy women [odds ratio (OR) = 2.48], and the number of sexual contacts was inversely related to the risk of preeclampsia (Klonoff-Cohen et al., 1989). Conversely, Mills et al. (1991) and Ness et al. (2004) found no differences in the use of barrier contraceptive methods between women with and without preeclampsia.

Shorter sexual intercourse increases the shorter antigenic seminal exposure (Beer, 1989). The risk of pregnancy-induced hypertension (PIH) was increased when conception is within 12 months of sexual cohabitation: 40% in 0-4 months, 23% in 5-8 months, 15% in 9-12 months, and 5% after 12 months (Robillard et al., 1994). The same author compared patients with simple PIH versus those with preeclampsia and eclampsia and observed that the sexual cohabitation times are shorter (9.5 months) compared to those of unaffected women (26.3 months) (Robillard and Hulsey, 1996). Koelman et al. (2000) found a lower frequency of oral sex in women with preeclampsia compared to healthy pregnant women (p = 0.0003), suggesting a protective role. The authors report lower amounts of soluble HLA A and HLA B in the seminal fluid, in partners of preeclamptic women (Koelman et al., 2000). In Robertson et al. (2003) proposed how repeated semen exposure protects preeclampsia, based on four lines of evidence: (1) the semen contains antigens shared by the conception; (2) after the seminal contact, the maternal mucosa can mount a regulated immune response to semen antigens; (3) semen contains among others, high amounts of TGFb that can inhibit type 1 immunity; and (4) TGFb-dependent changes in T-lymphocytes allow a hyporesponsiveness to paternal antigens. The exposure to seminal fluid through the vagina is inversely correlated with the risk of preeclampsia occurrence, whereas the oral exposure to seminal fluid has no effect on disease development (Saftlas et al., 2014).

A clear increase in the frequency of preeclampsia when the father (OR = 2.1) and mother (OR = 3.3) are products of preeclampsia-complicated pregnancies has been observed; however, this study did not consider the changes of paternity (Conde-Agudelo, 2001). In men who were born after a pregnancy complicated by preeclampsia, the risk in the first pregnancy was moderately increased compared with men who were born after a pregnancy without preeclampsia (OR = 1.5, 1.3–1.7).

This observed risk increases when severe or early preeclampsia is considered (OR = 1.9, 1.4–2.5) (Skjaerven et al., 2005). Lie (2007) found similar numbers: fathers who came from a preeclamptic pregnancy had a 1.5-fold risk [95% CI 1.3–1.7] of fathering a preeclamptic pregnancy.

Since, Need et al. (1983) reported a significantly higher frequency of preeclampsia in women with abortions (15.7%)

than those with normal pregnancy (4.7%). They also found that azoospermia and oligospermia present a lower frequency of preeclampsia of 8.7 and 13.6%, respectively, which could be related to the minimal antigenic sperm exposure. The frequency of preeclampsia was higher in the donor insemination program than those in the father insemination program (OR = 1.20, 95%) (Smith et al., 1997). Hoy et al. (1999) revealed a higher frequency of preeclampsia in donor-inseminated women vs. natural-inseminated women (OR = 1.4, 95% CI). In Salha et al. (1999) compared 72 infertile women subjected to sperm, ovum, or embryo donation, with the same number of pregnant women through insemination with their own ovum or partner's spermatozoa (control group). Fourteen patients developed preeclampsia, 13 of whom belong to the group of donated gametes and 1 to the control group. Kyrou et al. (2010) found a marginally significant (p = 0.05) higher frequency of preeclampsia in women conceiving by a sperm donor compared to partners in spermatozoa insemination. The type of spermatozoa and number of previous insemination cycles were the variables that influenced the risk of preeclampsia (p = 0.012); in fact, the authors observed that the fewer the number of the insemination cycles, the higher the risk of preeclampsia (Kyrou et al., 2010). A recent meta-analysis of seven studies showed the association with preeclampsia in women conceiving with donor sperm (OR = 1.63) (González-Comadran et al., 2014). Another study evaluated the risk of preeclampsia in infertile women subjected only to sperm donation via intrauterine insemination (IUI) or in vitro fertilization (IVF), compared to those with primary sperm donation (IUI or IVF) followed by egg donation. A higher frequency of preeclampsia in the latter was observed; therefore, the authors conclude that double gamete donation is associated with increased risk for preeclampsia (Bartal et al., 2018).

The aforementioned studies support the theory of the immunological basis of preeclampsia.

IMMUNOLOGICAL EVIDENCE

Preeclampsia is a state in which alloantigen (placenta of paternal origin) must be recognized to avoid rejection (Saito et al., 2007). Trophoblast cells must express paternal alloantigens that must be recognized by the mother's immune system. Extravillous trophoblast express different HLA-C, E, F, and G (Hackmon et al., 2017). HLA-C is the ligand of immunoglobulinlike receptors (KIR) that are expressed in decidual natural killer (NK) cells (Sharkey et al., 2008). HLA-C and KIR are polymorphic; therefore, many maternal/paternal different combinations are possible. Two KIR haplotypes exist A and B, with the latter stimulating the expression of chemokines and angiogenic cytokines, promoting trophoblast invasiveness. Therefore, haplotype B could be protective for preeclampsia (Redman and Sargent, 2010). Seminal priming triggers a cascade of events for placental recognition or rejection. Seminal fluid contains high amounts of TGF-b that induces T-regulatory cells (Treg); these cells modulate immune responses in an antigenspecific way. Therefore, the effects of HLA-C/KIR interaction plus the seminal priming activity of TGF-b could in some extent explain the immune nature of father's involvement in preeclampsia (Redman and Sargent, 2010).

The immune nature of preeclampsia was observed by Need (1975), who demonstrated histoincompatibility in a mother who developed preeclampsia with her second partner through the evaluation of HL-A typing. In Feeney et al. (1977) found a lower incidence of preeclampsia in previously blood-transfused women, compared with the same number of non-transfused primigravidas. A similar effect is observed in patients with kidney transplantation (Feeney et al., 1977). In the same year, Marti and Herrmann, (1977) found a correlation between the number of exposures to semen and lower frequency of preeclampsia; they coined the term immunogestosis to explain both, the immunologic tolerance and immunologic enhancement that abrogates immunoreaction against paternal and fetal histocompatibility antigens.

Birkeland and Kristofferson (1979) evaluated the immune response in mothers with and without preeclampsia and found no leukocyte antigens against the father in women with normal pregnancies, meanwhile these antigens were identified in one woman with severe preeclampsia. The evaluation of HLA A, B, and DR in women with severe and mild preeclampsia as well as their husbands and babies revealed a higher frequency of DR4 in all family members in severe preeclampsia (Kilpatrick et al., 1987). However, HLA A, B, and C are expressed in low amounts in the trophoblast, and HLA-G protein is exclusively expressed in trophoblast cells in high amounts. The evaluation of 1597del/C allele was not associated with preeclampsia (Aldrich et al., 2000). Three polymorphisms in HLA-G were evaluated in 68 primigravida trios, but were not associated with preeclampsia (Bermingham et al., 2000). The evaluation of 15 alleles in 4 exons of HLA-G in 155 family triads showed an overrepresentation of a homozygous HLA-G genotype in 40 pre-eclamptic offspring compared to 70 controls (p = 0.002) among primiparous women; further analyses suggested that the differences between pre-eclamptic cases and controls were primarily accomplished by a different transmission from the father of a 14 bp deletion/insertion polymorphism in the 3'UTR region (14 bp del/in) (p = 0.006) (Hylenius et al., 2004). In Tan et al. (2008) observed a significant association between paternally inherited HLA-G allele G*0106 in the fetus and an increased risk for preeclampsia, but only in multigravid pregnancies. The 14 bp del/in was evaluated in three different combinations: mother/offspring, father/offspring, and couples; heterozygosity in the mother plus double insertion in babies was significantly higher in severe early-onset preeclampsia (p = 0.023), and the frequency of double deletion in both the father and baby was lower in severe early-onset preeclampsia (p = 0.024). The analysis of couples did not reveal significant differences between cases and controls (Zhang et al., 2012). A recent meta-analysis of 1,625 cases and 2,145 controls in all members of the triads evaluated the influence of 14 bp del/in in the onset of preeclampsia; the results did not reveal the association with the disease in offspring, mothers, or fathers. A stratification showed the association of 14 bp del/in with preeclampsia in European Caucasian offspring, but not found in African descent population (Pabalan et al., 2015).

Semen is not sterile, and its microbes have also been considered as a potential cause of preeclampsia. Repeated exposure to semen seems to create a memory protecting women from preeclampsia and the same could be possible in the case of semen microbes. Therefore, common elements of preeclampsia and infections such as Galectin13, Toll-like receptors, and antiphospholipid syndrome are found (Kenny and Kell, 2018).

GENETIC EVIDENCE

The genetic nature of preeclampsia has also been evaluated through (1) familial cases, (2) twin studies, (3) consanguinity studies, (4) candidate gene evaluation, and (5) linkage analysis. Genes are involved in different pathophysiological mechanisms involved in preeclampsia. Genetic studies that included mother/father/children triads, which allow to determine the sole or joint contribution for preeclampsia, were limited.

The evaluation of thrombophilic genes methyle netetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) and FVL in 92 mother/father/child triads revealed an increased risk only in mothers carrying two mutated copies of MTHFR and one mutated allele in FVL. Therefore, the risk of preeclampsia is not increased in the presence of fetal MTHFR or FVL mutations (Vefring et al., 2004). In van Dijk et al. (2010) observed a methylated paternal copy of STOX1 gene and an unmethylated active maternal copy of the gene. Maternal transmission of this gene has been demonstrated in preeclampsia (van Dijk and Oudejans, 2011). The evaluation of GSTP1, eNOS, and LPL genes in 167 preeclamptic and control triads in a Greek cohort, which significantly demonstrated higher frequencies of Val105 allele (GSTP1) and Glu298Asp (eNOS) in control vs. preeclamptic groups in mothers, fathers, and child. The -93 polymorphism (LDL) was higher in preeclampsia only in mothers, but not in fathers or children. The transmission disequilibrium test revealed no differences in the rate of transmission of the studied common vs. mutated alleles (Pappa et al., 2011).

In Zhou et al. (2013) found a significant association of C4599A polymorphism in AGTR2 gene with preeclampsia in mothers with body mass index (BMI) of ≥ 25 kg/m² in their partners and studied children. Galaviz-Hernandez et al. (2016) evaluated the polymorphism rs5370 of EDN1 gene in mothers with preeclampsia and their partners, showing a significant negative association with the disease in case of fathers (OR = 0.42; CI 95%, 0.18–0.94, p = 0.034), which was strengthened after adjusting the paternal protective factors. The evaluation of two polymorphisms in SOD1 (+35A/C) and SOD2 (Ala16Val (C/T) genes in 698 mother/father/infant triads revealed a significant association with preeclampsia in fathers with Ala16Val (TT genotype) [OR = 2.77 (1.32-5.81), p = 0.007]. This study revealed essentially the same risk for preeclampsia in both combined TT genotypes in mothers and fathers [OR = 6.80 (2.32-19.95), p < 0.001] and mother/father/infant triads [OR = 6.46 (2.16-19.31), p < 0.001] (Luo et al., 2018). Polymorphisms in the thrombophilic genes factor V Leiden, prothrombin, and MTHFR were evaluated in women, fetus, and fathers as risk factors for pregnancyassociated complications, including preeclampsia. The authors found significant differences between cases and controls in maternal Factor V and fetal *MTHFR*, but no differences on any of the polymorphisms analyzed in the father's group (Nevalainen et al., 2018).

CONCLUSION AND PERSPECTIVES

Epidemiological, clinical, immunological, and genetic evidences supported the contribution of fathers in the onset of preeclampsia. Despite this, few studies were intended to evaluate the spouses' role. In this way, the evaluation of paternalderived immune and genetic materials was performed in order to identify the risk and prognostic markers of preeclampsia. Recent advances in placental epigenetics, along with the use of OMICS tools, ensure the identification of molecular markers

REFERENCES

- Aldrich, C., Verp, M. S., Walker, M. A., and Ober, C. (2000). A null mutation in HLA-G is not associated with preeclampsia or intrauterine growth retardation. *J. Reprod. Immunol.* 47, 41–48. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0378(00)00052-8
- Astin, M., Scott, J. R., and Worley, R. J. (1981). Pre-eclampsia/eclampsia: a fatal father factor. *Lancet* 2:533. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(81)90925-9
- Bartal, M. F., Sibai, B. M., Bart, Y., Shina, A., Mazaki-Tovi, S., Eisen, I. S., et al. (2018). The impact of sperm and egg donation on the risk of pregnancy complications. *Am. J. Perinatol.* doi: 10.1055/s-0038-1667029 [Epub ahead of print].
- Beer, A. E. (1989). Immunology, contraception, and preeclampsia. JAMA 262:3184. doi: 10.1001/jama.1989.03430220107040
- Bermingham, J., Jenkins, D., McCarthy, T., and O'Brien, M. (2000). Genetic analysis of insulin-like growth factor II and HLA-G in pre-eclampsia. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 28, 215–219. doi: 10.1042/bst0280215
- Birkeland, S. A., and Kristofferson, K. (1979). Pre-eclampsia-a state of motherfetus immune imbalance. *Lancet* 2, 720–723. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(79) 90645-7
- Chigbu, C. O., Okezie, O. A., and Odugu, B. U. (2009). Women in southern Nigeria with change in paternity do not have increased incidence of pre-eclampsia. *J. Obstet. Gynaecol.* 29, 94–97. doi: 10.1080/01443610802660927
- Chng, P. K. (1982). Occurrence of pre-eclampsia in pregnancies to three husbands. Case report. Br. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. 89, 862–863. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.1982. tb05042.x
- Cnattingius, S., Reilly, M., Pawitan, Y., and Lichtenstein, P. (2004). Maternal and fetal genetic factors account for most of familial aggregation of preeclampsia: a population-based Swedish cohort study. *Am. J. Med. Genet.* 130A, 365–371. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.a.30257
- Conde-Agudelo, A. (2001). Paternal and maternal components of the predisposition to preeclampsia. N. Engl. J. Med. 345:149. doi: 10.1056/ NEJM200107123450217
- Dahlstrom, B. L., Engh, M. E., Bukholm, G., and Oian, P. (2006). Changes in the prevalence of pre-eclampsia in Akershus County and the rest of Norway during the past 35 years. Acta Obstet. Gynecol. Scand. 85, 916–921. doi: 10.1080/ 00016340500442449
- Dekker, G., Robillard, P. Y., and Roberts, C. (2011). The etiology of preeclampsia: the role of the father. J. Reprod. Immunol. 89, 126–132. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2010. 12.010
- Eiland, E., Nzerue, C., and Faulkner, M. (2012). Preeclampsia 2012. J. Pregnancy 2012:586578. doi: 10.1155/2012/586578
- Esplin, M. S., Fausett, M. B., Fraser, A., Kerber, R., Mineau, G., Carrillo, J., et al. (2001). Paternal and maternal components of the predisposition to preeclampsia. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 344, 867–872. doi: 10.1056/NEJM20010 3223441201
- Feeney, J. G., and Scott, J. S. (1980). Pre-eclampsia and changed paternity. Eur. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Reprod. Biol. 11, 35–38. doi: 10.1016/0028-2243(80)90051-9

associated with the role of fathers in the development of preeclampsia.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CG-H gathered and analyzed the data, and wrote the manuscript. MS-M gathered and organized the data and references. ET organized the data. MS-M, JG-O, and ET critically lectured the manuscript. BL-R gathered the data.

FUNDING

The authors are thankful to the Instituto Politécnico Nacional, grants SIP-20181809 and SIP-20181811.

- Feeney, J. G., Tovey, L. A., and Scott, J. S. (1977). Influence of previous bloodtransfusion on incidence of pre-eclampsia. *Lancet* 1, 874–875. doi: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(77)91199-0
- Galaviz-Hernandez, C., Arámbula-Meraz, E., Medina-Bastidas, D., Sosa-Macías, M., Lazalde-Ramos, B. P., Ortega-Chávez, M., et al. (2016). The paternal polymorphism rs5370 in the EDN1 gene decreases the risk of preeclampsia. *Pregnancy Hypertens.* 6, 327–332. doi: 10.1016/j.preghy.2016. 07.002
- Geller, S. E., Ahmed, S., Brown, M. L., Cox, S. M., Rosenberg, D., and Kilpatrick, S. J. (2004). International classification of diseases-9th revision coding for preeclampsia: how accurate is it? *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 190, 1629–1633. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2004.03.061
- González-Comadran, M., Urresta Avila, J., Saavedra Tascón, A., Jimenéz, R., Solà, I., Brassesco, M., et al. (2014). The impact of donor insemination on the risk of preeclampsia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Reprod. Biol.* 182, 160–166. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2014.09.022
- Hackmon, R., Pinnaduwage, L., Zhang, J., Lye, S. J., Geraghty, D. E., and Dunk, C. E. (2017). Definitive class I human leukocyte antigen expression in gestational placentation: HLA-F, HLA-E, HLA-C, and HLA-G in extravillous trophoblast invasion on placentation, pregnancy, and parturition. *Am. J. Reprod. Immunol.* 77:e12643. doi: 10.1111/aji.12643
- Hoy, J., Venn, A., Halliday, J., Kovacs, G., and Waalwyk, K. (1999). Perinatal and obstetric outcomes of donor insemination using cryopreserved semen in Victoria. Aust. Hum. Reprod. 14, 1760–1764. doi: 10.1093/humrep/14.7. 1760
- Hylenius, S., Andersen, A. M., Melbye, M., and Hviid, T. V. (2004). Association between HLA-G genotype and risk of pre-eclampsia: a case-control study using family triads. *Mol. Hum. Reprod.* 10, 237–246. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gah035
- Ikedife, D. (1980). Eclampsia in multipara. Br. Med. J. 280, 985–986. doi: 10.1136/ bmj.280.6219.985-a
- Kenny, L. C., and Kell, D. B. (2018). Immunological tolerance, pregnancy, and preeclampsia: the roles of semen microbes and the father. *Front. Med.* 4:239. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2017.00239
- Kilpatrick, D. C., Liston, W. A., Jazwinska, E. C., and Smart, G. E. (1987). Histocompatibility studies in pre-eclampsia. *Tissue Antigens* 29, 232–236. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-0039.1987.tb01582.x
- Klonoff-Cohen, H. S., Savitz, D. A., Cefalo, R. C., and McCann, M. F. (1989). An epidemiologic study of contraception and preeclampsia. *JAMA* 262, 3143–3147. doi: 10.1001/jama.1989.03430220066032
- Koelman, C. A., Coumans, A. B., Nijman, H. W., Doxiadis, I. I., Dekker, G. A., and Claas, F. H. (2000). Correlation between oral sex and a low incidence of preeclampsia: a role for soluble HLA in seminal fluid? *J. Reprod. Immunol.* 46, 155–166. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0378(99)00062-5
- Kyrou, D., Kolibianakis, E. M., Devroey, P., and Fatemi, H. M. (2010). Is the use of donor sperm associated with a higher incidence of preeclampsia in women who achieve pregnancy after intrauterine insemination? *Fertil. Steril.* 93, 1124–1127. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2008.12.021

- Li, D. K., and Wi, S. (2000). Changing paternity and the risk of preeclampsia/eclampsia in the subsequent pregnancy. Am. J. Epidemiol. 151, 57–62. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a010122
- Lie, R. T. (2007). Intergenerational exchange and perinatal risks: a note on interpretation of generational recurrence risks. *Paediatr. Perinat. Epidemiol.* 21, 13–18. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3016.2007.00832.x
- Lie, R. T., Rasmussen, S., Brunborg, H., Gjessing, H. K., Lie-Nielsen, E., and Irgens, L. M. (1998). Fetal and maternal contributions to risk of pre-eclampsia: population based study. *BMJ* 316, 1343–1347. doi: 10.1136/bmj.316.7141. 1343
- Luo, Z. C., Julien, P., Wei, S. Q., Audibert, F., Fraser, W. D., and Maternal and Infant Research on Oxidative Stress (MIROS) study group (2018). Association of. (pre)-eclampsia with SOD2 Ala16Val polymorphism among mother-fatherinfant triads. *Int. J. Gynaecol. Obstet.* 142, 221–227. doi: 10.1002/ijgo.12528
- Marti, J. J., and Herrmann, U. (1977). Immunogestosis: a new etiologic concept of "essential" EPH gestosis, with special consideration of the primigravid patient; preliminary report of a clinical study. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 128, 489–493. doi: 10.1016/0002-9378(77)90030-8
- Mills, J. L., Klebanoff, M. A., Graubard, B. I., Carey, J. C., and Berendes, H. W. (1991). Barrier contraceptive methods and preeclampsia. *JAMA* 265, 70–73. doi: 10.1001/jama.1991.03460010070033
- Need, J. A. (1975). Pre-eclampsia in pregnancies by different fathers: immunological studies. Br. Med. J. 1, 548–549. doi: 10.1136/bmj.1.5957.548
- Need, J. A., Bell, B., Meffin, E., and Jones, W. R. (1983). Pre-eclampsia in pregnancies from donor inseminations. J. Reprod. Immunol. 5, 329–338. doi: 10.1016/0165-0378(83)90242-5
- Ness, R. B., Markovic, N., Harger, G., and Day, R. (2004). Barrier methods, length of preconception intercourse, and preeclampsia. *Hypertens. Pregnancy* 23, 227–235. doi: 10.1081/PRG-200030293
- Nevalainen, J., Ignatius, J., Savolainen, E. R., Ryynanen, M., and Jarvenpaa, J. (2018). Placenta-mediated pregnancy complications are not associated with fetal or paternal factor V Leiden mutation. *Eur. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Reprod. Biol.* 230, 32–35. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2018.09.016
- Nevo, O., Soleymanlou, N., Wu, Y., Xu, J., Kingdom, J., Many, A., et al. (2006). Increased expression of sFlt-1 in in vivo and in vitro models of human placental hypoxia is mediated by HIF-1. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 291, R1085–R1093. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00794.2005
- NHBPEP (2000). Report of the national high blood pressure education program working group on high blood pressure in pregnancy. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 183, S1–S22. doi: 10.1067/mob.2000.107928
- Osungbade, K. O., and Ige, O. K. (2011). Public health perspectives of preeclampsia in developing countries: implication for health system strengthening. *J. Pregnancy* 2011:481095. doi: 10.1155/2011/481095
- Pabalan, N., Jarjanazi, H., Sun, C., and Iversen, A. C. (2015). Meta-analysis of the human leukocyte antigen-G (HLA-G) 14 bp insertion/deletion polymorphism as a risk factor for preeclampsia. *Tissue Antigens* 86, 186–194. doi: 10.1111/tan. 12627
- Pappa, K. I., Roubelakis, M., Vlachos, G., Marinopoulos, S., Zissou, A., Anagnou, N. P., et al. (2011). Variable effects of maternal and paternal-fetal contribution to the risk for preeclampsia combining GSTP1, eNOS, and LPL gene polymorphisms. J. Matern. Fetal Neonatal Med. 24, 628–635. doi: 10.3109/ 14767058.2010.511351
- Peralta Pedrero, M. L., Guzmán Ibarra, M. L., Basavilvazo Rodríguez, M. A., Sánchez Ambríz, S., Cruz Avelar, A., Lemus Rocha, R., et al. (2006). Elaboración y validación de un índice para el diagnóstico de preeclampsia. *Ginecol. Obstet. Mex.* 74, 205–214.
- Pipkin, F. B. (2001). Risk factors for preeclampsia. N. Engl. J. Med. 344, 925–926. doi: 10.1056/NEJM200103223441209
- Redman, C. W., and Sargent, I. L. (2010). Immunology of pre-eclampsia. Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 63, 534–543. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2010.00831.x
- Reuvekamp, A., Velsing-Aarts, F. V., Poulina, I. E., Capello, J. J., and Duits, A. J. (1999). Selective deficit of angiogenic growth factors characterises pregnancies complicated by pre-eclampsia. *Br. J. Obstet. Gynaecol.* 106, 1019–1022. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.1999.tb08107.x
- Roberts, J. M., and Hubel, C. A. (2009). The two stage model of pre-eclampsia: variations on the theme. *Placenta* 30(Suppl. A), S32–S37. doi: 10.1016/j. placenta.2008.11.009

- Robertson, S. A., Bromfield, J. J., and Tremellen, K. P. (2003). Seminal 'priming' for protection from pre-eclampsia-a unifying hypothesis. J. Reprod. Immunol. 59, 253–265. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0378(03)00052-4
- Robillard, P. Y., and Hulsey, T. C. (1996). Association of pregnancyinduced-hypertension, pre-eclampsia, and eclampsia with duration of sexual cohabitation before conception. *Lancet* 347:619. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(96) 91315-X
- Robillard, P. Y., Hulsey, T. C., Alexander, G. R., Keenan, A., de Caunes, F., and Papiernik, E. (1993). Paternity patterns and risk of preeclampsia in the last pregnancy in multiparae. J. Reprod. Immunol. 24, 1–12. doi: 10.1016/0165-0378(93)90032-D
- Robillard, P. Y., Hulsey, T. C., Périanin, J., Janky, E., Miri, E. H., and Papiernik, E. (1994). Association of pregnancy-induced hypertension with duration of sexual cohabitation before conception. *Lancet* 344, 973–975. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(94)91638-1
- Saftlas, A. F., Rubenstein, L., Prater, K., Harland, K. K., Field, E., and Triche, E. W. (2014). Cumulative exposure to paternal seminal fluid prior to conception and subsequent risk of preeclampsia. *J. Reprod. Immunol.* 10, 104–110. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2013.07.006
- Saito, S., Sakai, M., Sasaki, Y., Nakashima, A., and Shiozaki, A. (2007). Inadequate tolerance induction may induce preeclampsia. J. Reprod. Immunol. 76, 30–39. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2007.08.002
- Salha, O., Sharma, V., Dada, T., Nugent, D., Rutherford, A. J., Tomlinson, A. J., et al. (1999). The influence of donated gametes on the incidence of hypertensive disorders of pregnancy. *Hum. Reprod.* 14, 2268–2273. doi: 10.1093/humrep/14. 9.2268
- Sandrim, V. C., Palei, A. C., Metzger, I. F., Gomes, V. A., Cavalli, R. C., and Tanus-Santos, J. E. (2008). Nitric oxide formation is inversely related to serum levels of antiangiogenic factors soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1 and soluble endogline in preeclampsia. *Hypertension* 52, 402–407. doi: 10.1161/ HYPERTENSIONAHA.108.115006
- Sharkey, A. M., Gardner, L., Hiby, S., Farrell, L., Apps, R., Masters, L., et al. (2008). Killer Ig-like receptor expression in uterine NK cells is biased toward recognition of HLA-C and alters with gestational age. *J. Immunol.* 181, 39–46. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.1.39
- Skjaerven, R., Vatten, L. J., Wilcox, A. J., Rønning, T., Irgens, L. M., and Lie, R. T. (2005). Recurrence of pre-eclampsia across generations: exploring fetal and maternal genetic components in a population-based cohort. *BMJ* 331:877. doi: 10.1136/bmj.38555.462685.8F
- Smith, G. N., Walker, M., Tessier, J. L., and Millar, K. G. (1997). Increased incidence of preeclampsia in women conceiving by intrauterine insemination with donor versus partner sperm for treatment of primary infertility. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 177, 455–458. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9378(97)70215-1
- Stone, P., Cook, D., Hutton, J., Purdie, G., Murray, H., and Harcourt, L. (1995). Measurements of blood pressure, oedema and proteinuria in a pregnant population of New Zealand. Aust. N. Z. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. 35, 32–37. doi: 10.1111/j.1479-828X.1995.tb01826.x
- Takimoto, E., Ishida, J., Sugiyama, F., Horiguchi, H., Murakami, K., and Fukamizu, A. (1996). Hypertension induced in pregnant mice by placental renin and maternal angiotensinogen. *Science* 274, 995–998. doi: 10.1126/ science.274.5289.995
- Tan, C. Y., Ho, J. F., Chong, Y. S., Loganath, A., Chan, Y. H., and Ravichandran, J. (2008). Paternal contribution of HLA-G*0106 significantly increases risk for pre-eclampsia in multigravid pregnancies. *Mol. Hum. Reprod.* 14, 317–324. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gan013
- van Dijk, M., Drewlo, S., and Oudejans, C. B. (2010). Differential methylation of STOX1 in human placenta. *Epigenetics* 5, 736–742. doi: 10.4161/epi.5.8.13084
- van Dijk, M., and Oudejans, C. B. (2011). STOX1: key player in trophoblast dysfunction underlying early onset preeclampsia with growth retardation. *J. Pregnancy* 2011:521826. doi: 10.1155/2011/521826
- Vefring, H., Lie, R. T., ØDegård, R., Mansoor, M. A., and Nilsen, S. T. (2004). Maternal and fetal variants of genetic thrombophilias and the risk of preeclampsia. *Epidemiology* 15, 317–322. doi: 10.1097/01.ede.0000112217. 33111.23
- Wallis, A. B., Saftlas, A. F., Hsia, J., and Atrash, H. K. (2008). Secular trends in the rates of pre-eclampsia, eclampsia, and gestational hypertension, United States, 1987–2004. Am. J. Hypertens. 21, 521–526. doi: 10.1038/ajh.2008.20

- Wikström, A. K., Gunnarsdóttir, J., and Cnattingius, S. (2012). The paternal role in pre-eclampsia and giving birth to a small for gestational age infant; a population-based cohort study. *BMJ Open* 2:e001178. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2012-001178
- Yoneda, N., Shiozaki, A., Miura, K., Yonezawa, R., Takemura, K., Yoneda, S., et al. (2013). A triploid partial mole placenta from paternal isodisomy with a diploid fetus derived from one sperm and one oocyte may have caused angiogenic imbalance leading to preeclampsia-like symptoms at 19 weeks of gestation. *Placenta* 34, 631–634. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2013. 03.015
- Zhang, Z., Li, Y., Zhang, L. L., Jia, L. T., and Yang, X. Q. (2012). Association of 14 bp insertion/deletion polymorphism of the HLA-G gene in father with severe preeclampsia in Chinese. *Tissue Antigens* 80, 158–164. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-0039. 2012.01907.x
- Zhou, A., Dekker, G. A., Lumbers, E. R., Lee, S. Y., Thompson, S. D., McCowan, L. M., et al. (2013). The association of AGTR2 polymorphisms with preeclampsia and uterine artery bilateral notching is modulated

by maternal BMI. *Placenta* 34, 75-81. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2012. 10.007

Zusterzeel, P. L., Morsche, R., Raijmakers, M. T., Roes, E. M., Peters, W. H., and Steegers, E. A. (2002). Paternal contribution to the risk for pre-eclampsia. *J. Med. Genet.* 39, 44–45. doi: 10.1136/jmg.39.1.44

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Galaviz-Hernandez, Sosa-Macias, Teran, Garcia-Ortiz and Lazalde-Ramos. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Obesity and Preeclampsia: Common Pathophysiological Mechanisms

Patricio Lopez-Jaramillo^{1,2,3*}, Juan Barajas¹, Sandra M. Rueda-Quijano¹, Cristina Lopez-Lopez⁴ and Camilo Felix³

¹ Clinic of Metabolic Syndrome, Prediabetes, and Diabetes, Research Department, FOSCAL, Floridablanca, Colombia, ² Masira Institute, Medical School, Universidad de Santander, Bucaramanga, Colombia, ³ Facultad de Ciencias de la Salud Eugenio Espejo, Universidad Tecnologica Equinoccial, Quito, Ecuador, ⁴ Obstetric Department, FOSCAL, Floridablanca, Colombia

Preeclampsia is a disorder specific of the human being that appears after 20 weeks of pregnancy, characterized by new onset of hypertension and proteinuria. Abnormal placentation and reduced placental perfusion associated to impaired trophoblast invasion and alteration in the compliance of uterine spiral arteries are the early pathological findings that are present before the clinical manifestations of preeclampsia. Later on, the endothelial and vascular dysfunction responsible of the characteristic vasoconstriction of preeclampsia appear. Different nutritional risk factors such as a maternal deficit in the intake of calcium, protein, vitamins and essential fatty acids, have been shown to play a role in the genesis of preeclampsia, but also an excess of weight gain during pregnancy or a pre-pregnancy state of obesity and overweight, which are associated to hyperinsulinism, insulin resistance and maternal systemic inflammation, are proposed as one of the mechanism that conduce to endothelial dysfunction, hypertension, proteinuria, thrombotic responses, multi-organ damage, and high maternal mortality and morbidity. Moreover, it has been demonstrated that pregnant women that suffer preeclampsia will have an increased risk of future cardiovascular disease and related mortality in their later life. In this article we will discuss the results of studies performed in different populations that have shown an interrelationship between obesity and overweight with the presence of preeclampsia. Moreover, we will review some of the common mechanisms that explain this interrelationship, particularly the alterations in the L-arginine/nitric oxide pathway as a crucial mechanism that is common to obesity, preeclampsia and cardiovascular diseases.

Keywords: preeclampsia, obesity, endothelial dysfunction, nitric oxide, cardiovascular risk

INTRODUCTION

Obesity is considered a risk factor for preeclampsia and there are many common mechanisms that link obesity with a higher risk of developing preeclampsia (Spradley et al., 2015). Moreover, preeclampsia, similar to obesity, is associated with an increased risk of future cardiovascular diseases for the mother (Bellamy et al., 2007). Preeclampsia is a specific disease of the human being characterized by hypertension, edema of extremities, and proteinuria occurring after 20 weeks of gestation. It affects many organ systems and leads to high maternal mortality and morbidity worldwide (Lopez-Jaramillo et al., 2009).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Carlos Alonso Escudero, University of the Bío Bío, Chile

Reviewed by:

Nora Alicia Martínez, Instituto de Fisiología y Biofísica Bernardo Houssay (CONICET), Argentina Philip Aaronson, King's College London, United Kingdom

*Correspondence:

Patricio Lopez-Jaramillo jplopezj@gmail.com; investigaciones.foscal@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Vascular Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 27 July 2018 Accepted: 06 December 2018 Published: 19 December 2018

Citation:

Lopez-Jaramillo P, Barajas J, Rueda-Quijano SM, Lopez-Lopez C and Felix C (2018) Obesity and Preeclampsia: Common Pathophysiological Mechanisms. Front. Physiol. 9:1838. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01838

42

Hypertensive disorders are amongst the most common disorders that affect pregnant women and are major contributors to maternal deaths. In a systematic review conducted by the World Health Organization (WHO), 16% of maternal deaths in developed countries were attributed to hypertensive disorders, 9% in the regions of Africa and Asia, and as high as 25% in Latin America and the Caribbean (Khan et al., 2006). The WHO-review named hypertensive disorders during pregnancy the leading cause of maternal deaths in industrialized countries, responsible for 16% of maternal deaths. Regionally, hypertensive disorders are responsible of 25,000 maternal deaths in Africa, 22,000 in Asia, 3,800 in Latin America and the Caribbean, and 150 maternal deaths in industrialized countries (Khan et al., 2006). The two disorders most associated with hypertension during pregnancy are eclampsia and preeclampsia. Preeclampsia can be characterized by hypertension, proteinuria, edema of extremities, persistent severe headaches, visual disturbances, sudden onset of swelling of hands and feet, and hyperreflexia, amongst many more. It affects coagulation, the renal, respiratory, and central nervous system and can have detrimental consequences on the placenta and the baby (Duley, 2009). Most maternal hypertensive deaths are attributed to eclampsia as opposed to preeclampsia. Eclampsia occurs when preeclampsia goes untreated and the hypertensive mothers experience seizures. It is estimated that hypertensive disorders complicate 5-10% of all pregnancies and preeclampsia arises in 2-8% of them, although it is difficult to gather accurate data on the prevalence of preeclampsia worldwide because of differences in the definitions and in the symptoms that are used as diagnostic criteria (Khan et al., 2006). However, there are important variatons in the prevalence of preeclampsia between lower middle-income countries and high-income countries. For instance, preeclampsia is diagnosed in 3% of all pregnancies in the United States (Wallis et al., 2008), and 3.3% in New Zealand (Stone et al., 1995) while in Colombia it is present in 9% and in Haiti in 17% (Lopez-Jaramillo et al., 2005, 2007). In the United States, from 1987 to 2004 the average annual incidence rate of preeclampsia and gestational hypertension were 2.7 and 2.1% (Wallis et al., 2008). In the same 18-year period, the rate of preeclampsia and gestational hypertension has increased significantly. From 1987-1988 to 2003-2004, the age-adjusted rate of preeclampsia rose by 24.6%. Meanwhile, the rates for gestational hypertension increased by almost threefold from 1.07 to 3.6%. The rate for eclampsia during the same time decreased by 22% from 1.04 in 1987-1995 to 0.82 in 1996-2004, although this change was not significant. The risk of developing preeclampsia is highest amongst women <20 years of age, but women ≥35 years of age also have an increased risk of developing preeclampsia (Wallis et al., 2008).

Although the terminology and methods for classifying and diagnosing the hypertensive disorders of pregnancy differ from country to country and region to region, some common risk factors have been identified. These risk factors include, maternal age, pre-pregnancy overweight and obesity, sedentarism, insulin resistance and diabetes, subclinical infections and inflammation, and nutritional deficiencies during pregnancy as low intake of calcium and essential fatty acids (Lopez-Jaramillo et al., 1989; Lopez-Jaramillo et al., 1990b, 1997, 2005, 2008b, 2011; Lopez-Jaramillo, 1996; Otto et al., 1997, 1999; Herrera et al., 2001, 2005, 2006, 2007; Teran et al., 2001; Catov et al., 2007; García et al., 2007; Sierra-Laguado et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2008; Ramírez-Vélez et al., 2011; World Health Organization [WHO], 2011; Reyes et al., 2012,a,b).

OBESITY, PREECLAMPSIA AND CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASES

The relationship between preeclampsia and obesity has been greatly studied. Similar to how the trend of preeclampsia has increased over the past 25 years, obesity prevalence has also been on the uprise. Over the past 30 years, the percentage of overweight or obese women in the US has increased by 60% (Wang et al., 2008). The WHO estimates that the female prevalence of overweight and obesity is 77% in the United States, 73% in Mexico, 69% in South Africa, 37% in France, 32% in China and 18% in India, with a wide variation within each continent (World Health Organization [WHO], 2011). Numerous studies have shown that obesity is associated with many complications during pregnancy, including fetal overgrowth, fetal malformations, spontaneous miscarriage, gestational diabetes, thromboembolic complications, stillbirth, preterm deliveries, cesarean section, and hypertensive complications (Yogev and Catalano, 2009). A strong direct correlation was found between an increasing body mass index (BMI) and the risk of developing preeclampsia and pregnancy induced hypertension (Fernández Alba et al., 2018). The adjusted risk of developing preeclampsia doubled for overweight mothers with a BMI of 26 kg/m², and almost tripled for obese mothers with a BMI of 30 kg/m² (Bodnar et al., 2005). The increased risk was found to affect not only Caucasian and African American mothers (Bodnar et al., 2007), but also mother from other ethnics around the world (Hauger et al., 2008). Not only were the early or mild forms of preeclampsia found to augment with a raise in the BMI, but also the late and severe forms, which are associated with greater perinatal morbidity and mortality (Catov et al., 2007). Further contributing to the relationship between preeclampsia and obesity, a study found that weight loss reduces the risk of developing preeclampsia (Magdaleno et al., 2012). Despite the fact that weight loss is not recommended during pregnancy, studies have found that excessive maternal weight gain is correlated with an increased risk of preeclampsia (Fortner et al., 2009), thus weight loss is recommended in women with obesity or overweight that are planning to be pregnant (Yogev and Catalano, 2009).

THE MECHANISMS LINKING OBESITY AND PREECLAMPSIA

Metabolic Factors: Hyperinsulinemia and Insulin Resistance in Preeclampsia

Many different mechanisms have been proposed as explanations of the physiopathology of preeclampsia, at a point that it is called the "disease of the theories" (Widmer et al., 2007). **Table 1** shows some of the characteristics that are common to obesity and preeclampsia.

The initial phase in the development of preeclampsia is an altered invasion of the cytotrophoblast cells of fetal origin into the uterus and the spiral arterioles, situation that results in a decreased remodeling of these arterioles with a consequent lower blood flow to the placenta (Soma et al., 1982). The placenta in hypoxic conditions releases different substances into the maternal circulation, these include anti-angiogenic soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase 1 (sFlt-1) factors, and pro-inflammatory factors like tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) (Reyes et al., 2012), which are associated to maternal endothelial dysfunction (Roberts K.A. et al., 2011). As we have demonstrated, these factors are increased in the plasma of preeclamptic women (Teran et al., 2001; Reyes et al., 2012). This sequence of alterations is one of the proposed mechanisms linking obesity to the risk of preeclampsia (Kao et al., 2016), clinical and experimental evidence suggests that obesity may affect placental function and perfusion, through some of the metabolic alterations that are associated to obesity as hyperlipidemia, hyperinsulinemia, or hyperleptinemia; however, the exact mechanisms are not well-known (Hunkapiller et al., 2011). These metabolic markers are known to be elevated in plasma of obese pregnant women and even higher in women with preeclampsia. Moreover, it has been reported that the levels of total serum cholesterol in the first and second trimesters of gestation predict the onset of preeclampsia (Dey et al., 2013), and we have reported a lipid profile alterations consisting of increased levels of low-density lipoproteins (LDLs), low highdensity lipoproteins levels (HDLs), and increased levels of triglycerides in women with preeclampsia (Lopez-Jaramillo et al., 1998; Reyes et al., 2012a,b). It has been reported that LDL reduces extravillous cytotrophoblast migration and promotes trophoblast apoptosis (Pavan et al., 2004). Also, high levels of triglycerides and free fatty acids, which are increased in obesity, increase the risk of preeclampsia and are elevated in preeclampsia (Hubel et al., 1996). These two conditions are known to stimulate the nuclear receptor peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- γ (PPAR- γ). PPAR- γ expression is increased in placentas from preeclamptic pregnancies, and increased levels of this receptor

TABLE 1 | Common characteristics of obesity and preeclampsia.

Characteristic	Obesity	Preeclampsia
Hyperinsulinism	++	++
Insulin resistance	++	++
Leptin	++	++
Adiponectin		(+-)?
TNF-α*	++	++
IL-6*	++	++
hs-CRP*	++	++
Lipid profile alterations	++	++
\downarrow Flow mediated vasodilatation	++	++

*TNF-α, tumor necrosis factor alpha; IL-6, interleukin 6; hs-CRP, high sensitivity C-reactive protein (CRP). inhibit the invasiveness of trophoblast cells (Fabbrini et al., 2009; Holdsworth-Carson et al., 2010).

One of the most important characteristics of obesity is insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia, and we have shown that hyperinsulinemia and insulin resistance precede the clinic manifestation of preeclampsia (Sierra-Laguado et al., 2007). Experimental studies showed that hyperinsulinemia produces a shallower implantation site and an intrauterine growth restriction associated with an altered nitric oxide (NO) synthesis (Skarzinski et al., 2009). Moreover, the group of Granger and colleagues, reported that increasing insulin levels toward the end of pregnancy raises blood pressure in rats (Palei et al., 2013). Took together, these clinical and experimental data support the view of the crucial role played by insulin resistance as one of the common mechanisms linking obesity to preeclampsia (López-Jaramillo et al., 2006; Sierra-Laguado et al., 2007).

Role of Adiponectin, Leptin, and Proinflammatory Cytokines in Preeclampsia

We have determinated the levels of cytokines that are produced in the adipose tissue in patients with diseases as metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes mellitus, showing that plasma adiponectin levels are decreased, while proinflammatory cytokines as TNF- α and interleukin-6 (IL-6) are elevated, developing a proinflammatory state characterized by insulin resistance and endothelial dysfunction (Teran et al., 2001; Gómez-Arbeláez et al., 2013; Lopez-Jaramillo et al., 2014; Lopez-Jaramillo, 2016). In patients with severe coronary artery disease, in who we quantify a number of dysmetabolic and inflammatory markers and test of endothelial dysfunction, it was observed that the only differences between patients with and without abdominal obesity was a decrease in plasma concentrations of adiponectin and an increase in leptin plasma levels present in patients with abdominal obesity. Moreover, when we evaluated the vascular reactivity ex vivo in rings of the internal mammary artery, we observed a low vascular response to acetylcholine and a high vasoconstriction reaction to angiotensin II (Rueda-Clausen et al., 2010). Leptin and adiponectin are both produced by adipocytes, however, while adiponectin has an anti-inflammatory activity by down-regulating the expression and release of proinflammatory cytokines, leptin has a pro-inflammatory activity. Moreover, adiponectin acts improving the sensibility to insulin but in contrast leptin increases the resistance to the action of insulin. These results suggest that in obese people the increased production of leptin and the decreased production of adiponectin are associated with the systemic low-degree inflammation and insulin resistance, observed in preeclampsia, type 2 diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular diseases, explaining the increased risk of developing these diseases present in people with obesity, particularly abdominal obesity.

In support of this proposal, it has been reported that pregnant obese women that develop preeclampsia have increased leptin levels in relation to healthy pregnant women (Hendler et al., 2005). Also, it has been described that leptin reduces cytotrophoblast proliferation (Liu et al., 2009), and as discussed

above, an early alteration observed in preeclampsia is a poor cytotrophoblast proliferation, migration, and invasiveness of these cells into the uterus, it has been suggested that hyperleptinemia may play a role in placental ischemia and the consequent development of preeclampsia (Spradley et al., 2015), as shown by Mendieta Zerón et al. (2012). It was reported that chronic plasmatic leptin elevations in pregnant rats, increased blood pressure and placental factors that have a role in preeclampsia (Palei et al., 2015). Elevations in circulating leptin are associated to increased circulating levels of TNF- α in obese pregnant rats (Palei et al., 2015), and we have shown that women with preeclampsia have increased levels of TNF-α, IL-6 and C-reactive protein (CRP) (Teran et al., 2001). Experimental and clinic reports have demonstrated that TNF- α is increased in response to placental ischemia and hypoxia (Benyo et al., 2001; Peltier et al., 2011). However, other sources must contribute to the increase of circulating levels of TNF- α during preeclampsia, as peripheral blood leukocytes (Chen et al., 1996). Moreover, TNF-a mRNA levels are greater in mononuclear cells from peripheral blood and placental macrophages withdrawn from obese pregnant women (Challier et al., 2008).

We have proposed that the systemic low-degree inflammation that is present in women with preeclampsia is associated to obesity and insulin resistance, and that this low-degree inflammation state is an important mechanism that alters the endothelial function, and that it is proposed as one of the basic mechanism that precede the clinical manifestation of the disease. This proposal is supported by the results of two nested case-control studies that included Colombian pregnant women with preclampsia, demonstrating increased levels of CRP and leukocytes, a state of insulin resistance established by the homeostatic model assessment (HOMA), and a decreased flowmediated vasodilation, as early as in the first trimester of gestation (García et al., 2007; Sierra-Laguado et al., 2007).

The results of studies that have explored the levels of plasma adiponectin in preeclampsia has been inconsistent, showing increased, decreased or not difference in relation to the observed in healthy pregnancies (Ramsay et al., 2003; Suwaki et al., 2006). Adiponectin activates the endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS); increasing the levels of the vasodilator NO (Zhu et al., 2008) and some cases of preeclampsia course with reduced levels of nitrite, the stable metabolite of NO (Lopez-Jaramillo et al., 2008a). In healthy pregnancies, a positive association between circulating adiponectin concentrations and nitrite levels has been reported, but in preeclampsia there are increased levels of adiponectin with reduced nitrite levels, suggesting that for some reason, not yet determinated, in preeclampsia adiponectin has no act in the eNOS (Eleuterio et al., 2013).

The Role of the Endothelial L-Arginine-Nitric Oxide Pathway in Obesity and Preeclampsia

Nitric oxide plays an important role in increasing blood flow by relaxing the smooth vascular muscle, it also reduces smooth muscle migration and growth, platelet aggregation and thrombosis, monocyte and macrophage adhesion, and inflammation (Caballero, 2003). Abdominal or central obesity leads to an imbalanced production of fat-derived metabolic products, hormones and adipokines that predispose to a state endothelial dysfunction (Accini et al., 2001). The different mechanisms by which obesity produces endothelial dysfunction have been studied and proven since some years ago by in vivo vascular function measurement in peripheral vessels of obese individuals (Toda and Okamura, 2013) showing that obesity reduces endothelium-dependent vasodilatation, eNOS protein expression and endothelial NO production, favoring a thicker media laver, enhancing vasoconstriction and drastically decreasing relaxation. Moreover, as discussed above, proinflammatory adipokines induces endothelial dysfunction. Recently, the Finnish Genetics of Pre-eclampsia Consortium (FINNPEC) cohort have confirmed the women that developed preeclampsia have increased pre-pregnancy BMI and altered inflammatory markers (Jääskeläinen et al., 2018). Leptin, another adipokine that is increased in obesity, induces activation of the NADPH oxidase, which impairs endothelium-dependent vasodilatation by increasing NO degradation (Fortuño et al., 2010). All this leads to a NO deficit which affects endothelial integrity and functioning, that by itself it is deleterious, but in association to pregnancy, where the endothelial function plays a fundamental role in the adequate remodeling of the uterine arteries, and in the hemodynamic adaptations, becomes determinant in the development of preeclampsia-eclampsia, diseases with a high rate of maternal and fetal morbidity and mortality (Witcher, 2018).

During a healthy pregnancy there is an increase of plasma volume, heart rate, cardiac output and on the activity of the renin-angiotensin system (Moutquin et al., 1985), however the blood pressure is lower or similar to the observed in a no pregnancy state, situation that is related with the characteristic increase in the peripheral vasodilation that is observed in the pregnant women (Lopez-Jaramillo, 1996). Nowadays there is evidence that demonstrate that this peripheral vasodilation is product of an increase in the production of NO and prostacyclin in vascular endothelial cells (Lopez-Jaramillo et al., 2008a; Félix et al., 1991). In addition, these substances suppress the leukocyte and platelet migration and adhesion to the vascular wall (Moncada et al., 1991). The NO synthases (NOSs) are a family of specialized enzymes that synthesize NO from the amino acid L-arginine. The endothelial NOS (eNOS) depends on NADPH and calcium (Moncada et al., 1991), and we have proven the critical role of concentrations of extracellular calcium in the production of endothelial NO and in the control of vascular tone via the activation of cGMP (Lopez-Jaramillo et al., 1990a) Importantly, eNOS is expressed in the human placental syncytiotrophoblasts and in the extravillous trophoblasts, suggesting that the production of NO in the placenta play an important role in the vascular adaptations that are necessary to guarantee a normal blood flow (Sladek et al., 1997). The reports showing that NO is inactivated by superoxide (O^{-2}) and that this free radical is increased in pregnancies complicated with subclinical infections or low degree inflammation, suggest that these risk factors for preeclampsia are associated to a lower activity of NO in response to an

Obesity and Preeclampsia

increase oxidative stress (Lopez-Jaramillo et al., 2008a). In reality, it is now well-accepted than the production of NO in the vascular endothelium of all vascular beds play an important role in the hemodynamic adaptations that are necessary to carry on a healthy pregnancy. On the other hand, a lower production and/or an increased inactivation of NO explain the generalized peripheral vasoconstriction, one of the most important characteristics of preeclampsia (Lopez-Jaramillo et al., 2008a). However, one of the problems to determinate the role of NO in pregnancy has been the methodological approaches to quantify the production and activity of NO. We and others groups have used the measurements of NO2/NO3 levels in plasma and serum of a small group of women with preeclampsia and compared them with the levels observed in unpregnant women and/or in women with healthy. These studies have used different methods to quantify NO₂/NO₃, and they have report elevated, decreased, or unchanged levels of NO₂/NO₃ in preeclamptic women in relation to controls (Lopez-Jaramillo et al., 2008a). Others reports measuring the levels of cGMP in plasma, urine, or platelets, demonstrated consistently that women with preeclampsia have lower levels of this mediator of the action of NO (Teran et al., 2004; Baksu et al., 2005; Lopez-Jaramillo et al., 2008a). A global analysis of these results suggests that some patients with preeclampsia have a decreased production of NO demonstrated by low levels of NO₂/NO₃ and cGMP, but in other cases there is a normal or increased production of NO, as demonstrated by the presence of similar or higher levels of NO₂/NO₃ in relation to women with healthy pregnancies, but in these cases they also presented with a decreased bioactivity of NO, demonstrated by the low levels of cGMP (Lopez-Jaramillo et al., 1996). Importantly, to support the role of NO in pregnancy, there are the consistent results reporting that low mediated dilation in women with healthy pregnancies have a higher vasodilation response to hyperemia that the one observed in women with preeclampsia, even before clinical manifestations appeared (Lopez-Jaramillo et al., 2008a). The analysis of the different reports of the L-arginine-NO pathway led us to the conclusion that in face of the multicausality of this disease, there are different mechanisms that can explain the alterations in the activity of the NO (Lopez-Jaramillo, 2000; Lopez-Jaramillo et al., 2001b). For instance, we understand that in the cases of preeclampsia with low NO production (low NO2/NO3 levels) the alterations are related with a deficiency in the substrate L-arginine, a deficit in the cofactors that are needed for a normal activity of the eNOS, such as ionic calcium and BH4, build-up of the endogenous inhibitor of eNOS, the asymmetric dimethylarginine (ADMA), or by the presence of polymorphic alterations of the eNOS that result in a lower enzymatic activity (Serrano et al., 2004; Lopez-Jaramillo et al., 2008a). In the cases of preeclampsia that courses with normal or high production of NO but with a decreased NO bioactivity, there exists an increased inactivation of NO by an increased oxidative stress (Lopez-Jaramillo et al., 2008a) associated with the presence of antibodies antireceptors AT1 of angiotensin II, early abnormal placentation with placental ischemia and hypoxia, insulin resistance, subclinical infections, and overweight and obesity (Herrera et al., 2001; Herrera et al., 2007; Lopez-Jaramillo et al., 2008a). In any case, both

alterations of NO explain the endothelial dysfunction observed in preeclampsia.

The presence of overweight and obesity before pregnancy, and an excessive weight gain during gestation, are causes of endothelial dysfunction and preeclampsia as demonstrated by Pardo et al reported that women with a gestational weight gain superior to 0.42 kg per week, had markers of a reduced eNOS activity and vasorelaxation in the rings of isolated umbilical veins (Pardo et al., 2015).

Role of Endothelin in the Pathophysiology of Preeclampsia

Other studies have proposed a role for endothelin (ET-1) in preeclampsia. ET-1 is a 21 amino acid active oligopeptide derived from a bigger precursor known as preproendothelin. This active peptide is a powerful vasoconstrictor that acts binding to the endothelin type A (ET_A) receptor, located in vascular smooth muscle cells. Increased levels of ET-1 have been reported in women with preeclampsia, compared to the levels observed in a healthy pregnancy (Rust et al., 1997). Moreover, it looks like there is a correlation between the levels of ET-1 and the severity of the disease (Nova et al., 1991). It has been proposed that the reduced NO production that occurs in the placenta in conditions of hypoxia increases the production of ET-1. Some experimental evidences support this proposal, for instance it was reported that the administration of L-arginine reduces the levels of renal cortical preproET-1 mRNA expression in pregnant rats infused with sFlt-1 (Spradley et al., 2015). This result supports the view that NO regulates the synthesis of ET-1 in the kidney, and that when the production NO is decreased by an ischemic placenta, the synthesis of ET-1 increases with the consequent vasoconstrictor and hypertensive effects. Moreover, it has been reported that overweight and obese people with endothelial dysfunction have enhanced levels of ET-1 (Weil et al., 2011), and that an ET_A receptor antagonist attenuated the hypertension observed in a experimental model of rats with obesity induced by a high fat diet, that also had increased leptin levels (da Silva et al., 2004). However, in the review of Spradley et al. (2015) they found only indirect evidence that ET-1 is higher in obese preeclamptic women.

Genetic and Epigenetic Factors Associated to Obesity and Preeclampsia

Obesity and preeclampsia are diseases that result from multiple genetic and environmental factors (Spradley et al., 2015). These two conditions share many pathophysiological mechanisms, however, only 10% of obese women will develop preeclampsia (Roberts J.M. et al., 2011). As reviewed above, the women that develop preeclampsia have different metabolic alterations that precede the appearance of clinical symptoms and that are associated with lifestyles and socio-economic status (Lopez-Jaramillo et al., 2005). We have proposed that the participation of the well-known risk factors for preeclampsia is different depending of the ethnicity and the socio-economic conditions of a specific community. The socio-economic status of communities and of individuals is determining t nutritional habits and the type and quality of the health system (World Health Organization [WHO], 1988; Lopez-Jaramillo et al., 2008a).

In the last decades, the population from low and medium incomes countries is experimenting important lifestyle changes as a result of a rapid and messy urbanization characterized by an increase in the intake of processed carbohydrates and a reduction of physical activity, conditions that have increased the prevalence of obesity and insulin resistance (Lopez-Jaramillo et al., 2001a). Moreover, ethnic differences have been reported in the prevalence of insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome (Ford et al., 2002), differences that could be associated to genetic factors or socioeconomic and environmental conditions. Regardless of the cause, the relationship between insulin resistance and preeclampsia is stronger in low and medium income countries. To support this proposal the Prospective Urban and Rural Epidemiology (PURE) study have demonstrated a higher prevalence of diabetes mellitus type 2 in people with lower BMI coming from low and medium income countries compared to the prevalence found in people from high-income countries (Dagenais et al., 2016).

The existence of a role of genetic factors is demonstrated by the observation that despite of the improvement of the environmental and socio-economic factors, there is still a percentage of women that develop preeclampsia. Moreover, there is evidence showing an association between preeclampsia and polymorphisms or mutations of genes related to hypertension (Ward et al., 1993; Grandone et al., 1997; Sohda et al., 1997; Kupferminc et al., 1999; Ford et al., 2002). However, it looks like environmental and socio-economic factors have a protagonic role. For instance, various studies originated in Europe have demonstrated that pregnant women with preeclampsia have increased levels of ADMA, which are associated with endothelial dysfunction (Fickling et al., 1993; Holden et al., 1998;



FIGURE 1 Mechanisms linking obesity to preeclampsia. Insulin resistance that results of pre-pregnancy obesity or by an excessive weight gain during gestation is associated with a reduced cytotrophoblast migration and uterine spiral artery remodeling, which in turn conduce to placental hypoxia and ischemia. In this condition the placenta release of soluble anti-angiogenic factors and inflammatory factors into the maternal circulation promoting the endothelial dysfunction, which is characterized by a decrease in the endothelial production of nitric oxide and an increase in the oxidative stress, that results in the characteristic symptoms of preeclampsia: hypertension, proteinuria, and edema.

Ellis et al., 2001; Savvidou et al., 2003). Early in our research, we showed no difference in ADMA plasma levels between a small sample of Andean women: 22 unpregnant women, 22 women with a normal pregnancy and 22 pre-eclmaptic women (Lopez-Jaramillo et al., 1996). This result was later confirmed in a study (Maas et al., 2004) that included a bigger sample of Colombian women (67 women with preeclampsia and 93 healthy controls). We have proposed some possible explanations for this unexpected finding, to finally conclude that the probable reason is that the excess of the other risk factors present in our population is more important than ADMA plasma levels in the development of preeclampsia, situation that differs from that observed in the European population, where risk factors such as nutritional deficiencies do not exist and others as subclinical infections are detected and treated early in pregnancy. In this way of reasoning it is possible that endothelial dysfunction is mainly related to nutritional deficiencies, subclinical infections, and metabolic disorders in women with preeclampsia from developing countries, while genetic and immunological alterations seem to be the principal determinants for the development of preeclampsia in developed countries (López-Jaramillo et al., 2006).

The Figure 1 resumes the proposed mechanisms that we believe are participating in the development of preeclampsia.

REFERENCES

- Accini, L., Sotomayor, A., Trujillo, F., Barrera, J. G., Bautista, L., and López-Jaramillo, P. (2001). Colombian Study to Assess the Use of Noninvasive Determination of Endothelium-Mediated Vasodilatation (CANDEV). Normal values and factors associated. *Endothelium* 8, 157–166. doi: 10.3109/ 10623320109165324
- Baksu, B., Davas, I., Baksu, A., Akyol, A., and Gulbaba, G. (2005). Plasma nitric oxide, endothelin-1 and urinary nitric oxide and cyclic guanosine monophosphate levels in hypertensive pregnant women. *Int. J. Gynaecol. Obstet.* 90, 112–117. doi: 10.1016/j.ijgo.2005.04.018
- Bellamy, L., Casas, J. P., Hingorani, A. D., and Williams, D. J. (2007). Pre-eclampsia and risk of cardiovascular disease and cancer in later life: systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ* 335:974. doi: 10.1136/bmj.39335.385301.BE
- Benyo, D. F., Smarason, A., Redman, C. W., Sims, C., and Conrad, K. P. (2001). Expression of inflammatory cytokines in placentas from women with preeclampsia. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 86, 2505–2512. doi: 10.1210/jcem.86. 6.7585
- Bodnar, L. M., Catov, J. M., Klebanoff, M. A., Ness, R. B., and Roberts, J. M. (2007). Prepregnancy body mass index and the occurrence of severe hypertensive disorders of pregnancy. *Epidemiology* 18, 234–239. doi: 10.1097/ 01.ede.0000254119.99660.e7
- Bodnar, L. M., Ness, R. B., Markovic, N., and Roberts, J. M. (2005). The risk of preeclampsia rises with increasing prepregnancy body mass index. Ann. *Epidemiol.* 15, 475–482. doi: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2004.12.008
- Caballero, A. E. (2003). Endothelial dysfunction in obesity and insulin resistance: a road to diabetes and heart disease. *Obes. Res.* 11, 1278–1289. doi: 10.1038/oby. 2003.174
- Catov, J. M., Ness, R. B., Kip, K. E., and Olsen, J. (2007). Risk of early or severe pre-eclampsia related to pre-existing conditions. *Int. J. Epidemiol.* 36, 412–419. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyl271
- Challier, J. C., Basu, S., Bintein, T., Minium, J., Hotmire, K., Catalano, P. M., et al. (2008). Obesity in pregnancy stimulates macrophage accumulation and inflammation in the placenta. *Placenta* 29, 274–281. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta. 2007.12.010

The evidence reviewed in this article demonstrate that the process initiate with placental alterations. A decline in cytotrophoblast migration and remodeling of the uterine spiral artery conduce to placental ischemia. In this condition, soluble anti-angiogenic and inflammatory factors are released from the placenta into the maternal circulation, these factors affect the endothelial function, a critical event that conduce to the clinical manifestations of preeclampsia.

CONCLUSION

Since in medium and low-income countries the prevalence of obesity is increasing, and by the fact that preeclampsia is a major cause of maternal and perinatal morbidity and mortality in these countries, it is of crucial importance to understand how obesity impacts the pathogenesis of preeclampsia.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PL-J reviewed and approved the final version. All the authors have made a substantial contribution to this manuscript and participated in the literature review, design and redaction of the manuscript.

- Chen, G., Wilson, R., Wang, S. H., Zheng, H. Z., Walker, J. J., and McKillop, J. H. (1996). Tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-alpha) gene polymorphism and expression in pre-eclampsia. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 104, 154–159. doi: 10.1046/ j.1365-2249.1996.d01-647.x
- da Silva, A. A., Kuo, J. J., Tallam, L. S., and Hall, J. E. (2004). Role of endothelin-1 in blood pressure regulation in a rat model of visceral obesity and hypertension. *Hypertension* 43, 383–387. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000111139.94378.74
- Dagenais, G. R., Gerstein, H. C., Zhang, X., McQueen, M., Lear, S., Lopez-Jaramillo, P., et al. (2016). Variations in diabetes prevalence in low-, middle-, and high-income countries: results from the prospective urban and rural epidemiology study. *Diabetes Care* 39, 780–787. doi: 10.2337/dc15-2338
- Dey, M., Arora, D., Narayan, N., and Kumar, R. (2013). Serum cholesterol and ceruloplasmin levels in second trimester can predict development of preeclampsia. N. Am. J. Med. Sci. 5, 41–46. doi: 10.4103/1947-2714.106198
- Duley, L. (2009). The global impact of pre-eclampsia and eclampsia. Semin. Perinatol. 33, 130–137. doi: 10.1053/j.semperi.2009.02.010
- Eleuterio, N. M., Palei, A. C., Rangel Machado, J. S., Tanus-Santos, J. E., Cavalli, R. C., and Sandrim, V. C. (2013). Relationship between adiponectin and nitrite in healthy and preeclampsia pregnancies. *Clin. Chim. Acta* 423, 112–115. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2013.04.02
- Ellis, J., Wennerholm, U. B., Bengtsson, A., Lilja, H., Pettersson, A., Sultan, B., et al. (2001). Levels of dimethylarginines and cytokines in mild and severe preeclampsia. Acta Obstet. Gynecol. Scand. 80, 602–608. doi: 10.1080/j.1600-0412.2001.800703.x
- Fabbrini, E., deHaseth, D., Deivanayagam, S., Mohammed, B. S., Vitola, B. E., and Klein, S. (2009). Alterations in fatty acid kinetics in obese adolescents with increased intrahepatic triglyceride content. *Obesity* 17, 25–29. doi: 10.1038/oby. 2008.494
- Félix, C., Lopez, A., Delgado, F., Amores, E., Narváez, M., and Lopez-Jaramillo, P. (1991). Vascular prostacyclin production in Andean women with pregnancyinduced hypertension. *Braz. J. Med. Biol. Res.* 24, 59–62.
- Fernández Alba, J. J., Mesa Páez, C., Vilar Sánchez, Á, Soto Pazos, E., González Macías, M. D. C., Serrano Negro, E., et al. (2018). Overweight and obesity at risk factors for hypertensive states of pregnancy: a retrospective cohort study. *Nutr. Hosp.* 35, 874–880. doi: 10.20960/nh.1702

- Fickling, S. A., Williams, D., Vallance, P., Nussey, S. S., and Whitley, G. S. (1993). Plasma concentrations of endogenous inhibitor of nitric oxide synthesis in normal pregnancy and pre-eclampsia. *Lancet* 342, 242–243. doi: 10.1016/0140-6736(93)92335-Q
- Ford, E. S., Giles, W. H., and Dietz, W. H. (2002). Prevalence of the metabolic syndrome among US adults: findings from the third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. JAMA 287, 356–359. doi: 10.1001/jama.287. 3.356
- Fortner, R. T., Pekow, P., Solomon, C. G., Markenson, G., and Chasan-Taber, L. (2009). Prepregnancy body mass index, gestational weight gain, and risk of hypertensive pregnancy among Latina women. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 200, e161–e167. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2008.08.021
- Fortuño, A., Bidegain, J., Baltanás, A., Moreno, M. U., Montero, L., Landecho, M. F., et al. (2010). Is leptin involved in phagocytic NADPH oxidase overactivity in obesity? Potential clinical implications. *J. Hypertens.* 29, 1944–1950. doi: 10.1097/HJH.0b013e32833c21af
- García, R. G., Celedón, J., Sierra-Laguado, J., Alarcón, M. A., Luengas, C., Silva, F., et al. (2007). Raised C-reactive protein and impaired flow-mediated vasodilation precede the development of preeclampsia. *Am. J. Hypetens.* 20, 98–103. doi: 10.1016/j.amjhyper.2006.06.001
- Gómez-Arbeláez, D., Lahera, V., Oubiña, P., Valero-Muñoz, M., de La Heras, N., Rodríguez, Y., et al. (2013). Aged garlic extract improves adiponectin levels in subjects with metabolic syndrome: a double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized, crossover study. *Mediators Inflamm*. 2013:285795. doi: 10.1155/ 2013/285795
- Grandone, E., Margaglione, M., Colaizzo, D., Cappucci, G., Paladimi, D., Martinelli, P., et al. (1997). Factor V Leiden, C > T MTHFR polymorphism and genetic susceptibility to preeclampsia. *Thromb. Haemost.* 77, 1052–1054. doi: 10.1055/s-0038-1656110
- Hauger, M. S., Gibbons, L., Vik, T., and Belizán, J. M. (2008). Prepregnancy weight status and the risk of adverse pregnancy outcome. *Acta Obstet. Gynecol. Scand.* 87, 953–959. doi: 10.1080/00016340802303349
- Hendler, I., Blackwell, S. C., Mehta, S. H., Whitty, J. E., Russell, E., Sorokin, Y., et al. (2005). The levels of leptin, adiponectin, and resistin in normal weight, overweight, and obese pregnant women with and without preeclampsia. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 193, 979–983. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2005.06.041
- Herrera, J. A., Arévalo-Herrera, M., Shahabuddin, A. K. M., Ersheng, G., Herrera, S., Garcia, R. G., et al. (2006). Calcium and conjugated linoleic acid reduces pregnancy-induced hypertension and decreases intracellular calcium in lymphocytes. *Am. J. Hypertens.* 19, 381–387. doi: 10.1016/j.amjhyper.2005. 11.004
- Herrera, J. A., Chaudhuri, G., and Lopez-Jaramillo, P. (2001). Is infection a major risk factor for preeclampsia? *Med. Hypotheses* 57, 393–397. doi: 10.1054/mehy. 2001.1378
- Herrera, J. A., Parra, B., Herrera, E., Botero, J. E., Arce, R. M., Contreras, A., et al. (2007). Periodontal disease severity is related to high levels of C-reactive protein in pre-eclampsia. *J. Hypertens.* 25, 1459–1464. doi: 10.1097/HJH. 0b013e3281139ea9
- Herrera, J. A., Shahabuddin, A. K. M., Ersheng, G., Wei, Y., Garcia, R. G., and Lopez-Jaramillo, P. (2005). Calcium and linoleic acid therapy for pregnancyinduced hypertension. *Int. J. Gynaecol. Obstet.* 91, 221–227. doi: 10.1016/j.ijgo. 2005.08.018
- Holden, D. P., Fickling, S. A., Whitley, G. S., and Nussey, S. S. (1998). Plasma concentrations of asymmetric dimethylarginine, a natural inhibitor of nitric oxide synthase, in normal pregnancy and preeclampsia. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 178, 551–556. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9378(98)70437-5
- Holdsworth-Carson, S. J., Lim, R., Mitton, A., Whitehead, C., Rice, G. E., Permezel, M., et al. (2010). Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors are altered in pathologies of the human placenta: gestational diabetes mellitus, intrauterine growth restriction and preeclampsia. *Placenta* 31, 222–229. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2009
- Hubel, C. A., McLaughlin, M. K., Evans, R. W., Hauth, B. A., Sims, C. J., and Roberts, J. M. (1996). Fasting serum triglycerides, free fatty acids, and malondialdehyde are increased in preeclampsia, are positively correlated, and decrease within 48 hours post partum. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 174, 975–982. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9378(96)70336-8
- Hunkapiller, N. M., Gasperowicz, M., Kapidzic, M., Plaks, V., Maltepe, E., Kitajewski, J., et al. (2011). A role for Notch signaling in trophoblast

endovascular invasion and in the pathogenesis of pre-eclampsia. *Development* 138, 2987–2998. doi: 10.1242/dev.066589

- Jääskeläinen, T., Heinonen, S., Hämäläinen, E., Pulkki, K., Romppanen, J., and Laivuori, H. (2018). Impact of obesity on angiogenic and inflammatory markers in the Finnish Genetics of Pre-eclampsia Consortium (FINNPEC) cohort. *Int. J. Obes.* doi: 10.1038/s41366-018-0217-8 [Epub ahead of print].
- Kao, C. K., Morton, J. S., Quon, A. L., Reyes, L. M., Lopez-Jaramillo, P., and Davidge, S. T. (2016). Mechanism of vascular dysfunction due to circulating factors in women with preeclampsia. *Clin. Sci.* 130, 539–549. doi: 10.1042/ CS20150678
- Khan, K. S., Wojdyla, D., Say, L., Gulmezoglu, A. M., and Van Look, P. F. (2006). WHO analysis of causes of maternal death: a systematic review. *Lancet* 367, 1066–1074. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06)68397-9
- Kupferminc, M. J., Eldor, A., Steinman, N., Many, A., Bar-Am, A., Jaffa, A., et al. (1999). Increased frequency of genetic thrombophilia in women with complications of pregnancy. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 340, 9–13. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199901073400102
- Liu, H., Wu, Y., Qiao, F., and Gong, X. (2009). Effect of leptin on cytotrophoblast proliferation and invasion. J. Huazhong. Univ. Sci. Technolog. Med. Sci. 29, 631–636. doi: 10.1007/s11596-009-0519-0
- Lopez-Jaramillo, P. (1996). Prevention of preeclampsia with calcium supplementation and its relation with the L-arginine:nitric oxide pathway. *Braz. J. Med. Biol. Res.* 29, 731–743.
- Lopez-Jaramillo, P. (2000). Calcium, nitric oxide and preeclampsia. *Sem. Perinatol.* 24, 33–36. doi: 10.1016/S0146-0005(00)80052-X
- Lopez-Jaramillo, P. (2016). The role of adiponectin in cardiometabolic diseases: effects of nutritional interventions. *J. Nutr.* 146, 422S–426S. doi: 10.3945/jn.114. 202432
- Lopez-Jaramillo, P., Casas, J. P., Bautista, L., Serrano, N. C., and Morillo, C. A. (2001a). An integrated proposal to explain the epidemia of cardiovascular disease in a developing country. From socioeconomic factors to free radicals. *Cardiology* 96, 1–6. doi: 10.1159/000047379
- Lopez-Jaramillo, P., Casas, J. P., and Serrano, N. (2001b). Preeclampsia: from epidemiological observations to molecular mechanisms. *Braz. J. Med. Biol. Res.* 34, 1227–1235. doi: 10.1590/S0100-879X2001001000001
- Lopez-Jaramillo, P., Delgado, F., Jácome, P., Terán, E., Ruano, C., and Rivera, J. (1997). Calcium supplementation reduces the risk of preeclampsia in ecuadorian pregnant teenagers. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 90, 162–167. doi: 10.1016/ S0029-7844(97)00254-8
- Lopez-Jaramillo, P., García, R., Reyes, L., and Ruiz, S. (2009). Appropriate prenatal care: the best way to prevent preeclampsia in Andean Countries. *Colomb. Med.* 40, 226–230.
- Lopez-Jaramillo, P., García, R. G., and Lopez, M. (2005). Preventing pregnancy induced hypertension: are there regional differences for this global problem? *J. Hypertens.* 23, 1121–1129. doi: 10.1097/01.hjh.0000170371.490 10.4a
- Lopez-Jaramillo, P., Gómez-Arbeláez, D., Lopez-Lopez, J., Lopez-Lopez, C., Martínez-Ortega, J., Gómez-Rodríguez, A., et al. (2014). The role of leptinadiponectin ratio in metabolic syndrome and diabetes. *Horm. Mol. Biol. Clin. Investig.* 18, 37–45. doi: 10.1515/hmbci-2013-0053
- López-Jaramillo, P., Silva, F., Camacho, P. A., Pradilla, L. P., García, R., Rueda-Clausen, C., et al. (2006). Síndrome metabólico y preeclampsia: los aportes realizados por el Instituto de Investigaciones de la Fundación Cardiovascular de Colombia. *Rev. Col. Cardiol.* 13, 73–78.
- Lopez-Jaramillo, P., Arenas, W. D., García, R. G., Rincon, M. Y., and Lopez, M. (2008a). The role of the L-arginine-nitric oxide pathway in preeclampsia. *Ther. Adv. Cardiovas. Dis.* 2, 261–275. doi: 10.1177/1753944708092277
- Lopez-Jaramillo, P., Gómez-Arbeláez, D., and Lopez-Lopez, J. (2011). Periodontal disease and hypertension: the pre-eclampsia model in Hispanic population. J. Hypertens. 29, 1020–1021. doi: 10.1097/HJH.0b013e328344b6e8
- Lopez-Jaramillo, P., Gonzalez, M. C., Palmer, R. M., and Moncada, S. (1990a). The crucial role of physiological Ca2+ concentrations in the production of endothelial nitric oxide and the control of vascular tone. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 101, 489–493. doi: 10.1111/j.1476-5381.1990.tb12735.x
- Lopez-Jaramillo, P., Herrera, J. A., Arenas-Mantilla, M., Jáuregui, I. E., and Mendoza, M. A. (2008b). Subclinical infection as a cause of inflammation in preeclampsia. Am. J. Ther. 15, 373–376. doi: 10.1097/MJT.0b013e31816 4c149

- Lopez-Jaramillo, P., Narváez, M., Calle, A., Rivera, J., Jácome, P., Ruano, C., et al. (1996). Cyclic guanosine 3',5' monophosphate concentrations in preeclampsia: effects of hydralazine. Br. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. 103, 33–38. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.1996.tb09512.x
- Lopez-Jaramillo, P., Narvaez, M., Felix, C., and Lopez, A. (1990b). Dietary calcium supplementation and prevention of pregnancy hypertension. *Lancet* 335:293. doi: 10.1016/0140-6736(90)90112-1
- Lopez-Jaramillo, P., Narváez, M., Wetgel, R. M., and Yépez, R. (1989). Calcium supplementation reduces the risk of pregnancy induced hypertension in an Andean population. *Br. J. Obstet. Gynaecol.* 96, 648–655. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.1989.tb03278.x
- Lopez-Jaramillo, P., Pradilla, L. P., Castillo, V. R., and Lahera, V. (2007). Socioeconomical pathology as determinant of regional differences in the prevalence of metabolic syndrome and pregnancy-induced hypertension. *Rev. Esp. Cardiol.* 60, 168–178. doi: 10.1016/S1885-5857(07)60129-7
- Lopez-Jaramillo, P., Terán, E., Ringqvist, A., Moya, W., Rivera, J., and Berrazueta, J. R. (1998). Oxidised low-density lipoproteins and nitric oxide during normal pregnancy and preeclampsia. *Portland Press* 15:322.
- Maas, R., Böger, R. H., Schwedhelm, E., Casas, J. P., Lopez-Jaramillo, P., Serrano, N., et al. (2004). Plasma concentrations of Asymmetric Dimethylarginine (ADMA) in Colombian women with pre-eclampsia. *JAMA* 291, 823–824. doi: 10.1001/jama.291.7.823
- Magdaleno, R. Jr., Pereira, B. G., Chaim, E. A., and Turato, E. R. (2012). Pregnancy after bariatric surgery: a current view of maternal, obstetrical and perinatal challenges. Arch. Gynecol. Obstet. 285, 559–566. doi: 10.1007/s00404-011-2 187-0
- Mendieta Zerón, H., García Solorio, V. J., Nava Díaz, P. M., Garduño Alanís, A., Santillán Benítez, J. G., Domínguez García, V., et al. (2012). Hyperleptinemia as a prognostic factor for preeclampsia: a cohort study. *Acta Med.* 55, 165–171. doi: 10.14712/18059694.2015.41
- Moncada, S., Higgs, E. A., Hodson, H. F., Knowles, R. G., Lopez-Jaramillo, P., McCall, T., et al. (1991). The L-arginine: nitric oxide pathway. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 17, s1–s9. doi: 10.1097/00005344-199117003-00002
- Moutquin, J. M., Rainville, C., Giroux, L., Raynauld, P., Amyot, G., Bilodeau, R., et al. (1985). A prospective study of blood pressure in pregnancy:prediction of preeclampsia. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 151, 191–196. doi: 10.1016/0002-9378(85) 90010-9
- Nova, A., Sibai, B. M., Barton, J. R., Mercer, B. M., and Mitchell, M. D. (1991). Maternal plasma level of endothelin is increased in preeclampsia. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 165, 724–727. doi: 10.1016/0002-9378(91)90317-K
- Otto, S. J., van Houwelingen, A. C., Antal, M., Manninen, A., Godfrey, K., Lopez-Jaramillo, P., et al. (1997). Maternal and neonatal essential fatty acid status: an international comparative study. *Eur. J. Clin. Nutr.* 51, 232–242. doi: 10.1038/ sj.ejcn.1600390
- Otto, S. J., van Houwelingen, A. C., Lopez-Jaramillo, P., and Hornstra, G. (1999). Effects of pregnancy-induced hypertension on the essential fatty acid statuses of Ecuadorian and Dutch women. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 180, 1185–1190. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9378(99)70614-9
- Palei, A. C., Spradley, F. T., and Granger, J. P. (2013). Euglycemic hyperinsulinemia increases blood pressure in pregnant rats independent of placental antiangiogenic and inflammatory factors. *Am. J. Hypertens.* 26, 1445–1451. doi: 10.1093/ajh/hpt137
- Palei, A. C., Spradley, F. T., and Granger, J. P. (2015). Chronic hyperleptinemia results in the development of hypertension in pregnant rats. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 308, R855–R861. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00286.2014
- Pardo, F., Silva, L., Saéz, T., Salsoso, R., Gutiérrez, J., Sanhueza, C., et al. (2015). Human supraphysiological gestational weight gain and fetoplacental vascular dysfunction. *Int. J. Obes.* 39, 1264–1273. doi: 10.1038/ijo.20 15.57
- Pavan, L., Hermouet, A., Tsatsaris, V., Thérond, P., Sawamura, T., Evain-Brion, D., et al. (2004). Lipids from oxidized low-density lipoprotein modulate human trophoblast invasion: involvement of nuclear liver X receptors. *Endocrinology* 145, 4583–4591. doi: 10.1210/en.2003-1747
- Peltier, M. R., Gurzenda, E. M., Murthy, A., Chawala, K., Lerner, V., Kharode, I., et al. (2011). Can oxygen tension contribute to an abnormal placental cytokine milieu? *Am. J. Reprod. Immunol.* 66, 279–285. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2011. 00998.x

- Ramírez-Vélez, R., Aguilar de Plata, A. C., Escudero, M. M., Echeverry, I., Ortega, J. G., Salazar, B., et al. (2011). Influence of regular aerobic exercise on endothelium-dependent vasodilation and cardiorespiratory fitness in pregnant women. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. Res. 37, 1601–1608. doi: 10.1111/j.1447-0756.2011. 01582.x
- Ramsay, J. E., Jamieson, N., Greer, I. A., and Sattar, N. (2003). Paradoxical elevation in adiponectin concentrations in women with preeclampsia. *Hypertension* 42, 891–894. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000095981.92542.F6
- Reyes, L. M., García, R. G., Ruiz, S. L., Broadhurst, D., Aroca, G., Davidge, S. T., et al. (2012a). Angiogenic imbalance and plasma lipid alterations in women with preeclampsia from a developing country. *Growth Fact.* 30, 158–166. doi: 10.3109/08977194.2012.674035
- Reyes, L. M., García, R. G., Ruiz, S. L., Camacho, P. A., Ospina, M. B., Aroca, G., et al. (2012b). Risk factors for preeclampsia in women from Colombia: a case-control study. *PLoS One* 7:e41622. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0041622
- Reyes, L., Garcia, R., Ruiz, S., Dehghan, M., and Lopez-Jaramillo, P. (2012). Nutritional status among women with pre-eclampsia and healthy pregnant and not-pregnant women in Latin American country. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Res. 38, 498–504. doi: 10.1111/j.1447-0756.2011.01763.x
- Roberts, J. M., Bodnar, L. M., Patrick, T. E., and Powers, R. W. (2011). The role of obesity in preeclampsia. *Pregnancy Hypertens.* 1, 6–16. doi: 10.1016/j.preghy. 2010.10.013
- Roberts, K. A., Riley, S. C., Reynolds, R. M., Barr, S., Evans, M., Statham, A., et al. (2011). Placental structure and inflammation in pregnancies associated with obesity. *Placenta* 32, 247–254. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2010
- Rueda-Clausen, C. F., Lahera, V., Calderon, J., Bolivar, I. C., Castillo, V. R., Gutierrez, M., et al. (2010). The presence of abdominal obesity is associated with changes in vascular function independently of other cardiovascular risk factors. *Int. J. Cardiol.* 139, 32–41. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2008.09.005
- Rust, O. A., Bofill, J. A., Zappe, D. H., Hall, J. E., Burnett, J. C. Jr., and Martin, J. N. Jr. (1997). The origin of endothelin-1 in patients with severe preeclampsia. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 89, 754–757. doi: 10.1016/S0029-7844(97)00093-8
- Savvidou, M. D., Hingorani, A. D., Tsikas, D., Frölich, J. C., Vallance, P., and Nicolaides, K. H. (2003). Endothelial dysfunction and raised plasma concentrations of asymmetric dimethylarginine in pregnant women who subsequently develop pre-eclampsia. *Lancet* 361, 1511–1517. doi: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(03)13177-7
- Serrano, N. C., Casas, J. P., Díaz, L. A., Páez, C., Meza, C. M., Cifuentes, R., et al. (2004). Endothelial NO synthase genotype and risk of preeclampsia: a multicenter case-control study. *Hypertension* 44, 702–707. doi: 10.1161/01. HYP.0000143483.66701.ec
- Sierra-Laguado, J., García, R. G., Celedón, J., Arenas-Mantilla, M., Pradilla, L. P., Camacho, P. A., et al. (2007). Determination of insulin resistance using the homeostatic model assessment (HOMA) and its relation with the risk of developing pregnancy-induced hypertension. *Am. J. Hypertens.* 20, 437–442. doi: 10.1016/j.amjhyper.2006.10.009
- Skarzinski, G., Khamaisi, M., Bursztyn, M., Mekler, J., Lan, D., Evdokimov, P., et al. (2009). Intrauterine growth restriction and shallower implantation site in rats with maternal hyperinsulinemia are associated with altered NOS expression. *Placenta* 30, 898–906. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2009.07.014
- Sladek, S. M., Magness, R. R., and Conrad, K. P. (1997). Nitric oxide and pregnancy. *Am. J. Physiol.* 272, R441–R463. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.1997.272.2.R441
- Sohda, S., Arinami, T., Hamada, H., Yamada, N., Hamaguchi, H., and Kubo, T. (1997). Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase polymorphism and pre-eclampsia. *J. Med. Genet.* 34, 525–526. doi: 10.1136/jmg.34.6.525
- Soma, H., Yoshida, K., Mukaida, T., and Tabuchi, Y. (1982). Morphologic changes in the hypertensive placenta. *Contrib. Gynecol. Obstet.* 9, 58–75.
- Spradley, F. T., Palei, A. C., and Granger, J. P. (2015). Increased risk for the development of preeclampsia in obese pregnancies: weighing in on the mechanism. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 309, R1326–R1343. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00178.2015
- Stone, P., Cook, D., Hutton, J., Purdie, G., Murray, H., and Harcourt, L. (1995). Measurements of blood pressure, oedema and proteinuria in a pregnant population of New Zealand. Aust. N. Z. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. 35, 32–37. doi: 10.1111/j.1479-828X.1995.tb01826.x
- Suwaki, N., Masuyama, H., Nakatsukasa, H., Masumoto, A., Sumida, Y., Takamoto, N., et al. (2006). Hypoadiponectinemia and circulating angiogenic

factors in overweight patients complicated with pre-eclampsia. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 195, 1687–1692. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2006.04.003

- Teran, E., Escudero, C., Moya, W., Flores, M., Vallance, P., and Lopez-Jaramillo, P. (2001). Elevated C-reactive protein and pro-inflammatory cytokines in Andean women with pre-eclampsia. *Int. J. Gynaecol. Obstet.* 75, 243–249. doi: 10.1016/ S0020-7292(01)00499-4
- Teran, E., Escudero, C., Vivero, S., Enriquez, A., and Calle, A. (2004). Intraplatelet cyclic guanosine-3',5'-monophosphate levels during pregnancy and preeclampsia. *Hypertens. Pregnancy* 23, 303–308. doi: 10.1081/PRG-200030860
- Toda, N., and Okamura, T. (2013). Obesity impairs vasodilatation and blood flow. increase mediated by endothelial Nitric Oxide: an overview. *Clin. Pharmacol.* 53, 1228–1239. doi: 10.1002/jcph.179
- Wallis, A. B., Saftlas, A. F., Hsia, J., and Atrash, H. K. (2008). Secular trends in the rates of pre-eclampsia, eclampsia, and gestational hypertension, United States, 1987–2004. Am. J. Hypertens. 21, 521–526. doi: 10.1038/ajh.2008.20
- Wang, Y., Beydoun, M. A., Liang, L., Caballero, B., and Kumanyika, S. K. (2008).
 Will all Americans become overweight or obese? estimating the progression and cost of the US obesity epidemic. *Obesity* 16, 2323–2330. doi: 10.1038/oby.20 08.351
- Ward, K., Hata, A., Jeunemaitre, X., Helin, C., Nelson, L., Namikawa, C., et al. (1993). A molecular variant of angiotensinogen associated with preeclampsia. *Nat. Genet.* 4, 59–61. doi: 10.1038/ng0593-59
- Weil, B. R., Westby, C. M., Van Guilder, G. P., Greiner, J. J., Stauffer, B. L., and DeSouza, C. A. (2011). Enhanced endothelin-1 system activity with overweight and obesity. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 301, H689–H695. doi: 10.1152/ ajpheart.00206.2011
- Widmer, M., Villar, J., Benigni, A., Conde-Agudelo, A., Karumanchi, S. A., and Lindheimer, M. (2007). Mapping the theories of preeclampsia and the role

of angiogenic factors: a systematic review. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 109, 168–180. doi: 10.1097/01.AOG.0000249609.04831.7c

- Witcher, P. M. (2018). Preeclampsia: acute complications and management priorities. AACN Adv. Crit. Care 29, 316–326. doi: 10.4037/aacnacc20 18710
- World Health Organization [WHO] (1988). Geographic variation in the incidence of hypertension in pregnancy. World health organization international collaborative study of hypertensive disorders of pregnancy. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 158, 80–83.
- World Health Organization [WHO] (2011). Prevalence of obesity and overweight females > 15 years. Available at: https://www.who.int/gho/ncd/risk_factors/ overweight_obesity_adults/en/
- Yogev, Y., and Catalano, P. M. (2009). Pregnancy and obesity. Obstet. Gynecol. Clin. North Am. 36, 285–300. doi: 10.1016/j.ogc.2009.03.003
- Zhu, W., Cheng, K. K., Vanhoutte, P. M., Lam, K. S., and Xu, A. (2008). Vascular effects of adiponectin: molecular mechanisms and potential therapeutic intervention. *Clin. Sci.* 114, 361–374. doi: 10.1042/CS20070347

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Lopez-Jaramillo, Barajas, Rueda-Quijano, Lopez-Lopez and Felix. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Antioxidants and Oxidative Stress: Focus in Obese Pregnancies

Martin Alcala^{1,2}, Sebastián Gutierrez-Vega^{2,3}, Erica Castro^{2,4}, Enrique Guzman-Gutiérrez^{2,3}, Maria Pilar Ramos-Álvarez^{1,2} and Marta Viana^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry, Facultad de Farmacia, CEU San Pablo University – CEU Universities, Madrid, Spain, ² Red Iberoamericana de Alteraciones Vasculares Asociadas a TRastornos del EMbarazo (RIVA-TREM), Chillán, Chile, ³ Molecular Medicine Laboratory, School of Medical Technology, Faculty of Health Sciences, Universidad San Sebastián, Concepción, Chile, ⁴ Faculty of Medicine, Universidad San Sebastián, Concepción, Chile

The prevalence of obesity in women of childbearing age around the globe has dramatically increased in the last decades. Obesity is characterized by a low-state chronic inflammation, metabolism impairment and oxidative stress, among other pathological changes. Getting pregnant in this situation involves that gestation will occur in an unhealthy environment, that can potentially jeopardize both maternal and fetal health. In this review, we analyze the role of maternal obesity-induced oxidative stress as a risk factor to develop adverse outcomes during gestation, including reduced fertility, spontaneous abortion, teratogenesis, preeclampsia, and intrauterine growth restriction. Evidences of macromolecule oxidation increase in reactive oxygen species generation and antioxidant defense alterations are commonly described in maternal and fetal tissues. Thus, antioxidant supplementation become an interesting prophylactic and therapeutic tool, that yields positive results in cellular, and animal models. However, the results from most meta-analysis studying the effect of these therapies in complicated gestations in humans are not really encouraging. It is still to be analyzed whether these therapies could work if applied to cohorts of patients at a high risk, such as those with low concentration of antioxidants or obese pregnant women.

Keywords: fertility, preeclampsia, miscarriage, latin-America, teratogenesis, intrauterine growth restriction, oxidative stress

PREVALENCE OF OVERWEIGHT AND OBESITY AMONG WOMEN OF REPRODUCTIVE AGE

Prevalence of obesity in both developed and developing countries has increased among women over the last decades (Heslehurst et al., 2007; NCD Risk Factor Collaboration, 2016), including the prevalence in women of childbearing age, which has also raised dramatically worldwide (Nguyen et al., 2008; Menting et al., 2018; Schaefer-Graf et al., 2018), from 29.8% in 1980 to 38.0% in 2013 (Ng et al., 2014). Correa and Marcinkevage reported an average global prevalence of obesity in women of childbearing age ranging between 1% in Chad to 70.3% in Tonga (Correa and Marcinkevage, 2013).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Alicia E. Damiano, Universidad de Buenos Aires, Argentina

Reviewed by:

Natalia Szpilbarg, Instituto de Fisiología y Biofísica Bernardo Houssay (CONICET), Argentina Mariana Farina, CONICET Centro de Estudios Farmacológicos y Botánicos (CEFYBO), Argentina

*Correspondence:

Marta Viana mviana@ceu.es

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Vascular Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 11 July 2018 Accepted: 19 October 2018 Published: 06 November 2018

Citation:

Alcala M, Gutierrez-Vega S, Castro E, Guzman-Gutiérrez E, Ramos-Álvarez MP and Viana M (2018) Antioxidants and Oxidative Stress: Focus in Obese Pregnancies. Front. Physiol. 9:1569. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01569

52

Abbreviations: AGA, appropriate for gestational age; GSH, glutathione; GWG, gestational weight gain; IUGR, intrauterine growth restriction; LGA, large for gestational age; MDA, malondialdehyde; NAC, N-acetylcysteine; OR, odds ratio; OS, oxidative stress; PE, preeclampsia; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SGA, small for gestational age.

The available epidemiological data in Latin-American countries are dispersed, obtained from periodic national surveys in some cases, or from low-scale, punctual regional studies in others. As it is shown in the **Figure 1**, the highest prevalence of obesity in women of reproductive age was found in Mexico, while the lowest prevalence was found in Haiti.

The trend in the prevalence of obesity has become a matter of concern to preconception healthcare programs because prepregnancy obesity and excessive GWG is associated with an increased risk of adverse reproductive health outcomes (Dolin and Kominiarek, 2018; Most et al., 2018). Obesity reduces fertility and increases time taken to conceive (Poston et al., 2016). At the beginning of the gestation, obese pregnant women are more likely to have spontaneous and recurrent pregnancy loss (Chu et al., 2007). The rate of embryo malformations is also increased, showing mainly neural tube, and cardiac defects (Rasmussen et al., 2008). During mid-late gestation, obesity pregnancies have an increased risk for PE and gestational diabetes mellitus, both of which are associated with long-term morbidities post-partum (Milne et al., 2009; Poston et al., 2016). Obese women can also experience difficulties during labor and delivery. The chances of requiring a cesarean intervention in obese mothers double that of lean mothers, while the comorbidity (anesthetic complications, massive blood loss) reaches almost 34% of the gestations. For the newborn, there is a higher risk of LGA, macrosomia, shoulder dystocia and even obesity in childhood (Dennedy and Dunne, 2010; Nelson et al., 2010; Most et al., 2018).

Obesity is associated with a dysregulation in the metabolic balance comprising lipid metabolism, inflammatory or hormonal processes in addition to insulin resistance (Bozkurt et al., 2016). The pathogenesis of obesity is complex and includes metabolic and hormonal dysregulation, low-grade chronic inflammation and endoplasmic reticulum stress, among other processes that are closely interconnected. Several groups all over the world, including ourselves (Alcala et al., 2015), have focused our research in the role of oxidative stress as a central mechanism that may enhance the aforementioned conditions. In this context, we have shown how the use of antioxidants in long-term obesity reduces obesity-associated inflammation, insulin resistance and tissue fibrosis. In the following lines we will discuss the role of OS before, during and after gestation in the mother with pregestational obesity and in the offspring, reviewing the use of antioxidant therapies to ameliorate or prevent undesired negative outcomes.

OXIDATIVE STRESS

OS has been traditionally recognized as a key factor in the pathophysiology of numerous conditions, including cardiovascular and neurodegenerative diseases, cancer, diabetes, and obesity.

OS has been classically defined as an imbalance between ROS generation and its detoxification by antioxidant systems, in favor of the former. ROS are partially reduced, oxygen-containing metabolites (some of them are free radicals) that are generated because of normal cellular metabolism and environmental

factors. They are extremely reactive and have the potential to oxidize lipids, proteins and DNA. On the other side, enzymatic (superoxide dismutase, catalase, glutathione peroxidase) and non-enzymatic (vitamin C and E, glutathione) antioxidants neutralize the effect of highly reactive ROS by transforming them into less reactive species and eliminating oxidation by-products, protecting cells from oxidative damage.

However, ROS, at a physiological concentration, behave as second messengers in several signaling pathways that are critical for the normal cellular function. Several studies in the last 10 years have described how ROS can modify the redox state of key residues of proteins (Jones et al., 2004) regulating enzyme activity. They have been reported to participate in different signaling pathways (NF- κ B, PTP1b, ASK1, PTEN, REF1, p66hc, or IRP1) (Ray et al., 2012).

Adipose tissue has been proposed as the origin of obesityinduced OS, that is later transmitted to other tissues and may account for obesity-associated diseases such as hypertension, cardiovascular disease, or even cancer (Furukawa et al., 2004; Matsuda and Shimomura, 2013). Hyperglycemia, hyperleptinemia, endothelial dysfunction, hyperlipidemia and mitochondrial dysfunction are the main mechanisms that have been described to increase ROS-generation systems such as nitric oxide synthases (NOS) or NADPH oxidases (Savini et al., 2013). In the first stages of obesity, an upregulation of the antioxidant enzymes is observed to prevent oxidative damage, but as fat accumulates the antioxidant defense is overtaken, leading to OS (Alcala et al., 2015; Alcala et al., 2017).

In addition, oxidative stress has also been observed in healthy gestation. In the second trimester, there is a spike in oxygen supply and metabolic rate in placenta. If ROS levels are maintained under control, they regulate trophoblast proliferation, invasion and angiogenesis, required for a healthy pregnancy (Wu et al., 2015).

Thus, both obesity and gestation are characterized by an increased OS. When combined, OS is one of the proposed mechanisms involved in many reproductive and pregnancy disorders that may lead to adverse pregnancy outcomes (Malti et al., 2014).

OXIDATIVE STRESS, MATERNAL OBESITY AND PREGNANCY OUTCOMES

Fertility

Pre-existing obesity is an independent risk factor for anovulation, subfertility and infertility in women (Silvestris et al., 2018). Several studies show a positive correlation between maternal BMI and time-to-pregnancy (Gesink Law et al., 2007; Wise et al., 2010). It is estimated that for every unit of increase in the BMI, there is a 5% decrease in the probability of conception (van der Steeg et al., 2008). On the other hand, weight loss strategies may positively influence in fertility (Sim et al., 2014). A 10% of weight loss in overweight patients with infertility significantly improved conception and live birth rates (Kort et al., 2014).

The deleterious effect of obesity on reproduction is mainly driven by endocrine and metabolic alterations, which may



BOL, BRA, COL, ECU, ESV, GUA, HAI, HON, MEX, NIC, PER, and GUY obesity prevalence obtained from National Health Surveys and compilated in (Correa and Marcinkevage, 2013). VEN prevalence obtained from Instituto Nacional de Nutrición (2008–2010). CHI obesity prevalence obtained from Encuesta Nacional de Salud (ENS-2009) and reviewed in (Araya et al., 2014). PAN obesity prevalence obtained from cross-sectional studies (2010–2011) (Mc Donald et al., 2015). ARG obesity prevalence obtained from the European Health Interview Survey (EHIS 2014).

interfere with the neuroendocrine and ovarian function through a disruption in the hypothalamus-hypophysis-ovarian axis. The mechanisms underlying the defective endocrine program in obese women include metabolic alterations due to hyperinsulinemia, the effect of pro-inflammatory cytokines, endoplasmic reticulum stress, alterations in the mitochondria and OS (Silvestris et al., 2018).

In rodents, oocytes from dams fed on high fat diet showed abnormal mitochondrial morphology and increased activity, resulting in increased ROS production and GSH reduction (Igosheva et al., 2010) leading to meiosis failure (Han et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2018). Circulating markers of OS are also elevated in women with polycystic ovary syndrome, with a remarkable 50% decline in GSH concentration. In fact, GSH seems to be a critical player in both male and female fertility. The lack of the enzyme that catalyzes the rate-limiting step in GSH synthesis, the glutamate cysteine ligase, in female mice dramatically reduced preimplantation development (Nakamura et al., 2011; Lim et al., 2015). The use of antioxidants to improve fertility in obese patients is still a matter of debate. A recent meta-analysis concludes that there is low-quality evidence of a beneficial effect of antioxidants to increase fertility (Showell et al., 2017). However, this report fails to independently analyze a cohort of women with pregestational obesity, where the oxidative insult may arise from the combination of two situations that are, independently, associated to oxidative stress. In this situation, the use of antioxidants such as resveratrol in preclinical studies using rodent models (Ghowsi et al., 2018; Jia et al., 2018), or in randomized control trials in humans using Mg and Zn (Afshar Ebrahimi et al., 2017) or NAC (Nasr, 2010; Maged et al., 2015) improved overall reproductive outcome.

Miscarriage and Obesity

Overweight and obese pregnant women present a higher risk of pregnancy loss and recurrent miscarriage compared to normal weight gestations (OR vary from 1.31 to 1.67) (Metwally et al., 2008; Boots and Stephenson, 2011). There is an even higher risk for obese women of recurrent early miscarriage in spontaneous conception (OR: R: 3.51; 95% CI, 1.03–12.01) and miscarriage after ovulation induction (OR: 5.11; 95% CI, 1.76–14.83).

Recent results suggest a reduced regenerative capacity and plasticity of the endometrium in obese pregnant women (Murakami et al., 2013), factors that may predispose for pregnancy loss (Lucas et al., 2016).

Another key step for a successful pregnancy is a proper maternal-fetal exchange. From week 8 to 12 of gestation there is a peak in placental pO_2 when the maternal blood enters the placenta. This signal triggers the transcription of antioxidant genes (catalase, glutathione peroxidase, and superoxide dismutase) to overcome the prooxidant environment (Jauniaux et al., 2000). In obese pregnancies, together with a pre-established oxidative situation (Catalano and Shankar, 2017), there is a dysregulation of immune cells within the endometrium, characterized by a reduced presence of the antiinflammatory Treg lymphocytes and an increase of natural killer lymphocytes (Quenby et al., 2009). This promotes early angiogenesis, increasing placental pO2 prior to the establishment of a mature antioxidant system, depleting non-enzymatic antioxidants such as GSH and vitamin E (Hansen and Harris, 2013). Several authors have described an increase in OS markers in placenta from early and recurring pregnancy loss and suggested that increased ROS generation may be caused by premature establishment of maternal placental perfusion, which has been correlated with a higher risk of miscarriage (Miller et al., 2000; Burton and Jauniaux, 2004; Yiyenoglu et al., 2014).

However, current meta-analyses have shown no beneficial effect of the administration of vitamins (alone or in combination) prior to pregnancy or during the early stages of pregnancy (Balogun et al., 2016). Given the importance of GSH metabolism to fully develop a successful pregnancy, more studies should be carried out to evaluate the potential of NAC (a GSH precursor) to prevent obesity-related miscarriage. So far, the supplementation with NAC to women with recurrent unexplained pregnancy loss significantly increased the rate of living pregnancies beyond 20 weeks and the take-home baby rate (Amin et al., 2008).

Malformation

Congenital anomalies are the end-products of aberrant organogenesis in utero during the first trimester of gestation. A meta-analysis in 2009 revealed that newborns from obese mothers are at increased risk of severe congenital malformations, including neural tube defects and cardiovascular anomalies (Stothard et al., 2009). Results from a cohort including more than 1.2 million deliveries, showed that liveborn singletons from mothers with a BMI > 40 kg/m² almost double the risk of suffering major congenital malformations in the nervous system compared to the offspring of normal weight mothers (Persson et al., 2017).

The mechanisms involved in obesity-mediated teratogenesis are still unrevealed. Traditionally, the fuel-mediated teratogenesis hypothesis claims that exposing the embryo to an excessive amount of nutrients, mainly glucose and ketone bodies, may promote embryo malformations, inappropriate organ development and metabolic disturbances in the youth (Freinkel, 1980; Catalano, 2010; Plagemann and Harder, 2011).

OS, common feature in maternal obesity (Gallardo et al., 2015), has been suggested as a potential mechanism in the teratogenesis induced by diabetes (Viana et al., 1996) or chemical teratogens such alcohol, cocaine, valproate, or thalidomide (Hansen and Harris, 2013).

In addition to a direct effect on DNA damaging and repair (Wells et al., 2010), at a molecular level, OS has been shown to inhibit *Pax3* upregulation during early embryogenesis in a murine embryonic stem cell model (Wu et al., 2012). *Pax3* is a transcription factor required for neural tube development. As a result, cardiac neural crest and neuroepithelial cells undergo apoptosis by a process dependent on the p53 tumor suppressor protein (Wang et al., 2011). The supplementation with GSH and vitamin E has proven to be effective in the upregulation of Pax3 expression after an oxidative insult (Wu et al., 2012).

To the best of our knowledge, there is not any clinical trial, to test the potential protective effects of antioxidant supplementation in pre-gestational obese women. However, using retrospective, survey-based studies, a reduction in antioxidant consumption has been linked to increase odds of limb and neural tube defects in obese pregnant women (Chandler et al., 2012; Pace et al., 2018).

Preeclampsia and Cardiovascular Alterations

PE is a severe disease characterized by the presence of hypertension and proteinuria during the second and third trimester of gestation (Steegers et al., 2010). PE affects approximately 2–8% of all pregnancies (Ghosh et al., 2014) and is associated with substantially higher maternal and fetal morbidity and mortality worldwide, especially in Latin American countries where PE is one of the leading causes of maternal and fetal mortality (Giachini et al., 2017).

PE women exhibit at least a twofold increased risk of stroke, while risk of death due to ischemic heart disease is eight times higher when PE occurs before 34 weeks of gestation (Deanfield et al., 2005). Indeed, the American Heart Association has included PE as a risk factor for future cardiovascular disease (Bushnell et al., 2014).

Obesity has been listed as a major risk factor for PE (Marchi et al., 2015), together with higher waist circumference, blood pressure, insulin, proinsulin, glucose, C-reactive protein and triglycerides levels, and lower HDL cholesterol (Mongraw-Chaffin et al., 2010; Sliwa and Bohm, 2014).

The current well-accepted pathophysiology of PE involves a two-stage model: first, an incomplete remodeling of the spiral arteries communicating maternal and placental blood flow through a defective trophoblast invasion. This leads to the second stage, where the ischemia-reperfusion cycles triggers the release of harmful molecules including ROS, cytokines, antiangiogenic proteins, cell fragments, microparticles, and extracellular vesicles (Redman and Sargent, 2000, 2005; Tannetta et al., 2013; Hod et al., 2015). These elements may reach the maternal circulation and



appears during gestation. The effects and the evidences of oxidative stress in obesity-complicated pregnancies are here summarized. IUGR, intrauterine growth retardation; SGA, small for gestational age; ROS, reactive oxygen species; MDA, malondialdehyde. Artwork was obtained from Servier Medical Art, licensed under a Creative Common Attribution 3.0 Generic License. http://smart.servier.com/.

are thought to be the causative factors of endothelial dysfunction (Roberts and Escudero, 2012).

OS, common in obesity, appears to be the central component of both placental and endothelial dysfunction (Aouache et al., 2018). Pregestational obesity modifies the arterial architecture in placenta (Avagliano et al., 2012) and its contraction/relaxation capacity, being more susceptible to maternal OS (Saker et al., 2008). In addition, obese placenta presents an increased generation of mitochondrial ROS caused by a defective respiratory chain (Hastie and Lappas, 2014), that has been linked to placental angiodysplasia (Ishii et al., 2014). The following episodes of hypoxia/reoxygenation induce the activity of the xanthine oxidase, an important source of superoxide (Hung et al., 2002).

Oxidative damage in the placenta leads to inflammation, apoptosis and the release of cellular debris into maternal circulation, along with several anti-angiogenic factors, cytokines and oxidants (MDA, isoprostanes) concomitant with a reduced antioxidant capacity (Atamer et al., 2005). These placentalderived factors act on the maternal vascular endothelium, inducing more OS and stimulating the production and secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines, as well as vasoactive compounds. This results in a massive systemic endothelial dysfunction characterized by vascular inflammation and constriction (Goulopoulou and Davidge, 2015).

Preclinical experiments in cellular and animal models reported beneficial effects of antioxidants reducing maternal blood pressure and improving endothelial function (Chang et al., 2005; Roes et al., 2006; McCarthy and Kenny, 2016). However, meta-analysis from clinical trials in humans did not support the use of antioxidant therapy to reduce the risk of PE (Rumbold et al., 2008, 2015; Roberts et al., 2010). It is important to notice that none of these reviews stratify the population according to the BMI, so the effect of antioxidants on PE women with a preexisting oxidative situation has not been studied yet.

Intrauterine Growth Restriction and Obesity

An adequate transport of O_2 and nutrients in the motherplacenta-fetus circuit is mandatory for the normal development of gestation. An excess in the nutrient supply from obese mothers (Rosario et al., 2015) has been strongly associated with alterations in fetal growth (Yu et al., 2013), increasing the risk of delivering LGA (Bove et al., 2014). Strikingly, epidemiological studies have also noticed that SGA deliveries are also more frequent among overweight and obese women (Radulescu et al., 2013). It is still to be confirmed whether pregestational BMI or GWG have more impact on fetal growth (Crane et al., 2009). In any case, both pregnancy outcomes, SGA and LGA, have an increased risk of suffering perinatal complications, including stillbirth (Yao et al., 2017) and complications later in life.

LGA newborns are the result of an increased flux of oxygen and nutrients together with placental overgrowth (Gaccioli et al., 2013), with a feature gene expression and more OS than those AGA (Saker et al., 2008). Even several years after delivery, in a prepubertal age, LGA children present more OS and insulin resistance than AGA (Chiavaroli et al., 2009).

On the other hand, IUGR in obesity is partly caused by a defective oxygen and nutrient supply to the placenta, which resembles the pathological basis of PE (Srinivas et al., 2009). However, not every case of IUGR can be explained by preexisting PE, so the presence of divergent molecular mechanisms has been proposed by some authors (Villar et al., 2006).

Nonetheless, OS is present in both conditions and may have a critical impact on the development of the disease. In fact, an increase in oxidative markers (MDA, isoprostanes, protein carbonyls) has been found in placenta, maternal and chord plasma (Longini et al., 2005; Biri et al., 2007; Zadrozna et al., 2009; Mert et al., 2012; Negro et al., 2017) of IUGR-complicated pregnancies, with and without PE. Enzymatic antioxidant defenses are also upregulated, as an increase in superoxide dismutase or glutathione peroxidase activities have been previously described. However, non-enzymatic antioxidants, such as GSH, vitamin E and C contents are depleted (Biri et al., 2007; Rajasingam et al., 2009; Zadrozna et al., 2009; Mert et al., 2012), reflecting an OS situation.

To our knowledge, there is not any published clinical trial in humans to determine the potential effect of antioxidants (vitamins or GSH-precursors) on the intrauterine growth from obese mothers. Retrospective, food intake survey-based studies, showed conflicting results. For example, in Spain no relation was found between the consumption of antioxidant vitamins and SGA frequency (Salcedo-Bellido et al., 2017) and a meta-analysis about the use of vitamin E during pregnancy showed no beneficial effect to prevent poor fetal growth in healthy pregnancies (Cohen et al., 2015; Rumbold et al., 2015).

CONCLUSION

Pregestational obesity affects approximately to 1 out of 3 women of childbearing age in the world. The excessive fat mass accumulation correlates with OS, caused by an overactivation of the ROS-generating systems (mainly NOS and NADPH oxidases) and a depleted antioxidant defense. Obesity-induced OS arises

as a central factor that increases the risk of adverse outcomes in gestation, as it has been summarized in the Figure 2. Prior to gestation, obesity-related OS can cause decreased fertility due to a defective meiosis and mitochondrial alterations in the oocytes. On early gestation, OS increases the risk of miscarriage by reducing the plasticity of the endometrium and promoting early angiogenesis, that increases oxygen supply prior to the maturation of the antioxidant systems. OS can directly cause DNA damage and the inhibition of key genes for neural tube development and closure, responsible for some of the most common malformations observed in embryos from obese mothers. During the second trimester, placenta becomes another physiological source of ROS, with a physiological role on materno-fetal connection. However, the combination of both sources of OS in obese pregnancies can cause an overproduction of ROS, that may account for a defective vascularization of the placenta, leading to both hyperoxia and hypoxia. These two situations exacerbate the placental oxidative state and participate in the pathology of vascular conditions such as PE and IUGR.

Despite the multiple evidence of the oxidative disbalance along normal pregnancies, the use of antioxidants to prevent these outcomes is conflicting. While they have proven to be effective in preclinical studies in cellular and animal models, the reports of its application in large-scale clinical trials is often discouraging. However, the analyzed clinical trials in this mini-review do not specifically analyze a cohort of women with pregestational obesity. The design of specific clinical trials for this population, with a basal situation of increased OS, could potentially generate more promising results. Besides clinical recommendations to obese women, such as weight loss before conception and controlling GWG, specific studies on antioxidant therapies focused on this population could help clarifying the adequacy of targeting OS to prevent complications.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MA and MV participated in the conception of the work and in the preparation of the manuscript. SG-V, EC, EG-G, and MR-Á participated in the preparation of the manuscript and critically reviewed the final draft.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Spanish Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness (SAF2014-56671-R) and Community of Madrid (S2017/BMD-3864) to MR-Á; by the Universidad CEU San Pablo-Banco Santander (FUSP-BS-PPC-USP02/2017) to MA and by National Fund for Scientific and Technological Development, FONDECYT iniciación 11170710 and International Networks for research REDI170287 (CONICYT) to EG-G.

REFERENCES

- Afshar Ebrahimi, F., Foroozanfard, F., Aghadavod, E., Bahmani, F., and Asemi, Z. (2017). The effects of magnesium and zinc co-supplementation on biomarkers of inflammation and oxidative stress, and gene expression related to inflammation in polycystic ovary syndrome: a randomized controlled clinical trial. *Biol. Trace Elem. Res.* 184, 300–307. doi: 10.1007/s12011-017-1198-5
- Alcala, M., Calderon-Dominguez, M., Serra, D., Herrero, L., Ramos, M. P., and Viana, M. (2017). Short-term vitamin E treatment impairs reactive oxygen species signaling required for adipose tissue expansion, resulting in fatty liver and insulin resistance in obese mice. *PLoS One* 12:e0186579. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0186579
- Alcala, M., Sanchez-Vera, I., Sevillano, J., Herrero, L., Serra, D., Ramos, M. P., et al. (2015). Vitamin E reduces adipose tissue fibrosis, inflammation, and oxidative stress and improves metabolic profile in obesity. *Obesity* 23, 1598–1606. doi: 10.1002/oby.21135
- Amin, A. F., Shaaban, O. M., and Bediawy, M. A. (2008). N-acetyl cysteine for treatment of recurrent unexplained pregnancy loss. *Reprod. Biomed. Online* 17, 722–726. doi: 10.1016/S1472-6483(10)60322-7
- Aouache, R., Biquard, L., Vaiman, D., and Miralles, F. (2018). Oxidative stress in preeclampsia and placental diseases. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 19:E1496. doi: 10.3390/ ijms19051496
- Araya, B. M., Padilla, O., Garmendia, M. L., Atalah, E., and Uauy, R. (2014). Prevalence of obesity among Chilean women in childbearing ages. *Rev. Med. Chil.* 142, 1440–1448. doi: 10.4067/S0034-98872014001100011
- Atamer, Y., Kocyigit, Y., Yokus, B., Atamer, A., and Erden, A. C. (2005). Lipid peroxidation, antioxidant defense, status of trace metals and leptin levels in preeclampsia. *Eur. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Reprod. Biol.* 119, 60–66. doi: 10.1016/j. ejogrb.2004.06.033
- Avagliano, L., Marconi, A. M., Romagnoli, S., and Bulfamante, G. P. (2012). Abnormal spiral arteries modification in stillbirths: the role of maternal prepregnancy body mass index. *J. Matern. Fetal Neonatal Med.* 25, 2789–2792. doi: 10.3109/14767058.2012.705395
- Balogun, O. O., da Silva Lopes, K., Ota, E., Takemoto, Y., Rumbold, A., et al. (2016). Vitamin supplementation for preventing miscarriage. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* 6:CD004073. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD004073.pub4
- Biri, A., Bozkurt, N., Turp, A., Kavutcu, M., Himmetoglu, O., and Durak, I. (2007). Role of oxidative stress in intrauterine growth restriction. *Gynecol. Obstet. Invest.* 64, 187–192. doi: 10.1159/000106488
- Boots, C., and Stephenson, M. D. (2011). Does obesity increase the risk of miscarriage in spontaneous conception: a systematic review. Semin. Reprod. Med. 29, 507–513. doi: 10.1055/s-0031-1293204
- Bove, I., Campoy, C., Uauy, R., Miranda, T., and Cerruti, F. (2014). Trends in early growth indices in the first 24 months of life in Uruguay over the past decade. *J. Health Popul. Nutr.* 32, 600–607.
- Bozkurt, L., Gobl, C. S., Hormayer, A. T., Luger, A., Pacini, G., and Kautzky-Willer, A. (2016). The impact of preconceptional obesity on trajectories of maternal lipids during gestation. *Sci. Rep.* 6:29971. doi: 10.1038/srep 29971
- Burton, G. J., and Jauniaux, E. (2004). Placental oxidative stress: from miscarriage to preeclampsia. J. Soc. Gynecol. Investig. 11, 342–352. doi: 10.1016/j.jsgi.2004. 03.003
- Bushnell, C., McCullough, L. D., Awad, I. A., Chireau, M. V., Fedder, W. N., Furie, K. L., et al. (2014). Guidelines for the prevention of stroke in women: a statement for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. *Stroke* 45, 1545–1588. doi: 10.1161/ 01.str.0000442009.06663.48
- Catalano, P. M. (2010). Obesity, insulin resistance, and pregnancy outcome. *Reproduction* 140, 365–371. doi: 10.1530/REP-10-0088
- Catalano, P. M., and Shankar, K. (2017). Obesity and pregnancy: mechanisms of short term and long term adverse consequences for mother and child. BMJ 356:j1. doi: 10.1136/bmj.j1
- Cohen, J. M., Beddaoui, M., Kramer, M. S., Platt, R. W., Basso, O., and Kahn, S. R. (2015). Maternal antioxidant levels in pregnancy and risk of Preeclampsia and small for gestational age birth: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One* 10:e0135192. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0135192
- Correa, A., and Marcinkevage, J. (2013). Prepregnancy obesity and the risk of birth defects: an update. *Nutr. Rev.* 71(Suppl. 1), S68–S77. doi: 10.1111/nure.12058

- Crane, J. M., White, J., Murphy, P., Burrage, L., and Hutchens, D. (2009). The effect of gestational weight gain by body mass index on maternal and neonatal outcomes. *J. Obstet. Gynaecol. Can.* 31, 28–35. doi: 10.1016/S1701-2163(16) 34050-6
- Chandler, A. L., Hobbs, C. A., Mosley, B. S., Berry, R. J., Canfield, M. A., Qi, Y. P., et al. (2012). Neural tube defects and maternal intake of micronutrients related to one-carbon metabolism or antioxidant activity. *Birth Defects Res. A Clin. Mol. Teratol.* 94, 864–874. doi: 10.1002/bdra. 23068
- Chang, E. Y., Barbosa, E., Paintlia, M. K., Singh, A., and Singh, I. (2005). The use of N-acetylcysteine for the prevention of hypertension in the reduced uterine perfusion pressure model for preeclampsia in sprague-dawley rats. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 193(3 Pt 2), 952–956. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2005. 05.083
- Chiavaroli, V., Giannini, C., D'Adamo, E., de Giorgis, T., Chiarelli, F., and Mohn, A. (2009). Insulin resistance and oxidative stress in children born small and large for gestational age. *Pediatrics* 124, 695–702. doi: 10.1542/peds.2008-3056
- Chu, S. Y., Kim, S. Y., Lau, J., Schmid, C. H., Dietz, P. M., Callaghan, W. M., et al. (2007). Maternal obesity and risk of stillbirth: a metaanalysis. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 197, 223–228. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2007.03.027
- Deanfield, J., Donald, A., Ferri, C., Giannattasio, C., Halcox, J., Halligan, S., et al. (2005). Endothelial function and dysfunction. Part I: methodological issues for assessment in the different vascular beds: a statement by the working group on endothelin and endothelial factors of the european society of hypertension. J. Hypertens. 23, 7–17. doi: 10.1097/00004872-200501000-00004
- Dennedy, M. C., and Dunne, F. (2010). The maternal and fetal impacts of obesity and gestational diabetes on pregnancy outcome. *Best Pract. Res. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 24, 573–589. doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2010.06.001
- Dolin, C. D., and Kominiarek, M. A. (2018). Pregnancy in women with obesity. Obstet. Gynecol. Clin. North Am. 45, 217–232. doi: 10.1016/j.ogc.2018.01.005
- Freinkel, N. (1980). Banting lecture 1980. Of pregnancy and progeny. *Diabetes* 29, 1023–1035. doi: 10.2337/diab.29.12. 1023
- Furukawa, S., Fujita, T., Shimabukuro, M., Iwaki, M., Yamada, Y., Nakajima, Y., et al. (2004). Increased oxidative stress in obesity and its impact on metabolic syndrome. J. Clin. Invest. 114, 1752–1761. doi: 10.1172/JCI21625
- Gaccioli, F., Lager, S., Powell, T. L., and Jansson, T. (2013). Placental transport in response to altered maternal nutrition. J. Dev. Orig. Health Dis. 4, 101–115. doi: 10.1017/S2040174412000529
- Gallardo, J. M., Gomez-Lopez, J., Medina-Bravo, P., Juarez-Sanchez, F., Contreras-Ramos, A., Galicia-Esquivel, M., et al. (2015). Maternal obesity increases oxidative stress in the newborn. *Obesity* 23, 1650–1654. doi: 10.1002/oby. 21159
- Gesink Law, D. C., Maclehose, R. F., and Longnecker, M. P. (2007). Obesity and time to pregnancy. *Hum. Reprod.* 22, 414–420. doi: 10.1093/humrep/ del400
- Ghosh, G., Grewal, J., Mannisto, T., Mendola, P., Chen, Z., Xie, Y., et al. (2014). Racial/ethnic differences in pregnancy-related hypertensive disease in nulliparous women. *Ethn. Dis.* 24, 283–289.
- Ghowsi, M., Khazali, H., and Sisakhtnezhad, S. (2018). The effect of resveratrol on oxidative stress in the liver and serum of a rat model of polycystic ovary syndrome: an experimental study. *Int. J. Reprod. Biomed.* 16, 149–158. doi: 10.29252/ijrm.16.3.149
- Giachini, F. R., Galaviz-Hernandez, C., Damiano, A. E., Viana, M., Cadavid, A., Asturizaga, P., et al. (2017). Vascular dysfunction in mother and offspring during preeclampsia: contributions from latin-american countries. *Curr. Hypertens. Rep.* 19:83. doi: 10.1007/s11906-017-0781-7
- Goulopoulou, S., and Davidge, S. T. (2015). Molecular mechanisms of maternal vascular dysfunction in preeclampsia. *Trends Mol. Med.* 21, 88–97. doi: 10.1016/ j.molmed.2014.11.009
- Guilloty, N. I., Soto, R., Anzalota, L., Rosario, Z., Cordero, J. F., and Palacios, C. (2015). Diet. Pre-pregnancy BMI, and gestational weight gain in puerto rican women. *Matern. Child Health J.* 19, 2453–2461. doi: 10.1007/s10995-015-1764-4
- Han, L., Wang, H., Li, L., Li, X., Ge, J., Reiter, R. J., et al. (2017). Melatonin protects against maternal obesity-associated oxidative stress and meiotic defects

in oocytes via the SIRT3-SOD2-dependent pathway. J. Pineal Res. 63:e12431. doi: 10.1111/jpi.12431

- Hansen, J. M., and Harris, C. (2013). Redox control of teratogenesis. Reprod. Toxicol. 35, 165–179. doi: 10.1016/j.reprotox.2012.09.004
- Hastie, R., and Lappas, M. (2014). The effect of pre-existing maternal obesity and diabetes on placental mitochondrial content and electron transport chain activity. *Placenta* 35, 673–683. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2014. 06.368
- Heslehurst, N., Ells, L. J., Simpson, H., Batterham, A., Wilkinson, J., and Summerbell, C. D. (2007). Trends in maternal obesity incidence rates, demographic predictors, and health inequalities in 36,821 women over a 15year period. *BJOG* 114, 187–194. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.2006.01199.x
- Hod, T., Cerdeira, A. S., and Karumanchi, S. A. (2015). Molecular mechanisms of Preeclampsia. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect. Med.* 5:a023473. doi: 10.1101/ cshperspect.a023473
- Hung, T. H., Skepper, J. N., Charnock-Jones, D. S., and Burton, G. J. (2002). Hypoxia-reoxygenation: a potent inducer of apoptotic changes in the human placenta and possible etiological factor in preeclampsia. *Circ. Res.* 90, 1274– 1281. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000024411.22110.AA
- Igosheva, N., Abramov, A. Y., Poston, L., Eckert, J. J., Fleming, T. P., Duchen, M. R., et al. (2010). Maternal diet-induced obesity alters mitochondrial activity and redox status in mouse oocytes and zygotes. *PLoS One* 5:e10074. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0010074
- Ishii, T., Miyazawa, M., Takanashi, Y., Tanigawa, M., Yasuda, K., Onouchi, H., et al. (2014). Genetically induced oxidative stress in mice causes thrombocytosis, splenomegaly and placental angiodysplasia that leads to recurrent abortion. *Redox Biol.* 2, 679–685. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2014. 05.001
- Jauniaux, E., Watson, A. L., Hempstock, J., Bao, Y. P., Skepper, J. N., and Burton, G. J. (2000). Onset of maternal arterial blood flow and placental oxidative stress. A possible factor in human early pregnancy failure. *Am. J. Pathol.* 157, 2111–2122. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)64849-3
- Jia, Z., Feng, Z., Wang, L., Li, H., Wang, H., Xu, D., et al. (2018). Resveratrol reverses the adverse effects of a diet-induced obese murine model on oocyte quality and zona pellucida softening. *Food Funct.* 9, 2623–2633. doi: 10.1039/ c8fo00149a
- Jones, D. P., Go, Y. M., Anderson, C. L., Ziegler, T. R., Kinkade, J. M. Jr., et al. (2004). Cysteine/cystine couple is a newly recognized node in the circuitry for biologic redox signaling and control. *FASEB J.* 18, 1246–1248. doi: 10.1096/fj. 03-0971fje
- Kort, J. D., Winget, C., Kim, S. H., and Lathi, R. B. (2014). A retrospective cohort study to evaluate the impact of meaningful weight loss on fertility outcomes in an overweight population with infertility. *Fertil. Steril.* 101, 1400–1403. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2014.01.036
- Lim, J., Nakamura, B. N., Mohar, I., Kavanagh, T. J., and Luderer, U. (2015). Glutamate cysteine ligase modifier subunit (Gclm) null mice have increased ovarian oxidative stress and accelerated age-related ovarian failure. *Endocrinology* 156, 3329–3343. doi: 10.1210/en.2015-1206
- Longini, M., Perrone, S., Kenanidis, A., Vezzosi, P., Marzocchi, B., Petraglia, F., et al. (2005). Isoprostanes in amniotic fluid: a predictive marker for fetal growth restriction in pregnancy. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 38, 1537–1541. doi: 10.1016/j. freeradbiomed.2005.02.017
- Lucas, E. S., Dyer, N. P., Murakami, K., Lee, Y. H., Chan, Y. W., Grimaldi, G., et al. (2016). Loss of endometrial plasticity in recurrent pregnancy loss. *Stem Cells* 34, 346–356. doi: 10.1002/stem.2222
- Maged, A. M., Elsawah, H., Abdelhafez, A., Bakry, A., and Mostafa, W. A. (2015). The adjuvant effect of metformin and N-acetylcysteine to clomiphene citrate in induction of ovulation in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Gynecol. Endocrinol.* 31, 635–638. doi: 10.3109/09513590.2015.1 037269
- Malti, N., Merzouk, H., Merzouk, S. A., Loukidi, B., Karaouzene, N., Malti, A., et al. (2014). Oxidative stress and maternal obesity: feto-placental unit interaction. *Placenta* 35, 411–416. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2014.03.010
- Marchi, J., Berg, M., Dencker, A., Olander, E. K., and Begley, C. (2015). Risks associated with obesity in pregnancy, for the mother and baby: a systematic review of reviews. *Obes. Rev.* 16, 621–638. doi: 10.1111/obr. 12288

- Matsuda, M., and Shimomura, I. (2013). Increased oxidative stress in obesity: implications for metabolic syndrome, diabetes, hypertension, dyslipidemia, atherosclerosis, and cancer. *Obes. Res. Clin. Pract.* 7, e330–e341. doi: 10.1016/j. orcp.2013.05.004
- Mc Donald, A., Bradshaw, R. A., Fontes, F., Mendoza, E. A., Motta, J. A., Cumbrera, A., et al. (2015). Prevalence of obesity in panama: some risk factors and associated diseases. *BMC Public Health* 15:1075. doi: 10.1186/s12889-015-2397-7
- McCarthy, C., and Kenny, L. C. (2016). Therapeutically targeting mitochondrial redox signalling alleviates endothelial dysfunction in preeclampsia. *Sci. Rep.* 6:32683. doi: 10.1038/srep32683
- Menting, M. D., van de Beek, C., de Rooij, S. R., Painter, R. C., Vrijkotte, T. G. M., and Roseboom, T. J. (2018). The association between prepregnancy overweight/obesity and offspring's behavioral problems and executive functioning. *Early. Hum. Dev.* 122, 32–41. doi: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev. 2018.05.009
- Mert, I., Oruc, A. S., Yuksel, S., Cakar, E. S., Buyukkagnici, U., Karaer, A., et al. (2012). Role of oxidative stress in preeclampsia and intrauterine growth restriction. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. Res. 38, 658–664. doi: 10.1111/j.1447-0756.2011. 01771.x
- Metwally, M., Ong, K. J., Ledger, W. L., and Li, T. C. (2008). Does high body mass index increase the risk of miscarriage after spontaneous and assisted conception? A meta-analysis of the evidence. *Fertil. Steril.* 90, 714–726. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2007.07.1290
- Milne, F., Redman, C., Walker, J., Baker, P., Black, R., Blincowe, J., et al. (2009). Assessing the onset of pre-eclampsia in the hospital day unit: summary of the pre-eclampsia guideline (PRECOG II). *BMJ* 339:b3129. doi: 10.1136/bmj.b3129
- Miller, H., Wilson, R., Jenkins, C., MacLean, M. A., Roberts, J., and Walker, J. J. (2000). Glutathione levels and miscarriage. *Fertil. Steril.* 74, 1257–1258. doi: 10.1016/S0015-0282(00) 01585-5
- Mongraw-Chaffin, M. L., Cirillo, P. M., and Cohn, B. A. (2010). Preeclampsia and cardiovascular disease death: prospective evidence from the child health and development studies cohort. *Hypertension* 56, 166–171. doi: 10.1161/ HYPERTENSIONAHA.110.150078
- Most, J., Marlatt, K. L., Altazan, A. D., and Redman, L. M. (2018). Advances in assessing body composition during pregnancy. *Eur. J. Clin. Nutr.* 72, 645–656. doi: 10.1038/s41430-018-0152-8
- Murakami, K., Bhandari, H., Lucas, E. S., Takeda, S., Gargett, C. E., Quenby, S., et al. (2013). Deficiency in clonogenic endometrial mesenchymal stem cells in obese women with reproductive failure–a pilot study. *PLoS One* 8:e82582. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0082582
- Nakamura, B. N., Fielder, T. J., Hoang, Y. D., Lim, J., McConnachie, L. A., Kavanagh, T. J., et al. (2011). Lack of maternal glutamate cysteine ligase modifier subunit (Gclm) decreases oocyte glutathione concentrations and disrupts preimplantation development in mice. *Endocrinology* 152, 2806–2815. doi: 10.1210/en.2011-0207
- Nasr, A. (2010). Effect of N-acetyl-cysteine after ovarian drilling in clomiphene citrate-resistant PCOS women: a pilot study. *Reprod. Biomed. Online* 20, 403– 409. doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2009.12.012
- NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (2016). Trends in adult body-mass index in 200 countries from 1975 to 2014: a pooled analysis of 1698 population-based measurement studies with 19.2 million participants. *Lancet* 387, 1377–1396. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16) 30054-X
- Negro, S., Boutsikou, T., Briana, D. D., Tataranno, M. L., Longini, M., Proietti, F., et al. (2017). Maternal obesity and perinatal oxidative stress: the strength of the association. J. Biol. Regul. Homeost. Agents 31, 221–227.
- Nelson, S. M., Matthews, P., and Poston, L. (2010). Maternal metabolism and obesity: modifiable determinants of pregnancy outcome. *Hum. Reprod. Update* 16, 255–275. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmp050
- Ng, M., Fleming, T., Robinson, M., Thomson, B., Graetz, N., Margono, C., et al. (2014). Global, regional, and national prevalence of overweight and obesity in children and adults during 1980-2013: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2013. *Lancet* 384, 766–781. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60 460-8

- Nguyen, N. T., Magno, C. P., Lane, K. T., Hinojosa, M. W., and Lane, J. S. (2008). Association of hypertension, diabetes, dyslipidemia, and metabolic syndrome with obesity: findings from the national health and nutrition examination survey, 1999 to 2004. *J. Am. Coll. Surg.* 207, 928–934. doi: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg. 2008.08.022
- Pace, N. D., Desrosiers, T. A., Carmichael, S. L., Shaw, G. M., Olshan, A. F., Siega-Riz, A. M., et al. (2018). Antioxidant consumption is associated with decreased odds of congenital limb deficiencies. *Paediatr. Perinat. Epidemiol.* 32, 90–99. doi: 10.1111/ppe.12403
- Persson, M., Cnattingius, S., Villamor, E., Soderling, J., Pasternak, B., Stephansson, O., et al. (2017). Risk of major congenital malformations in relation to maternal overweight and obesity severity: cohort study of 1.2 million singletons. *BMJ* 357:j2563. doi: 10.1136/bmj.j2563
- Plagemann, A., and Harder, T. (2011). Fuel-mediated teratogenesis and breastfeeding. *Diabetes Care* 34, 779–781. doi: 10.2337/dc10-2369
- Poston, L., Caleyachetty, R., Cnattingius, S., Corvalan, C., Uauy, R., Herring, S., et al. (2016). Preconceptional and maternal obesity: epidemiology and health consequences. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* 4, 1025–1036. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(16)30217-0
- Quenby, S., Nik, H., Innes, B., Lash, G., Turner, M., Drury, J., et al. (2009). Uterine natural killer cells and angiogenesis in recurrent reproductive failure. *Hum. Reprod.* 24, 45–54. doi: 10.1093/humrep/den348
- Radulescu, L., Munteanu, O., Popa, F., and Cirstoiu, M. (2013). The implications and consequences of maternal obesity on fetal intrauterine growth restriction. *J. Med. Life* 6, 292–298.
- Rajasingam, D., Seed, P. T., Briley, A. L., Shennan, A. H., and Poston, L. (2009). A prospective study of pregnancy outcome and biomarkers of oxidative stress in nulliparous obese women. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 395, e391–e399. doi: 10. 1016/j.ajog.2008.10.047
- Rasmussen, S. A., Chu, S. Y., Kim, S. Y., Schmid, C. H., and Lau, J. (2008). Maternal obesity and risk of neural tube defects: a metaanalysis. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 198, 611–619. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2008.04.021
- Ray, P. D., Huang, B. W., and Tsuji, Y. (2012). Reactive oxygen species (ROS) homeostasis and redox regulation in cellular signaling. *Cell. Signal.* 24, 981–990. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2012.01.008
- Redman, C. W., and Sargent, I. L. (2000). Placental debris, oxidative stress and pre-eclampsia. *Placenta* 21, 597–602. doi: 10.1053/plac.2000.0560
- Redman, C. W., and Sargent, I. L. (2005). Latest advances in understanding preeclampsia. Science 308, 1592–1594. doi: 10.1126/science.1111726
- Roberts, J. M., and Escudero, C. (2012). The placenta in preeclampsia. *Pregnancy Hypertens.* 2, 72–83. doi: 10.1016/j.preghy.2012. 01.001
- Roberts, J. M., Myatt, L., Spong, C. Y., Thom, E. A., Hauth, J. C., Leveno, K. J., et al. (2010). Vitamins C and E to prevent complications of pregnancy-associated hypertension. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 362, 1282–1291. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0908056
- Roes, E. M., Raijmakers, M. T., Boo, T. M., Zusterzeel, P. L., Merkus, H. M., Peters, W. H., et al. (2006). Oral N-acetylcysteine administration does not stabilise the process of established severe preeclampsia. *Eur. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Reprod. Biol.* 127, 61–67. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2005. 09.007
- Rosario, F. J., Kanai, Y., Powell, T. L., and Jansson, T. (2015). Increased placental nutrient transport in a novel mouse model of maternal obesity with fetal overgrowth. *Obesity* 23, 1663–1670. doi: 10.1002/oby.21165
- Rumbold, A., Duley, L., Crowther, C. A., and Haslam, R. R. (2008). Antioxidants for preventing pre-eclampsia. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* 1:CD004227. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD004227. pub3
- Rumbold, A., Ota, E., Hori, H., Miyazaki, C., and Crowther, C. A. (2015). Vitamin E supplementation in pregnancy. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* 9:CD004069. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD004069.pub3
- Saker, M., Soulimane Mokhtari, N., Merzouk, S. A., Merzouk, H., Belarbi, B., and Narce, M. (2008). Oxidant and antioxidant status in mothers and their newborns according to birthweight. *Eur. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Reprod. Biol.* 141, 95–99. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2008.07.013
- Salcedo-Bellido, I., Martinez-Galiano, J. M., Olmedo-Requena, R., Mozas-Moreno, J., Bueno-Cavanillas, A., Jimenez-Moleon, J. J., et al. (2017). Association between vitamin intake during pregnancy and

risk of small for gestational age. Nutrients 9:E1277. doi: 10.3390/nu 9121277

- Savini, I., Catani, M. V., Evangelista, D., Gasperi, V., and Avigliano, L. (2013). Obesity-associated oxidative stress: strategies finalized to improve redox state. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 14, 10497–10538. doi: 10.3390/ijms1405 10497
- Schaefer-Graf, U., Napoli, A., Nolan, C. J., and Diabetic Pregnancy Study Group (2018). Diabetes in pregnancy: a new decade of challenges ahead. *Diabetologia* 61, 1012–1021. doi: 10.1007/s00125-018-4545-y
- Showell, M. G., Mackenzie-Proctor, R., Jordan, V., and Hart, R. J. (2017). Antioxidants for female subfertility. *Cochrane Database. Syst. Rev.* 7:CD007807. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD007807.pub3
- Silvestris, E., de Pergola, G., Rosania, R., and Loverro, G. (2018). Obesity as disruptor of the female fertility. *Reprod. Biol. Endocrinol.* 16:22. doi: 10.1186/ s12958-018-0336-z
- Sim, K. A., Partridge, S. R., and Sainsbury, A. (2014). Does weight loss in overweight or obese women improve fertility treatment outcomes? A systematic review. *Obes. Rev.* 15, 839–850. doi: 10.1111/obr.12217
- Sliwa, K., and Bohm, M. (2014). Incidence and prevalence of pregnancy-related heart disease. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 101, 554–560. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvu012
- Srinivas, S. K., Edlow, A. G., Neff, P. M., Sammel, M. D., Andrela, C. M., and Elovitz, M. A. (2009). Rethinking IUGR in preeclampsia: dependent or independent of maternal hypertension? *J. Perinatol.* 29, 680–684. doi: 10.1038/ jp.2009.83
- Steegers, E. A., von Dadelszen, P., Duvekot, J. J., and Pijnenborg, R. (2010). Pre-eclampsia. *Lancet* 376, 631–644. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60279-6
- Stothard, K. J., Tennant, P. W., Bell, R., and Rankin, J. (2009). Maternal overweight and obesity and the risk of congenital anomalies: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA* 301, 636–650.doi: 10.1001/jama.200 9.113
- Tannetta, D. S., Dragovic, R. A., Gardiner, C., Redman, C. W., and Sargent, I. L. (2013). Characterisation of syncytiotrophoblast vesicles in normal pregnancy and pre-eclampsia: expression of Flt-1 and endoglin. *PLoS One* 8:e56754. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.00 56754
- van der Steeg, J. W., Steures, P., Eijkemans, M. J., Habbema, J. D., Hompes, P. G., Burggraaff, J. M., et al. (2008). Obesity affects spontaneous pregnancy chances in subfertile, ovulatory women. *Hum. Reprod.* 23, 324–328. doi: 10.1093/humrep/ dem371
- Viana, M., Herrera, E., and Bonet, B. (1996). Teratogenic effects of diabetes mellitus in the rat. Prevention by vitamin E. *Diabetologia* 39, 1041–1046. doi: 10.1007/ BF00400652
- Villar, J., Carroli, G., Wojdyla, D., Abalos, E., Giordano, D., Ba'aqeel, H., et al. (2006). Preeclampsia, gestational hypertension and intrauterine growth restriction, related or independent conditions? *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 194, 921–931. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2005.10.813
- Wang, H., Cheng, Q., Li, X., Hu, F., Han, L., Zhang, H., et al. (2018). Loss of TIGAR induces oxidative stress and meiotic defects in oocytes from obese mice. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 17, 1354–1364. doi: 10.1074/mcp.RA118. 000620
- Wang, X. D., Morgan, S. C., and Loeken, M. R. (2011). Pax3 stimulates p53 ubiquitination and degradation independent of transcription. *PLoS One* 6:e29379. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0029379
- Wells, P. G., McCallum, G. P., Lam, K. C., Henderson, J. T., and Ondovcik, S. L. (2010). Oxidative DNA damage and repair in teratogenesis and neurodevelopmental deficits. *Birth Defects Res. C Embryo Today* 90, 103–109. doi: 10.1002/bdrc.20177
- Wise, L. A., Rothman, K. J., Mikkelsen, E. M., Sorensen, H. T., Riis, A., and Hatch, E. E. (2010). An internet-based prospective study of body size and time-to-pregnancy. *Hum. Reprod.* 25, 253–264. doi: 10.1093/humrep/ dep360
- Wu, F., Tian, F. J., and Lin, Y. (2015). Oxidative stress in placenta: health and diseases. *Biomed. Res. Int.* 2015:293271. doi: 10.1155/2015/293271
- Wu, Y., Viana, M., Thirumangalathu, S., and Loeken, M. R. (2012). AMP-activated protein kinase mediates effects of oxidative stress on embryo gene expression in a mouse model of diabetic embryopathy. *Diabetologia* 55, 245–254. doi: 10.1007/s00125-011-2326-y

- Yao, R., Park, B. Y., and Caughey, A. B. (2017). The effects of maternal obesity on perinatal outcomes among those born small for gestational age. *J. Matern. Fetal Neonatal Med.* 30, 1417–1422. doi: 10.1080/14767058.2016.121 6098
- Yiyenoglu, O. B., Ugur, M. G., Ozcan, H. C., Can, G., Ozturk, E., Balat, O., et al. (2014). Assessment of oxidative stress markers in recurrent pregnancy loss: a prospective study. Arch. Gynecol. Obstet. 289, 1337–1340. doi: 10.1007/s00404-013-3113-4
- Yu, Z., Han, S., Zhu, J., Sun, X., Ji, C., and Guo, X. (2013). Pre-pregnancy body mass index in relation to infant birth weight and offspring overweight/obesity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One* 8:e61627. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0061627
- Zadrozna, M., Gawlik, M., Nowak, B., Marcinek, A., Mrowiec, H., Walas, S., et al. (2009). Antioxidants activities and concentration of selenium, zinc and copper

in preterm and IUGR human placentas. J. Trace Elem. Med. Biol. 23, 144–148. doi: 10.1016/j.jtemb.2009.02.005

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Alcala, Gutierrez-Vega, Castro, Guzman-Gutiérrez, Ramos-Álvarez and Viana. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Mechanisms of Endothelial Dysfunction in Antiphospholipid Syndrome: Association With Clinical Manifestations

Manuela Velásquez¹, Mauricio Rojas², Vikki M. Abrahams³, Carlos Escudero^{4,5,6} and Ángela P. Cadavid^{1,6*}

¹ Grupo Reproducción, Departamento de Microbiología y Parasitología, Escuela de Medicina, Universidad de Antioquia, Medellín, Colombia, ² Grupo de Inmunología Celular e Inmunogenética, Facultad de Medicina, Coordinador Unidad de Citometría de Flujo, Sede de Investigación Universitaria, Universidad de Antioquia, Medellín, Colombia, ³ Department of Obstetrics, Gynecology and Reproductive Sciences, Yale School of Medicine, New Haven, CT, United States, ⁴ Vascular Physiology Laboratory, Group of Investigation in Tumor Angiogenesis (GIANT), Department of Basic Sciences, Universidad del Bío-Bío, Chillán, Chile, ⁵ Group of Research and Innovation in Vascular Health (GRIVAS Health), Chillan, Chile, ⁶ Red Iberoamericana de Alteraciones Vasculares Asociadas a Transtornos del Embarazo, Chillan, Chile

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Andrew P. Braun, University of Calgary, Canada

Reviewed by:

Owen Llewellyn Woodman, Baker Heart and Diabetes Institute, Australia Jennifer Anne Thompson, University of Calaary, Canada

*Correspondence:

Ángela P. Cadavid angela.cadavid@udea.edu.co

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Vascular Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 20 July 2018 Accepted: 06 December 2018 Published: 21 December 2018

Citation:

Velásquez M, Rojas M, Abrahams VM, Escudero C and Cadavid ÁP (2018) Mechanisms of Endothelial Dysfunction in Antiphospholipid Syndrome: Association With Clinical Manifestations. Front. Physiol. 9:1840. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01840 The endothelium is a monolayer of cells that covers the inner surface of blood vessels and its integrity is essential for the maintenance of vascular health. Endothelial dysfunction is a key pathological component of antiphospholipid syndrome (APS). Its systemic complications include thrombotic endocarditis, valvular dysfunction, cerebrovascular occlusions, proliferative nephritis, deep vein thrombosis, and pulmonary embolism. In women, APS is also associated with pregnancy complications (obstetric APS). The conventional treatment regimens for APS are ineffective when the clinical symptoms are severe. Therefore, a better understanding of alterations in the endothelium caused by antiphospholipid antibodies (aPL) may lead to more effective therapies in patients with elevated aPL titers and severe clinical symptoms. Currently, while in vivo analyses of endothelial dysfunction in patients with APS have been reported, most research has been performed using in vitro models with endothelial cells exposed to either patient serum/plasma, monoclonal aPL, or IgGs isolated from patients with APS. These studies have described a reduction in endothelial cell nitric oxide synthesis, the induction of inflammatory and procoagulant phenotypes, an increase in endothelial proliferation, and impairments in vascular remodeling and angiogenesis. Despite these lines of evidence, further research is required to better understand the pathophysiology of endothelial dysfunction in patients with APS. In this review, we have compared the current understanding about the mechanisms of endothelial dysfunction induced by patient-derived aPL under the two main clinical manifestations of APS: thrombosis and gestational complications, either alone or in combination. We also discuss gaps in our current knowledge regarding aPL-induced endothelial dysfunction.

Keywords: antiphospholipid syndrome, endothelial dysfunction, antiphospholipid antibodies, inflammation, thrombosis

INTRODUCTION

Antiphospholipid syndrome (APS) is an autoimmune disease characterized by a persistence (≥ 12 weeks) of moderate to high titers of immunoglobulin isotype G (IgG) and IgM antiphospholipid antibodies (aPL) reactive against either cardiolipin (aCL) or β2 glycoprotein I (aβ2GPI); or positive tests for lupus anticoagulant (LA). Clinically, APS is defined as either primary APS, when it occurs in the absence of any other related disease, or as secondary APS, when it is associated with other autoimmune pathologies, such as systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) (Mackworth-Young et al., 1989). Another variant termed catastrophic APS is characterized by rapid episodes of thrombosis in small vessels of multiple organs causing a systemic dysfunction (Asherson et al., 2003). The clinical manifestations of APS include thrombosis and/or pregnancy complications (Miyakis et al., 2006). Systemic complications of APS include thrombotic endocarditis, valvular dysfunction, cerebrovascular occlusions, proliferative nephritis, deep vein thrombosis, and pulmonary embolism. Pregnancy complications associated with APS, also termed obstetric APS, are characterized by recurrent pregnancy loss, placental insufficiency, preeclampsia, and fetal growth restriction. Some female patients may present with obstetric APS in the absence of systemic thrombosis or purely obstetric APS (Bouvier et al., 2014). In contrast, there are female APS patients with prominent systemic thrombosis in whom it is not usual to find obstetric events. However, APS can present with both pregnancy complications and systemic thrombosis simultaneously. In patients with obstetric APS, pregnancy complications can be triggered by lower titers of aPL than those in patients with thrombotic APS (Meroni et al., 2018). Considering the above, there are several types of patients in which aPL induce different pathological events and thus, distinct mechanisms may be involved.

Patients with APS exhibit endothelial dysfunction. Mechanistically, vascular alterations in patients with APS, including arterial/venous hyperplasia with occlusion and stenosis in several organs (Amigo and García-Torres, 2000; Martínez-Sales et al., 2011), begins with the binding of aPL to the endothelium. This binding involves the participation of membrane receptors that, in some cases, may require the presence of serum β 2GPI (Mineo, 2013; Padjas et al., 2016). Indeed, β 2GPI is considered to be one of the major pathological autoantigens in APS (Ioannou et al., 2011). However, our understanding of endothelial dysfunction in APS is still limited.

While patients with APS are not usually classified by their clinical manifestations, some clinical events indicate a greater association with thrombosis, pregnancy complications, or both. For instance, our group reported that serum from patients with APS exhibiting thrombosis and pregnancy loss simultaneously induced stronger deleterious effects on endothelial function, such as vascular remodeling and angiogenesis, than serum from patients with pregnancy complications alone (Velásquez et al., 2016). Thus, developing a better understanding of the pathophysiology and clinical manifestations of endothelial dysfunction in APS would facilitate the improvement of current treatment regimens, which are ineffective for some groups of patients (Espinosa et al., 2011; Scoble et al., 2011; Mekinian et al., 2015).

In this review, we have compared the current understanding about the mechanisms of endothelial dysfunction induced by patient-derived aPL under the two main clinical manifestations of APS: thrombosis and gestational complications, either alone, or in combination (summarized in **Table 1**). We also discuss gaps in our current knowledge regarding aPL-induced endothelial dysfunction.

IMPAIRED SYNTHESIS OF ANTITHROMBOTIC FACTORS IN APS

Impaired synthesis of the vasodilatory factor, nitric oxide (NO), has been described in patients with APS. Patients with APS displaying thrombosis exhibited low plasma levels of nitrites and nitrates, which are the stable metabolites of NO breakdown. Clinically, these low levels were associated with vascular occlusions, suggesting an enhanced risk of thrombotic, and inflammatory events (Ames et al., 2010). Additionally, aPL can act as endogenous antagonists of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) through β2GPI, and this interaction may impair NO synthesis. In particular, attenuation of eNOS activation by aPL was mediated by reduced phosphorylation of eNOS serine 1179. This inhibition of eNOS phosphorylation was shown to be dependent upon protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A), β2GPI, and apolipoprotein E receptor 2 (ApoER2) (Figure 1A) (Ramesh et al., 2011; Sacharidou et al., 2018a). Furthermore, aPL inhibition of eNOS activity contributes to thrombus formation, increased leukocyte adhesion, and alterations in vascular tone. A pro-thrombotic phenotype of platelets and monocytes also appears to be triggered by aPL through ApoER2 (Sacharidou et al., 2018b). It remains unclear whether such apoER2-PP2AeNOS activation/deactivation occurs in all clinical manifestations of APS or only in the more severe conditions associated with thrombosis. Additionally, it has not yet been clarified whether this pathway is activated in patients with obstetric APS. Therefore, there is a need for further studies that include patients with obstetric APS alone as a control.

The regulation of vascular tone mediated by other molecules in APS patients is an area worthy of research since we were unable to find any evidence in the literature of the assessment of endothelial control of vascular tone in APS patients. Therefore, this, and the participation of other vasoactive

Abbreviations: aPL, antiphospholipid antibodies; APS, antiphospholipid syndrome; ApoER2, apolipoprotein E receptor 2; obstetric APS, APS in pregnancy complications; aCL, antibodies anti- cardiolipin; C3a, C3b, and C5a, complement cascade active components; eNOS, endothelial nitric oxide synthase; IgG, immunoglobulin isotype G; IgM, immunoglobulin isotype M; IL-6, interleukin-6; IL-8, interleukin-8; LA, lupus anticoagulant; MMP-2, matrix metalloproteinases 2; MMP-9, matrix metalloproteinases 9; MAPK, mitogen-activated protein kinase; MCP-1, monocyte chemoattractant protein 1; mTOR, mammalian target of rapamycin complex; NF- κ B, nuclear factor κ B; NO, nitric oxide; PP2A, protein phosphatase 2A; RAPTOR, regulatory-associated protein of mTOR; S6, RICTOR, ribosomal protein; SLE, systemic lupus erythematosus; TF, tissue factor; TLR2, toll-like receptor 2; TLR4, toll-like receptor 4; VCAM-1, vascular cell adhesion molecule-1; aβ2GPI, antibodies β2 glycoprotein I.

Clinical classification	aPL	Receptor	Target protein	Pathway	Model	Patients (gender) and clinical manifestation	Effect	References
Obstetric APS	NE-unknown aß2GPI?	NE-unknown	↑ C3/C9	NE-unknown	In vivo: BALB/c female Ex vivo: uterine endothelial cells	NA	↑ Fetal loss	(Agostinis et al., 2011)
	NE-unknown	NE-unknown	↑ C3a	NE-unknown	In vivo: BALB/c female	NS VT and PC	↑Fetal resorption	(Girardi et al., 2004)
Thrombotic APS	aß2GPI	apoER2	¢eNOS	†PP2A	In vivo: C57BL/6 in vitro: endothelial cells and monocytes	2 men 2 women VT and 1 patient with PC	↑Monocyte adhesion ↑ Thrombus formation	(Ramesh et al., 2011)
	aß2GPI? alone or aCL dependent on ß2GPI?	apoER2	teNOS	↑PP2A Dab2/SHC1 recruitment	<i>In vivo:</i> C57BL/6 (apoER2- [¶] / ^{fl} and apoER2- ∆)	3 men 1 woman AT with CAPS, VT with	↑ Thrombus size ↓ Time to occlusion	(Sacharidou et al., 2018a)
				↓ p-Akt	<i>in vitro:</i> HUVEC and HAEC cells	CAPS and pulmonary hemorrhage, DVT and renal microthrombotic		
	Monoclonal aCL dependent on 82GPI (CL15 and S4) IS4 bind to 82GPI alone	NE-unknown	↑ MCP-1	NF-KB?	In vitro: HUVEC cells	1 man (CL15) 1 woman (IS4) 1 patient with DVT 1 patient with DVT and SLE	↑Monocyte chemotaxis	(Cho et al., 2002)
	aßGPI (human) aß2GPI (rabbit)	Annexin A2	NE-unknown	NE-unknown	<i>In vitro</i> : HUVEC and Mono Mac 6 monocytes	NS LA+ and VT	↑Monocyte adhesion	(Zhang and McCrae, 2005)
	NE-unknown	NE-unknown	↑ C5/C3	NE-unknown	In vivo: C57BL/6 C3 ^{-/-} C5 ^{-/-} , CD1 male	SN	↑ Thrombus size ↑Adhesion of leukocytes to endothelium	(Pierangeli et al., 2005)
	NE-unknown	NE-unknown	NE-unknown	NE-unknown (p38 MAPK?)	In vitro: HUVEC cells	28 women VT with or without PC	↑Endothelial MP E-selectin+	(Pericleous et al., 2013)
	LA	NE-unknown	NE-unknown	NE-unknown (p38 MAPK?)	<i>In vitro</i> : HUVEC cells and endothelial MP of human plasma	30 patients (no gender especified) VT and PC, NS	↑MP (E-selectin +, ICAM-1+ and CD31+)	(Combes et al., 1999)
Thrombotic and obstetric APS	NE-unknown	NE-unknown	↑ C3 convertase	NE-unknown	In vivo: (BALB/c female, C57BL/6 C3 ^{-/-} and CD1 male)	1 patient NS LA+ and aCL+, multiple cerebrovascular accidents,	↑ Thrombus size ↑Fetal resorption ↓Fetal weight	(Holers et al., 2002)

(Continued)

64

Clinical classification	aPL	Receptor	Target protein	Pathway	Model	Patients (gender) and clinical manifestation	Effect	References
	NE-unknown	TLRs?	NE- unknown	∱ROS ↑p-ATF-2 ↑p-p38 MAPK	<i>In vitro</i> : HUVEC cells and THP-1 monocytes	2 men 10 women DVT, SVT, AT, DVT with or without PC or SLE	↑ROS ↑ VCAM-1	(Simoncini et al., 2005)
	NE-unknown	TLRs?	NE- unknown	†р-р38 МАРК NF-кВ	In vitro: HUVEC cells	4 men 4 women DVT and PC	↑TF ↑ IL-8/IL-6 ↑iNOS	(Vega-Ostertag et al., 2005)
	aß2GPI	TLR2 and TLR4	NE-unknown	MyD88 ↑ NF-ĸB	In vitro: HUVEC cells and HMEC-1	NS 1 patient with APS	↑ E-selectin	(Alard et al., 2010; Raschi et al., 2014)
	aß2GPI?	NE- unknown	↑mTORC1 ↑mTORC2	RAPTOR (1P-S6) RICTOR (1P-Akt)	<i>In vitro</i> : HMEC-1 cells ex <i>vivo</i> : renal biopsies	49 men 57 women APS associated to nephropathy with anticoagulant medication	Nephropathies endothelial hyperplasia	(Canaud et al., 2014)
	NE-unknown	NE-unknown	↓MMP-2/9 ↓VEGF	↓ NF-κB	In vitro: HEEC cell In vivo: CD1 mice	6 women VT, AT with or without PC	↓Angiogenesis	(Di Simone et al., 2010)
	NE-unknown	NE-unknown	VEGF not altered	NE- unknown	In vitro: HUVEC and trophoblast cells	10 women VT with PC	↓Angiogenesis ↓Vascular remodeling	(Velásquez et al., 2016)
	NE-unknown	NE-unknown	NE-unknown	NE- unknown	Feto-placental vasculature and <i>ex vivo</i> : maternal serum	12 women VT with PC and SLE	Partial villous infarction, thrombosis ↑ ICAM-1 ↑ VCAM-1	(Lakasing et al., 2000)

NS, not specified; NE, not evaluated; NA, not applicable; aB2GPI, anti- 82 glycoprotein I; apoEP2, apolipoprotein E receptor 2; eNOS, endothelial nitric oxide synthase; PP2A, protein phosphatase 2A; VT, vein thrombosis; PC, previous history of pregnancy complications; aCL, anti-cardiolipin, Dab2, disabled 2; SHC1, Scr homology 2 domain containing; p-Akt, protein kinase B; apoER2^{1/H}, apolipoprotein E receptor 2 floxed; apoER2A, apolipoprotein E receptor 2 species; VCAM, vascular cell adhesion protein 1; SVT, superficial venous thrombosis; TF, tissue factor; IL-8/IL-6, interleukins 8 and 6; iNOS, inducible nitric oxide synthase; MyDB8, myeloid differentiation primary response 88; HMEC-1, human demal microvascular endothelial cells; mTORC1, mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1; mTORC2, mammalian target of rapamycin complex 2; RAPTOR, regulatory-associated protein of mTOR; S6, ribosomal protein; RICTOR, rapamycin-insensitive companion of mTOR; MMP-29, metalloproteinases 29; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor; HEEC, endometrial endothelial cells; ICAM, intercellular adhesion molecule 1. Question marks indicate monocyte chemoattractant protein-1; NF-kB, nuclear factor kB; SLE, systemic lupus erythematosus; p38-MAPK, p38 mitogen-activated protein kinases; MP microparticles; LA, lupus anticoagulant; TLRs, Toll-like receptors; ATF, activating transcription factor; ROS, reactive oxygen human aortic endothelial cells; AT, arterial thrombosis; CAPS, catastrophic APS; DVT, deep vein thrombosis; MCP-1, human umbilical cord vein endothelial cells; HAEC, current gaps in our knowledge. modified; HUVEC,

TABLE 1 | Continued

substances, including prostacyclin or other arachidonic acid metabolites, endothelin-1, or purinergic metabolites might be the focus of future research. aPL can induce an imbalance in the production of thromboxane and prostacyclin that favor platelet activation, but the mechanism by which aPL alters the endothelial production of prostacyclin is unclear, since the reported results are controversial (Lellouche et al., 1991; Lindsey et al., 1992).

Another potential contributor to thrombosis formation in APS involves heparan sulfate, which is required for the adequate anticoagulant activity of anti-thrombin (Moon et al., 2005). β 2GPI binds to heparan sulfate via an anionic-cationic interaction, thus offering epitopes for circulating aPL (Meroni et al., 1998). The intracellular consequences of the interaction between heparan sulfate-bound β 2GPI and aPL have yet to be determined. However, in other autoimmune conditions, such as SLE and in patients with recurrent thrombosis, the functional activity of anti-thrombin is lost in the presence of antibodies against heparan sulfate (Cosgriff and Martin, 1981; Fillit et al., 1993). It is unclear how those changes are releted with endothelial dysfunction.

INCREASED INTERACTIONS BETWEEN THE ENDOTHELIUM AND MONOCYTES

In APS, increased interactions between monocytes and endothelial cells are associated with thrombosis (Clemens et al., 2009). aPL can directly activate monocytes, which in turn interact with the endothelium, resulting in pro-thrombotic events, such as the production of tissue factor (TF) (Kinev and Roubey, 2008; Shantsila and Lip, 2009). Conversely, the exposure of endothelial cells to aPL upregulates endothelial expression of monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 (MCP-1), which in turn promotes TF synthesis by monocytes (**Figure 1A**) (Cho et al., 2002), leading to thrombotic complications in patients with primary APS (Cuadrado et al., 1997).

In the presence of B2GPI, aCL directly induce activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway in monocytes. These aPL stimulated phosphorylation of p38 MAPK, nuclear factor κB (NF- κB) translocation to the nucleus, and the upregulation of TF. The aPL-induction of monocyte TF could be prevented by the p38 MAPK inhibitor SB203580 (Yasuda et al., 2005). Interestingly, IgG from patients with APS induced monocyte TF expression and adherence to endothelial cells in vitro, and in an in vivo mouse model induced thrombosis and leukocyte adherence; all via p38 MAPK activation (Vega-to other molecules, such as annexin A2 that is expressed on the surface of endothelial cells. Annexin A2 serves as an anchor for the binding of phospholipids and aPL, especially $a\beta 2GPI$, as described in a cohort of LA-positive patients with a history of venous thrombosis. Although the participating intracellular pathways remain unknown, endothelial activation evidenced by increased monocyte adhesion was observed after aβ2GPI/annexin A2 binding (Figure 1A) (Zhang and McCrae, 2005).

In summary, the adhesion of monocytes to the endothelium is pivotal in mediating aPL-induced TF production and formation of thrombotic clots. Additionally, the adhesion of monocytes to the endothelium would be expected to potentiate inflammation. However, there has been no clear association between this event and the clinical characteristics of patients so far, mainly because the reports have not included a control group of patients with obstetric APS.

PROTHROMBOTIC ENDOTHELIAL MICROPARTICLES RELEASED IN APS

Endothelial dysfunction is associated with the synthesis of endothelial extracellular particles, such as microvesicles (Morel et al., 2006; Pericleous et al., 2009). *In vitro* studies demonstrated a significant increase in the release of microparticles from endothelial cells cultured in the presence of IgG from patients with APS and clinical manifestations of thrombosis with or without pregnancy complications, when compared to control IgG. In contrast, aPL from patients with pregnancy complications, but without thrombosis, did not significantly alter endothelial microparticle release (Pericleous et al., 2013). Another study showed an increase in the production of microparticles expressing pro-adhesive and pro-coagulant proteins in endothelial cells stimulated with plasma from patients positive for LA, some of whom also had APS (Combes et al., 1999).

In APS, the molecular pathways involved in the aPL-induction of endothelial microparticle release have not been determined. However, generation of these particles seems to be dependent on p38 MAPK activation (**Figure 1A**) (Curtis et al., 2009), and thus based on our previous discussion could favor thrombotic episodes. Since the study of circulating microparticles allows both the detection of biomarkers for disease risk factors and the identification of intercellular communication mechanisms that contribute to pathological states, future studies focusing on the role of these microparticles in patients with APS are of high priority.

COMPLEMENT-DEPENDENT ENDOTHELIAL ACTIVATION IN APS

aPL trigger activation of the complement cascade generating the active components, C3a, C3b, and C5a. C5a is a potent anaphylatoxin that can induce thrombosis through chemotactic actions (Erkan and Salmon, 2016). Endothelial cells express complement receptors, such as C5aR that interacts with C5a. The binding of this receptor to its ligand induces TF production (Wojta et al., 2002). Using C3, C5, and C5aR deficient mice, as well as blocking anti-C5 monoclonal antibodies, aPL-induced endothelial activation and thrombosis was shown to be complement dependent (**Figure 1A**) (Pierangeli et al., 2005; Vega-Ostertag et al., 2007). Similarly, when the complement component C3 convertase was inhibited in an experimental model, the induction of thrombosis, fetal resorption, and low fetal weight by aPL was reduced. This



APS. Thiombolic events in APS may be associated with several events inggreed by aPL. (1) Reduced hint: Oxide generation via AppEn2. (2) Elevated endothelial central central

indicates the relevance of complement in the pathophysiology of APS featuring both thrombosis and pregnancy complications (**Figure 1B**) (Holers et al., 2002). However, despite the strong experimental association between aPL-mediated complement activation, endothelial dysfunction, and thrombus formation, there remains a lack of strong clinical data to support these mechanistic relationships. In contrast, a clinical study has shown that complement activation early in pregnancy is predictive of adverse pregnancy outcomes in women with aPL (Kim et al., 2018).

PRODUCTION OF PROINFLAMMATORY FACTORS IN PATIENTS WITH APS

Endothelial cells treated with IgG-aPL from men and women with different clinical manifestations of APS showed increased reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation, which resulted in increased endothelial expression of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) via p38 MAPK activation (Simoncini et al., 2005). In another study that examined aPL from men and women with clinically active APS, IgG-aPL treatment of endothelial cells activated the cells to express increased TF, interleukin-6 (IL-6), and IL-8. These prothrombotic and proinflammatory responses were mediated by activation of the p38 MAPK and NF- κ B pathways (**Figure 1B**) (Vega-Ostertag et al., 2005). Unfortunately, in these studies, the patients were not classified by gender or clinical manifestation, which hinders the precise understanding of the mechanisms described in association with the pathophysiology of APS.

One mechanism by which aPL may mediate endothelial cell inflammation is through activation of the innate immune receptors, Toll-like receptor 2, and 4 (TLR2 and TLR4). Dimeric β 2GPI can bind TLR2 and TLR4, which favor aPL binding (Alard et al., 2010; Raschi et al., 2014). aPL with β 2GPI reactivity from patients with thrombosis and pregnancy complications induced endothelial cell activation through activation of MyD88, a key component of the TLR2, and TLR4 signaling pathways (**Figure 1B**). Notably, β 2GPI shares molecular mimicry with certain pathogenic microorganisms that can activate TLR4 (Raschi et al., 2003). However, further studies are needed whereby patients are grouped according to their clinical manifestations and gender to obtain a more detailed understanding of the pathological effects of aPL on the endothelium.

ENDOTHELIAL DYSFUNCTION IN WOMEN WITH OBSTETRIC APS

In cases of obstetric APS there is endothelium involvement, despite the often lack of thrombotic events (Viall and Chamley, 2015). aPL specific for \u03b32GPI are the most pathologic obstetrically by targeting the uterine endothelium, as well as the placental trophoblast and endometrial/decidual stroma, where high basal levels of B2GPI are normally expressed (Agostinis et al., 2011; Meroni et al., 2018). Unlike systemic APS, which is a thrombotic disease, obstetric APS is associated with inflammation at the maternal-fetal interface, and poor placentation associated with reduced trophoblast invasion and limited uterine spiral artery remodeling (Viall and Chamley, 2015). Thus, patients with obstetric APS may present a fundamentally different disease in contrast to patients with thrombotic APS; and the same aPL might induce both clinical conditions through these distinct mechanisms (Meroni et al., 2018).

In some women with obstetric APS who do not experience thrombosis, placental damage has been associated with inflammatory events (Asherson et al., 2006). Placental injury in obstetric APS has also been associated with complement activation (**Figure 1B**) (Alijotas-Reig, 2010). Moreover, in a murine model of obstetric APS it was demonstrated that heparin prevented gestational complications through the inhibition of complement activation (Girardi et al., 2004).

While there has been an abundance of studies showing that aPL deleteriously affect placental function (Stone et al., 2006; Tong et al., 2015), how aPL affect uterine endothelial function is a significantly understudied area. In particular, studies using aPL from patients with pregnancy morbidities in the absence of thrombosis are warranted.

VASCULAR REMODELING AND ANGIOGENESIS IN APS: IMPLICATIONS FOR PLACENTATION

Endothelial cells are key components of the angiogenesis process. For instance, a study using uterine endothelial cells showed that aPL from women with APS reduced in vitro angiogenesis when compared to serum from normal subjects (D'Ippolito et al., 2012). The authors did not detail the clinical characteristics of the patients, making it unclear whether the alterations in angiogenesis caused by aPL may be associated with thrombosis, pregnancy complications or both. Angiogenesis requires the degradation of the vascular basement membrane and remodeling of the extracellular matrix through the production of matrix metalloproteinases (MMP) (Han et al., 2001). In vivo angiogenesis assays were used by Di Simone et al. (2010) to document impaired angiogenesis of aPL following the subcutaneous implantation of angioreactors in the dorsa of CD1 mice. The expression of the MMP-2/-9 was decreased in presence of aPL and this was associated with a reduced activation of NF-κB (Figure 1B) (Di Simone et al., 2010).

On the other hand, impaired angiogenesis in women with APS may have profound implications in pregnancy, since placentation requires new vessel formation. Currently, it is unclear whether APS-associated defects in angiogenesis during placental development is more severe in patients with thrombosis who experience pregnancy complications.

Vascular remodeling of the uterine spiral arteries by the invading extravillous trophoblast is another important process of normal placentation. In obstetric APS, endothelial-trophoblast interactions are impaired, leading to reduced uterine spiral artery remodeling (Viall and Chamley, 2015; Silva and Serakides, 2016). In our previous studies we used an in vitro model of uterine spiral artery remodeling in which we could measure vessel-like tube structures after the co-culture of first trimester extravillous trophoblast cells with either human endometrial endothelial cells or human umbilical cord vein endothelial cells (Alvarez et al., 2015; Velásquez et al., 2016). In these studies we found that serum from women with obstetric APS either with or without thrombosis decreased the trophoblast-endothelial interactions and thus, the formation of stable vessel-like tube structures. In the feto-placental vasculature of women with APS and SLE, findings of partial villous infarction, intravascular thrombosis, and fibrin deposits associated with increased levels of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 and vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 have also been reported (Lakasing et al., 2000).

Future studies, however, are still needed to better understand how aPL impair placental angiogenesis and to elucidate the clinical consequences. Additionally, *in vitro* analyses using serum or IgG-aPL, must consider the clinical parameters and gender of the included patients.

PROLIFERATION MARKERS ASSOCIATED WITH ENDOTHELIAL HYPERPLASIA

In renal biopsies from patients with APS, the endothelium exhibits activation of mTOR, a kinase involved in the regulation of cell proliferation. To detect the activation of mTOR (mTORC1 or mTORC2), the phosphorylation of ribosomal protein S6 and serine 473 of Akt in endothelial cells of the renal vasculature was evaluated. Among the several interesting findings from this study, we highlight the following. First, aPL isolated from patients with APS induced mTOR activation in endothelial cells in vitro. Second, treatment with rapamycin inhibited mTOR activation via RAPTOR and RICTOR. Third, in patients with catastrophic APS, the same mTOR activation was observed in the renal endothelium and was accompanied by severe vascular constriction. Finally, in patients with APS and renal transplantation who were treated with rapamycin, mTOR activation was not detected and the patients showed reduced renal lesions and an absence of endothelial hyperplasia between 3 and 12 months after transplantation. The authors concluded that the mTOR signaling pathway is involved in the development of the endothelial dysfunction that result in the clinical manifestations of APS (Figure 1B) (Canaud et al., 2014). However, these authors did not specify the clinical characteristics of their patients with APS and, therefore, it is unclear whether this pathological mechanism of aPL is associated

REFERENCES

- Agostinis, C., Biffi, S., Garrovo, C., Durigutto, P., Lorenzon, A., Bek, A., et al. (2011). *In vivo* distribution of beta2 glycoprotein I under various pathophysiologic conditions. *Blood* 118, 4231–4238. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-01-333617
- Alard, J. E., Gaillard, F., Daridon, C., Shoenfeld, Y., Jamin, C., and Youinou, P. (2010). TLR2 is one of the endothelial receptors for beta 2-glycoprotein I. J. Immunol. 185, 1550–1557. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1000526
- Alijotas-Reig, J. (2010). The complement system as a main actor in the pathogenesis of obstetric antiphospholipid syndrome. *Med. Clin.* 134, 30–34. doi: 10.1016/j.medcli.2009.05.027
- Alvarez, A. M., Mulla, M. J., Chamley, L. W., Cadavid, A. P., and Abrahams, V. M. (2015). Aspirin-triggered lipoxin prevents antiphospholipid antibody effects on human trophoblast migration and endothelial cell interactions. *Arthritis Rheum.* 67, 488–497. doi: 10.1002/art.38934
- Ames, P. R., Batuca, J. R., Ciampa, A., Iannaccone, L., and Delgado Alves, J. (2010). Clinical relevance of nitric oxide metabolites and nitrative stress in thrombotic primary antiphospholipid syndrome. *J. Rheumatol.* 37, 2523–2530. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.100494
- Amigo, M. C., and García-Torres, R. (2000). Morphology of vascular, renal, and heart lesions in the antiphospholipid syndrome: relationship to pathogenesis. *Curr. Rheumatol. Rep.* 2, 262–270. doi: 10.1007/s11926-000-0089-4

with thrombosis, pregnancy complications or both. These results reinforce necessity of better clinical characterization of subjets to better pathophysiology understanding.

CONCLUSION

Patients with APS are classified into different groups depending on the severity of their clinical manifestations and on their aPL titers. Endothelial dysfunction is a key component of APS. However, our understanding of the precise mechanisms by which aPL induce endothelial dysfunction remains limited, in part, because patients are not always classified according to their clinical manifestations. Nonetheless, some mechanistic events do indicate a greater association with thrombosis, pregnancy complications, or both. In **Table 1**, we summarize the gaps in knowledge to highlight research topics that warrants further attention. Future studies involving patients with APS should consider clinical characteristics and gender to better understand the pathophysiology of endothelial dysfunction in this disease.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MV wrote the draft of the manuscript. MR, VA, CE, and ÁC critically revised the manuscript. ÁC generated the original idea and proposed topics for revision.

FUNDING

This work was financially supported by Colciencias Colombia (Grant # 111571249846) and the American Heart Association (Grant # 15GRNT24480140 to VA). MV is a recipient of a doctoral scholarship from Colciencias (757-2017). CE is financially supported by DIUBB 184309 4/R, GI 171709/VC, REDI170287, and REDI170373.

- Asherson, R. A., Cervera, R., de Groot, P. G., Erkan, D., Boffa, M. C., Piette, J. C., et al. (2003). Catastrophic antiphospholipid syndrome: international consensus statement on classification criteria and treatment guidelines. *Lupus* 12, 530–534. doi: 10.1191/0961203303lu394oa
- Asherson, R. A., Cervera, R., Shepshelovich, D., and Shoenfeld, Y. (2006). Nonthrombotic manifestations of the antiphospholipid syndrome: away from thrombosis? J. Rheumatol. 33, 1038–1044.
- Bouvier, S., Cochery-Nouvellon, E., Lavigne-Lissalde, G., Mercier, E., Marchetti, T., Balducchi, J. P., et al. (2014). Comparative incidence of pregnancy outcomes in treated obstetric antiphospholipid syndrome: the NOH-APS observational study. *Blood* 123, 404–413. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-08-522623
- Canaud, G., Bienaime, F., Tabarin, F., Bataillon, G., Seilhean, D., Noel, L. H., et al. (2014). Inhibition of the mTORC pathway in the antiphospholipid syndrome. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 371, 303–312. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1312890
- Cho, C. S., Cho, M. L., Chen, P. P., Min, S. Y., Hwang, S. Y., Park, K. S., et al. (2002). Antiphospholipid antibodies induce monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 in endothelial cells. *J. Immunol.* 168, 4209–4215. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.168.8.4209
- Clemens, N., Frauenknecht, K., Katzav, A., Sommer, C., and von Landenberg, P. (2009). *In vitro* effects of antiphospholipid syndrome-IgG fractions and human monoclonal antiphospholipid IgG antibody on human umbilical vein endothelial cells and monocytes. *Ann. NY. Acad. Sci.* 1173, 805–813. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.04632.x

- Combes, V., Simon, A. C., Grau, G. E., Arnoux, D., Camoin, L., Sabatier, F., et al. (1999). *In vitro* generation of endothelial microparticles and possible prothrombotic activity in patients with lupus anticoagulant. *J. Clin. Invest.* 104, 93–102. doi: 10.1172/JCI4985
- Cosgriff, T. M., and Martin, B. A. (1981). Low functional and high antigenic antithrombin III level in a patient with the lupus anticoagulant and recurrent thrombosis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 24, 94–96. doi: 10.1002/art.1780240115
- Cuadrado, M. J., Lopez-Pedrera, C., Khamashta, M. A., Camps, M. T., Tinahones, F., Torres, A., et al. (1997). Thrombosis in primary antiphospholipid syndrome: a pivotal role for monocyte tissue factor expression. *Arthritis Rheum*. 40, 834–841. doi: 10.1002/art.1780400509
- Curtis, A. M., Wilkinson, P. F., Gui, M., Gales, T. L., Hu, E., and Edelberg, J. M. (2009). p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase targets the production of proinflammatory endothelial microparticles. *J. Thromb. Haemost.* 7, 701–709. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2009.03304.x
- Di Simone, N., Di Nicuolo, F., D'Ippolito, S., Castellani, R., Tersigni, C., Caruso, A., et al. (2010). Antiphospholipid antibodies affect human endometrial angiogenesis. *Biol. Reprod.* 83, 212–219. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.110.083410
- D'Ippolito, S., Marana, R., Di Nicuolo, F., Castellani, R., Veglia, M., Stinson, J., et al. (2012). Effect of low molecular weight heparins (LMWHs) on antiphospholipid antibodies (aPL)-mediated inhibition of endometrial angiogenesis. *PLoS ONE* 7:e29660. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0029660
- Erkan, D., and Salmon, J. E. (2016). The role of complement inhibition in thrombotic angiopathies and antiphospholipid syndrome. *Turk. J. Haematol.* 33, 1–7. doi: 10.4274/tjh.2015.0197
- Espinosa, G., Berman, H., and Cervera, R. (2011). Management of refractory cases of catastrophic antiphospholipid syndrome. *Autoimmun. Rev.* 10, 664–668. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2011.04.031
- Fillit, H., Shibata, S., Sasaki, T., Spiera, H., Kerr, L. D., and Blake, M. (1993). Autoantibodies to the protein core of vascular basement membrane heparan sulfate proteoglycan in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Autoimmunity* 14, 243–249. doi: 10.3109/08916939309077372
- Girardi, G., Redecha, P., and Salmon, J. E. (2004). Heparin prevents antiphospholipid antibody-induced fetal loss by inhibiting complement activation. *Nat. Med.* 10, 1222–1226. doi: 10.1038/nm1121
- Han, Y. P., Tuan, T. L., Wu, H., Hughes, M., and Garner, W. L. (2001). TNFalpha stimulates activation of pro-MMP2 in human skin through NF-(kappa)B mediated induction of MT1-MMP. *J. Cell Sci.* 114 (Pt 1), 131–139.
- Holers, V. M., Girardi, G., Mo, L., Guthridge, J. M., Molina, H., Pierangeli, S. S., et al. (2002). Complement C3 activation is required for antiphospholipid antibody-induced fetal loss. *J. Exp. Med.* 195, 211–220. doi: 10.1084/jem.200116116
- Ioannou, Y., Zhang, J. Y., Qi, M., Gao, L., Qi, J. C., Yu, D. M., et al. (2011). Novel assays of thrombogenic pathogenicity in the antiphospholipid syndrome based on the detection of molecular oxidative modification of the major autoantigen beta2-glycoprotein I. Arthritis Rheum. 63, 2774–2782. doi: 10.1002/art.30383
- Kim, M. Y., Guerra, M. M., Kaplowitz, E., Laskin, C. A., Petri, M., Branch, D. W., et al. (2018). Complement activation predicts adverse pregnancy outcome in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus and/or antiphospholipid antibodies. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 77, 549–555. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2017-212224
- Kinev, A. V., and Roubey, R. A. (2008). Tissue factor in the antiphospholipid syndrome. *Lupus* 17, 952–958. doi: 10.1177/0961203308096662
- Lakasing, L., Campa, J. S., Parmar, K., Poston, R., Hunt, B. J., and Poston, L. (2000). Normal expression of cell adhesion molecules in placentae from women with systemic lupus erythematosus and the antiphospholipid syndrome. *Placenta* 21, 142–149. doi: 10.1053/plac.1999.0478
- Lellouche, F., Martinuzzo, M., Said, P., Maclouf, J., and Carreras, L. O. (1991). Imbalance of thromboxane/prostacyclin biosynthesis in patients with lupus anticoagulant. *Blood* 78, 2894–2899.
- Lindsey, N., Henderson, F., Malia, R., Greaves, M., and Hughes, P. (1992). Serum masks the inhibition of thrombin-induced prostacyclin release produced by anticardiolipin antibodies. Br. J. Rheumatol. 31, 179–183.
- Mackworth-Young, C. G., Loizou, S., and Walport, M. J. (1989). Primary antiphospholipid syndrome: features of patients with raised anticardiolipin antibodies and no other disorder. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 48, 362–367. doi: 10.1136/ard.48.5.362

- Martínez-Sales, V., Vila, V., Mico, L., Contreras, M. T., Escandell, A., and Reganon, E. (2011). Circulating endothelial cells and microparticles in patients with antiphospholipid antibodies. *Med. Clin.* 136, 431–433. doi: 10.1016/j.medcli.2010.06.020
- Mekinian, A., Lazzaroni, M. G., Kuzenko, A., Alijotas-Reig, J., Ruffatti, A., Levy, P., et al. (2015). The efficacy of hydroxychloroquine for obstetrical outcome in anti-phospholipid syndrome: data from a European multicenter retrospective study. *Autoimmun. Rev.* 14, 498–502. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2015. 01.012
- Meroni, P. L., Borghi, M. O., Grossi, C., Chighizola, C. B., Durigutto, P., and Tedesco, F. (2018). Obstetric and vascular antiphospholipid syndrome: same antibodies but different diseases? *Nat. Rev. Rheumatol.* 14, 433–440. doi: 10.1038/s41584-018-0032-6
- Meroni, P. L., Del Papa, N., Raschi, E., Panzeri, P., Borghi, M. O., Tincani, A., et al. (1998). Beta2-glycoprotein I as a 'cofactor' for anti-phospholipid reactivity with endothelial cells. *Lupus* 7 (Suppl. 2), S44–47. doi: 10.1177/096120339800700211
- Mineo, C. (2013). Inhibition of nitric oxide and antiphospholipid antibody-mediated thrombosis. *Curr. Rheumatol. Rep.* 15:324. doi: 10.1007/s11926-013-0324-4
- Miyakis, S., Lockshin, M. D., Atsumi, T., Branch, D. W., Brey, R. L., Cervera, R., et al. (2006). International consensus statement on an update of the classification criteria for definite antiphospholipid syndrome (APS). *J. Thromb. Haemost.* 4, 295–306. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2006.01753.x
- Moon, J. J., Matsumoto, M., Patel, S., Lee, L., Guan, J. L., and Li, S. (2005). Role of cell surface heparan sulfate proteoglycans in endothelial cell migration and mechanotransduction. J. Cell Physiol. 203, 166–176. doi: 10.1002/jcp.20220
- Morel, O., Toti, F., Hugel, B., Bakouboula, B., Camoin-Jau, L., Dignat-George, F., et al. (2006). Procoagulant microparticles: disrupting the vascular homeostasis equation? *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 26, 2594–2604. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000246775.14471.26
- Padjas, A., Plazak, W., Celinska-Lowenhoff, M., Mazurek, A., Perricone, C., Podolec, P., et al. (2016). Myocardial ischaemia, coronary atherosclerosis and pulmonary pressure elevation in antiphospholipid syndrome patients. *Adv. Clin. Exp. Med.* 25, 1199–1205. doi: 10.17219/acem/63753
- Pericleous, C., Clarke, L. A., Brogan, P. A., Latchman, D. S., Isenberg, D. A., Ioannou, Y., et al. (2013). Endothelial microparticle release is stimulated *in vitro* by purified IgG from patients with the antiphospholipid syndrome. *Thromb. Haemost.* 109, 72–78. doi: 10.1160/TH12-05-0346
- Pericleous, C., Giles, I., and Rahman, A. (2009). Are endothelial microparticles potential markers of vascular dysfunction in the antiphospholipid syndrome? *Lupus* 18, 671–675. doi: 10.1177/0961203309103062
- Pierangeli, S. S., Girardi, G., Vega-Ostertag, M., Liu, X., Espinola, R. G., and Salmon, J. (2005). Requirement of activation of complement C3 and C5 for antiphospholipid antibody-mediated thrombophilia. *Arthritis Rheum.* 52, 2120–2124. doi: 10.1002/art.21157
- Ramesh, S., Morrell, C. N., Tarango, C., Thomas, G. D., Yuhanna, I. S., Girardi, G., et al. (2011). Antiphospholipid antibodies promote leukocyte-endothelial cell adhesion and thrombosis in mice by antagonizing eNOS via beta2GPI and apoER2. J. Clin. Invest. 121, 120–131. doi: 10.1172/JCI39828
- Raschi, E., Chighizola, C. B., Grossi, C., Ronda, N., Gatti, R., Meroni, P. L., et al. (2014). beta2-glycoprotein I, lipopolysaccharide and endothelial TLR4: three players in the two hit theory for anti-phospholipid-mediated thrombosis. J. Autoimmun. 55, 42–50. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2014.03.001
- Raschi, E., Testoni, C., Bosisio, D., Borghi, M. O., Koike, T., Mantovani, A., et al. (2003). Role of the MyD88 transduction signaling pathway in endothelial activation by antiphospholipid antibodies. *Blood* 101, 3495–3500. doi: 10.1182/blood-2002-08-2349
- Sacharidou, A., Chambliss, K. L., Ulrich, V., Salmon, J. E., Shen, Y. M., Herz, J., et al. (2018a). Antiphospholipid antibodies induce thrombosis by PP2A activation via apoER2-Dab2-SHC1 complex formation in endothelium. *Blood* 131, 2097–2110. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-11-814681
- Sacharidou, A., Shaul, P. W., and Mineo, C. (2018b). New insights in the pathophysiology of antiphospholipid syndrome. Semin. Thromb. Hemost. 44, 475–482. doi: 10.1055/s-0036-1597286
- Scoble, T., Wijetilleka, S., and Khamashta, M. A. (2011). Management of refractory anti-phospholipid syndrome. *Autoimmun. Rev.* 10, 669–673. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2011.04.030

- Shantsila, E., and Lip, G. Y. (2009). The role of monocytes in thrombotic disorders. Insights from tissue factor, monocyte-platelet aggregates and novel mechanisms. *Thromb. Haemost.* 102, 916–924. doi: 10.1160/TH09-01-0023
- Silva, J. F., and Serakides, R. (2016). Intrauterine trophoblast migration: a comparative view of humans and rodents. *Cell Adh. Migr.* 10, 88–110. doi: 10.1080/19336918.2015.1120397
- Simoncini, S., Sapet, C., Camoin-Jau, L., Bardin, N., Harle, J. R., Sampol, J., et al. (2005). Role of reactive oxygen species and p38 MAPK in the induction of the pro-adhesive endothelial state mediated by IgG from patients with anti-phospholipid syndrome. *Int. Immunol.* 17, 489–500. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxh229
- Stone, S., Pijnenborg, R., Vercruysse, L., Poston, R., Khamashta, M. A., Hunt, B. J., et al. (2006). The placental bed in pregnancies complicated by primary antiphospholipid syndrome. *Placenta* 27, 457–467. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2005.04.006
- Tong, M., Viall, C. A., and Chamley, L. W. (2015). Antiphospholipid antibodies and the placenta: a systematic review of their *in vitro* effects and modulation by treatment. *Hum. Reprod. Update* 21, 97–118. doi: 10.1093/humupd/ dmu049
- Vega-Ostertag, M., Casper, K., Swerlick, R., Ferrara, D., Harris, E. N., and Pierangeli, S. S. (2005). Involvement of p38 MAPK in the upregulation of tissue factor on endothelial cells by antiphospholipid antibodies. *Arthritis Rheum.* 52, 1545–1554. doi: 10.1002/art. 21009
- Vega-Ostertag, M. E., Ferrara, D. E., Romay-Penabad, Z., Liu, X., Taylor, W. R., Colden-Stanfield, M., et al. (2007). Role of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase in antiphospholipid antibody-mediated thrombosis and endothelial cell activation. *J. Thromb. Haemost.* 5, 1828–1834. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2007.02680.x

- Velásquez, M., Álvarez, Á. M., and Cadavid, Á.P. (2016). Cuantificación sistematizada de la remodelación vascular *in vitro* en la morbilidad gestacional asociada al síndrome antifosfolípido. *Rev. Chil. Obstet. Ginecol.* 81, 455–464. doi: 10.4067/S0717-75262016000600002
- Viall, C. A., and Chamley, L. W. (2015). Histopathology in the placentae of women with antiphospholipid antibodies: a systematic review of the literature. *Autoimmun. Rev.* 14, 446–471. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2015.01.008
- Wojta, J., Kaun, C., Zorn, G., Ghannadan, M., Hauswirth, A. W., Sperr, W. R., et al. (2002). C5a stimulates production of plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 in human mast cells and basophils. *Blood* 100, 517–523. doi:10.1182/blood.V100.2.517
- Yasuda, S., Bohgaki, M., Atsumi, T., and Koike, T. (2005). Pathogenesis of antiphospholipid antibodies: impairment of fibrinolysis and monocyte activation via the p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway. *Immunobiology* 210, 775–780. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2005.10.009
- Zhang, J., and McCrae, K. R. (2005). Annexin A2 mediates endothelial cell activation by antiphospholipid/anti-beta2 glycoprotein I antibodies. *Blood* 105, 1964–1969. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-05-1708

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Velásquez, Rojas, Abrahams, Escudero and Cadavid. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




Mitochondria and Coenzyme Q10 in the Pathogenesis of Preeclampsia

Enrique Teran^{1*}, Isabel Hernández^{1,2}, Leandro Tana¹, Santiago Teran¹, Carlos Galaviz-Hernandez³, Martha Sosa-Macías³, Gustavo Molina¹ and Andrés Calle⁴

¹ Colegio de Ciencias de la Salud, Universidad San Francisco de Quito, Quito, Ecuador, ² Facultad de Enfermería, Pontificia Universidad Católica del Ecuador, Quito, Ecuador, ³ Instituto Politécnico Nacional, Durango, Mexico, ⁴ Facultad de Ciencias Médicas, Universidad Central del Ecuador, Quito, Ecuador

Hypertensive disorders during pregnancy constitute one of the main causes of maternal and perinatal morbidity and mortality across the world and particularly in developing countries such as Ecuador. However, despite its impact on public health, the primary pathophysiological processes involved are yet to be elucidated. It has been proposed, among other theories, that an abnormal placentation may induce an endothelial dysfunction, which is ultimately responsible for the final clinical manifestations. Mitochondria, particularly from trophoblastic cells, are responsible for the production of energy, which is extremely important for normal placentation. The malfunction in this supply of energy may produce higher levels of free radicals. In both production of energy and free radicals, coenzyme Q10 (CoQ10) plays a crucial role in electron transport. As such, the role of CoQ10 in the genesis and prevention of the authors. Developing an in-depth understanding of these mechanisms might allow us to design new and feasible strategies with which we can reduce preeclampsia, particularly in the Latin-American countries.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Antonio Colantuoni, Università degli Studi di Napoli Federico II, Italy

Reviewed by:

Andrea Moriondo, Università degli Studi dell'Insubria, Italy Dominga Lapi, Università degli Studi di Pisa, Italy

*Correspondence:

Enrique Teran eteran@usfq.edu.ec

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Vascular Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 23 August 2018 Accepted: 18 October 2018 Published: 15 November 2018

Citation:

Teran E, Hernández I, Tana L, Teran S, Galaviz-Hernandez C, Sosa-Macías M, Molina G and Calle A (2018) Mitochondria and Coenzyme Q10 in the Pathogenesis of Preeclampsia. Front. Physiol. 9:1561. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01561 Keywords: preeclampsia, placenta, mitochondria, coenzyme Q10, pregnancy

INTRODUCTION

Maternal mortality remains a significant public health problem in Ecuador (The Maternal Health Study [MNPI], 1999; Centro de Estudios de Población y Desarrollo Social [CEPAR], 2004; Instituto Nacional Ecuatoriano de Estadísticas y Censos [INEC], 2017). The main cause for maternal mortality is preeclampsia – a disease characterized by hypertension, increased vascular resistance, endothelial dysfunction, proteinuria, and coagulopathy – that usually manifests in the second trimester of pregnancy (National High Blood Pressure Education Program Working Group Report on High Blood Pressure in Pregnancy, 1990). Preeclampsia is defined as an increase in blood pressure that is equal to or greater than 140/90 mmHg and 24 h of proteinuria equal to or greater than 300 mg/dl (Solomon and Seely, 2001). The presence of preeclampsia during pregnancy also causes complications to the newborn and is associated with low birth weight, preterm delivery, and neonatal mortality (López-Jaramillo, 1993). However, despite several years of basic research, the genesis and the pathophysiology of preeclampsia still remain unknown (Armaly et al., 2018).

For several years, we have dedicated our research efforts toward acquiring a better understanding of preeclampsia and designing new strategies, concepts, and hypotheses that might allow us to unlock the enigma of the etiology of preeclampsia (Calle and Teran, 2018). In this paper, we describe the evidence that highlights the putative role of abnormalities in placental implantation and, more

72

specifically, in terms of mitochondrial function at the placental level on the genesis of preeclampsia. The effects of these alterations upon the maternal endothelium are discussed elsewhere (Roberts and Redman, 1993; Evora, 2000; Granger et al., 2001; Saito and Nakashima, 2014).

DEVELOPMENT OF THE PLACENTA DURING NORMAL PREGNANCY AND IN PREECLAMPSIA

The placenta is a temporary organ that forms a physical and functional connection between the mother and the embryo/fetus during development. However, in contrast to other organs, the environment in which the placenta develops during the first 8–10 weeks is poor in oxygen; it has been demonstrated that this is essential for blastocyst implantation and further embryo and placental development (Genbacev et al., 1997; Goldman-Wohl and Yagel, 2002).

The trophoblast cells differentiate into the embryo and are derived from the trophectoderm and develop into the blastocyst during development; these cells are essential in maintaining the further development of a normal pregnancy (Genbacev et al., 1997). The trophoblast adheres to the uterus and begins to penetrate into the endometrial stroma. Previous research has shown that proteolytic enzymes such as metalloproteinase act as facilitators in the penetration process by degrading the extracellular matrix (Goldman-Wohl and Yagel, 2002).

The implantation of the blastocyst and primitive placental formation are associated with active penetration of the trophoblast into the endometrial epithelium and adjacent stroma in a low-pressure oxygen environment, which facilitates this process (Genbacev et al., 1997). Subsequently, when the trophoblast is in an environment of high oxygen pressure (Genbacev et al., 1997), it begins the process of differentiation from an early proliferative to an invasive phenotype that will continue to penetrate up to the first third of the myometrium (Zhou et al., 1997b). Interestingly, these cells can also invade the maternal spiraled arteries, which helps to refurbish and replace endothelial and muscular cells (Zhou et al., 1997b). This procedure, known as the conversion, is the replacement of the fetal by maternal endothelium and a loss of elasticity in the arterial vessels. Arteries, then by losing their elasticity, become more compliant, like veins, to increase its capability, according to the demand during pregnancy. In this way, blood flow increases in order to supply nutrients and oxygen to the embryo/fetus during development.

The syncytiotrophoblast is responsible for nutrient exchange, and it is derived from the fusion of the trophoblast cells, which creates an impermeable cellular wallpaper (Goldman-Wohl and Yagel, 2002). In addition to the maintenance of the placental nutrients, the syncytiotrophoblast is also responsible for gaseous exchange as well as the production of hormones and growth factors.

Dependence on oxygen is necessary for normal placental development (De Marco and Caniggia, 2002). The processes underlying the differentiation and the invasion of the trophoblast

into the endometrium consume significant amounts of energy (Widschwendter et al., 1998). Based on this requirement, placental development requires an organ acting as an oxygen sensor to modulate energy production. Experimental studies have demonstrated that mitochondria and, more specifically, respiratory chain complexes appear to be responsible for such regulation (De Marco and Caniggia, 2002).

To determine the mechanisms responsible for how and why the placenta and trophoblastic cells can detect oxygen levels may have significant clinical relevance because preeclampsia or the retardation of intrauterine growth involves changes in placentation.

ABNORMAL PLACENTATION DURING PREECLAMPSIA

Several studies have shown that an alteration in placental function is linked to the development of preeclampsia. This pathology can occur in pregnancies without a fetus being present, for example, in the condition referred to as mole hydatidiform (Page, 1939) or via poor placentation (Goldman-Wohl and Yagel, 2002) and thus cause an increase in the placental mass, which is the characteristic of gestational diabetes (Solomon and Seely, 2001) or multiple pregnancies (Thornton and Macdonald, 1991). Notably, preeclampsia resolves after delivery (Redman, 1991). Furthermore, histopathological studies have demonstrated morphological changes in vessels from preeclamptic placentas in a process that has come to be known as "endotheliosis" (Gerretsen et al., 1981). A number of experimental studies have analyzed these observations (Gerretsen et al., 1981; Redman, 1991; Colburn et al., 1994; Graham and McCrae, 1996; Lim et al., 1997; Zhou et al., 1997a) and have noted that during preeclampsia, there are two functional abnormalities: first, invasion of the trophoblast to the uterine parenchyma is not deeper and invasion to the vasculature does not reach up to the decidua portion and into the spiral arteries. As a consequence, maternal vessels do not complete the normal physiological changes known as conversion. Consequently, the diameter of the myometrial vessels in preeclampsia is less than half of those in normal pregnancy (Brosens et al., 1972); furthermore, these vessels maintain their responsiveness to vasoconstrictors such as angiotensin or epinephrine (van der Graaf et al., 2013). Second, the number of vessels showing evidence of trophoblastic invasion is reduced in comparison with normal pregnancy (Khong et al., 1986).

However, there has been significant debate over the potential causes of such alterations. An immunological hypothesis targets a potential maternal sensitization process against fetal tissue. It has been shown that longer sexual cohabitation (Dekker and Baha, 2001) and sexual practices that expose the maternal environment to the partner's semen, for example, oral sex or intercourse without a condom (Koelman et al., 2000), can reduce a women's risk for the further development of preeclampsia (Saftlas et al., 2014).

In the maternal decidua, there is a significant concentration of leucocytes; of these, the most important are the natural killers **TABLE 1** | Studies involving the activity of the mitochondria during preeclampsia.

Study	Relevant findings				
Torbergsen et al., 1989	 Features of preeclampsia as disturbed ion transport and prostaglandin synthesis, vasoconstriction, platelet aggregation, and hyperuricemia may be explain by mitochondrial dysfunction. 				
Folgerø et al., 1996	• Mutations in mitochondrial transfer ribonucleic acid genes in two families are associated with a high occurrence of preeclampsia and eclampsia.				
Matsubara et al., 1997	• Number of mitochondria positive for COX staining markedly decreased in the placentae of the women with preeclampsia.				
	• Dysfunction of trophoblast's mitochondria may be present in placenta of patients with preeclampsia.				
Wang and Walsh, 1998	Increase of the amount of placental mitochondria in preeclampsia.				
	Mitochondrial lipid peroxidation increased in preeclampsia.				
	• Mitochondrial generation of superoxide an important source of oxidative stress in preeclampsia.				
Staff et al., 1999	• The content of free 8-iso-prostaglandin F2a in decidual tissue from preeclampsia was significantly elevated than in control tissue.				
Sikkema et al., 2001	Oxidative stress in placenta of preeclamptic women is increased.				
Zamudio, 2003	 Placenta from women living at high altitude has increased villous vascularization and thinning of the villous membranes, that together increases oxygen diffusion capacity. 				

(NK cells). During preeclampsia, the trophoblast experiences an increased level of cellular lysis by maternal NK cells (Colburn et al., 1994), which is responsible for an abnormal sensitization process. Therefore, during preeclampsia, there is a reduction in the expression of human leucocyte antigen G (HLA-G) in the invasive trophoblast (Colburn et al., 1994), making these cells more susceptible to attack by NK cells present in the maternal decidua. This process seems to be maintained throughout pregnancy, meaning that trophoblastic cells do not have the resources to support appropriate implantation. In these cases, the production of lysis enzymes in the extracellular matrix from the maternal decidua is abnormal (Lim et al., 1997) and the enzymes produced have structural problems and, therefore, are not able to function appropriately (Graham and McCrae, 1996). Consequently, the trophoblast cannot break down the maternal extracellular matrix and, hence, invasion is not possible.

In addition, during the process of placentation, several factors, such as growth factors and intercellular adhesion molecules, control trophoblast differentiation and also the process of conversion. During preeclampsia, these factors and their functions are often abnormal; thus, trophoblast invasion and conversion are also abnormal (Zhou et al., 1997a; Goldman-Wohl and Yagel, 2002).

Finally, for all these cellular processes, it is known that the trophoblast requires oxygen to produce energy at the mitochondrial level (Genbacev et al., 1997; De Marco and Caniggia, 2002). Several reports have been now published showing an abnormal mitochondrial function in the trophoblast cells during preeclampsia (Furui et al., 1994; Vuorinen et al., 1998; Wang and Walsh, 1998; Roberts and Lían, 2002).

MITOCHONDRIA AND PREECLAMPSIA

Mitochondria are intracellular organelles responsible for energy production through the respiratory chain in a process that uses oxygen to form adenosine triphosphate (ATP), which is known as oxidative phosphorylation (Davidson, 1994). This process is characterized by the transport of electrons from NADH and FADH₂ to the five separate enzymatic complexes in the mitochondrial membrane. Oxygen is the final receptor of electrons at the end of the respiratory chain, where it is ultimately reduced to water. However, during this process, normally 2–3% of oxygen is not completely reduced and leads to the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), particularly, superoxide (O_2^- , 16). Superoxide is mainly generated by coenzyme Q10 (CoQ10) partially reduced – and by complex III in the respiratory chain (Lenaz, 2001). Consequently, superoxide can be converted into hydrogen peroxide by superoxide dismutase in the mitochondria (Wang and Walsh, 1996).

Considering the demand for oxygen and energy required for normal placental development, it is logical to assume that any alterations at this level might compromise the overall process of placentation. Indeed, observational studies have demonstrated a higher incidence of preeclampsia in a family with mitochondrial dysfunction (Torbergsen et al., 1989). In addition, in women with preeclampsia (Folgerø et al., 1996) and their first-degree relatives, there is an abnormality in the expression of mitochondrial genes responsible for energy production, such as cytochrome C oxidase (Matsubara et al., 1997), or electron exchange processes preferentially favor oxidation (Wang and Walsh, 1998). On the contrary, it is well known that hypoxic conditions, for example, living at an altitude, lead to major susceptibility to the development of preeclampsia (Zamudio, 2003). In this sense, there is significant evidence showing that increased generation of ROS plays a key role in the development of preeclampsia (Davidge et al., 1992; Branch et al., 1994; Mikhail et al., 1994; López-Jaramillo et al., 1998; Little and Gladen, 1999; Staff et al., 1999; Sikkema et al., 2001). Reports have also confirmed that the origin of ROS is most likely from the placenta and, in particular, mitochondria (Wang and Walsh, 1998). A previous study reported that the number of mitochondria in placental tissue is far greater in women with preeclampsia and that these mitochondria have greater susceptibility to lipid peroxidation (Wang and Walsh, 1998); however, these observations were made in only a small number of patients (Table 1).

TABLE 2 | Studies involving Coenzyme Q10 (CoQ10) during normal pregnancy and preeclampsia.

Study	Relevant findings				
Noia et al., 1996	Low CoQ10 levels in cases of spontaneous abortion.Increase in the plasma CoQ10 levels in relation to the contractile activity of the uterine muscle.				
Noia et al., 1998	CoQ10 levels were higher in fetuses with hypoxia and non-immune hydrops.				
Teran et al., 2003	Plasma CoQ10 levels were significantly higher in normal pregnant women in comparison to non-pregnant women.During preeclampsia there is a significant decrease in plasma levels of CoQ10 compared to normal pregnant women.				
Palan et al., 2004	• In pre-eclampsia there is decreased levels of CoQ10 and alpha-tocopherol, reducing the ability of antioxidant defense leading to the endothelial cell damage observed in preeclampsia.				
Teran et al., 2005	• CoQ10 in placenta and umbilical cord blood from women with preeclampsia was significantly higher compare to normal pregnancy.				
Teran et al., 2008	 Plasma and placental CoQ10 levels in normal pregnant women at sea level were significantly lower than in those living at high altitude. Preeclamptic women displayed higher placental CoQ10 content, which was only significant among those living at sea level; while CoQ10 plasma levels were significantly lower only in preeclamptic women living at high altitude. 				
Teran et al., 2009	 Double blind, placebo controlled clinical trial with CoQ10 supplementation (200 mg/daily) from week 20 of pregnancy. Thirty women (25.6%) in the placebo group compared with 17 women (14.4%) in the CoQ10 group developed preeclampsia (p = 0.035). 				
Hernandez et al., 2017	 At week 20 of pregnancy, plasma CoQ10 levels showed no difference between the control and supplemented groups. In the CoQ10 group women who developed preeclampsia showed significantly higher placental levels than normal pregnant women did. In mitochondria from preeclamptic women, levels of CoQ10 were no different among those in the placebo and CoQ10 groups. 				



In this sense, CoQ10, the only non-polar electron transporter into the mitochondrial respiratory chain, plays a key role in both production of energy and formation of ROS (Davidson, 1994; Lenaz, 2001). Circulating CoQ10 is known to act as a potent antioxidant, either directly (Kaikkonen et al., 1999) or via the regeneration of vitamin E (Hodson and Watts, 2003). Therefore, it seems logical to suggest that CoQ10 could be involved in the pathogenesis of preeclampsia.

COENZYME Q10 DURING NORMAL PREGNANCY AND PREECLAMPSIA

The CoQ10 or ubiquinone, is a fat-soluble molecule synthesized endogenously from phenylalanine (benzoquinone ring) and

mevalonic acid (responsible for isoprenoid units) and with a small contribution derived from the diet (Davidson, 1994). The CoQ10 participates in energy generation and plays a key role in mitochondrial respiration, as it is responsible for electron transport from complex I and II to complex III (Davidson, 1994). Thus, any alteration in the mitochondrial CoQ10 might result in reduced formation of energy and an increase in generation of ROS (Lenaz, 2001). On the contrary, CoQ10 acts as an antioxidant for lipoproteins, both membrane-bound and circulating (Hodson and Watts, 2003). In the later environment, the function of CoQ10 is related to its capability to increase the bioavailability of vasoactive substances such as nitric oxide (NO; Hodson and Watts, 2003; Teran, 2003).

Only a few studies have investigated CoQ10 during human pregnancy (Noia et al., 1996, 1998). These studies showed that

the levels of CoQ10 increase progressively, starting in the first trimester and continue to rise until delivery (Table 2). In 2003, the authors' group reported that Ecuadorian normal pregnant women, although with recognized nutritional deficiencies, had CoQ10 levels within the normal range as reported for other populations, but higher than non-pregnant women (Teran et al., 2003). However, the authors reported for the first time that women with preeclampsia show a significant reduction in CoQ10 levels (Teran et al., 2003), a result that was later confirmed by other authors (Palan et al., 2004). At that time, our working hypothesis was that during preeclampsia, there may be a "mechanism" that consumes CoQ10 (not related to diet), which might arise because of increased production of ROS. To investigate further this possibility, the author's group investigated CoQ10 levels in the placenta and the umbilical cord and interestingly found that the levels were significantly higher in women with preeclampsia (Teran et al., 2005), suggesting a compensatory accumulation. However, all those studies were done in Quito, a high-altitude city (2800 m above the sea level). So, in a subsequent study, plasma CoQ10 was measured in Ecuadorian women living at sea level; results showed that normal pregnant women had significantly lower levels of CoQ10, but in those with preeclampsia, the difference was not as evident as in those patients living at high altitude; these observations may be related to the small sample size of this study (Teran et al., 2008). Interestingly, placental content of CoQ10 was also significantly higher in preeclamptic women at sea level (Teran et al., 2008). It was also consistent with a later study showing that CoQ10 levels in mitochondria from placentas of women with preeclampsia were significantly higher compared with mitochondria from normal placentas (Teran et al., 2007; Table 2).

According to our present data, it is likely that women with preeclampsia have already-established alterations in their levels of CoQ10 compared with normal pregnant women; these changes occur both in the plasma and the placenta. However, they occur to a greater extent in the mitochondria. However, all of these previous studies were conducted in women, who had already developed the disease; consequently, it was not possible to determine if a reduction in CoQ10 was a cause or a consequence. With this information, we decided to set up a randomized, double-blinded, and placebo-controlled clinical trial providing 200 mg of CoQ10 daily to 235 pregnant women starting from week 20 up to delivery; we then determined the rate of preeclampsia in this cohort of patients. At the end of the study, there were more patients in the preeclampsia placebo group (25.6% vs. 14.4%), demonstrating, also for the first time, that supplementation of CoQ10 represents an effective intervention to reduce the risk of developing preeclampsia (Teran et al., 2009).

REFERENCES

- Armaly, Z., Jadaon, J. E., Jabbour, A., and Abassi, Z. A. (2018). Preeclampsia: novel mechanisms and potential therapeutic approaches. *Front. Physiol.* 25:973. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.00973
- Branch, D. W., Mitchell, M., Miller, E., Palinski, W., and Witztum, J. (1994). Preeclampsia and serum antibodies to oxidized low-density lipoprotein. *Lancet* 343, 645–646. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(94)92639-5

Post hoc analysis showed that before supplementation, at week 20 of pregnancy, plasma CoQ10 levels showed no difference between controls and the supplemented groups. Interestingly, at delivery, placental tissue showed no differences in the placebo group when compared between women with normal pregnancy and those with preeclampsia, while in the CoQ10 group, women with preeclampsia showed significantly higher placental levels compared with normal pregnant women. However, mitochondrial levels of CoQ10 in the placenta from pregnant women with preeclampsia receiving placebo did not show significant differences when compared with those receiving supplementation of CoQ10. These results suggest that in women with preeclampsia, although CoQ10 reduced preeclampsia and was present in high levels in placental tissue, the mitochondrial levels of CoQ10 did not change significantly (Hernandez et al., 2017).

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, preeclampsia is associated with abnormal placental development as a result of several factors; of these, the dysfunction of the mitochondria appears to be the most important. In that case, the lack of energy and the associated increase of free radicals might be due to the deficiency or the consumption of CoQ10, as supplementation of CoQ10 was shown to be an effective intervention for the reduction of the rate of preeclampsia (**Figure 1**).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ET, IH, and AC contributed to the conception and design of the studies. LT and ST organized the databases. ET, ST, and AC performed the statistical analysis. ET, IH, and ST wrote the first draft of the manuscript. C-GH, MS-M, and GM wrote sections of the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved of the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Thanks to Mrs. Sandra Vivero and Ms. Marcia Racines-Orbe for their technical support. Studies were possible by several grants sanctioned to ET from SENESCYT Ecuador, Jarrow Formulas, and Universidad San Francisco de Quito. Last, but not the least, to all those women, who kindly participated in our research.

Brosens, I. A., Robertson, W. B., and Dixon, H. G. (1972). The role of the spiral arteries in the pathogenesis of preeclampsia. Obstet. Gynecol. Annu. 1, 177–191.

Calle, A., and Teran, E. (2018). "Estudio de la preeclampsia en Ecuador: del calcio a la coenzima Q10," in *La Medicina Ecuatoriana en el Siglo XXI. Academia Ecuatoriana de Medicina*, Tomo I, eds J. Breilh, F. Hidalgo, and F. Bonilla (Quito: Editorial Corporación Editora Nacional), 421–437.

Centro de Estudios de Población y Desarrollo Social [CEPAR] (2004). Encuesta Demográfica y de Salud Materna e Infantil - ENDEMAIN. Quito: CEPAR.

- Colburn, G. T., Chiag, M. H., and Main, E. K. (1994). Expression of the nonclassic histocompatibility antigen HLA-G by preeclamptic placenta. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 170, 1244–1250. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9378(94)70134-2
- Davidge, S. T., Hubel, C. A., Brayden, R. D., Capeless, E. C., and McLaughlin, M. K. (1992). Sera antioxidant activity in uncomplicated and preeclamptic pregnancies. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 79, 897–901.
- Davidson, V. (1994). "Chapter 22: Mitochondrial electron transport and oxidative phosphorylation," in *Biochemistry*, 3rd Edn, eds V. Davidson and D. Sittman (Pennsylvania, PA: Harwal Publishing), 379–386.
- De Marco, C., and Caniggia, I. (2002). Mechanisms of oxygen sensing in human trophoblast cells. *Placenta* 23, S58–68. doi: 10.1053/plac.2002.0809
- Dekker, G., and Baha, S. (2001). Primary, secondary and tertiary prevention of preeclampsia. *Lancet* 357, 209–215. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(00)03599-6
- Evora, P. (2000). An open discussion about endothelial dysfunction: is it timely of propose a classification? *Int. J. Cardiol.* 73, 289–292. doi: 10.1016/S0167-5273(00)00223-0
- Folgerø, T., Storbakk, N., Torbergsen, T., and Oian, P. (1996). Mutations in mitochondrial transfer ribonucleic acid genes in pre-eclampsia. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 174, 1626–1630. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9378(96)70619-1
- Furui, T., Karauchi, O., Tanaka, M., Mizutani, S., Ozawa, T., and Tomoda, Y. (1994). Decrese in cytochrome c oxidase and cytochrome oxidase subunit I messenger RNA levels in preeclamptic pregnancies. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 84, 283–288.
- Genbacev, O., Zhou, Y., Ludlow, J., and Fisher, S. (1997). Regulation of human placental development by oxygen tension. *Science* 277, 1669–1672. doi: 10.1126/ science.277.5332.1669
- Gerretsen, G., Huisjes, H., and Elema, J. D. (1981). Morphological changes of the spiral arteries in the placenta bed in relation to preeclampsia an fetal growth retardation. *Br. J. Obstet. Gynaecol.* 88, 876–881. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.1981. tb02222.x
- Goldman-Wohl, D., and Yagel, S. (2002). Regulation of trophoblastocyst invasion: from normal implantation to preeclampsia. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* 187, 233–238. doi: 10.1016/S0303-7207(01)00687-6
- Graham, C., and McCrae, K. (1996). Altered expression of gelatinase and surfaceassociated plasminogen activator activity by trophoblast cells isolated from placentas of preeclamptic patient. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 175, 555–562. doi: 10.1053/ob.1996.v175.a74404
- Granger, J., Alexander, B., Bennett, W., and Khalil, R. (2001). Pathophysiology of pregnancy-induced hypertension. AJH 14, S178–S185. doi: 10.1016/S0895-7061(01)02086-6
- Hernandez, I., Vivero, S., Racines-Orbe, M., Calle, A., Molina, G., and Teran, E. (2017). Placental and mitochondrial Q10 content after CoQ10 supplementation during pregnancy. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 108:S77. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed. 2017.04.259
- Hodson, J., and Watts, G. (2003). Can coenzyme Q10 improve vascular function and blood pressure? Potential for effective therapeutic reduction in vascular oxidative stress. *BioFactors* 18, 129–136. doi: 10.1002/biof.5520180215
- Instituto Nacional Ecuatoriano de Estadísticas y Censos [INEC] (2017). Principales Causas de Morbi-Mortalidad Materna en el Ecuador. Quito: INEC.
- Kaikkonen, J., Nyyssonen, K., Toumainen, T., Ristonmaa, U., and Salonen, J. (1999). Determinants of plasma coenzymen Q10 in humans. FEBS Lett. 443, 163–166. doi: 10.1016/S0014-5793(98)01712-8
- Khong, T. Y., De Wolf, F., Robertson, W. B., and Brosens, I. (1986). Inadequate maternal vascular response to placentation in pregnancies complicated by preeclampsia and by small for gestational age infants. *Br. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 93, 1049–1059. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.1986.tb07830.x
- Koelman, C., Coumans, A., Nijman, H., Doxiadias, I., Dekker, G., and Glaas, F. (2000). Correlation between oral sex and a low incidence of preeclampsia: a role for soluble HLA in seminal fluid? *J. Reprod. Immunol.* 46, 155–166. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0378(99)00062-5
- Lenaz, G. (2001). A critical appraisal of the mitochondiral coenzyme Q pool. *FEBS Lett.* 509, 151–155. doi: 10.1016/S0014-5793(01)03172-6
- Lim, K., Zhou, Y., Janatpour, M., Mcmaster, M., Bass, K., Chun, S., et al. (1997). Human cytotrophoblast differentiation/invasion is abnormal in preeclampsia. *Am. J. Pathol.* 151, 1809–1818.
- Little, R., and Gladen, B. (1999). Levels of lipid peroxides in uncomplicated pregnancy: a review of the literature. *Reprod. Toxicol.* 13, 347–352. doi: 10.1016/ S0890-6238(99)00033-7

- López-Jaramillo, P. (1993). "Epidemiología de la hipertensión inducido por el embarazo: situación nacional," in *Hipertensión Inducida por el Embarazo. Fisiopatología y Prevención*, ed. P. En Lopez-Jaramillo (Quito: UNICEF), 1–13.
- López-Jaramillo, P., Terán, E., Ringqvist, A., Moya, W., Rivera, J., and Berrazueta, J. R. (1998). "Oxidised low-density lipoproteins and nitric oxide during normal pregnancy and preeclampsia," in *Biology of Nitric Oxide*, Part 6, eds S. Moncada, N. Toda, H. Maeda, and E. A. Higgs (London: Portland Press), 322.
- Matsubara, S., Minakami, H., Sato, I., and Saito, T. (1997). Decrease in cytochrome C oxidase activity detected cytochemically in the placental trophoblast of patients with pre-eclampsia. *Placenta* 18, 255–259. doi: 10.1016/S0143-4004(97)80059-8
- Mikhail, M., Anyaegbunam, A., Garfinkel, D., Palan, R., Basu, J., and Rommey, S. (1994). Preeclampsia and antioxidants nutrients: decreased plasma levels of reduced ascorbic acid, (tocopherol, and beta-carotene in women with preeclampsia. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 171, 150–157. doi: 10.1016/0002-9378(94) 90462-6
- National High Blood Pressure Education Program Working Group Report on High Blood Pressure in Pregnancy (1990). Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 163, 1691–1712.
- Noia, G., Littarru, G. P., De Santis, M., Oradei, A., Mactromarino, C., Trivellini, C., et al. (1996). Coenzyme Q10 in pregnancy. *Fetal Diagn. Ther.* 11, 264–270. doi: 10.1159/000264313
- Noia, G., Romano, D., De Santis, M., Mariorenzi, S., Caruso, A., and Mancuso, S. (1998). Coenzyme Q10 fetal plasma levels. *Fetal Diagn. Ther.* 13, 127–130. doi: 10.1159/000020820
- Page, W. (1939). The relation between hydatid moles, relative ischemia of the gravid uterus, and the placental origin of eclampsia. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 37, 291–293.
- Palan, P. R., Shaban, D. W., Martino, T., and Mikhail, M. S. (2004). Lipid-Soluble antioxidants and pregnancy: maternal serum levels of coenzyme Q(10), alphatocopherol and gamma-tocopherol in preeclampsia and normal pregnancy. *Gynecol. Obstet. Invest.* 58, 8–13.
- Redman, C. (1991). Current topic: pre-eclampsia and the placenta. *Placenta* 12, 301–308. doi: 10.1016/0143-4004(91)90339-H
- Roberts, D., and Redman, C. (1993). Pre-eclampsia: more then pregnancy induced hypertension. *Lancet* 341, 1447–1451. doi: 10.1016/0140-6736(93)90889-O
- Roberts, J., and Lían, K. (2002). Recents insights into the pathogenesis of preeclampsia. *Placenta* 23, 359–372. doi: 10.1053/plac.2002.0819
- Saftlas, A. F., Rubenstein, L., Prater, K., Harland, K. K., Field, E., and Triche, E. W. (2014). Cumulative exposure to paternal seminal fluid prior to conception and subsequent risk of preeclampsia. *J. Reprod. Immunol.* 10, 104–110. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2013.07.006
- Saito, S., and Nakashima, A. (2014). A review of the mechanism for poor placentation in early-onset preeclampsia: the role of autophagy in trophoblast invasion and vascular remodeling. *J. Reprod. Immunol.* 10, 80–88. doi: 10.1016/ j.jri.2013.06.002
- Sikkema, J., van Rijn, B., Frnak, A., Bruinse, H., de Roos, R., Stroes, E., et al. (2001). Placental superoxide is increased in preeclampsia. *Placenta* 22, 304–308. doi: 10.1053/plac.2001.0629
- Solomon, C., and Seely, A. (2001). Hypertension in pregnancy a manifestation of the insulin resistance syndrome? *Hypertension* 37, 232–239.
- Staff, C., Halvorsen, B., Ranheim, T., and Henriksen, T. (1999). Elevated level of free 8-iso-prostaglandin F2 alpha in decidua basalis of women with preeclampsia. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 181, 1211–1215. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9378(99)70 110-9
- Teran, E. (2003). Ubiquinone Reacts with Nitric Oxide to Prevent the Activity of Purified Complex I. Docotoral thesis, University of London, London.
- Teran, E., Chedraui, P., Racines-Orbe, M., Vivero, S., Villena, F., Duchicela, F., et al. (2008). Coenzyme Q10 levels in women with preeclampsia living at different altitudes. *Biofactors* 32, 185–190. doi: 10.1002/biof.5520320122
- Teran, E., Hernandez, I., Nieto, B., Tavara, R., Ocampo, J. E., and Calle, A. (2009). Coenzyme Q10 supplementation during pregnancy reduces the risk of pre-eclampsia. *Int. J. Gynaecol. Obstet.* 105, 43–45. doi: 10.1016/j.ijgo.2008.11. 033
- Teran, E., Mora, L., Hernández, I., Racines-Orbe, M., Vivero, S., Vela, P., et al. (2007). Niveles intracelulares de coenzima Q10 durante el embarazo normal y en el complicado con preeclampsia. *Rev. Ecuatoriana Ginecol. Obstet* 14, 86–89.
- Teran, E., Racines, M., Vivero, S., Escudero, C., Molina, G., and Calle, A. (2003). Preeclampsia is associated with a decrease in plasma coenzyme Q10

levels. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 35, 1453-1456. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2003. 08.004

- Teran, E., Vivero, S., Racines-Orbe, M., Castellanos, A., Chuncha, G., Enriquez, G., et al. (2005). Coenzyme Q10 is increased in placenta and cord blood during preeclampsia. *BioFactors* 25, 153–158. doi: 10.1002/biof.55202 50117
- The Maternal Health Study [MNPI] (1999). Futures Group International. Indice de Esfuerzo de Programa Materno y Neonatal: Ecuador. Available at: http://www. policyproject.com/policycircle/documents/MNPI/Ecuador_MNPI.pdf
- Thornton, J., and Macdonald, A. (1991). Twin mothers, pregnancy hypertension and preeclampsia. *Br. J. Obstet. Gynaecol.* 106, 570–575. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.1999.tb08326.x
- Torbergsen, T., Oian, P., Mathiesen, E., and Borud, O. (1989). Preeclampsia a mitochondrial disease? Acta Obstet. Gynecol. Scand. 68, 145–148. doi: 10.3109/ 00016348909009902
- van der Graaf, A. M., Wiegman, M. J., Plösch, T., Zeeman, G. G., van Buiten, A., Henning, R. H., et al. (2013). Endothelium-dependent relaxation and angiotensin II sensitivity in experimental preeclampsia. *PLoS One* 8:e79884. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0079884
- Vuorinen, K., Remes, A., Sormune, R., Tapanainen, J., and Hasseinen, I. (1998). Placental mitochondrial DNA and respiratory chain enzymes in the etiology of preeclampsia. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 91, 950–955.
- Wang, Y., and Walsh, S. (1998). Placental mitochondria as a source of oxidative stress in preeclampsia. *Placenta* 19, 581–586. doi: 10.1016/S0143-4004(98) 90018-2
- Wang, Y., and Walsh, S. W. (1996). Antioxidant activities and mRNA expression of SOD, catalase and glutathione peroxidase in normal and

preeclamptic placentas. J. Soc. Gynecol. Investig. 3, 179-184. doi: 10.1177/107155769600300404

- Widschwendter, M., Schrocksnadel, H., and Mortl, M. G. (1998). Pre-eclampsia: a disorder of placental mitochondria? *Mol. Med. Today* 4, 286–291. doi: 10.1016/ S1357-4310(98)01293-3
- Zamudio, S. (2003). The placenta at high altitude. *High Alt. Med. Biol.* 4, 171–191. doi: 10.1089/152702903322022785
- Zhou, Y., Damsky, C., and Fisher, S. (1997a). Preeclampsia is associated with failure of human cytothrophoblast to mimic a vascular adhesion phenotype. One cause of defective endovascular invasion in this syndrome? *J. Clin. Invest.* 9, 2152–2164.
- Zhou, Y., Fisher, S., Janatpour, M., Genbacev, O., Dejana, E., Wheelock, M., et al. (1997b). Human cytotrophoblasts adopt a vascular phenotype as they differentiate. A strategy for successful endovascular invasion? *J. Clin. Invest.* 99, 2139–2151.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Teran, Hernández, Tana, Teran, Galaviz-Hernandez, Sosa-Macías, Molina and Calle. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





New Insights Into the Role of Placental Aquaporins and the Pathogenesis of Preeclampsia

Natalia Szpilbarg¹, Nora A. Martínez¹, Mauricio Di Paola^{1,2}, Julieta Reppetti¹, Yollyseth Medina¹, Abril Seyahian¹, Mauricio Castro Parodi² and Alicia E. Damiano^{1,2*} on behalf of Red Iberoamericana de alteraciones Vasculares Asociadas a Trastornos del Embarazo (RIVATREM)

¹ Laboratorio de Biología de la Reproducción, Instituto de Fisiología y Biofísica Bernardo Houssay (IFIBIO)-UBA-CONICET, Facultad de Medicina, Universidad de Buenos Aires, Buenos Aires, Argentina, ² Cátedra de Biología Celular y Molecular, Departamento de Ciencias Biológicas, Facultad de Farmacia y Bioquímica, Universidad de Buenos Aires, Buenos Aires, Argentina

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Lacolley Patrick, Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale (INSERM), France

Reviewed by:

Keshari Thakali, University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences, United States Dan Predescu, Rush University. United States

*Correspondence:

Alicia E. Damiano adamiano@ffyb.uba.ar; aedamiano@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Vascular Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 19 July 2018 Accepted: 08 October 2018 Published: 30 October 2018

Citation:

Szpilbarg N, Martínez NA, Di Paola M, Reppetti J, Medina Y, Seyahian A, Castro Parodi M and Damiano AE (2018) New Insights Into the Role of Placental Aquaporins and the Pathogenesis of Preeclampsia. Front. Physiol. 9:1507. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01507 Accumulated evidence suggests that an abnormal placentation and an altered expression of a variety of trophoblast transporters are associated to preeclampsia. In this regard, an abnormal expression of AQP3 and AQP9 was reported in these placentas. Recent data suggests that placental AQPs are not only water channel proteins and that may participate in relevant processes required for a normal placental development, such as cell migration and apoptosis. Recently we reported that a normal expression of AQP3 is required for the migration of extravillous trophoblast (EVT) cells. Thus, alterations in this protein might lead to an insufficient transformation of the maternal spiral arteries resulting in fluctuations of oxygen tension, a potent stimulus for oxidative damage and trophoblast apoptosis. In this context, the increase of oxygen and nitrogen reactive species could nitrate AQP9, producing the accumulation of a non-functional protein affecting the survival of the villous trophoblast (VT). This may trigger the exacerbated release of apoptotic VT fragments into maternal circulation producing the systemic endothelial dysfunction underlying the maternal syndrome. Therefore, our hypothesis is that the alteration in the expression of placental AQPs observed at the end of gestation may take place during the trophoblast stem cell differentiation, disturbing both EVT and VT cells development, or during the VT differentiation and turnover. In both situations, VT is affected and at last the maternal vascular system is activated leading to the clinical manifestations of preeclampsia.

Keywords: extravillous trophoblast, villous trophoblast, AQP3, AQP9, human placenta, preeclampsia

INTRODUCTION

Preeclampsia is a pregnancy complication characterized by high blood pressure and proteinuria which usually begins abruptly after 20 weeks of gestation. This condition is exclusively for human gestation and affects 7–10% of pregnancies worldwide (Giachini et al., 2017). In Latin-American countries, it is estimated that 26% of maternal deaths are related to preeclampsia (Khan et al., 2006; Abalos et al., 2013).

The consequences of preeclampsia are not limited to the pregnancy and may conduce to maternal permanent vascular and metabolic damage and future heart diseases. Moreover, emerging

79

evidence suggests that the adaptation to an adverse intrauterine environment may also affect the adult life of the newborn (Giachini et al., 2017).

Despite the importance of preeclampsia and several decades of extensive research, its etiopathogenesis remains unclear. It is well accepted that defects in placentation are the main predisposing factors for preeclampsia (Myatt, 2002; Huppertz, 2008; Hawfield and Freedman, 2009). However, the molecular basis of the abnormal placental development has not been sufficiently clarified yet. Several theories have been proposed to elucidate the origins of preeclampsia but none of them can explain the variability of cases. In fact, preeclampsia is a very heterogeneous syndrome and is classified by the severity of the disease as mild, moderate, and severe and by the time of delivery as early and late onset preeclampsia, with or without fetal growth restriction (Huppertz, 2008).

The most cited hypothesis on the etiology of preeclampsia considers this syndrome as a two-stage disorder (Hawfield and Freedman, 2009). The first stage is characterized by an insufficient transformation of the maternal spiral arteries resulting in a decrease in blood supply to the fetoplacental unit. Consequently, fluctuation in oxygen levels may increase the damage of the villous trophoblast (VT) concluding in the maternal endothelial dysfunction and the clinical manifestations of preeclampsia. Nevertheless, the link between preeclampsia and a failure of trophoblast invasion has recently raised serious doubts because the abnormal transformation of the uterine spiral arteries gives rise to the maternal symptoms only in some women (Huppertz, 2008, 2018). That is why, the current view regarding the etiology of preeclampsia has been recently updated toward the dysregulation of VT turnover.

In this regard, it was proposed that failures in the differentiation of the villous syncytiotrophoblast could accelerate the shedding of apoptotic syncytial aggregates (Norah et al., 2013). The detachment from the apical syncytiotrophoblast membrane of these structures into the maternal circulation, induce an antiangiogenic environment and enhance the maternal systemic inflammatory response producing the endothelial dysfunction. (Huppertz, 2008, 2018; Norah et al., 2013). Even more, a failure in the undifferentiated trophoblast stem cells, may affect VT and EVT lineage resulting also in an inadequate transformation of the uterine spiral arteries. In this condition, preeclampsia is associated with growth restriction (Huppertz, 2008, 2018).

Villous syncytiotrophoblast is involved in the fetal-maternal oxygen and nutrient exchange, and many placental transporters and channels are altered in preeclamptic placentas (Damiano et al., 2006; del Monaco et al., 2006; Castro-Parodi et al., 2009; Dietrich et al., 2013; Martínez et al., 2016; Szpilbarg and Damiano, 2017).

WATER TRANSPORT AND PLACENTAL AQUAPORINS

Fetal water requirements increase throughout gestation accompanying fetal growth. Emerging evidence show that

water can pass across the placenta by transcellular and paracellular pathways, but the molecular mechanisms of these processes are not clarified yet. Previous research using isolated membrane vesicles showed that water moves through the syncytiotrophoblasts by lipid diffusion (Edwards et al., 1993; Jansson and Illsley, 1993; Jansson et al., 1999) discarding the transcellular route and the participation of water-channel cell membrane proteins known as aquaporins (AQPs).

However, in 2001 we described that AQP3 and AQP9 are present in the apical membrane of the human syncytiotrophoblast (Damiano et al., 2001). Both proteins are members of the aquaglyceroporin subfamily and allow the transport of water, urea, and glycerol. Exceptionally, AQP9 also facilitates the flux of neutral solutes such as monocarboxylates, purines, and pyrimidines (Ishibashi et al., 1998; Tsukaguchi et al., 1998). Uptake experiments showed that these AQPs may mediate the transcellular water, urea, and glycerol transport in human placenta (Damiano et al., 2006; **Table 1**).

However, in preeclamptic placentas we found that the expression of AQP9 increased and the cellular distribution of this protein changed, being localized not only in the apical and basal membranes but also in the cytosol of the syncytiotrophoblasts (Damiano et al., 2006). In contrast, we have recently reported that AQP3 expression considerably decreased in preeclamptic placentas compared to normal ones (Szpilbarg and Damiano, 2017).

Regarding AQPs functionality, water, and mannitol uptakes also decreased in preeclamptic placentas, compared to normal

	Normotensive Placentas	Preeclamptic Placentas
AQP3 EXPRESSION	Yes (Damiano et al., 2001; Zhu et al., 2009)	Yes, decreased (Szpilbarg and Damiano, 2017)
AQP3 LOCALIZATION	Apical membrane of syncytiotrophoblast cells (Damiano et al., 2001; Zhu et al., 2010)	Apical membrane of syncytiotrophoblast cells (Szpilbarg and Damiano, 2017)
AQP9 expression	Yes (Damiano et al., 2001)	Yes, increased (Damiano et al., 2006)
AQP9 localization	Apical membrane of syncytiotrophoblast cells (Damiano et al., 2001; Zhu et al., 2010)	Apical and basal membranes, and cytoplasm of syncytiotrophoblast cells (Damiano et al., 2006)
WATER UPTAKE, pmol. g ⁻¹ .min ⁻¹		
Control	76 ± 6	47 ± 10*
+ HgCl ₂ 0.3mM	$48 \pm 7^{\#}$	36 ± 12
	(Damiano et al., 2006)	(Damiano et al., 2006)
Mannitol Uptake, pmol. g ⁻¹ .min ⁻¹		
Control	14.6 ± 0.3	$5.5\pm0.6^*$
+ HgCl ₂ 0.3mM	$7.8\pm0.8^{\#}$	6.0 ± 2.3
	(Damiano et al., 2006)	(Damiano et al., 2006)

P < 0.05 normotensive vs. preeclamptic placentas. P < 0.05 in the absence vs. in the presence of HgCl₂, a general blocker of AQPs.

TABLE 1 | Expression and functionality of AQP3 and AQP9 in normotensive and preeclamptic placentas.

ones and were not sensitive to $HgCl_2$ (Damiano et al., 2006; Table 1).

Although the reduced uptake of water may be associated to AQP3 expression, the lack of sensitivity to HgCl₂ and the reduced uptake of mannitol, which can only permeate through AQP9, may suggest that both proteins are not functional in preeclamptic placentas.

Given that there is no evidence that the water fetal-maternal flux is altered in preeclampsia, the classical role of these placental AQPs exclusively in facilitation of trans-epithelial fluid transport has been called into question (Damiano, 2011; Martínez and Damiano, 2017). Recently, unexpected cellular roles of AQPs were reported, including organelle physiology, proliferation, apoptosis, and cell migration (Verkman, 2011; Kitchen et al., 2015). All of them are related to temporary cell volume changes.

It is important to note that human placenta is hemomonochorial, in which the syncytiotrophoblast, a single layer of polarized epithelium separates the maternal and fetal circulation (Stulc, 1997). Because of the similarities in the fetal-maternal transfer barrier, the guinea pig is the only animal model established to study placental transport. Despite of this, several studies were carried out in mice, rats, and sheep reporting changes in the expression of AQPs during pregnancy that could be associated with changes in placental water transfer and amniotic fluid homeostasis (Liu et al., 2004; Beall et al., 2007; Belkacemi et al., 2011). In addition, AQP3-knockout mice were viable and developed normally, but no studies ruled out placental or pregnancies alterations in these mice (Verkman, 2006; Lei et al., 2017).

On the other hand, preeclampsia is a disorder unique to human pregnancy, and no animal model could reproduce the complete syndrome. Taken into account these difficulties, the role of AQPs in human preeclamptic placenta was studied by *in vitro* models (Martínez and Damiano, 2017).

OXYGEN REGULATION OF PLACENTAL AQUAPORINS

It is well known that trophoblast differentiation is regulated by oxygen (Genbacev et al., 1997; James et al., 2006). During normal pregnancies, placentation occurs in a relatively hypoxic environment. Hypoxia inducible factor- 1α (HIF- 1α) may contribute to the adaptation of the placenta to fluctuations in the oxygen tensions (Patel et al., 2010).

In pathological conditions, intermittent hypoxia because of the decreased maternal blood flow into the intervillous space may produce an ischemia/reperfusion insult in the placenta (Hung and Burton, 2006).

Since hypoxia controls the expression of many genes involved in cell adaptation to stress, the regulation of placental AQPs by oxygen was studied. In normal placental explants exposed to oxygen deprivation, HIF-1 α was detected and AQP9 protein drastically decreased (Castro-Parodi et al., 2013). However, in explants cultured in hypoxia/reoxygenation, HIF-1 α was undetectable and AQP9 showed a significant increased. In this condition, we also observed that AQP9 was localized in the apical and basal membranes and in the cytosol of the syncytiotrophoblast as previously reported in preeclamptic placentas (Damiano et al., 2006; Castro-Parodi et al., 2013).

Regarding AQP3, hypoxia decreased the protein expression which was abnormally localized in the cytosol. After reoxygenation, AQP3 returned to the apical membrane of the syncytiotrophoblast, but its expression was not restored to control levels (Szpilbarg et al., 2016).

PLACENTAL AQUAPORINS AND APOPTOSIS

Trophoblast apoptosis increases progressively during gestation. This physiological process is required for normal turnover of VT and comprises the fusion of the mononuclear cytotrophoblast cells into the multinucleate syncytium (Smith and Baker, 1999; Huppertz et al., 2006; Sharp et al., 2010). These events lead to the release into maternal circulation of syncytial aggregates, which progressively increase during normal pregnancy and do not harm the mother (Burton and Jones, 2009).

In pregnancies complicated by preeclampsia, VT apoptosis is exacerbated compared to normotensive pregnancies (Sharp et al., 2010). It was proposed that an altered balance between proliferation and apoptosis could increase the formation of syncytial aggregates shedding into the maternal circulation. This favors the immunological and inflammatory processes of the mother and promotes the systemic endothelial dysfunction (Huppertz, 2008; Norah et al., 2013; Roland et al., 2016).

Concerning the role of AQPs in the programmed cell death, Jablonski et al. (2004) demonstrated that AQPs may mediate the loss water and subsequent cell shrinkage in the apoptotic cells. The proposed mechanism is that the K^+ efflux and the intracellular K^+ depletion generate an osmotic gradient that drives water out of the cell, a process known as apoptotic volume decrease (AVD). Inactivation of AQPs after AVD and the continuous efflux of ions K^+ decrease the ionic strength of the cytoplasm and activate the apoptotic caspases. (Chen et al., 2008).

Given this background, we studied the role of AQPs in the VT apoptosis. We observed that only the inhibition of AQP3 abrogates the apoptotic response of these cells (Szpilbarg et al., 2016). Thus, we provided evidence that AQP3 may be important in the regulation of VT apoptosis and consequently an abnormal expression of this protein could alter this tightly regulated process.

Along with this idea, we expected that an altered AQP3 may be one of the key factors in the development of preeclampsia. In this context, we assumed that the increase in trophoblast apoptosis observed in preeclampsia might correlate with an increase in AQP3, but we found a reduced expression of this protein in these placentas (Szpilbarg and Damiano, 2017). Consequently, the role of AQP3 in the apoptosis of the VT in preeclampsia remains unclear. One possibility is that AQP3 decreases as an adaptive response of the trophoblast to reduce the apoptotic events observed in preeclampsia.

Another possible explanation is that the damage to the syncytiotrophoblast membranes produced by the intermittent hypoxia may create an unfavorable environment for AQP3 insertion into the plasma membrane, increasing its degradation. In fact, the apical membranes of syncytiotrophoblast from preeclamptic placentas are more rigid than normal ones, due to an increase in sphingomyelin that reduces the number of caveolae and the expression of Caveolin-1 (Levi et al., 2016). Moreover, analysis of the primary structure of AQPs revealed a putative caveolin-1-binding site which is required for AQPs functionality (Jablonski and Hughes, 2006). Consequently, an altered lipid composition may disrupt the ability of sphingomyelin and cholesterol to assemble into caveolae in the apical leaflet of the bilayer, affecting protein expression and cell signaling (Levi et al., 2016).

Regarding AQP9, we found that its blocking did not prevent the apoptotic response of the trophoblast (Szpilbarg et al., 2016), discarding a direct role of the AQP9 in this process. Furthermore, despite the increase in AQP9 protein expression, we observed a lack of its functionality for water and monocarboxylates in preeclamptic placentas (Damiano et al., 2006).

The placenta is a main source of reactive oxygen (ROS) and nitrogen (RNS) species which can nitrate tyrosine sites of proteins by enhancing the production of peroxynitrite (Webster et al., 2008; Myatt, 2010). Nitration of proteins can cause a loss of function. In recent studies (unpublished), we observed an increase of 3-nitrotyrosine AQP9 in preeclamptic placentas. In this context, we propose that this nitrated protein may impair the transfer of lactate, an end-product of anaerobic glycolysis.

Evidence suggests that AQP9 could play a role both in energy metabolism and in the clearance of free radicals. Recently, it was reported in preeclamptic placentas, a significant decrease in the protein expression and the function of GLUT-1 (Lüscher et al., 2017). Therefore, faced with the reduction of the glucose passage, the trophoblast might be forced to use another source of energy like lactate (Lüscher et al., 2017).

Lactate is an energy substrate and can also be involved in scavenging ROS as a source of NADH (Schurr and Gozal, 2011). Although the expression of monocarboxylate symporters MCT1 and MCT4 has been found in syncytiotrophoblast membranes (Settle et al., 2004), no data was found about their expression in preeclamptic placentas. For that reason, we hypothesize that the lack of functionality of AQP9 may increase ROS accumulation and adversely affect the survival of the trophoblast cells, like in other tissues (Miki et al., 2013; Akashi et al., 2015). Therefore, AQP9 may contribute to exacerbate the trophoblast apoptosis in an indirect manner.

In addition, supraphysiological concentrations of peroxynitrite can induce a decrease of protein degradation rates by the proteasome (Grune et al., 1998). Subsequently, we surmise that the changes in the cellular distribution of AQP9, observed in preeclamptic placentas (Damiano et al., 2006), may be due to the increase of this nonfunctional nitrated protein that cannot be degraded in the proteasome and accumulates in the cytosol of the syncytiotrophoblasts.

Given that preeclampsia is a syndrome of early placentation, we cannot discard that the abnormal expression of AQP3 and AQP9 observed at the end of gestation may be a consequence of a failure in the differentiation of the trophoblast stem cell. In this regard, we investigated the role of these proteins at early stages of placenta development.

PLACENTAL AQUAPORINS AND MIGRATION

To date, many AQPs were described in the blastocyst and in the early and term placenta (Escobar et al., 2012; Xiong et al., 2013). AQP3, AQP1, and AQP9 are the most abundant AQPs expressed in chorionic villi from first trimester suggesting that they may have a key role in the normal fetal growth and homeostasis.

А highly synchronized trophoblast differentiation. proliferation, and invasion are necessary to achieve a successful pregnancy. Nowadays, the molecular mechanisms that lead these complex processes remain unknown. Trophoblast cells differentiate to invasive extravillous trophoblast (EVT) or fuse to form the syncytium (Velicky et al., 2016). Thereby, EVT cells change their epithelial phenotype to an invasive mesenchymal phenotype. These events resemble the general epithelial-mesenchymal transition process and allow EVT to invade the endometrium. (DaSilva-Arnolda et al., 2015; Davies et al., 2016). In these processes, mechanisms of migration and invasion displayed by trophoblast and malignant cells are similar. However, unlike tumors, the trophoblast behavior is tightly controlled (Soundararajan and Jagannadha Rao, 2004; Piechowski, 2016).

Moreover, increasing evidence demonstrated that AQPs may be involved in tumor cell migration. (Hu and Verkman, 2006; Nico and Ribatti, 2011; Cao et al., 2013; Ribatti et al., 2014; Marlar et al., 2017).

Considering that preeclampsia is related to an abnormal placentation and an altered placental expression of AQP3 and AQP9 was found after the onset of the maternal syndrome, we assumed that these proteins may participate in the early stages of placental development.

Along with this idea, we explored the contribution of AQPs to the EVT cell migration.

Our findings strongly show that only the blocking of AQP3 or the silencing of its expression reduce trophoblast cells migration. AQP9 is not involved in this process (Reca et al., 2018).

We believe that in preeclampsia complicated by IUGR, the aberrant expression of AQP3 may be present already in the undifferentiated trophoblast stem cell affecting both VT and EVT pathways. However, up to now, it is not possible to determine the expression or functionality of AQPs in early placentas that late in gestation will develop preeclampsia.

PUTATIVE PARTICIPATION OF AQP3 AND AQP9 IN THE PHYSIOPATHOLOGY OF PREECLAMPSIA

Emerging data suggests that placental AQPs may participate in relevant processes required for a normal placental development, such as cell migration and apoptosis (Szpilbarg et al., 2016; Reca et al., 2018).

The alteration in the expression of placental AQPs observed at the end of gestation may take place at two different steps during the trophoblast differentiation: (i) during the trophoblast stem cell differentiation disturbing both EVT and VT cells development or (ii) during the VT differentiation and turnover.

In both situations, the expression of AQPs in VT is affected and ultimately this may contribute with the development of the clinical symptoms of preeclampsia.

Figure 1 is a theoretical representation of our hypothesis of the putative contribution of AQPs to the multiple alterations that lead to the development of preeclampsia. In the first case (i), if the aberrant expression of AQP3 occurs during the first differentiation step of the trophoblast cell lineage or slightly afterward, it may affect EVT as well as VT development. Since AQP3 is required for the appropriated migration of EVT cells (Reca et al., 2018), the abnormal expression of this protein, might lead to a shallow trophoblast invasion and insufficient transformation of the maternal spiral arteries. In this situation, intermittent hypoxia affects placentation increasing ROS and RNS, a potent stimulus for VT apoptosis (Myatt and Cui, 2004; Hung and Burton, 2006). Our hypothesis is that the increase of ROS and RNS may lead to the nitration of AQP9, resulting in a non-functional protein. In this scenario, the lack of functionality of AQP9, may impair the transfer of lactate and promote more accumulation of ROS and enhance the VT cell death. This may trigger the exacerbated release of apoptotic syncytial aggregates into maternal circulation producing the systemic endothelial dysfunction underlying the maternal syndrome. The consequences of this set of alterations may lead to preeclampsia associated to growth restriction.

On the other hand (case ii), we propose that if the abnormal expression of AQP3 takes place only in the villous pathway, it may contribute, together with AQP9, to exacerbate the oxidative damage and apoptotic response of the trophoblast, increasing



trophoblast stem cell differentiation disturbing both extravillous and villous trophoblast cells development resulting in preeclampsia with fetal growth restriction. (i Alterations in AQPs expression occur during villous trophoblast differentiation resulting in preeclampsia without fetal growth restriction. In both scenarios, villous trophoblast cells are affected. the shedding of trophoblast material into maternal circulation. Finally, this may collaborate to induce the injury of endothelial cells, resulting in preeclampsia without growth restriction.

In conclusion, abnormal expression of placental AQPs may appear at different points of trophoblast differentiation affecting VT alone or VT and EVT cells. Although preeclampsia is a complex and multisystemic disorder resulting from multiple simultaneous mechanisms, AQPs may be contributing as part of this network of alterations that give rise to the diverse clinical manifestations of preeclampsia.

REFERENCES

- Abalos, E., Cuesta, C., Grosso, A. L., Chou, D., and Say, L. (2013). Global and regional estimates of preeclampsia and eclampsia: a systematic review. *Eur. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Reprod. Biol.* 170, 1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2013.05.005
- Akashi, A., Miki, A., Kanamori, A., and Nakamura, M. (2015). Aquaporin 9 expression is required for l-lactate to maintain retinal neuronal survival. *Neurosci. Lett.* 589, 185–190. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2015.01.063
- Beall, M. H., Wang, S., Yang, B., Chaudhri, N., Amidi, F., and Ross, M. G. (2007). Placental and membrane aquaporin water channels: correlation with amniotic fluid volume and composition. *Placenta* 28, 421–428. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta. 2006.06.005
- Belkacemi, L., Jelks, A., Chen, C. H., Ross, M. G., and Desai, M. (2011). Altered placental development in undernourished rats: role of maternal glucocorticoids. *Reprod. Biol. Endocrinol.* 9:105. doi: 10.1186/1477-7827-9-105
- Burton, G. J., and Jones, C. J. (2009). Syncytial knots, sprouts, apoptosis, and trophoblast deportation from the human placenta. *Taiwan. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 48, 28–37. doi: 10.1016/S1028-4559(09)60032-2
- Cao, X. C., Zhang, W. R., Cao, W. F., Liu, B. W., Zhang, F., Zhao, H. M., et al. (2013). Aquaporin3 is required for FGF-2-induced migration of human breast cancers. *PLoS One* 8:e56735. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0056735
- Castro-Parodi, M., Levi, L., Dietrich, V., Zotta, E., and Damiano, A. E. (2009). CFTR may modulate AQP9 functionality in preeclamptic placentas. *Placenta* 30, 642–648. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2009.04.012
- Castro-Parodi, M., Szpilbarg, N., Dietrich, V., Sordelli, M., Reca, A., Abán, C., et al. (2013). Oxygen tension modulates AQP9 expression in human placenta. *Placenta* 34, 690–698. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2013.04.017
- Chen, J. M., Sepramaniam, S., Armugam, A., Shyan Choy, M., Manikandan, J., Melendez, A. J., et al. (2008). Water and ion channels: crucial in the initiation and progression of apoptosis in central nervous system? *Curr. Neuropharmacol.* 6, 102–116. doi: 10.2174/157015908784533879
- Damiano, A., Zotta, E., Goldstein, J., Reisin, I., and Ibarra, C. (2001). Water channel proteins AQP3 and AQP9 are present in syncytiotrophoblast of human term placenta. *Placenta* 22, 776–781. doi: 10.1053/plac.2001.0717
- Damiano, A. E. (2011). Review: water channel proteins in the human placenta and fetal membranes. *Placenta* 32, S207–S211. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2010.12.012
- Damiano, A. E., Zotta, E., and Ibarra, C. (2006). Functional and molecular expression of AQP9 channel and UT-A transporter in normal and preeclamptic human placentas. *Placenta* 27, 1073–1081. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2005.11.014
- DaSilva-Arnolda, S., James, J. L., Al-Khan, A., Zamudio, S., and Illsley, N. (2015). Differentiation of first trimester cytotrophoblast to extravillous trophoblast involves an epithelialemesenchymal transition. *Placenta* 36, 1412–1418. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2015.10.013
- Davies, J. E., Pollheimer, J., Yong, H. E. J., Kokkinos, M. I., Kalionis, B., Knöfler, M., et al. (2016). Epithelial-mesenchymal transition during extravillous trophoblast differentiation. *Cell Adh. Migr.* 10, 310–321. doi: 10.1080/19336918.2016. 1170258
- del Monaco, S., Assef, Y., Damiano, A., Zotta, E., Ibarra, C., and Kotsias, B. A. (2006). Characterization of the epithelial sodium channel in human preeclampsia syncytiotrophoblast. *Medicina* 66, 31–35.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AD defined the research topic. AS, YM, JR, MDP, and MC prepared the draft of the manuscript. NS and AD edited the text. NS, NM, AD co-wrote the manuscript. All authors approved the last version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was supported by UBACyT 20020130200050 and ANCyPT PICT 2014- 2112 grants.

- Dietrich, V., Szpilbarg, N., and Damiano, A. E. (2013). Reduced expression of Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger isoform 3 (NHE-3) in preeclamptic placentas. *Placenta* 34, 828–830. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2013.06.005
- Edwards, D., Jones, C. J., Sibley, C. P., and Nelson, D. M. (1993). Paracellular permeability pathways in the human placenta: a quantitative and morphological study of maternal fetal t1ransfer of horseradish peroxidase. *Placenta* 14, 63–73. doi: 10.1016/S0143-4004(05)80249-8
- Escobar, J., Gormaz, M., Arduini, A., Gosens, K., Martinez, A., Perales, A., et al. (2012). Expression of aquaporins early in human pregnancy. *Early Hum. Dev.* 88, 589–594. doi: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2012.01.009
- Genbacev, O., Zhou, Y., Ludlow, J. W., and Fisher, S. J. (1997). Regulation of human placental development by oxygen tension. *Science* 277, 1669–1672. doi: 10.1126/science.277.5332.1669
- Giachini, F. R., Galaviz-Hernandez, C., Damiano, A. E., Viana, M., Cadavid, A., Asturizaga, P., et al. (2017). Vascular dysfunction in mother and offspring during preeclampsia: contributions from latin-American countries. *Curr. Hypertens. Rep.* 19:83. doi: 10.1007/s11906-017-0781-7
- Grune, T., Blasig, I. E., Sitte, N., Roloff, B., Haseloff, R., and Davies, K. J. (1998). Peroxynitrite increases the degradation of aconitase and other cellular proteins by proteasome. *J. Biol. Chem.* 273, 10857–10862. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.18. 10857
- Hawfield, A., and Freedman, B. I. (2009). Pre-eclampsia: the pivotal role of the placenta in its pathophysiology and markers for early detection. *Ther. Adv. Cardiovasc. Dis.* 3, 65–73. doi: 10.1177/1753944708097114
- Hu, J., and Verkman, A. S. (2006). Increased migration and metastatic potential of tumor cells expressing aquaporin water channels. *FASEB J.* 20, 892–894. doi: 10.1096/fj.06-5930fje
- Hung, T. H., and Burton, G. J. (2006). Hypoxia and reoxygenation: a possible mechanism for placental oxidative stress in preeclampsia. *Taiwan. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 45, 189–200. doi: 10.1016/S1028-4559(09)60224-2
- Huppertz, B. (2008). Placental origins of preeclampsia: challenging the current hypothesis. *Hypertension* 51, 970–975. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA. 107.107607
- Huppertz, B. (2018). The critical role of abnormal trophoblast development in the etiology of preeclampsia. *Curr. Pharm. Biotechnol.* doi: 10.2174/ 1389201019666180427110547 [Epub ahead of print].
- Huppertz, B., Kadyrov, M., and Kingdom, J. C. (2006). Apoptosis and its role in the trophoblast. Am J. Obstet. Gynecol. 195, 29–39. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2005. 07.039
- Ishibashi, K., Kuwahara, M., Gu, Y., Tanaka, Y., Marumo, F., and Sasaki, S. (1998). Cloning and functional expression of a new aquaporin (AQP9) abundantly expressed in the peripheral leukocytes permeable to water and urea, but not to glycerol. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 244, 268–274. doi: 10.1006/bbrc. 1998.8252
- Jablonski, E. M., and Hughes, F. M. Jr. (2006). The potential role of caveolin-1 in inhibition of aquaporins during the AVD. *Biol. Cell.* 98, 33–42. doi: 10.1042/ BC20040131
- Jablonski, E., Webb, A., and Hughes, F. M. Jr. (2004). Water movement during apoptosis: a role for aquaporins in the apoptotic volume decrease (AVD). Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 559, 179–188. doi: 10.1007/0-387-23752-6_17

- James, J. L., Stone, P. R., and Chamley, L. W. (2006). The regulation of trophoblast differentiation by oxygen in the first trimester of pregnancy. *Hum. Reprod. Update* 12, 137–144. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmi043
- Jansson, T., and Illsley, N. P. (1993). Osmotic water permeabilities of human placental microvillous and basal membranes. J. Membr. Biol. 32, 147–155. doi: 10.1007/BF00239004
- Jansson, T., Powell, T. L., and Illsley, N. P. (1999). Gestational development of water and non-electrolyte permeability of human syncytiotrophoblast plasma membranes. *Placenta* 20, 155–160. doi: 10.1053/plac.1998.0371
- Khan, K. S., Wojdyla, D., Say, L., Gulmezoglu, A. M., and Van Look, P. F. (2006). WHO analysis of causes of maternal death: a systematic review. *Lancet* 367, 1066–1074. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06)68397-9
- Kitchen, P., Day, R. E., Salman, M. M., Conner, M. T., Bill, R. M., and Conner, A. C. (2015). Beyond water homeostasis: diverse functional roles of mammalian aquaporins. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1850, 2410–2421. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagen. 2015.08.023
- Lei, L., Wang, W., Jia, Y., Su, L., Zhou, H., Verkman, A. S., et al. (2017). Aquaporin-3 deletion in mice results in renal collecting duct abnormalities and worsens ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Mol. Basis Dis.* 1863, 1231–1241. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2017.03.012
- Levi, L., Castro-Parodi, M., Martínez, N., Piehl, L. L., Rubín De Celis, E., Herlax, V., et al. (2016). The unfavorable lipid environment reduced caveolin-1 expression in apical membranes from human preeclamptic placentas. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1858, 2171–2180. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamem.2016.06.014
- Liu, H., Koukoulas, I., Ross, M. C., Wang, S., and Wintour, E. M. (2004). Quantitative comparison of placental expression of three aquaporin genes. *Placenta* 25, 475–478. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2003.10.008
- Lüscher, B. P., Marini, C., Joerger-Messerli, M. S., Huang, X., Hediger, M. A., Albrecht, C., et al. (2017). Placental glucose transporter (GLUT)-1 is downregulated in preeclampsia. *Placenta* 55, 94–99. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2017. 04.023
- Marlar, S., Jensen, H. H., Login, F. H., and Nejsum, L. N. (2017). Aquaporin-3 in cancer. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 18, E2106. doi: 10.3390/ijms18102106
- Martínez, N., Abán, C. E., Leguizamón, G. F., Damiano, A. E., and Farina, M. G. (2016). TPRV-1 expression in human preeclamptic placenta. *Placenta* 40, 25–28. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2016.02.008
- Martínez, N., and Damiano, A. E. (2017). Aquaporins in fetal development. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 969, 199–212. doi: 10.1007/978-94-024-1057-0_13
- Miki, A., Kanamori, A., Negi, A., Naka, M., and Nakamura, M. (2013). Loss of aquaporin 9 expression adversely affects the survival of retinal ganglion cells. *Am. J. Pathol.* 182, 1727–1739. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2013.01.027
- Myatt, L. (2002). Role of placenta in preeclampsia. *Endocrine* 19, 103–111. doi: 10.1385/ENDO:19:1:103
- Myatt, L. (2010). Review: reactive oxygen and nitrogen species and functional adaptation of the placenta. *Placenta* 31, S66–S69. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2009. 12.021
- Myatt, L., and Cui, X. (2004). Oxidative stress in the placenta. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* 122, 369–382. doi: 10.1007/s00418-004-0677-x
- Nico, B., and Ribatti, D. (2011). Role of aquaporins in cell migration and edema formation in human brain tumors. *Exp. Cell. Res.* 317, 2391–2396. doi: 10.1016/ j.yexcr.2011.07.006
- Norah, M. E., Fogarty, N. M., Ferguson-Smith, A. C., and Burton, G. J. (2013). Syncytial knots (Tenney-Parker changes) in the human placenta: evidence of loss of transcriptional activity and oxidative damage. *Am. J. Pathol.* 183, 144–152. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2013.03.016
- Patel, J., Landers, K., Mortimer, R. H., and Richard, K. (2010). Regulation of hypoxia inducible factors (HIF) in hypoxia and normoxia during placental development. *Placenta* 31, 951–957. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2010.08.008
- Piechowski, J. (2016). Trophoblastic-like transdifferentiation: a key to oncogenesis. *Crit. Rev. Oncol. Hematol.* 101, 1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2016.01.019
- Reca, A., Szpilbarg, N., and Damiano, A. E. (2018). The blocking of aquaporin-3 (AQP3) impairs extravillous trophoblast cell migration. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 499, 227–232. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2018.03.133
- Ribatti, D., Ranieri, G., Annese, T., and Nico, B. (2014). Aquaporins in cancer. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1840, 1550–1553. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagen.2013.09.025
- Roland, C. S., Hu, J., Ren, C. E., Chen, H., Li, J., Varvoutis, M. S., et al. (2016). Morphological changes of placental syncytium and their implications for the

pathogenesis of preeclampsia. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 73, 365–376. doi: 10.1007/ s00018-015-2069-x

- Schurr, A., and Gozal, E. (2011). Aerobic production and utilization of lactate satisfy increased energy demands upon neuronal activation in hippocampal slices and provide neuroprotection against oxidative stress. *Front. Pharmacol.* 2:96. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2011.00096
- Settle, P., Mynett, K., Speake, P., Champion, E., Doughty, I. M., Sibley, C. P., et al. (2004). Polarized lactate transporter activity and expression in the syncytiotrophoblast of the term human placenta. *Placenta* 25, 496–504. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2003.11.009
- Sharp, A. N., Heazell, A. E., Crocker, I. P., and Mor, G. (2010). Placental apoptosis in health and disease. Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 64, 159–169. doi: 10.1111/j. 1600-0897.2010.00837.x
- Smith, S. C., and Baker, P. N. (1999). Placental apoptosis is increased in post-term pregnancies. Br. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. 106, 861–862. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528. 1999.tb08410.x
- Soundararajan, R., and Jagannadha Rao, A. (2004). Trophoblast 'pseudotumorigenesis': significance and contributory factors. *Reprod. Biol. Endocrinol.* 2:15.
- Stulc, J. (1997). Placental transfer of inorganic ions and water. *Physiol. Rev.* 77, 805–836. doi: 10.1152/physrev.1997.77.3.805
- Szpilbarg, N., Castro-Parodi, M., Reppetti, J., Repetto, M., Maskin, B., Martinez, N., et al. (2016). Placental programmed cell death: insights into the role of aquaporins. *Mol. Hum. Reprod.* 22, 46–56. doi: 10.1093/molehr/ gav063
- Szpilbarg, N., and Damiano, A. E. (2017). Expression of aquaporin-3 (AQP3) in placentas from pregnancies complicated by preeclampsia. *Placenta* 59, 57–60. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2017.09.010
- Tsukaguchi, H., Shayakul, C., Berger, U. V., Mackenzie, B., Devidas, S., Guggino, W. B., et al. (1998). Molecular characterization of a broad selectivity neutral solute channel. *J. Biol. Chem.* 273, 24737–24743. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.38. 24737
- Velicky, P., Knöfler, M., and Pollheimer, J. (2016). Function and control of human invasive trophoblast subtypes: intrinsic vs. maternal control. *Cell Adh. Migr.* 10, 154–162. doi: 10.1080/19336918.2015.1089376
- Verkman, A. (2011). Aquaporins at a glance. J. Cell. Sci. 124, 2107–2112. doi: 10.1242/jcs.079467
- Verkman, A. S. (2006). Roles of aquaporins in kidney revealed by transgenic mice. Semin. Nephrol. 26, 200–208. doi: 10.1016/j.semnephrol.2006. 02.002
- Webster, R. P., Roberts, V. H., and Myatt, L. (2008). Protein nitration in placenta – functional significance. *Placenta* 29, 985–994. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2008. 09.003
- Xiong, Y., Tan, Y. J., Xiong, Y. M., Huang, Y. T., Hu, X. L., Lu, Y. C., et al. (2013). Expression of aquaporins in human embryos and potential role of AQP3 and AQP7 in preimplantation mouse embryo development. *Cell. Physiol. Biochem.* 31, 649–658. doi: 10.1159/000350084
- Zhu, X., Jiang, S., Hu, Y., Zheng, X., Zou, S., Wang, Y., et al. (2010). The expression of aquaporin 8 and aquaporin 9 in fetal membranes and placenta in term pregnancies complicated by idiopathic polyhydramnios. *Early Hum. Dev.* 86, 657–663. doi: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2010.07.012
- Zhu, X. Q., Jiang, S. S., Zhu, X. J., Zou, S. W., Wang, Y. H., and Hu, Y. C. (2009). Expression of aquaporin 1 and aquaporin 3 in fetal membranes and placenta in human term pregnancies with oligohydramnios. *Placenta* 30, 670–676. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2009.05.010

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Szpilbarg, Martínez, Di Paola, Reppetti, Medina, Seyahian, Castro Parodi and Damiano. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Crosstalk Between Nitric Oxide and Endocannabinoid Signaling Pathways in Normal and Pathological Placentation

Cyntia E. Abán¹, Paula L. Accialini², Tomás Etcheverry², Gustavo F. Leguizamón³, Nora A. Martinez^{4,5} and Mariana G. Farina^{2,5*}

¹ Laboratorio de Investigación Aplicada a las Neurociencias (LIAN), FLENI – CONICET, Belén de Escobar, Argentina, ² Laboratorio de Fisiopatología Placentaria, CEFyBO-UBA-CONICET, Buenos Aires, Argentina, ³ Unidad de Embarazo de Alto Riesgo, CEMIC, Buenos Aires, Argentina, ⁴ Laboratorio de Biología de la Reproducción, IFIBIO-UBA-CONICET, Buenos Aires, Argentina, ⁵ Red Iberoamericana de Alteraciones Vasculares Asociadas a Trastornos del Embarazo (RIVA-TREM), Buenos Aires, Argentina

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Carlos Alonso Escudero, University of the Bío Bío, Chile

Reviewed by:

Loren P. Thompson, University of Maryland, Baltimore, United States Raul Narvaez-Sanchez, Universidad de Antioquía, Colombia Carlos Galaviz-Hernandez, Instituto Politécnico Nacional, Mexico

> *Correspondence: Mariana G. Farina marifarina@yahoo.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Vascular Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 25 July 2018 Accepted: 12 November 2018 Published: 04 December 2018

Citation:

Abán CE, Accialini PL, Etcheverry T, Leguizamón GF, Martinez NA and Farina MG (2018) Crosstalk Between Nitric Oxide and Endocannabinoid Signaling Pathways in Normal and Pathological Placentation. Front. Physiol. 9:1699. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01699 Endocannabinoids are a group of endogenous lipid mediators that act as ligands of cannabinoid and vanilloid receptors, activating multiple signal transduction pathways. Together with enzymes responsible for their synthesis and degradation, these compounds constitute the endocannabinoid system (ECS), which is involved in different physiological processes in reproduction. The placenta, which is essential for the success of gestation and optimal fetal growth, undergoes constant tissue remodeling. ECS members are expressed in trophoblast cells, and current evidence suggests that this system is involved in placental development, apoptosis, and syncytialization. Impairment of endocannabinoid signaling has been associated with several pathological conditions such as intrauterine growth restriction and preeclampsia. Both clinical entities are characterized by dysregulation on vascular perfusion where nitrergic system performs a pivotal role. Nitric oxide (NO) is a potent local vasodepressor that exerts a critical role in the regulation of hemodynamic flow, contributing to the maintenance of low vascular resistance in the feto-placental circulation. NO production could be affected by different factors and growing evidence suggests that the endocannabinoid mediators may regulate nitrergic signaling. Herein, we review emerging knowledge supporting ECSmediated regulation of NO production in normal placentation. Finally, we discuss how alterations in these systems could affect homoeostasis and contribute to the occurrence of placental-mediated pregnancy complications. Given the impact on women and perinatal heath, we will focus on current knowledge regarding the effects of ECS on nitrergic system in normal and pathological placentation.

Keywords: placenta, endocannabinoids, nitric oxide, preeclampsia, endothelial disfunction, anandamide

INTRODUCTION

The placenta is a specialized transient organ essential for embryo growth and survival. In order to supply the metabolic demands of the developing fetus, this tissue performs numerous physiological functions such as gas exchange and efficient nutrient transfer. These events are crucial for the correct development of the feto-placental unit.

The placenta is an organ devoid of nerves; hence communication between mother and fetus takes place through blood-borne as well as locally produced substances. The syncytiotrophoblast (STB) is the main structural and functional epithelial layer that produces a variety of hormones such as human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG), placental lactogen, estrogen, progesterone, aldosterone, cortisol, placental growth hormone, among others. It can also release a large number of growth factors, cytokines, chemokines, and vasoactive compounds that synchronize placental blood flow, which is of outmost importance during gestation for fetal development (Gude et al., 2004).

Successful pregnancy is coordinated by a complex interplay of maternal, placental, and fetal endocrine signals. Inadequate migration of trophoblast cells and deficient remodeling of uterine spiral arterial walls lead to a reduction of placental blood flow and cause placental ischemia/hypoxia. In this context, vasoactive factors such as inflammatory cytokines, reactive oxygen species, hypoxia-inducible factors (HIFs), and anti-angiogenic factors are the major modulators of the systemic vascular endotheliosis. Both abnormalities in placental formation and function are often associated with human pregnancy complications such as intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR) and preeclampsia (PE).

PE is one of the leading causes of maternal and perinatal morbidity and mortality. In fact, it is the first direct cause of maternal death in Latin America (Giachini et al., 2017). This condition is characterized by hypertension (\geq 140/90 mmHg) associated to proteinuria (\geq 0.3 g/24 h) or thrombocytopenia (platelet count < 100.00/µL), liver dysfunction, new onset renal failure (Serum creatinine > 1.1 mg/dL), neurologic symptoms, or pulmonary edema (Brennan et al., 2014).

Endothelial dysfunction is one of the earliest manifestations of PE. To date, the pathogenesis of PE is complex and not well-understood, but it is accepted that an inappropriate remodeling of spiral uterine arteries leads to restricted supply of oxygen and nutrients to the placenta (Li et al., 2015). Vascular endotheliosis associated to PE can lead to a deregulation in the levels of vasodilator factors such as nitric oxide (NO). This altered environment causes placental ischemia and subsequent secretion of placental pro-inflammatory and anti-angiogenic factors into the maternal circulation such as soluble fmslike tyrosine kinase-1 (sFlt-1) and soluble endoglin (sEng), among others (Karumanchi, 2016). Furthermore, evidence of negative correlation between of circulating sFlt-1 and sEng on NO production has been reported in human samples (Sandrim et al., 2008) as well as in animal models of PE (Zhu et al., 2016). However, there are controversies among different studies that measure both circulating levels and urinary excretion of NO in normal and pathological conditions like PE (Ranta et al., 1999; Choi et al., 2002; López-Jaramillo et al., 2008). The discrepancy in the results could be due to different dietary intake of nitrites and nitrates or pharmacological treatments that are given to patients. In this regard, it should be noted that nifedipine, an antagonist of calcium channel widely used for hypertension treatment in preeclamptic patients, may alter NO levels (Berkels et al., 1994; Boccardo et al., 1996).

Furthermore, a number of reports also showed differences in the expression and activity of endothelial NO Synthase (eNOS) between normal and unhealthy pregnancies. (Myatt et al., 1997; Kim et al., 2006; Smith-Jackson et al., 2015; Motta-Mejia et al., 2017).

Distribution and activity of eNOS are regulated by different mechanisms. Trafficking between caveolar and non-caveolar compartments, protein–protein interaction, and phosphorylation are involved in the modulation and/or release of NO (Liaudet et al., 2000; Powe et al., 2011). Therefore, there is an extending interest in determining the specific cellular pathways that modulate the nitrergic signaling. Growing evidence indicates that the endocannabinoid system (ECS) is able to regulate the formation and/or release of NO (Lipina and Hundal, 2017).

The ECS is expressed in human placenta (Park et al., 2003; Aban et al., 2013; Costa et al., 2013) and previous results demonstrate that endogenous cannabinoids (ECs) could modulate NO production acting on different molecular targets (Poblete et al., 2005; Carney et al., 2009; Oddi et al., 2012; Krishnan and Chatterjee, 2015).

Herein, we discuss evidence that supports the role of these endogenous bioactive lipids in the regulation of NO signaling in healthy and pathological pregnancies.

ROLE OF NITRIC OXIDE IN THE PLACENTA

Throughout gestation significant circulatory adaptations occur that includes an increase in maternal blood volume and vasodilatation to maintain the fetal demands of oxygen and nutrients. Maternal uterine vascular remodeling is essential for normal fetal growth and NO plays a crucial role in this process (Myatt, 1992; Possomato-Vieira and Khalil, 2016).

Over the course of gestation the action of NO seems to support a low vascular resistance in the feto-placental circulation (Amit et al., 1998), maintain a vasodilator state of placental vessels, and attenuate the effects of vasoconstrictors (Myatt et al., 1992) being the main contributor to the regulation of physiological hemodynamic flow.

Nitric oxide is a potent gaseous mediator produced in different organs, including placenta (Farina et al., 2001; Shaamash et al., 2001; Cella et al., 2008; Aban et al., 2013).

During the third trimester, the growing fetus significantly enhances the metabolic demands on the placenta. Changes in vascular resistance allow the placenta to support fetal development and wellbeing. In this remodeling of placental blood-flow, both maternal and conceptus eNOS increase uterine arterial blood flow in normal pregnancy (Kulandavelu et al., 2012), and attenuation in its action may reduce placental perfusion and lead to an altered feto-placental signaling.

Nitric Oxide acts in multiple pathways. It diffuses into vascular smooth muscle cells, attaches to the receptor soluble guanylyl cyclase (sGC), and catalyzes the formation of cyclic guanosinemonophosphate (cGMP), resulting in vasodilation. Simultaneously, NO prevents the production and action of both endothelium-derived contracting factors and endothelin-1, thus

reducing the vasoconstrictor effect. Additionally, NO inhibits platelet aggregation and adherence to endothelial surfaces (Ignarro, 1990).

Nitric oxide and L-citrulline are produced from L-arginine through a reaction catalyzed by a family of calcium-calmodulindependent enzymes called NO synthases (NOS): Three major NOS isoforms have been identified: neuronal (nNOS or NOS1), inducible, (iNOS or NOS2), and endothelial (eNOS or NOS3). The nNOS and eNOS isoforms are frequently expressed constitutively and their activities are regulated by calcium availability. On the other hand, iNOS is independent of the intracellular calcium concentration and generates a high flow of NO. The tree isoforms of NOS employ flavin adenine dinucleotide (FAD), flavin mononucleotide (FMN), and (6R)-5,6,7,8-tetrahydro-L-biopterin (BH₄) as cofactors of the isozymes (Förstermann and Sessa, 2011) (**Figure 1**).

These enzymes are present in many cell types and tissues such as endothelium, nerves, immune cells, and placenta. In a normal pregnancy, eNOS is the most relevant member of this family and is the key enzyme when considering the production of NO (Moncada and Higgs, 2006).

In the human placenta, the eNOS isoform is expressed in the STBs and vascular endothelium (Kakui et al., 2003; Schiessl et al., 2005). Interestingly, extravillous trophoblast also produces NO while invading the maternal uterine spiral arteries but significantly higher NOS activity was found in the villous trophoblast. Ca^{2+} -dependent NOS activity was also identified in human term placentas, but it is substantially lower respect to samples from early placentas (Al-Hijji et al., 2003). On the other hand, iNOS is expressed in Hofbauer cells of the villous stroma (Myatt et al., 1997).

The placenta lacks of innervation, thus its vascular tone is modulated principally by local factors. In this context, the production of NO is essential for the development of normal placental endothelium, and promotes endovascular invasion by the cytotrophoblast (Zhou et al., 1997). These cells produce NO which acts on arterial walls to create a low-resistance, high-caliber uteroplacental unit (Noris et al., 2005).

The NO production is regulated by many molecules such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and placental growth factor (PlGF). Both induce arterial vasodilation by increasing the endothelial calcium signaling, resulting in the release of endothelial NO. Additionally, endothelial shear stress produced by flowing blood stimulates endothelial NO release



through a number of pathways, which involve opening of cation channels like TRPV1, TRPV4, among others (Vanhoutte et al., 2016). Protein–protein interactions represent another important mechanism for eNOS regulation. In this context, eNOS can interact with a variety of proteins such as calmodulin or caveolin resulting in an increase or a decrease in eNOS activity (Su, 2014).

THE ENDOCANNABINOID SYSTEM

Endocannabinoids are an emerging group of lipid-signaling molecules that include amides, esters and ethers of long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids.

Endocannabinoids are produced on demand by cleavage of membrane phospholipids mainly through two-step reaction catalyzed by *N*-acyltransferase (NAT) and *N*-acylphosphatidylethanolamine-phospholipase D (NAPE-PLD) in the pathway of Anandamide (*N*-arachidonoylethanolamine; AEA) synthesis; and phospholipase C (PLC) and diacylglycerol lipases (DAGL) in the case of 2-arachidonoylglycerol (2-AG).

Both lipid mediators (AEA and 2-AG) are the main endogenous ligands of the cannabinoid receptors (CB1 and CB2) (Howlett et al., 2002). These receptors belong to the family of G-proteins coupled receptors (GPCRs) and activate multiple signaling pathways (Pertwee, 2006). In addition, these bioactive lipids can stimulate other membrane proteins such as the orphan G protein-coupled receptor 55 (GPR55) (Sharir et al., 2012; Gasperi et al., 2013), or the intracellular receptor peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPAR). Additionally, other ECs such as oleoylethanolamide and palmitoylethanolamide can also bind to the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPAR- γ) regulating food intake, lipid metabolism, and inflammatory processes (O'sullivan, 2007; Pistis and Melis, 2010). Moreover, the endocannabinoid AEA can bind to a non-selective cation channel, the transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 (TRPV-1), acting as an endovanilloid (Cella et al., 2008; Marzo and Petrocellis, 2010).

The action of AEA and 2-AG cease by enzymatic hydrolysis mediated by fatty acid amide hydrolase (FAAH) (McKinney and Cravatt, 2005; Fezza et al., 2008) and monoacylglycerol lipase (MAGL), respectively (Dinh et al., 2002).

In addition, there are other enzymes that constitute alternative biosynthetic and degradative pathways for this lipid mediators (Kozak et al., 2002; Pacher and Kunos, 2013).

Altogether, these enzymes and proteins involved in the production and signaling of endocannabinoids, along with these lipid ligands, constitute a complex system called ECS.

Endocannabinoid System in the Placenta

In the last years, enzymes that participate in AEA and 2-AG synthesis and release have been identified in human placenta (Aban et al., 2013; Costa et al., 2013), but until now only AEA levels were measured in this tissue (Marczylo et al., 2010).

The identification of the different components of the ECS in the placenta promoted the study of ECs in relevant physiological

TABLE 1 | Processes modulated by AEA and 2-AG in the human trophoblast.

Proliferation				
AEA	↓ mainly through CB2	BeWo	Habayeb et al., 2008a; Costa et al., 2014a, 2015b	
2-AG	↓ mainly through CB2	BeWo		
Cell death				
AEA	↑ through CB1	hST	Aban et al., 2013	
	↑ through TRPV-1	hCT	Costa et al., 2015b	
	↑ mainly through CB2	BeWo	Habayeb et al., 2008a; Costa et al., 2014a	
2-AG	↑ mainly through CB2	BeWo	• • • •	
Syncytialization				
AEA	? morphological differentiation	hCT	Costa et al., 2014b	
	- biochemical differentiation	hCT		
2-AG	↓ morphological differentiation through CB1 and CB2	hCT	Costa et al., 2015c	
	\downarrow biochemical differentiation through CB1 and CB2	hCT		
Migration and invasio	1			
CB1-/-	↓ invasion	TSC	Sun et al., 2010	
Protein biosynthesis				
AEA	↓ ecto-pALP activity, hCG secretion and aromatase expression through CB receptors	hST	Costa et al., 2015b	
	- PAPP-A mRNA levels	hST	Costa et al., 2016	
2-AG	↑ 3β-HSD mRNA levels through CB receptors	hST		
	- PAPP-A mRNA levels	hST		
Transport				
AEA	↓ K+ channel 1 (TASK-1)	hST	Bai et al., 2006; Wareing et al., 2006	
	\downarrow folic acid transportation, acute treatment. Not mediated by CB receptors	BeWo	Araujo et al., 2009	
	↑ folic acid transportation, chronic exposure. Not mediated by CB receptors	BeWo		

Increase (↑), decrease (↓), no effect (–); AEA, anandamide; 2-AG, 2-arachidonoylglycerol; CB1, cannabinoid receptor 1; CB2, cannabinoid receptor 2; TRPV1, transient receptor potential vanilloid 1; hCT, human cytotrophoblast; hST, human syncytiotrophoblast; TSC, trophoblast stem cells; PAPP-A, Pregnancy-associated plasma protein A; 3β-HSD, 3β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase; ecto-pALP, placental alkaline phosphatase; hCG, human chorionic gonadotropin.

processes such as proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis, and proteins biosynthesis, as well as in the transport of nutrients, oxygen, electrolytes, and other substances to the fetus. The results observed in these studies were extensively reviewed by Costa (2016) and the relevance of the ECS in trophoblast biology is summarized in **Table 1**.

In addition to the effects of ECs, phytocannabinoids such as delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol (THC), the main psychoactive compound of marijuana, may affect the dynamics of placental development (Ortigosa et al., 2012; Costa et al., 2015a; Metz and Stickrath, 2015). In fact, it has been shown that THC can promote beneficial or detrimental effects on trophoblast cell viability and also impair morphological differentiation (Costa et al., 2015a). Additionally, chronic exposure to THC may affect the maternalfetal transference of micronutrient (Araujo et al., 2009). For all the above mentioned, cannabis consumption during pregnancy may have serious alterations in human placentation causing negative pregnancy outcomes such as preterm birth (Dekker et al., 2012) and fetal growth restriction (El Marroun et al., 2009).

A similar mechanism seems to occur when high levels of endocannabinoids are detected during pregnancy. According to this, reports have shown that high plasma levels of AEA seriously interfere in the progression of pregnancy (Habayeb et al., 2008b; Taylor et al., 2011). In agreement with this observation, previous results from our laboratory demonstrated that NAPE-PLD and FAAH expression were impaired in PE placentas. Both proteins were mainly located in the apical membrane of STB in normal placentas although weak staining for FAAH was detected in some villi from PE tissues. Furthermore, high levels of FAAH activity were measured in normal tissues, but a lower activity of this metabolizing enzyme was detected in preeclamptic tissues (Aban et al., 2013). These findings suggest that pathological conditions may expose the fetus to unhealthy levels of the endocannabinoid, disturbing fetal development, and leading to neurophysiological abnormalities (Grant et al., 2017). However, the precise mechanisms by which the principal enzymes involved in the synthesis and degradation of AEA are deregulated in preeclamptic placentas are still unknown.

Other works have described alterations of several components of the ECS in normal and pathological human placentas. Acone et al. (2009) compared samples obtained from women undergoing elective cesarean section (non-laboring group) and women having a normal spontaneous delivery (laboring group) at term (Acone et al., 2009). Interestingly, CB1 expression was detected but FAAH protein was absent in the analyzed samples. On the other hand, Fügedi et al. (2014) observed higher levels of CB1 protein in the STB layer, as well as in the endothelial cells from preeclamptic placental tissue, although they did not find significant differences in CB2 and FAAH expression between preeclamptic and normal placental tissues (Fügedi et al., 2014).

It is worth to note the discrepancy in the results observed by different research groups on the altered expression of the ECS components, even when the same type of samples was analyzed. Such differences could be attributed to ethnicity, severity of the disease and/or differences in methodological procedures (e.g., sample processing, antibodies utilized). These disagreements must be analyzed and requires further elucidation.

CROSSTALK BETWEEN ECS AND NO IN REPRODUCTIVE TISSUES

Our understanding on the interaction between the ECS and nitrergic system has been enriched by several studies that demonstrated a strong influence of ECS on NO production. This regulation is mediated by endocannabinoids like AEA or 2-AG which exert stimulatory or inhibitory effects depending on tissue context, cell type, and/or activation of specific receptors (cannabinoid receptors or alternative molecular targets). Also, previous reports have provided evidence that a bidirectional modulation exists between the ECS and NO, and this crosstalk is extremely important since alterations in one or both systems would impact on cellular homeostasis or could trigger a pathological condition. A comprehensive review of these interactions is well described in Lipina and Hundal (2017).

Regulation of NO production by the ECS was demonstrated in different biological systems such as neurohypophysis (Luce et al., 2014), retina (Krishnan and Chatterjee, 2015), platelets (Signorello et al., 2011), heart (González et al., 2011), nephron (Mukhopadhyay et al., 2010a,b), and in energy metabolism (Tedesco et al., 2008). Nevertheless, little is known about the ECS-associated interaction with NO during pregnancy. The crosstalk between ECS and NO is relevant in reproductive tissues like bovine epithelial oviduct and spermatozoa (Osycka-Salut et al., 2012), as well as in murine and rat uterus and decidua (Vercelli et al., 2009b; Sordelli et al., 2011). NO is involved in various reproductive events including implantation, regulation of placental blood flow, and myometrial relaxation. However, there are limited reports that explain the mechanisms involved in regulation of ECS on NO production. In murine uterus incubated with lipopolysaccharide (LPS), AEA mediates LPSinduced NO production through activation of both cannabinoid receptors, CB1 and CB2. This lipid mediator increases iNOS expression and pharmacological blockade of CB1 and CB2 inhibit this effect suggesting the participation of both receptors. Moreover, LPS modulates the expression of the enzymes involved in AEA metabolism, producing alterations in AEA levels which results in different types of responses that affect NO production (Vercelli et al., 2009a). A similar mechanism was described in murine decidua, where AEA mediates LPS-induced NO synthesis through activation of both cannabinoid receptors. In this tissue, LPS has a deleterious effect on the implantation sites via CB1 receptor and it is believed that this could be associated to



NAPE-PLD leave to the trophoblast by simple diffusion or by carrier proteins and interact with CB1 receptor. The activation of CB1 by AEA results in the activation of NOS activity. Higher FAAH expression and activity contributes to the maintenance of a low AEA "tone" degrading this lipid to arachidonic acid (AA) and ethanolamine (Et). Inside the trophoblast cells, AEA also could regulate NOS activity through TRPV1 receptor. On the other hand, in preeclamptic placentas, an increased NAPE-PLD expression associated with lower FAAH expression and activity encourage a raise in AEA "tone" that contributes to a higher NO production at least in part through CB1 receptor.

septic abortion (Vercelli et al., 2009b). Furthermore, during the implantation process in rat uterus, AEA modulates NOS activity and NO production on implantation and inter-implantation sites in a specific manner, activating CB1 and/or CB2 depending on the presence or absence of the blastocyst (Sordelli et al., 2011).

The ECS regulates the homeostasis through a wide variety of mechanisms. It facilitates the intracellular communication between different cell types and contributes to maintaining the balance in the body. The placental abnormal expression of the ECS has been associated which serious pregnancy complication such as spontaneous miscarriage (Trabucco et al., 2009) and preterm birth (Sun et al., 2016).

Additionally, it was demonstrated that uterine deregulation of the ECS increases the levels of prostaglandins contributing to the mechanism by which infection causes preterm birth (Bariani et al., 2015). In this animal model, resveratrol administration prevented the changes in the uterine endocannabinoid profiling altered by LPS and diminished iNOS expression and NOS activity evidencing tocolytic effects (Bariani et al., 2017). Additionally, the loss of CB1 receptor has been linked to this pathology (Wang et al., 2008) while others demonstrated that THC has a preventive effect on preterm delivery in a LPSinduced murine model, suggesting the contribution of NO coupling through the CB1 receptor (Asghari-Roodsari et al., 2010).

Endocannabinoids have also been implicated in blood pressure regulation (Pacher et al., 2005). These lipid mediators can cause vasodilation through CB1, TRPV1, and NOmediated or NO-independent mechanisms (Pacher and Steffens, 2009). Anandamide exerts its vasorelaxant effect on endothelium by upregulating the expression and activity of the inducible NO synthase (NO-mediated pathway) (Randall et al., 2002; Cella et al., 2008). Although there is no direct correlation between AEA serum levels and blood pressure, given these results it is possible to speculate that the decrease in AEA levels observed in preeclamptic pregnant woman (Molvarec et al., 2015) could contribute to their increase in blood pressure, which is a crucial factor characteristic of PE.

In rat placenta, a report from our laboratory demonstrates that AEA exerts a dual effect on NO production depending on which receptor is activated. While activation of TRPV-1 receptor stimulates NO production, the action of AEA on CBs decreases NOS activity, suggesting that AEA acts as a differential fine-tuning regulator of NO during pregnancy (Cella et al., 2008).

In fact, although AEA activates TRPV-1, the concentration required is higher than that needed for CB1 activation (Ross, 2003). On the other hand, an opposite effect is observed in human tissues. Interestingly, in human placenta at term both endogenous and exogenous AEA increase NOS activity through CB1 receptor (Aban et al., 2013). It is important to highlight that the activation of different receptors induces opposite responses, and this effect could be associated to changes in ECS which cause an appropriate AEA "tone", contributing to trigger one or other type of response. We speculate that the differences observed

between rat and human placentas concerning to the effect of AEA on NOS activity may be due to the different gestational times analyzed, activation of different signaling pathways of CBs, and also to the expression of TRPV-1 that changes at the end of pregnancy.

In pathological conditions like PE, a higher basal NOS activity was observed in comparison to healthy normal samples. This observation, together with the altered expression pattern of the ECS metabolic enzymes, could result in higher AEA levels, which positively stimulate NOS activity and NO production (Aban et al., 2013) (**Figure 2**). Additionally, preliminary results obtained in our laboratory suggest that changes in the expression of some components of the ECS in human laboring placentas at term also modify NOS activity during labor (unpublished data).

Altogether, the results discussed in this review indicate that either the activation or the inhibition of the ECS can alter the production of NO, leading to beneficial or prejudicial biological responses depending on the cell type. Because the ECS and NO signaling are involved in the modulation of relevant aspects of placental physiology such as vasodilatation and placental blood flow, it is crucial for the tissues to keep their levels acutely regulated. Thus, it is expected that a crosstalk between these systems may contribute to the maintenance of the tissue homeostasis.

Given the relevance of the nitrergic signaling and the ECS in the development of placenta, this review may contribute to identify novel targets for the treatment of placental diseases such as PE.

SUMMARY

In order to understand the functionality of the placenta, we must take into account the complexity of the events that occur in this organ. In this review we have focused and discussed about the importance of ECS and NO in the physiological behavior of normal and pathological placentas. The ECS acts as a regulator of nitrergic system, modulating NO levels. Since NO is the main vasodilator in human placenta implicated in modulation of blood flow, alterations in this mediator may modify placental functions and can be associated to pathological conditions of pregnancy like PE. Herein we summarize recent experimental findings that support the importance of a crosstalk between AEA and NO and the contribution of CB1 signaling in placental development in normal and pathological conditions of pregnancy. Altogether this evidence proposes the ECS as a part of a relevant mechanism of the placenta and may serve as a possible pharmacological target given the relevance of this system in the regulation of NO and, consequently, in placental vascular dysfunction.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CA and MF have proposed the topic of this revision and designed the figures. All authors have contributed to information recrutment and write the present version.

REFERENCES

- Aban, C., Leguizamon, G. F., Cella, M., Damiano, A., Franchi, A. M., and Farina, M. G. (2013). Differential expression of endocannabinoid system in normal and preeclamptic placentas: effects on nitric oxide synthesis. *Placenta* 34, 67–74. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2012.10.009
- Acone, G., Trabucco, E., Colacurci, N., Cobellis, L., Mackie, K., Meccariello, R., et al. (2009). Low type I cannabinoid receptor levels characterize placental villous in labouring delivery. *Placenta* 30, 203–205. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2008. 11.018
- Al-Hijji, J., Andolf, E., Laurini, R., and Batra, S. (2003). Nitric oxide synthase activity in human trophoblast, term placenta and pregnant myometrium. *Reprod. Biol. Endocrinol.* 1:51. doi: 10.1186/1477-7827-1-51
- Amit, A., Thaler, I., Paz, Y., and Itskovitz-Eldor, J. (1998). The effect of a nitric oxide donor on Doppler flow velocity waveforms in the uterine artery during the first trimester of pregnancy. *Ultrasound Obstet. Gynecol.* 11, 94–98. doi: 10.1046/j.1469-0705.1998.11020094.x
- Araujo, J. R., Goncalves, P., and Martel, F. (2009). Effect of cannabinoids upon the uptake of folic acid by BeWo cells. *Pharmacology* 83, 170–176. doi: 10.1159/ 000192587
- Asghari-Roodsari, A., Lesani, A., Javadi-Paydar, M., Tabatabaeefar, L., Tavangar, S. M., Norouzi, A., et al. (2010). Tocolytic effect of Δ9-tetrahydrocannabinol in mice model of lipopolysaccharide—induced preterm delivery: role of nitric oxide. *Reprod. Sci.* 17, 391–400. doi: 10.1177/1933719109358456
- Bai, X., Lacey, H. A., Greenwood, S. L., Baker, P. N., Turner, M. A., Sibley, C. P., et al. (2006). TASK channel expression in human placenta and cytotrophoblast cells. J. Soc. Gynecol. Investig. 13, 30–39. doi: 10.1016/j.jsgi.2005.10.005
- Bariani, M. V., Correa, F., Leishman, E., Domínguez Rubio, A. P., Arias, A., Stern, A., et al. (2017). Resveratrol protects from lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammation in the uterus and prevents experimental preterm birth. *Mol. Hum. Reprod.* 23, 571–581. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gax036
- Bariani, M. V., Rubio, A. P. D., Cella, M., Burdet, J., Franchi, A. M., and Aisemberg, J. (2015). Role of the endocannabinoid system in the mechanisms involved in the LPS-induced preterm labor. *Reproduction* 150, 463–472. doi: 10.1530/REP-15-0211
- Berkels, R., Klaus, W., Boiler, M., and Rösen, R. (1994). The calcium modulator nifedipine exerts its antiaggregatory property via a nitric oxide mediated process. *Thromb. Haemost.* 72, 309–312. doi: 10.1055/s-0038-1648858
- Boccardo, P., Soregaroli, M., Aiello, S., Noris, M., Donadelli, R., Lojacono, A., et al. (1996). Systemic and fetal-maternal nitric oxide synthesis in normal pregnancy and pre-eclampsia. Br. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. 103, 879–886. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.1996.tb09906.x
- Brennan, L. J., Morton, J. S., and Davidge, S. T. (2014). Vascular dysfunction in preeclampsia. *Microcirculation* 21, 4–14. doi: 10.1111/micc.12079
- Carney, S. T., Lloyd, M. L., MacKinnon, S. E., Newton, D. C., Jones, J. D., Howlett, A. C., et al. (2009). Cannabinoid regulation of nitric oxide synthase I (nNOS) in neuronal cells. *J. Neuroimmune Pharmacol.* 4, 338–349. doi: 10.1007/s11481-009-9153-7
- Cella, M., Leguizamón, G., Sordelli, M., Cervini, M., Guadagnoli, T., Ribeiro, M., et al. (2008). Dual effect of anandamide on rat placenta nitric oxide synthesis. *Placenta* 29, 699–707. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2008.05.003
- Choi, J. W., Im, M. W., and Pai, S. H. (2002). Nitric oxide production increases during normal pregnancy and decreases in preeclampsia. Ann. Clin. Lab. Sci. 32, 257–263.
- Costa, M. A. (2016). The endocannabinoid system: a novel player in human placentation. *Reprod. Toxicol.* 61, 58–67. doi: 10.1016/j.reprotox.2016.03.002
- Costa, M. A., Fonseca, B., Keating, E., Teixeira, N., and Correia-da-Silva, G. (2013). 2-arachidonoylglycerol in cytotrophoblasts: metabolic enzymes expression and apoptosis in BeWo cells. *Reproduction* 147, 301–311. doi: 10.1530/REP-13-0563
- Costa, M. A., Fonseca, B. M., Keating, E., Teixeira, N. A., and Correia-da-Silva, G. (2014a). 2-arachidonoylglycerol effects in cytotrophoblasts: metabolic enzymes expression and apoptosis in BeWo cells. *Reproduction* 147, 301–311. doi: 10. 1530/rep-13-0563
- Costa, M. A., Fonseca, B. M., Keating, E., Teixeira, N. A., and Correia-da-Silva, G. (2014b). Transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 is expressed in human cytotrophoblasts: induction of cell apoptosis and impairment of syncytialization. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 57, 177–185. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel. 2014.10.008

- Costa, M. A., Fonseca, B. M., Marques, F., Teixeira, N. A., and Correiada-Silva, G. (2015a). The psychoactive compound of *Cannabis sativa*, Delta(9)-tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) inhibits the human trophoblast cell turnover. *Toxicology* 334, 94–103. doi: 10.1016/j.tox.2015. 06.005
- Costa, M. A., Fonseca, B. M., Teixeira, N. A., and Correia-da-Silva, G. (2015b). The endocannabinoid anandamide induces apoptosis in cytotrophoblast cells: involvement of both mitochondrial and death receptor pathways. *Placenta* 36, 69–76. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2014.10.011
- Costa, M. A., Keating, E., Fonseca, B. M., Teixeira, N. A., and Correia-da-Silva, G. (2015c). 2-Arachidonoylglycerol impairs human cytotrophoblast cells syncytialization: influence of endocannabinoid signalling in placental development. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* 399, 386–394. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2014. 09.005
- Costa, M. A., Fonseca, B. M., Mendes, A., Braga, J., Teixeira, N. A., and Correia-da-Silva, G. (2016). The endocannabinoid 2-arachidonoylglycerol dysregulates the synthesis of proteins by the human syncytiotrophoblast. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1861, 205–212. doi: 10.1016/j.bbalip.2015. 12.008
- Dekker, G. A., Lee, S. Y., North, R. A., McCowan, L. M., Simpson, N. A., and Roberts, C. T. (2012). Risk factors for preterm birth in an international prospective cohort of nulliparous women. *PLoS One* 7:e39154. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0039154
- Dinh, T., Carpenter, D., Leslie, F., Freund, T., Katona, I., Sensi, S., et al. (2002). Brain monoglyceride lipase participating in endocannabinoid inactivation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 99, 10819–10824. doi: 10.1073/pnas.15233 4899
- El Marroun, H., Tiemeier, H., Steegers, E. A., Jaddoe, V. W., Hofman, A., Verhulst, F. C., et al. (2009). Intrauterine cannabis exposure affects fetal growth trajectories: the generation R study. *J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry* 48, 1173–1181. doi: 10.1097/CHI.0b013e3181bfa8ee
- Farina, M., Ribeiro, M., and Franchi, A. (2001). Nitric oxide synthases in pregnant rat uterus. *Reproduction* 121, 403–407. doi: 10.1530/rep.0.1210403
- Fezza, F., De Simone, C., Amadio, D., and Maccarrone, M. (2008). "Fatty acid amide hydrolase: a gate-keeper of the endocannabinoid system," in *Lipids in Health and Disease*, eds P.J. Quinn and X. Wang (New York, NY: Springer), 49 101–132. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4020-8831-5_4
- Förstermann, U., and Sessa, W. C. (2011). Nitric oxide synthases: regulation and function. *Eur. Heart J.* 33, 829–837. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ ehr304
- Fügedi, G., Molnár, M., Rigó, J., Schönléber, J., Kovalszky, I., and Molvarec, A. (2014). Increased placental expression of cannabinoid receptor 1 in preeclampsia: an observational study. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth* 14:395. doi: 10.1186/s12884-014-0395-x
- Gasperi, V., Dainese, E., Oddi, S., Sabatucci, A., and Maccarrone, M. (2013). GPR55 and its interaction with membrane lipids: comparison with other endocannabinoid-binding receptors. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 20, 64–78. doi: 10.2174/ 0929867311302010008
- Giachini, F. R., Galaviz-Hernandez, C., Damiano, A. E., Viana, M., Cadavid, A., Asturizaga, P., et al. (2017). Vascular dysfunction in mother and offspring during Preeclampsia: contributions from latin-american countries. *Curr. Hypertens. Rep.* 19:83. doi: 10.1007/s11906-017-0781-7
- Grant, K. S., Petroff, R., Isoherranen, N., Stella, N., and Burbacher, T. M. (2017). Cannabis use during pregnancy: pharmacokinetics and effects on child development. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 182, 133–151. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2017. 08.014
- González, C., Herradón, E., Abalo, R., Vera, G., Pérez-Nievas, B. G., Leza, J. C., et al. (2011) Cannabinoid/agonist WIN 55,212-2 reduces cardiac ischaemia-reperfusion injury in Zucker diabetic fatty rats: role of CB2 receptors and iNOS/eNOS. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 27, 331–340. doi: 10.1002/ dmrr.1176
- Gude, N. M., Roberts, C. T., Kalionis, B., and King, R. G. (2004). Growth and function of the normal human placenta. *Thromb. Res.* 114, 397–407. doi: 10. 1016/j.thromres.2004.06.038
- Habayeb, O. M., Taylor, A. H., Bell, S. C., Taylor, D. J., and Konje, J. C. (2008a). Expression of the endocannabinoid system in human first trimester placenta and its role in trophoblast proliferation. *Endocrinology* 149, 5052–5060. doi: 10.1210/en.2007-1799

- Habayeb, O. M., Taylor, A. H., Finney, M., Evans, M. D., and Konje, J. C. (2008b). Plasma anandamide concentration and pregnancy outcome in women with threatened miscarriage. *JAMA* 299, 1135–1136. doi: 10.1001/jama.299. 10.1135
- Howlett, A., Barth, F., Bonner, T., Cabral, G., Casellas, P., Devane, W., et al. (2002). International Union of Pharmacology. XXVII. Classification of cannabinoid receptors. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 54, 161–202. doi: 10.1124/pr.54.2.161
- Ignarro, L. J. (1990). Biosynthesis and metabolism of endothelium-derived nitric oxide. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 30, 535–560. doi: 10.1146/annurev.pa. 30.040190.002535
- Kakui, K., Sagawa, N., Itoh, H., Yura, S., Korita, D., Takemura, M., et al. (2003). Expression of nitric oxide synthase isoforms in the human placenta is not altered by labor. *Endocr. J.* 50, 535–544. doi: 10.1507/endocrj.50.535
- Karumanchi, S. A. (2016). Angiogenic factors in Preeclampsia: from diagnosis to therapy. *Hypertension* 67, 1072–1079. doi: 10.1161/hypertensionaha.116.06421
- Kim, Y., Park, H., Lee, H., Ha, E., Suh, S., Oh, S., et al. (2006). Reduced L-arginine level and decreased placental eNOS activity in preeclampsia. *Placenta* 27, 438–444. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2005.04.011
- Kozak, K. R., Crews, B. C., Morrow, J. D., Wang, L.-H., Ma, Y. H., Weinander, R., et al. (2002). Metabolism of the endocannabinoids, 2-arachidonylglycerol and anandamide, into prostaglandin, thromboxane, and prostacyclin glycerol esters and ethanolamides. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277, 44877–44885. doi: 10.1074/jbc. M206788200
- Krishnan, G., and Chatterjee, N. (2015). Anandamide rescues retinal barrier properties in Muller glia through nitric oxide regulation. *Neuroscience* 284, 536–545. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2014.10.020
- Kulandavelu, S., Whiteley, K. J., Qu, D., Mu, J., Bainbridge, S. A., and Adamson, S. L. (2012). Endothelial nitric oxide synthase deficiency reduces uterine blood flow, spiral artery elongation, and placental oxygenation in pregnant mice. *Hypertension* 60, 231–238. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.111.187559
- Li, H., Ohta, H., Tahara, Y., Nakamura, S., Taguchi, K., Nakagawa, M., et al. (2015). Artificial oxygen carriers rescue placental hypoxia and improve fetal development in the rat pre-eclampsia model. *Sci. Rep.* 5:15271. doi: 10.1038/ srep15271
- Liaudet, L., Soriano, F. G., and Szabó, C. (2000). Biology of nitric oxide signaling. *Crit. Care Med.* 28, N37–N52. doi: 10.1097/00003246-200004001-00005
- Lipina, C., and Hundal, H. S. (2017). The endocannabinoid system: 'NO'longer anonymous in the control of nitrergic signalling? J. Mol. Cell Biol. 9, 91–103. doi: 10.1093/jmcb/mjx008
- López-Jaramillo, P., Arenas, W. D., García, R. G., Rincon, M. Y., and López, M. (2008). The role of the L-arginine-nitric oxide pathway in preeclampsia. *Ther. Adv. Cardiovasc. Dis.* 2, 261–275. doi: 10.1177/1753944708092277
- Luce, V., Solari, J. F., Rettori, V., and De Laurentiis, A. (2014). The inhibitory effect of anandamide on oxytocin and vasopressin secretion from neurohypophysis is mediated by nitric oxide. *Regul. Pept.* 188, 31–39. doi: 10.1016/j.regpep.2013. 12.004
- Marczylo, T. H., Lam, P. M., Amoako, A. A., and Konje, J. C. (2010). Anandamide levels in human female reproductive tissues: solid-phase extraction and measurement by ultraperformance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. *Anal. Biochem.* 400, 155–162. doi: 10.1016/j.ab.2009.12.025
- Marzo, V., and Petrocellis, L. D. (2010). Endocannabinoids as regulators of transient receptor potential (TRP) channels: a further opportunity to develop new endocannabinoid-based therapeutic drugs. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 17, 1430–1449. doi: 10.2174/092986710790980078
- McKinney, M. K., and Cravatt, B. F. (2005). Structure and function of fatty acid amide hydrolase. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 74, 411–432. doi: 10.1146/annurev. biochem.74.082803.133450
- Metz, T. D., and Stickrath, E. H. (2015). Marijuana use in pregnancy and lactation: a review of the evidence. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 213, 761–778. doi: 10.1016/j. ajog.2015.05.025
- Molvarec, A., Fügedi, G., Szabó, E., Stenczer, B., Walentin, S., and Rigó, J. Jr. (2015). Decreased circulating anandamide levels in preeclampsia. *Hypertens. Res.* 38:413. doi: 10.1038/hr.2015.20
- Moncada, S., and Higgs, E. (2006). The discovery of nitric oxide and its role in vascular biology. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 147(Suppl. 1), S193–S201. doi: 10.1038/sj. bjp.0706458
- Motta-Mejia, C., Kandzija, N., Zhang, W., Mhlomi, V., Cerdeira, A. S., Burdujan, A., et al. (2017). Placental vesicles carry active endothelial nitric

oxide synthase and their activity is reduced in Preeclampsia. *Hypertension* 70, 372–381. doi: 10.1161/hypertensionaha.117.09321

- Mukhopadhyay, P., Pan, H., Rajesh, M., Bátkai, S., Patel, V., Harvey-White, J., et al. (2010a). CB1 cannabinoid receptors promote oxidative/nitrosative stress, inflammation and cell death in a murine nephropathy model. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 160, 657–668. doi: 10.1111/j.1476-5381.2010.00769.x
- Mukhopadhyay, P., Rajesh, M., Pan, H., Patel, V., Mukhopadhyay, B., Bátkai, S., et al. (2010b). Cannabinoid-2 receptor limits inflammation, oxidative/nitrosative stress, and cell death in nephropathy. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 48, 457–467. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2009
- Myatt, L. (1992). Control of vascular resistance in the human placenta. *Placenta* 13, 329–341. doi: 10.1016/0143-4004(92)90057-Z
- Myatt, L., Brewer, A. S., Langdon, G., and Brockman, D. E. (1992). Attenuation of the vasoconstrictor effects of thromboxane and endothelin by nitric oxide in the human fetal-placental circulation. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 166, 224–230. doi: 10.1016/0002-9378(92)91863-6
- Myatt, L., Eis, A., Brockman, D., Greer, I., and Lyall, F. (1997). Endothelial nitric oxide synthase in placental villous tissue from normal, pre-eclamptic and intrauterine growth restricted pregnancies. *Hum. Reprod.* 12, 167–172. doi: 10.1093/humrep/12.1.167
- Noris, M., Perico, N., and Remuzzi, G. (2005). Mechanisms of disease: preeclampsia. *Nat. Rev. Nephrol.* 1:98. doi: 10.1038/ncpneph0035
- Oddi, S., Latini, L., Viscomi, M. T., Bisicchia, E., Molinari, M., and Maccarrone, M. (2012). Distinct regulation of nNOS and iNOS by CB2 receptor in remote delayed neurodegeneration. *J. Mol. Med.* 90, 371–387. doi: 10.1007/s00109-011-0846-z
- Ortigosa, S., Friguls, B., Joya, X., Martinez, S., Marinoso, M. L., Alameda, F., et al. (2012). Feto-placental morphological effects of prenatal exposure to drugs of abuse. *Reprod. Toxicol.* 34, 73–79. doi: 10.1016/j.reprotox.2012.04.002
- O'sullivan, S. (2007). Cannabinoids go nuclear: evidence for activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors. Br. J. Pharmacol. 152, 576–582. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjp.0707423
- Osycka-Salut, C., Gervasi, M. G., Pereyra, E., Cella, M., Ribeiro, M. L., Franchi, A. M., et al. (2012). Anandamide induces sperm release from oviductal epithelia through nitric oxide pathway in bovines. *PLoS One* 7:e30671. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0030671
- Pacher, P., Batkai, S., and Kunos, G. (2005). Blood pressure regulation by endocannabinoids and their receptors. *Neuropharmacology* 48, 1130–1138. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2004.12.005
- Pacher, P., and Kunos, G. (2013). Modulating the endocannabinoid system in human health and disease-successes and failures. *FEBS J.* 280, 1918–1943. doi: 10.1111/febs.12260
- Pacher, P., and Steffens, S. (2009). The emerging role of the endocannabinoid system in cardiovascular disease. *Semin. Immunopathol.* 31, 63–77. doi: 10. 1007/s00281-009-0145-8
- Park, B., Gibbons, H. M., Mitchell, M. D., and Glass, M. (2003). Identification of the CB1 cannabinoid receptor and fatty acid amide hydrolase (FAAH) in the human placenta. *Placenta* 24, 990–995. doi: 10.1016/S0143-4004(03)00165-6
- Pertwee, R. G. (2006). The pharmacology of cannabinoid receptors and their ligands: an overview. Int. J. Obes. 30(Suppl. 1), S13–S18. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo. 0803272
- Pistis, M., and Melis, M. (2010). From surface to nuclear receptors: the endocannabinoid family extends its assets. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 17, 1450–1467. doi: 10.2174/092986710790980014
- Poblete, I. M., Orliac, M. L., Briones, R., Adler-Graschinsky, E., and Huidobro-Toro, J. P. (2005). Anandamide elicits an acute release of nitric oxide through endothelial TRPV1 receptor activation in the rat arterial mesenteric bed. *J. Physiol.* 568, 539–551. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2005.094292
- Possomato-Vieira, J. S., and Khalil, R. A. (2016). Mechanisms of endothelial dysfunction in hypertensive pregnancy and Preeclampsia. Adv. Pharmacol. 77, 361–431. doi: 10.1016/bs.apha.2016.04.008
- Powe, C. E., Levine, R. J., and Karumanchi, S. A. (2011). Preeclampsia, a disease of the maternal endothelium: the role of antiangiogenic factors and implications for later cardiovascular disease. *Circulation* 123, 2856–2869. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.109.853127
- Randall, M. D., Harris, D., Kendall, D. A., and Ralevic, V. (2002). Cardiovascular effects of cannabinoids. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 95, 191–202. doi: 10.1016/S0163-7258(02)00258-9

- Ranta, V., Viinikka, L., Halmesmäki, E., and Ylikorkala, O. (1999). Nitric oxide production with preeclampsia. Obstet. Gynecol. 93, 442–445.
- Ross, R. A. (2003). Anandamide and vanilloid TRPV1 receptors. Br. J. Pharmacol. 140, 790–801 doi: 10.1038/sj.bjp.0705467
- Sandrim, V. C., Palei, A. C., Metzger, I. F., Gomes, V. A., Cavalli, R. C., and Tanus-Santos, J. E. (2008). Nitric oxide formation is inversely related to serum levels of antiangiogenic factors soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1 and soluble endogline in preeclampsia. *Hypertension* 52, 402–407. doi: 10.1161/hypertensionaha.108. 115006
- Schiessl, B., Mylonas, I., Hantschmann, P., Kuhn, C., Schulze, S., Kunze, S., et al. (2005). Expression of endothelial NO synthase, inducible NO synthase, and estrogen receptors alpha and beta in placental tissue of normal, preeclamptic, and intrauterine growth-restricted pregnancies. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 53, 1441–1449. doi: 10.1369/jhc.4A6480.2005
- Shaamash, A., Elsonosy, E., Zakhari, M., Radwan, S. H., and El-Dien, H. (2001). Placental nitric oxide synthase (NOS) activity and nitric oxide (NO) production in normal pregnancy, pre-eclampsia and eclampsia. *Int. J. Gynecol. Obstet.* 72, 127–133. doi: 10.1016/S0020-7292(00)00314-3
- Sharir, H., Console-Bram, L., Mundy, C., Popoff, S. N., Kapur, A., and Abood, M. E. (2012). The endocannabinoids anandamide and virodhamine modulate the activity of the candidate cannabinoid receptor GPR55. *J. Neuroimmune Pharmacol.* 7, 856–865. doi: 10.1007/s11481-012-9351-6
- Signorello, M. G., Giacobbe, E., Passalacqua, M., and Leoncini, G. (2011). The anandamide effect on NO/cGMP pathway in human platelets. *J. Cell. Biochem.* 112, 924–932. doi: 10.1002/jcb.23008
- Smith-Jackson, K., Hentschke, M. R., Poli-de-Figueiredo, C. E., Pinheiro da Costa, B. E., Kurlak, L. O., Broughton Pipkin, F., et al. (2015). Placental expression of eNOS, iNOS and the major protein components of caveolae in women with pre-eclampsia. *Placenta* 36, 607–610. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2015.02.001
- Sordelli, M. S., Beltrame, J. S., Burdet, J., Zotta, E., Pardo, R., Cella, M., et al. (2011). The effect of anandamide on uterine nitric oxide synthase activity depends on the presence of the blastocyst. *PLoS One* 6:e18368. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0018368
- Su, Y. (2014). Regulation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase activity by protein-protein interaction. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 20, 3514–3520. doi: 10.2174/ 13816128113196660752
- Sun, X., Deng, W., Li, Y., Tang, S., Leishman, E., Bradshaw, H. B., et al. (2016). Sustained endocannabinoid signaling compromises decidual function and promotes inflammation-induced preterm birth. J. Biol. Chem. 291, 8231–8240. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M115.707836
- Sun, X., Xie, H., Yang, J., Wang, H., Bradshaw, H. B., and Dey, S. K. (2010). Endocannabinoid signaling directs differentiation of trophoblast cell lineages and placentation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 16887–16892. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1010892107
- Taylor, A. H., Finney, M., Lam, P. M., and Konje, J. C. (2011). Modulation of the endocannabinoid system in viable and non-viable first trimester pregnancies by pregnancy-related hormones. *Reprod. Biol. Endocrinol.* 9:152. doi: 10.1186/ 1477-7827-9-152

- Tedesco, L., Valerio, A., Cervino, C., Cardile, A., Pagano, C., Vettor, R., et al. (2008). Cannabinoid type 1 receptor blockade promotes mitochondrial biogenesis through endothelial nitric oxide synthase expression in white adipocytes. *Diabetes* 57, 2028–2036. doi: 10.2337/db07-1623
- Trabucco, E., Acone, G., Marenna, A., Pierantoni, R., Cacciola, G., Chioccarelli, T., et al. (2009). Endocannabinoid system in first trimester placenta: low FAAH and high CB1 expression characterize spontaneous miscarriage. *Placenta* 30, 516–522. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2009.03.015
- Vanhoutte, P. M., Zhao, Y., Xu, A., and Leung, S. W. (2016). Thirty years of saying NO: sources, fate, actions, and misfortunes of the endothelium-derived vasodilator mediator. *Circ. Res.* 119, 375–396. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116. 306531
- Vercelli, C. A., Aisemberg, J., Billi, S., Cervini, M., Ribeiro, M. L., Farina, M., et al. (2009a). Anandamide regulates lipopolysaccharide-induced nitric oxide synthesis and tissue damage in the murine uterus. *Reprod. Biomed.* 18, 824–831.
- Vercelli, C., Aisemberg, J., Billi, S., Wolfson, M., and Franchi, A. (2009b). Endocannabinoid system and nitric oxide are involved in the deleterious effects of lipopolysaccharide on murine decidua. *Placenta* 30, 579–584. doi: 10.1016/j. placenta.2009.04.003
- Wang, H., Xie, H., and Dey, S. K. (2008). Loss of cannabinoid receptor CB1 induces preterm birth. PLoS One 3:e3320. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0003320
- Wareing, M., Bai, X., Seghier, F., Turner, C. M., Greenwood, S. L., Baker, P. N., et al. (2006). Expression and function of potassium channels in the human placental vasculature. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 291, R437–R446. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00040.2006
- Zhou, Y., Fisher, S. J., Janatpour, M., Genbacev, O., Dejana, E., Wheelock, M., et al. (1997). Human cytotrophoblasts adopt a vascular phenotype as they differentiate. A strategy for successful endovascular invasion? *J. Clin. Invest.* 99, 2139–2151. doi: 10.1172/JCI119387
- Zhu, M., Ren, Z., Possomato-Vieira, J. S., and Khalil, R. A. (2016). Restoring placental growth factor-soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1 balance reverses vascular hyper-reactivity and hypertension in pregnancy. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 311, R505–R521. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00137. 2016

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Abán, Accialini, Etcheverry, Leguizamón, Martinez and Farina. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





O-GIcNAc Modification During Pregnancy: Focus on Placental Environment

Victor Vitorino Lima¹, Vanessa Dela Justina², Rinaldo Rodrigues dos Passos Jr.¹, Gustavo Tadeu Volpato¹, Paula Cristina S. Souto¹, Sebastian San Martin³ and Fernanda Regina Giachini^{1,2*} on behalf of the RIVA-TREM

¹ Institute of Health and Biological Science, Federal University of Mato Grosso, Barra do Garças, Brazil, ² Institute of Biological Science, Federal University of Goias, Goiânia, Brazil, ³ Biomedical Research Center, School of Medicine, Universidad de Valparaíso, Valparaíso, Chile

Successful placentation is a key event for fetal development, which commences following embryo implantation into the uterine wall, eliciting decidualization, placentation, and remodeling of blood vessels to provide physiological exchange between embryo-fetus and mother. Several signaling pathways are recruited to modulate such important processes and specific proteins that regulate placental function are a target for the glycosylation with *O*-linked β -N-acetylglucosamine (*O*-GlcNAc), or *O*-GlcNAcylation. This is a reversible post-translational modification on nuclear and cytoplasmic proteins, mainly controlled by *O*-GlcNAc transferase (OGT) and *O*-GlcNAcase (OGA). *O*-GlcNAcylation has been implicated as a modulator of proteins, both in physiological and pathological conditions and, more recently, *O*-GlcNAc has also been shown to be an important modulator in placental tissue. In this mini-review, the interplay between *O*-GlcNAcylation of proteins and placental function will be addressed, discussing the possible implications of this post-translational modification through placental development and pregnancy.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Pasquale Pagliaro, Università degli Studi di Torino, Italy

Reviewed by:

Brett M. Mitchell, Texas A&M Health Science Center, United States Keshari Thakali, University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences, United States

*Correspondence:

Fernanda Regina Giachini fernandagiachini@hotmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Vascular Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 06 June 2018 Accepted: 21 August 2018 Published: 12 September 2018

Citation:

Lima VV, Dela Justina V, dos Passos RR Jr, Volpato GT, Souto PCS, San Martin S and Giachini FR (2018) O-GlcNAc Modification During Pregnancy: Focus on Placental Environment. Front. Physiol. 9:1263. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01263 Keywords: placental dysfunction, O-GlcNAc, post-translational modification, pregnancy, placentation

INTRODUCTION

The hemochorial placenta allows blood coming from the maternal circulation to directly contact the fetal chorion, favoring nutrient exchange to the embryo and fetus (Croy et al., 2009). In addition to providing a complete environment for embryo-fetal development, this non-innervated organ also has important implications in endocrine and physiological control during pregnancy. These features display a tightly regulated placentation process requiring precise mechanisms to modulate embryo implantation, decidualization of the endometrium and uterine blood vessel remodeling to generate a functional placenta (Maltepe et al., 2010).

The placenta displays crucial functions during pregnancy, and its performance is associated with morphological integrity, providing the desirable environment for fetal development. Several maternal factors may impact placental function, including co-existence of diabetes, hypertension, and other conditions. Metabolic homeostasis, together with the development of gestational immune tolerance (Elliot and Crespi, 2006; Croy et al., 2009), favor an environment without stressors, and are requirements for successful placental development.

95

O-GlcNAcylation is a reversible and dynamic posttranslational modification with O-linked β-N-acetylglucosamine (O-GlcNAc), targeting cytoplasmic and nuclear proteins at serine, threonine and tyrosine (Ser-Thr-Tyr) residues. This process occurs in several proteins in eukaryotic cells, and is analogous to protein phosphorylation (Lima et al., 2012; van der Laarse et al., 2018). Unlike other post-translational modifications, O-GlcNAc is regulated exclusively by two enzymes: O-GlcNAc transferase (OGT), which catalyzes the β -attachment of O-GlcNAc to the hydroxy groups of Ser-Thr-Tyr residues; and β-N-acetylglucosaminidase (OGA, or O-GlcNAcase), which catalyzes the hydrolytic cleavage of O-GlcNAc from proteins (Laczy et al., 2009; Lima et al., 2011). Interestingly, OGA and OGT are extensively expressed in placentas (Lubas et al., 1997; Gao et al., 2001) and several proteins that play important roles in placental function are targets for O-GlcNAcylation.

The most important source for O-GlcNAc formation is the hexosamine biosynthetic pathway (HBP). After glucose uptake, glucose can either be used in the glycolytic pathway or the HBP. The HBP uses fructose 6-phosphate to form glucosamine 6-phosphate, with glutamine serving as the donor of the amino group, whereas this reaction is catalyzed via glutamine: fructose 6-phosphate aminotransferase (GFAT), which is rapidly acetylated through the action of acetyl-CoA:d-glucosamine-6-phosphate N-acetyltransferase (GAT) and isomerized to N-acetylglucosamine-1-phosphate (GlcNAc-1-P). UDP-GlcNAc pyrophosphorylase then converts GlcNAc-1-P to UDP-GlcNAc, which serves as the donor for O-GlcNAc when OGT is activated. Glucosamine can also enter the cell through glucose transporters and is rapidly phosphorylated by hexokinase yielding glucosamine 6-phosphate, thereby passing the ratelimiting first step of the HBP (Figure 1; Lima et al., 2012).

In this review, we will present evidence of how this post-translational modification interacts with proteins that are important for placental function, discussing possible implications in pregnancy.

O-GLCNAC DURING PREGNANCY

O-GIcNAc Role During Pre-implantation, Implantation, and Embryo Development

Several stages of pregnancy may be affected by O-GlcNAc (Figure 1). Fast trophoblast proliferation, along with the development of the chorionic sac and chorionic villi marks the earliest stage of placental formation (Rossant and Cross, 2001). Maternal hyperglycemia may negatively impact preimplantation by reducing the embryo's ability for glucose uptake, favoring miscarriage and congenital anomalies (Jungheim and Moley, 2008; Damasceno et al., 2017). In hyperglycemia and glucosamine incubation increased O-GlcNAcylation occurs, resulting in reduced cell proliferation and, therefore, impaired blastocyst formation, as demonstrated in an experimental model of mouse zygote cultures. Inhibition of OGT was able to partially restore cell proliferation and blastocyst formation under hyperglycemic conditions, suggesting that dysregulation of both HBP and O-GlcNAcylation may favor embryotoxic effects during pre-implantation development (Pantaleon et al., 2010). O-GlcNAc displays an important role not only in trophoblast proliferation, but also in embryonic cell differentiation. Naïve mouse embryonic stem cells, derived from pre-implantation embryos, maintain an undifferentiated state via augmented O-GlcNAc expression (Shi et al., 2013). The differentiation process from naïve to a primed state, as observed in cells from post-implantation embryos, requires OGA expression, whereas OGT expression is observed in maintenance of cell survival (Jang et al., 2012; Shi et al., 2013; Speakman et al., 2014). Interestingly, OGT also contributes to cell survival of primed embryo cells (O'Donnell et al., 2004) and expression of both OGT and OGA is required to revert primed to naïve cells (Miura and Nishihara, 2016). Later, it was demonstrated that the histone variant H2A is a target for O-GlcNAc at Ser⁴⁰, and this post-translational modification is required for H2A to contribute to the trophoblast stem cell differentiation process, being correlated with the evolution of placental tissue (Hirosawa et al., 2016). Indeed, H2A is required during mouse embryonic stem cell differentiation, allowing these cells to change gene expression. H2A is also highly expressed in early placental development (Kafer et al., 2015).

Post-translational modifications of histones represent an important mechanism of DNA damage repair. An example is the phosphorylation of the histone H2AX, of itself an effective repair mechanism. This process is, however, restrained to small compartments, and must occur within a limited time frame. O-GlcNAcylation also occurs in H2AX, limiting the expansion of DNA damage-induced phosphorylation of chromatin (Chen and Yu, 2016). Embryos from diabetic mothers display exacerbated DNA damage, evidenced by the co-localization of H2AX. O-GlcNAcylation was observed in diabetic blastocyst-stage embryos, favoring impairment of pre-implantation embryo development (Brown et al., 2018). That precursors coming from the metabolic flux have the ability to modulate nuclear function has been denominated metaboloepigenetics (Donohoe and Bultman, 2012); this mechanism provides evidence for an epigenetic contribution to the vertical transmission of diabetes.

OGA expression is also related to embryo/fetal viability since *Oga* gene disruption results in augmented levels of global *O*-GlcNAcylation. These genetically modified animals display high perinatal mortality, associated with low circulating glucose levels and smaller stores of glycogen in the liver. In this experimental model, other metabolic alterations were identified in heterozygous mice, including fat accumulation, reduced insulin sensitivity, glucose intolerance and hyperleptinemia. *Oga* disruption generated defective metabolic homeostasis, contributing to obesity and insulin resistance (Keembiyehetty et al., 2015).

Successful placentation involves decidual cells that encapsulate the implanting embryo, providing nutrition and favoring an immunological environment that allows trophoblast invasion and, later, placentation. It is mandatory for decidual cells to develop mechanisms to block stressor signals, favoring the integrity of this initial stage of the fetal-maternal interface



O-linked β -N-acetylglucosamine; OGA, β -N-acetylglucosaminidase; OGT, O-GlcNAc transferase.

(Weimar et al., 2012; Erlebacher, 2013). Decidualization of primary endometrial stromal cells results in reduced global *O*-GlcNAcylation, mediated by decreased OGT expression, without changes in OGA expression. Cell differentiation occurs simultaneously with enhanced expression of epidermal growth factor domain-specific *O*-linked GlcNAc transferase (EOGT), involving mechanisms of energy homeostasis and glucose and fatty acid metabolism, which explains, at least in part, adverse pregnancy outcomes observed in metabolic disorders (Muter et al., 2018).

O-GlcNAcylation impacts embryogenesis and alterations the maternal glucose metabolism may in disrupt neurodevelopment. Neural stem cells submitted to an in vitro hyperglycemic environment resulted in augmented global O-GlcNAcylation via OGT enhanced activity, and displayed neural tube defects, suggesting that inhibition of altered OGT might be beneficial in preventing birth defects in hyperglycemic pregnancies (Kim et al., 2017). Given the importance of this pathway on neurodevelopment, human embryonic stem cells were used to demonstrate that augmented global O-GlcNAcylation is associated with reduced neural progenitor proliferation and premature differentiation of cortical neurons. Therefore, O-GlcNAc regulation may represent an important mechanism observed in metabolically compromised pregnancies,

contributing to neuronal impairment in the offspring (Parween et al., 2017).

O-GlcNAc and Immune System During Pregnancy

The embryo is recognized as non-self by the maternal immune system, and therefore, several adaptations are required to prevent rejection during implantation (Robertson and Moldenhauer, 2014). One important role of natural killer (NK) cells is to destroy cells that fail to express major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I molecules; during pregnancy, in contrast to their primary function, placental NK cells tolerate cells from fetal tissue, which do not express maternal MHC I molecules (Ljunggren and Karre, 1990; King and Loke, 1991). A possible explanation for the tissue-specific behavior of placental NK cells is that nonclassical MHC I molecules, including human leukocyte antigen-G (HLA-G), are expressed in fetal extra villous trophoblasts and may inhibit NK cell cytotoxicity during pregnancy (Carosella et al., 1999; Kumpel and Manoussaka, 2012). Trophoblast cells present in the maternofetal interface secrete a soluble HLA-G1 (sHLA-G1) isoform in the amniotic fluid, and are released into the maternal circulation, favoring systemic immunoinhibitory activity (McMaster et al., 1998). Indeed, sHLA-G1 secreted by syncytiotrophoblast specifically induces the apoptosis of CD8+ T cells (Solier et al., 2002). Interestingly, NK cell cytotoxicity occurs simultaneously with reduced *O*-GlcNAcylation and seems to be inhibited by the sHLA-G1 α chain via an *O*-GlcNAc dependent-mechanism. When NK92 cells, an NK cell line, were submitted to a cytotoxicity assay using K562 cells as target cells, *O*-GlcNAc levels decreased inversely to cytotoxic activity (Yao et al., 2004). Preincubation with GST-HLA-Gl α chain prevented the decrease of *O*-GlcNAc levels, reverting NK92 cytotoxicity.

Cytokine production is also modulated by O-GlcNAcylation. Augmented O-GlcNAc levels in the placenta during hyperglycemia coincided with augmented placental levels of interleukin (IL)-6 and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α). Interestingly, both cytokines positively correlated with placental weight, and negatively correlated with fetal weight and placental efficiency in hyperglycemic conditions (Dela Justina et al., 2017). Reduced embryo implantation and impaired blastocyst development was observed in an experimental mouse model of diabetes. These findings were related to an inflammatory imbalance, elicited by increased expression of proinflammatory cytokines in the uterus, including IL-1 α , TNF- α , and interferon gamma (IFN γ), and a pronounced reduction of anti-inflammatory regulatory T-cells within the uterus-draining lymph nodes (Brown et al., 2018).

O-GICNAC Regulation of Transcriptional Factors in Placental Tissue

Post-translational modifications are important key regulators of transcription factors. Considering the high occurrence of *O*-GlcNAcylation of nuclear proteins, *O*-GlcNAc has been implicated to be a major modulator of transcriptional activity (Ozcan et al., 2010). The first transcription factor described to be a target for *O*-GlcNAc modulation was specific protein 1 (Sp-1), a member of the Sp factors; removal of *O*-GlcNAc favored protein association, as demonstrated in HeLa cells (Roos et al., 1997).

Later, it was demonstrated that transcription factors from the placenta are also targets of O-GlcNAc modulation. The oncofetal protein gene (Pem) is expressed in a stage-specific manner during murine embryogenesis in placental, but not adult, tissues (Wilkinson et al., 1990). Murine placenta and embryonic expression of Pem is highly regulated, involving E74 like Ets transcription factor 1 (Elf-1) and Sp-1 transcription factors (Rao et al., 2002). Efl-1, which belongs to the Ets family, and Sp-1 are, similarly, modulated by O-GlcNAc (Jackson and Tjian, 1988; Juang et al., 2002; Chu and Ferro, 2005). Sp-1 and Elf-1 activate Pem promoter elements, favoring its transcription (Rao et al., 2002). In vitro, DNA binding and competition assays have demonstrated that O-GlcNAcylation of Sp-1 does not affect DNA binding itself, but reduces the ability of Sp-1 to interact with Elf-1. As a result, the activation of the Pem promoter element is reduced, and, thus, Pem expression (Lim and Chang, 2009). This was the first work to provide evidence that O-GlcNAc modulates transcription factors that regulate genes specifically expressed during embryogenesis, displaying a placental distribution.

The hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha (HIF-1 α), is a subunit of a heterodimeric transcription factor, hypoxia-inducible factor

1 (HIF-1), which is stabilized at the protein level in response to hypoxia. This transcription factor plays an essential role during vascular development of the placenta and OGA favors HIF-1 α stabilization. OGA deficient mice display elevated *O*-GlcNAcylation along with defective placental vasculogenesis, characterized by reduced vasculature in the labyrinth region, directly contributing to fetal growth restriction. Interestingly, in this model OGA deletion reduced OGT activity, which resulted in HIF-1 α suppression, reducing transcriptional activation of target genes (Yang et al., 2015). This evidences an important role of *O*-GlcNAcylation in cellular stress conditions. During proliferation, OGT deletion, which reduces *O*-GlcNAc levels, modulates HIF-1 α favoring ER stress-mediated apoptosis, as observed in cancer cells (Ferrer et al., 2014).

Under hyperglycemic conditions, O-GlcNAc modifications also occur in nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF- κ B), found in rat placental tissue (Dela Justina et al., 2017). This represents non-canonical activation of NF- κ B, also described in other cells (Yang et al., 2008), in which augmented levels of O-GlcNAc bind to NF- κ B, favoring its translocation to the nucleus, augmenting production of proinflammatory cytokines (Dela Justina et al., 2017).

O-GICNAc and Maternal Stress

In several cell types, O-GlcNAcylation provides an important tool for cell survival in conditions of elevated stressors, and several forms of cellular injury result in dynamic changes to O-GlcNAcylation (Martinez et al., 2017). During pregnancy, exposure to stress contributes to maternal and fetal metabolic alterations and reduces placental growth. Both maternal stress and growth restriction have been consistently associated with metabolic dysfunction observed in offspring (**Figure 2**). High glucose levels, observed in mothers submitted to experimental models of stress, impact the gene expression profile of offspring. OGT is one of the genes affected and, in conditions of maternal stress, offspring display reduced OGT expression in the labyrinth region (Briffa et al., 2017).

A genome-wide array approach identified OGT as a cellular stress marker during pregnancy. Both OGT and O-GlcNAcylation were significantly lower when mothers were submitted to prenatal stress. In addition to being a biomarker of stress, OGT was also shown to be crucial for neurodevelopment, and its expression was affected to a greater extent in male, compared to female offspring (Howerton et al., 2013). Physiologically, O-GlcNAcylation is greatly decreased during early development and the shortest isoform of OGT (sOGT) is essentially undetectable during early development, but increases consistently after birth (Liu et al., 2012). To address the direct impact of placental OGT in programming the developing brain, an elegant study was conducted in a transgenic mouse model with targeted placental disruption of OGT (PI-OGT). Offspring from this model were compared to those of a mouse model of early prenatal stress (Howerton and Bale, 2014). These experiments confirmed that OGT is an important placental biomarker of maternal stress, resulting in a long-term harmful effect on offspring, which is suitable for metabolic and neurodevelopmental programing under these conditions.



It appears that OGT expression may change according to the kind and intensity of stress experienced by the mother, and affect offspring in a sexually dimorphic manner. Physiologically, the placenta of female mice offspring had higher basal OGT expression, compared to placentas of males. Following corticosterone exposure, OGT expression increased in placentas of males, but global O-GlcNAcylation was not modified, whereas, in placentas of females, OGT expression remained the same, and increased global O-GlcNAcylation was observed. These findings show that placentas from female offspring have a greater capacity to rapidly respond to maternal stress and suggests that offspring are affected by maternal stress in a sexually dimorphic pattern. This may impact future life, where males may be more suitable for diseases that are influenced by intra-uterus environment (Pantaleon et al., 2017). A deleterious consequence of maternal stress on offspring includes depression. Adult female rats displayed sex-specific depressive-like behavior when submitted to an intrauterine stress environment as offspring, while males did not display these symptoms (Liu et al., 2018). Interestingly, when these animals were subjected to a swimming exercise, depression symptoms were ameliorated, and this improvement was associated with OGT-related mitochondrial motility.

Metabolic maternal stress, as observed in placentas during severe hyperglycemia, resulted in increased O-GlcNAc levels compared to placentas from control and mildly hyperglycemic rats. OGA expression was reduced in placentas from the severely hyperglycemic rats, whereas augmented OGA was found in placentas from the mild hyperglycemic group, compared to control. No changes in OGT were observed during severe or mild hyperglycemia. O-GlcNAc overexpression in hyperglycemic conditions co-exist with placental dysfunction, which was characterized by morphometric alterations along with reduced placental index (Dela Justina et al., 2018).

PERSPECTIVES

The evidence relating O-GlcNAc to placental function is at present still limited, mainly due to the limited number of studies conducted so far. OGA and OGT expression and O-GlcNAc modification represent important modulator mechanisms involved in placental development. Several pathological conditions result in augmented O-GlcNAc levels and may impact these mechanisms, leading to impaired placental development and adversely affect fetal growth. Most of the work conducted has been performed in cell culture or in experimental models of hyperglycemia; future work would be served by evaluating O-GlcNAcylation in human placentas. In addition to hyperglycemia, high O-GlcNAc levels co-exist in other conditions, including hypertension (Zachara, 2012), kidney injury (Hu et al., 2017), high-fat diet (Lima et al., 2016), obesity (da Costa et al., 2018), cancer (Tiainen et al., 2016), among others. Therefore, a next step would be to verify how the altered O-GlcNAc levels observed in various pathological conditions might impact placental development.

The current knowledge on this topic also reveals a potential area for exploration in sexual dimorphism during placentation. This is particularly important at the time of the placental collection in animal studies, with respect to correct sex identification. Hence, it will be exciting to describe whether O-GlcNAcylation occurs in a similar pattern at different stages of placentation for male and female offspring.

Several conventional pharmacological and nonpharmacological treatments, including medicinal plants, exercise, among others, are used to improve pregnancy outcomes and fetal growth. It will be interesting to evaluate whether these strategies impact O-GlcNAcylation of placental proteins or improve gestational success in pathological conditions.

MEMBERS OF THE RIVA-TREM

Victor Vitorino Lima, Sebastian San Martin, Paula Cristina S. Souto, Fernanda Regina Giachini (www.rivatrem.org).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FG and VL have proposed the topic of this revision and designed the figures. All the authors have contributed to information

REFERENCES

- Briffa, J. F., Hosseini, S. S., Tran, M., Moritz, K. M., Cuffe, J. S. M., and Wlodek, M. E. (2017). Maternal growth restriction and stress exposure in rats differentially alters expression of components of the placental glucocorticoid barrier and nutrient transporters. *Placenta* 59, 30–38. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta. 2017.09.006
- Brown, H. M., Green, E. S., Tan, T. C. Y., Gonzalez, M. B., Rumbold, A. R., Hull, M. L., et al. (2018). Periconception onset diabetes is associated with embryopathy and fetal growth retardation, reproductive tract hyperglycosylation and impaired immune adaptation to pregnancy. *Sci. Rep.* 8:2114. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-19263-8
- Carosella, E. D., Rouas-Freiss, N., Paul, P., and Dausset, J. (1999). HLA-G: a tolerance molecule from the major histocompatibility complex. *Immunol. Today* 20, 60–62.
- Chen, Q., and Yu, X. (2016). OGT restrains the expansion of DNA damage signaling. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 44, 9266–9278. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkw663
- Chu, S., and Ferro, T. J. (2005). Sp1: regulation of gene expression by phosphorylation. *Gene* 348, 1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2005. 01.013
- Croy, B. A., Wessels, J., Linton, N., and Tayade, C. (2009). Comparison of immune cell recruitment and function in endometrium during development of epitheliochorial (pig) and hemochorial (mouse and human) placentas. *Placenta* 30(Suppl. A), S26–S31. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2008.09.019S0143-4004(08)00334-2
- da Costa, R. M., da Silva, J. F., Alves, J. V., Dias, T. B., Rassi, D. M., Garcia, L. V., et al. (2018). Increased O-GlcNAcylation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase compromises the anti-contractile properties of perivascular adipose tissue in metabolic syndrome. *Front. Physiol.* 9:341. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018. 00341
- Damasceno, D. C., Leal-Silva, T., Soares, T. S., Moraes-Souza, R. Q., and Volpato,
 G. T. (2017). Medicinal Plants for Diabetes Treatment During Pregnancy.
 Curr. Med. Chem. 24, 404–410. doi: 10.2174/09298673236661610031
 22914
- Dela Justina, V., Dos Passos, R. R., Bressan, A. F., Tostes, R. C., Carneiro, F. S., Soares, T. S., et al. (2018). O-linked N-acetyl-glucosamine deposition in placental proteins varies according to maternal glycemic levels. *Life Sci.* 15, 18–25. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2018.05.013
- Dela Justina, V., Goncalves, J. S., de Freitas, R. A., Fonseca, A. D., Volpato, G. T., Tostes, R. C., et al. (2017). Increased O-Linked N-acetylglucosamine modification of NF-KappaB and augmented cytokine production in the placentas from Hyperglycemic Rats. *Inflammation* 40, 1773–1781. doi: 10.1007/ s10753-017-0620-7
- Donohoe, D. R., and Bultman, S. J. (2012). Metaboloepigenetics: interrelationships between energy metabolism and epigenetic control

recruitment, revision design, to write and revise the present version. FG has proposed the topic of this revision and designed the figures. All the authors have contributed to design, write and revise the present version.

FUNDING

This study was financed in part by the Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior – Brazil (CAPES) – Finance Code 001.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Jana Stojanova for her valuable assistance in the linguistic revision.

of gene expression. J. Cell Physiol. 227, 3169–3177. doi: 10.1002/jcp. 24054

- Elliot, M. G., and Crespi, B. J. (2006). Placental invasiveness mediates the evolution of hybrid inviability in mammals. Am. Nat. 168, 114–120. doi: 10.1086/505162
- Erlebacher, A. (2013). Immunology of the maternal-fetal interface. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 31, 387–411. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-032712-100003
- Ferrer, C. M., Lynch, T. P., Sodi, V. L., Falcone, J. N., Schwab, L. P., Peacock, D. L., et al. (2014). O-GlcNAcylation regulates cancer metabolism and survival stress signaling via regulation of the HIF-1 pathway. *Mol. Cell* 54, 820–831. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2014.04.026S1097-2765(14)00360-8
- Gao, Y., Wells, L., Comer, F. I., Parker, G. J., and Hart, G. W. (2001). Dynamic O-glycosylation of nuclear and cytosolic proteins: cloning and characterization of a neutral, cytosolic beta-N-acetylglucosaminidase from human brain. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276, 9838–9845. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M010420200
- Hirosawa, M., Hayakawa, K., Yoneda, C., Arai, D., Shiota, H., Suzuki, T., et al. (2016). Novel O-GlcNAcylation on Ser(40) of canonical H2A isoforms specific to viviparity. *Sci. Rep.* 6:31785. doi: 10.1038/srep31785
- Howerton, C. L., and Bale, T. L. (2014). Targeted placental deletion of OGT recapitulates the prenatal stress phenotype including hypothalamic mitochondrial dysfunction. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, 9639–9644. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1401203111
- Howerton, C. L., Morgan, C. P., Fischer, D. B., and Bale, T. L. (2013). O-GlcNAc transferase (OGT) as a placental biomarker of maternal stress and reprogramming of CNS gene transcription in development. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, 5169–5174. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1300065110
- Hu, J., Chen, R., Jia, P., Fang, Y., Liu, T., Song, N., et al. (2017). Augmented O-GlcNAc signaling via glucosamine attenuates oxidative stress and apoptosis following contrast-induced acute kidney injury in rats. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 103, 121–132. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2016.12.032
- Jackson, S. P., and Tjian, R. (1988). O-glycosylation of eukaryotic transcription factors: implications for mechanisms of transcriptional regulation. *Cell* 55, 125–133.
- Jang, H., Kim, T. W., Yoon, S., Choi, S. Y., Kang, T. W., Kim, S. Y., et al. (2012). O-GlcNAc regulates pluripotency and reprogramming by directly acting on core components of the pluripotency network. *Cell Stem Cell* 11, 62–74. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2012.03.001
- Juang, Y. T., Solomou, E. E., Rellahan, B., and Tsokos, G. C. (2002). Phosphorylation and O-linked glycosylation of Elf-1 leads to its translocation to the nucleus and binding to the promoter of the TCR zeta-chain. *J. Immunol.* 168, 2865–2871.
- Jungheim, E. S., and Moley, K. H. (2008). The impact of type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus on the oocyte and the preimplantation embryo. *Semin. Reprod. Med.* 26, 186–195. doi: 10.1055/s-2008-1042957
- Kafer, G. R., Carlton, P. M., and Lehnert, S. A. (2015). The histone variant H2A.Z is dynamically expressed in the developing mouse placenta and in differentiating

trophoblast stem cells. *Placenta* 36, 1325–1328. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2015.08. 018S0143-4004(15)30045-X

- Keembiyehetty, C., Love, D. C., Harwood, K. R., Gavrilova, O., Comly, M. E., and Hanover, J. A. (2015). Conditional knock-out reveals a requirement for O-linked N-Acetylglucosaminase (O-GlcNAcase) in metabolic homeostasis. *J. Biol. Chem.* 290, 7097–7113. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.617779
- Kim, G., Cao, L., Reece, E. A., and Zhao, Z. (2017). Impact of protein O-GlcNAcylation on neural tube malformation in diabetic embryopathy. *Sci. Rep.* 7:11107. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-11655-6
- King, A., and Loke, Y. W. (1991). On the nature and function of human uterine granular lymphocytes. *Immunol. Today* 12, 432–435. doi: 10.1016/0167-5699(91)90014-K
- Kumpel, B. M., and Manoussaka, M. S. (2012). Placental immunology and maternal alloimmune responses. *Vox Sang* 102, 2–12. doi: 10.1111/j.1423-0410.2011. 01533.x
- Laczy, B., Hill, B. G., Wang, K., Paterson, A. J., White, C. R., Xing, D., et al. (2009). Protein O-GlcNAcylation: a new signaling paradigm for the cardiovascular system. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 296, H13–H28. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart. 01056.2008
- Lim, K., and Chang, H. I. (2009). O-GlcNAc inhibits interaction between Sp1 and Elf-1 transcription factors. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 380, 569–574. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2009.01.121
- Lima, V. V., Giachini, F. R., Hardy, D. M., Webb, R. C., and Tostes, R. C. (2011). O-GlcNAcylation: a novel pathway contributing to the effects of endothelin in the vasculature. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 300, R236–R250. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00230.2010ajpregu.00230.2010
- Lima, V. V., Giachini, F. R., Matsumoto, T., Li, W., Bressan, A. F., Chawla, D., et al. (2016). High-fat diet increases O-GlcNAc levels in cerebral arteries: a link to vascular dysfunction associated with hyperlipidaemia/obesity? *Clin. Sci.* 130, 871–880. doi: 10.1042/CS20150777CS20150777
- Lima, V. V., Spitler, K., Choi, H., Webb, R. C., and Tostes, R. C. (2012). O-GlcNAcylation and oxidation of proteins: is signalling in the cardiovascular system becoming sweeter? *Clin. Sci.* 123, 473–486. doi: 10.1042/CS20110638
- Liu, W., Wang, H., Xue, X., Xia, J., Liu, J., Qi, Z., et al. (2018). OGT-related mitochondrial motility is associated with sex differences and exercise effects in depression induced by prenatal exposure to glucocorticoids. *J. Affect. Disord.* 226, 203–215. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.09.053
- Liu, Y., Li, X., Yu, Y., Shi, J., Liang, Z., Run, X., et al. (2012). Developmental regulation of protein O-GlcNAcylation, O-GlcNAc transferase, and O-GlcNAcase in mammalian brain. *PLoS One* 7:e43724. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0043724
- Ljunggren, H. G., and Karre, K. (1990). In search of the 'missing self': MHC molecules and NK cell recognition. *Immunol. Today* 11, 237–244.
- Lubas, W. A., Frank, D. W., Krause, M., and Hanover, J. A. (1997). O-Linked GlcNAc transferase is a conserved nucleocytoplasmic protein containing tetratricopeptide repeats. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 9316–9324.
- Maltepe, E., Bakardjiev, A. I., and Fisher, S. J. (2010). The placenta: transcriptional, epigenetic, and physiological integration during development. J. Clin. Invest. 120, 1016–1025. doi: 10.1172/JCI4121141211
- Martinez, M. R., Dias, T. B., Natov, P. S., and Zachara, N. E. (2017). Stress-induced O-GlcNAcylation: an adaptive process of injured cells. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 45, 237–249. doi: 10.1042/BST20160153BST20160153
- McMaster, M., Zhou, Y., Shorter, S., Kapasi, K., Geraghty, D., Lim, K. H., et al. (1998). HLA-G isoforms produced by placental cytotrophoblasts and found in amniotic fluid are due to unusual glycosylation. *J. Immunol.* 160, 5922–5928.
- Miura, T., and Nishihara, S. (2016). O-GlcNAc is required for the survival of primed pluripotentstem cells and their reversion to the naive state. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 480, 655–661. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2016. 10.111
- Muter, J., Alam, M. T., Vrljicak, P., Barros, F. S. V., Ruane, P. T., Ewington, L. J., et al. (2018). The Glycosyltransferase EOGT Regulates Adropin Expression in Decidualizing Human Endometrium. *Endocrinology* 159, 994–1004. doi: 10.1210/en.2017-030644736308
- O'Donnell, N., Zachara, N. E., Hart, G. W., and Marth, J. D. (2004). Ogt-dependent X-chromosome-linked protein glycosylation is a requisite modification in somatic cell function and embryo viability. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 24, 1680–1690.

- Ozcan, S., Andrali, S. S., and Cantrell, J. E. (2010). Modulation of transcription factor function by O-GlcNAc modification. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1799, 353– 364. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagrm.2010.02.005S1874-9399(10)00047-7
- Pantaleon, M., Steane, S. E., McMahon, K., Cuffe, J. S. M., and Moritz, K. M. (2017). Placental O-GlcNAc-transferase expression and interactions with the glucocorticoid receptor are sex specific and regulated by maternal corticosterone exposure in mice. *Sci. Rep.* 7:2017. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-01666-810.1038/s41598-017-01666-8
- Pantaleon, M., Tan, H. Y., Kafer, G. R., and Kaye, P. L. (2010). Toxic effects of hyperglycemia are mediated by the hexosamine signaling pathway and o-linked glycosylation in early mouse embryos. *Biol. Reprod.* 82, 751–758. doi: 10.1095/ biolreprod.109.076661
- Parween, S., Varghese, D. S., Ardah, M. T., Prabakaran, A. D., Mensah-Brown, E., Emerald, B. S., et al. (2017). Higher O-GlcNAc levels are associated with defects in progenitor proliferation and premature neuronal differentiation during invitro human embryonic cortical neurogenesis. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 11:415. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2017.00415
- Rao, M. K., Maiti, S., Ananthaswamy, H. N., and Wilkinson, M. F. (2002). A highly active homeobox gene promoter regulated by Ets and Sp1 family members in normal granulosa cells and diverse tumor cell types. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 26036–26045. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M203374200
- Robertson, S. A., and Moldenhauer, L. M. (2014). Immunological determinants of implantation success. *Int J Dev Biol.* 58, 205–217. doi: 10.1387/ijdb.140 096sr
- Roos, M. D., Su, K., Baker, J. R., and Kudlow, J. E. (1997). O glycosylation of an Sp1-derived peptide blocks known Sp1 protein interactions. *Mol. Cell Biol.* 17, 6472–6480.
- Rossant, J., and Cross, J. C. (2001). Placental development: lessons from mouse mutants. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 2, 538-548. doi: 10.1038/35080570
- Shi, F. T., Kim, H., Lu, W., He, Q., Liu, D., Goodell, M. A., et al. (2013). Ten-eleven translocation 1 (Tet1) is regulated by O-linked N-acetylglucosamine transferase (Ogt) for target gene repression in mouse embryonic stem cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 288, 20776–20784. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.460386
- Solier, C., Aguerre-Girr, M., Lenfant, F., Campan, A., Berrebi, A., Rebmann, V., et al. (2002). Secretion of pro-apoptotic intron 4-retaining soluble HLA-G1 by human villous trophoblast. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 32, 3576–3586.
- Speakman, C. M., Domke, T. C., Wongpaiboonwattana, W., Sanders, K., Mudaliar, M., van Aalten, D. M., et al. (2014). Elevated O-GlcNAc levels activate epigenetically repressed genes and delay mouse ESC differentiation without affecting naive to primed cell transition. *Stem Cells* 32, 2605–2615. doi: 10.1002/ stem.1761
- Tiainen, S., Oikari, S., Tammi, M., Rilla, K., Hamalainen, K., Tammi, R., et al. (2016). High extent of O-GlcNAcylation in breast cancer cells correlates with the levels of HAS enzymes, accumulation of hyaluronan, and poor outcome. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 160, 237–247. doi: 10.1007/s10549-016-3996-4
- van der Laarse, S. A. M., Leney, A. C., and Heck, A. J. R. (2018). Crosstalk between phosphorylation and O-GlcNAcylation: friend or foe. *FEBS J.* doi: 10.1111/febs. 14491 [Epub ahead of print].
- Weimar, C. H., Kavelaars, A., Brosens, J. J., Gellersen, B., de Vreeden-Elbertse, J. M., Heijnen, C. J., et al. (2012). Endometrial stromal cells of women with recurrent miscarriage fail to discriminate between high- and low-quality human embryos. *PLoS One* 7:e41424. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0041424PONE-D-12-06894
- Wilkinson, M. F., Kleeman, J., Richards, J., and MacLeod, C. L. (1990). A novel oncofetal gene is expressed in a stage-specific manner in murine embryonic development. *Dev. Biol.* 141, 451–455.
- Yang, W. H., Park, S. Y., Nam, H. W., Kim, D. H., Kang, J. G., Kang, E. S., et al. (2008). NFkappaB activation is associated with its O-GlcNAcylation state under hyperglycemic conditions. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 17345–17350. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0806198105
- Yang, Y. R., Jang, H. J., Lee, Y. H., Kim, I. S., Lee, H., Ryu, S. H., et al. (2015). O-GlcNAc cycling enzymes control vascular development of the placenta by modulating the levels of HIF-1alpha. *Placenta* 36, 1063–1068. doi: 10.1016/j. placenta.2015.08.001S0143-4004(15)30028-X
- Yao, A. Y., Tang, H. Y., Wang, Y., Feng, M. F., and Zhou, R. L. (2004). Inhibition of the activating signals in NK92 cells by recombinant GST-sHLA-G1a chain. *Cell Res.* 14, 155–160. doi: 10.1038/sj.cr.7290215

Zachara, N. E. (2012). The roles of O-linked beta-N-acetylglucosamine in cardiovascular physiology and disease. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 302, H1905–H1918. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00445.2011ajpheart.00445.2011

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Lima, Dela Justina, dos Passos, Volpato, Souto, San Martin and Giachini. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Novel Insights Into the Role of Glycans in the Pathophysiology of Glomerular Endotheliosis in Preeclampsia

M. F. Galvis-Ramírez¹, J. C. Quintana-Castillo² and J. C. Bueno-Sanchez^{1*}

¹ Grupo Reproducción, Sede de Investigación Universitaria, Universidad de Antioquia, Medellín, Colombia, ² Grupo Infettare, Facultad de Medicina, Universidad Cooperativa de Colombia, Medellín, Colombia

The polysaccharide heparan sulfate is ubiquitously expressed as a proteoglycan in extracellular matrices and on cell surfaces. In the glomerular filtration barrier, the action of the heparan sulfate is directly related to the function of glomerular filtration, mostly attributed to the sulfated domains that occur along the polysaccharide chain, as evidenced by fact that release of fragments of heparan sulfate by heparanase significantly increases the permeability of albumin passage through the glomerular endothelium, event that originates proteinuria. This review aims to show the importance of the structural domains of heparan sulfate in the process of selective permeability and to demonstrate how these domains may be altered during the glomerular inflammation processes that occur in preeclampsia.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fernanda Regina Giachini, Universidade Federal de Mato Grosso, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Fernando Silva Carneiro, University of São Paulo, Brazil Jose Artur Chies, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul (UFRGS), Brazil

*Correspondence:

J. C. Bueno-Sanchez julio.bueno@udea.edu.co; juan.quintanac@ucc.edu.co

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Vascular Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 26 June 2018 Accepted: 28 September 2018 Published: 23 October 2018

Citation:

Galvis-Ramírez MF, Quintana-Castillo JC and Bueno-Sanchez JC (2018) Novel Insights Into the Role of Glycans in the Pathophysiology of Glomerular Endotheliosis in Preeclampsia. Front. Physiol. 9:1470. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01470 Keywords: glomerular endothelia dysfunction, preeclampsia, heparan sulfate (HS), systemic inflammatory response, renal damage

INTRODUCTION

Preeclampsia (PE) is characterized as a progressive multisystemic disorder diagnosed by hypertension and proteinuria after 20 weeks of pregnancy. In some clinical cases, proteinuria is absent, and the disease is diagnosed by another clinical findings such as thrombocytopenia, elevated liver enzymes, among others (Visintin et al., 2010; ACOG, 2013). Preeclampsia is accompanied by a mild to severe microangiopathy of target organs, such as the placenta, kidney, liver, and brain (Gilstrap and Ramin, 2002). The placental tissue is a determinant in the establishment of the disease, which is always "cured" after the delivery of the placenta. Evidence related to the role of the placenta in this disease has led to the proposal that failed trophoblast invasion is the central pathogenic mechanism (Kang et al., 2011). Thus, some authors have suggested that preeclampsia is a disease of two stages: in the first stage, poor placentation and the subsequent hypoxic and oxidative damage of trophoblast occur; whereas in the second stage, an endothelial dysfunction and hypertensive signs are evidenced (Goldman-Wohl and Yagel, 2009; Kang et al., 2011).

Preeclampsia exhibits diverse clinical manifestations such as mild or severe, early onset (<34 weeks) or late onset (>34 weeks), or the presence or absence of intrauterine growth retardation (Gilstrap and Ramin, 2002; Giachini et al., 2017). Accumulating evidence has shown that pathological features of preeclampsia involve a shallow trophoblast invasion and poor spiral artery remodeling, resulting in placental hypoperfusion. These events occur in the first trimester of pregnancy and initially compromise maternal-fetal interface one, but they result in increased production of antiangiogenic and inflammatory factors (Schiessl, 2007; Palei et al., 2013). Additionally, hypertensive disorders of pregnancy are associated with endothelial damage of target organs including the kidneys.

Although the clinical manifestations of PE are present after 20 weeks of pregnancy, some evidences indicate that the pathophysiological changes leading to the disease occur in the placental bed during the placentation process. Reported findings suggest that these events promote exacerbated systemic inflammatory responses and the subsequent production of soluble factors, including proinflammatory cytokines, as well as changes in the ratio of angiogenic/proangiogenic factors, which are the determinant variables of changes in the endothelium, the target organ of PE (Levine et al., 2004; Goswami et al., 2006).

Pregnancy has been described as a controlled state of mild inflammation, whereas a state of exacerbated inflammation apparently occurs in PE (Sargent et al., 2007). Our research group has shown that the activation of natural killer (NK) cells is increased compared with other cell populations, which is evidenced by the higher production of both pro- and antiinflammatory cytokines in patients with early-onset severe PE (Bueno-Sanchez et al., 2013). However, other authors have found that the intracellular production of pro-inflammatory cytokines [interleukin-1 beta (IL-1\beta), tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α), IL-6, and IL-8] by circulating maternal monocytes is increased in patients with PE (Luppi and Deloia, 2006). The increased production of proinflammatory cytokines from different cellular sources (NK cells according to our data and monocytes or neutrophils according to other studies) initially triggers inflammatory changes in the vascular endothelium and then compromises the endothelium of other organs (Stella and Sibai, 2006). Accordingly, Rops et al. (2008) have shown that IL- 1β and TNF- α may alter the expression of glycocalyx structures, including the specific domains of heparan sulfate (HS), a glycosaminoglycan present in the renal glomerular endothelium.

Histopathological changes in the glomerular endothelium, which partly explain the proteinuria observed in women with PE, are among the aforementioned changes (Karumanchi et al., 2005). Studies have shown that the structural integrity of the glomerular filtration barrier (GFB) consists of two cellular components, the glomerular endothelium, and podocytes, as well as an extracellular matrix structure with a high content of glycoconjugates, including the glomerular basement membrane (Karumanchi et al., 2005). Reports have suggested that the structural integrity of the GFB is crucial for proper functioning during the process of renal filtration. Thus, a structural damage of the glomerular filtration barrier can be explained by a competitive blocking of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) in the murine model after administration of a synthetic VEGF antagonist. These mice presented nephrotic-range proteinuria and hypertension compared with controls (Eremina et al., 2008). These findings raise the possibility of assessing the biochemical aspects of the glomerular endothelium, including its function in filtration, as a means of clarifying the mechanisms of renal damage that occur in women with PE.

We have reported evidence of changes in the membrane distribution of podocin and CD2AP in podocytes, which are cellular components of the GFB, when stimulated with sera from women with PE (Henao et al., 2008). However, few studies have investigated the role of the glomerular endothelium in PE. In turn, Singh et al. (2007) have proposed a key

role for the glycocalyx of glomerular endothelial cells in the GFB-mediated restriction of albumin permeability, suggesting elements that can be used to evaluate renal damage in PE. Among these carbohydrates, glycosaminoglycans, particularly HS glycosaminoglycans, are components of the glomerular endothelium glycocalyx that are associated with structures referred to as proteoglycans. HS activity is directly involved in glomerular filtration, and its involvement is mostly attributed to the sulfated domains throughout the polysaccharide chain. This is evidenced by the heparanase-mediated release of HS fragments, which significantly increase albumin permeability through the glomerular endothelium, albeit without affecting the transendothelial electrical resistance (Singh et al., 2007).

Based on the above evidence, this review aims to show the possible role of the structural domains of HS in the process of selective permeability through the GFB and how these domains may be altered during the glomerular inflammation processes that occur in PE.

THE SULFATED DOMAINS OF HS MEDIATE ITS INTERACTIONS WITH DIFFERENT PROTEINS

Heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPGs) are biomolecules with structural and regulatory functions that are capable of establishing ionic interactions with several proteins through structural regions in the polysaccharide chains. HSPGs consist of a protein core covalently bound to the side chains of HS (Coombe and Kett, 2005). This polysaccharide consists of alternating units of glucuronic acid (GlcA) and N-acetylglucosamine (GlcNAc), which undergo various enzymatic modifications including N-deacetylation and N-sulfation of the GlcNAc units (Carbon 6 and Carbon 3), epimerization in the C5 of GlcA to iduronic acid (IdoA) and O-sulfation in Carbon 2 (Kreuger et al., 2006). The various modifications do not occur randomly along the polysaccharide chain. Instead, they have the distribution of a typical domain because of limitations imposed by substrate specificity (and factors that are still unknown). Disaccharide units alternating between GlcNS and IdoA with 2-O-sulfate substitutions (NS domains) provide highly sulfated regions that may be interspersed with N-acetylated GlcNAc and GlcA regions lacking substitutions by sulfate group residues (NA domains). Similarly, forms with alternating NS/NA domains may also be found, albeit without O-sulfate groups (Maccarana et al., 1996; Sasisekharan and Venkataraman, 2000). The study of HS structures, which have been characterized in several mouse tissues, shows that the disaccharide composition, total degree of N- and O-sulfations and domain organization are specific to each tissue (Ledin et al., 2004). Furthermore, immunohistochemistry analyses have revealed the selective expression of different HS glycotopes in rat kidney tissues (van den Born et al., 1995; van Kuppevelt et al., 1998). The structural complexity of HS domains is even greater when considering that the HS chains may be modified after biosynthesis by endo-6-O-sulfatases, which generate HS fragments that have been functionally implicated in various signaling pathways (Ai et al., 2003). Furthermore, HS domains may undergo endoglycosidic cleavage by heparanases, thereby releasing extracellular HS fragments (Vlodavsky et al., 1999). In summary, these observations suggest that HS biosynthesis is highly regulated at different points of enzymatic processing in events that apparently vary with the tissue conditions or cellular environment.

This structural diversity could largely explain the interactions between HS and various proteins. Although the types of chemical interactions between HS and proteins have been difficult to elucidate, some proteins are known to require HS sequences with a well-defined length and structure, especially proteins whose net charge is positive, thereby suggesting that such interactions are not as nonspecific as initially thought.

The best characterized interaction between HS and a protein involves the binding of HS to antithrombin III, which is involved in hemostasis. Evidence first reported by Lindahl et al. (1980) shows that the pentasaccharide GlcNAc6S-GlcAGlcNS3S-IdoA-GlcNS is essential for the high-affinity interaction with antithrombin to occur and, therefore, for anticoagulant activity. However, these results most notably demonstrate the importance of specific HS structural domains, including the presence of a 3-sulfate group in the terminal glucosamine residue, which is crucial for such activity (Lindahl et al., 1980).

Another example of an interaction between HS and a protein involves a specific 3-O-sulfated domain of the GlcN3S unit that apparently mediates the specific binding of the herpes simplex virus (HSV) protein gD to the cell surface during viral infection (Shukla et al., 1999). According to some authors, in addition to this domain, the most common sulfate substituents in biosynthesis (3-O sulfate and 2-N sulfate) could also be specifically arranged in a sequence for selective binding to a protein (Salmivirta et al., 1996). Interaction studies involving the fibroblast growth factor protein family have shown that a particular type of sulfated domain (6-O-sulfate) could contribute more to the interaction than other domains (Salmivirta et al., 1996). These findings and the strict regulation of HS biosynthesis suggest that HS-protein interactions are mostly mediated by specific saccharide-binding domains with restricted specificity.

THE GLOMERULAR ENDOTHELIAL GLYCOCALYX IS A BARRIER THAT IS SELECTIVELY PERMEABLE TO ALBUMIN

Evidence shows that the NS domains of HS mediate its interactions with some proteins, and these interactions may be associated with its biological action. This suggests that the negative charges of the HS domains in the GFB could play a role in its selective permeability to positively charged proteins, including albumin, which are retained in the plasma. Conversely, small peptides, electrolytes, and even immunoglobulins are filtered into the urine during the glomerular filtration process (Singh et al., 2007).

The GFB is described as a set of three tissue layers: glomerular endothelium, glomerular basement membrane, and podocytes

(Figure 1). Special large epithelial cells with cytoplasmic extensions (pedicels or foot processes) called podocytes are found toward the outer surface of the glomerular basement membrane and the fenestrated glomerular endothelium toward the innermost location, which is in contact with the plasma (Satchell, 2013). The GFB is highly selective and permeable to water and small molecules. However, for some proteins including albumin, only 0.008% of the plasma fraction is filtered into the urinary space compared with 0.2% through other systemic capillaries (Norden et al., 2001). Some authors have highlighted proteins expressed in the filtration diaphragm between pedicels because proteinuria is usually accompanied by changes in the distribution of these proteins, thereby suggesting a causal relationship between the expression of diaphragm proteins and albumin excretion. However, the size of the podocyte clefts is inconsistent with the size of albumin, which is much smaller, thereby raising questions of whether this could explain urinary albumin excretion as previously proposed (Haraldsson and Sorensson, 2004; Henao et al., 2008). Accordingly, some examples indicate that proteinuria may be found in diseases such as nephrotic syndrome even when podocyte integrity is maintained. Animal experiments show that the down-regulation of circulating VEGF or neutralization by either antibodies or Soluble fmslike tyrosine kinase-1 (sFIt-1) may play a key role in inducing proteinuria without changes in podocyte proteins in various renal diseases or PE, wherein a high level of sFIt-1 has been associated with the endothelial dysfunction observed in these women (Maynard et al., 2003; Sugimoto et al., 2003; Stillman and Karumanchi, 2007). This condition has also been examined in humans. A previous study involving 27 cases of nephrotic syndrome with minimal changes at different stages that assessed podocyte morphology using electron microscopy showed greater changes in podocyte pedicels in the more chronic forms of the disease. However, no significant differences in proteinuria were found between the study groups formed according to the time of evolution, thereby conclusively indicating that changes in podocytes are unrelated to protein loss (van den Berg et al., 2004).

By the other hand, it is known that HSPGs are abundant in the glomerular basal membrane and it has been thought to play a major role in the charge-selective glomerular filtration barrier. However, knockout of Ext3 (an enzyme that adds GlcNAc to the fixed tetrasaccharides on the core protein in proteoglycans) in podocytes and glomerular basal membrane did not lead to overt proteinuria (Aoki et al., 2018). Aoki et al. (2018) found a bumpy glomerular basal membrane and podocyte effacement by electron microscopy using a Extl3KO mice model compared with Diabetes Mellitus and high sodium intake mice groups, however they had some limitations in their study because the followup period was too short for remarkable renal impairments and establishment of hypertension. Additionally, renal function tests and HS urine measurements were not assessed in all groups of mice, which would help to support the possible role of HSPGs in the physiology of the GFB.

Thus, the summarized evidence shows that changes in podocytes or glomerular basal membrane fail to explain completely the onset of proteinuria, suggesting that the glomerular endothelium and its glycocalyx structures could



be involved in selective permeability to albumin because this the first layer in contact with plasma and, therefore, the first structure to provide a barrier to albumin. Reported evidence on glomerular endothelium damage in diseases including PE, which is characterized by the presence of hypertension with the onset of proteinuria in most diagnosed cases, suggests that the endothelium may play a key role in the onset of proteinuria in this disease (Maynard et al., 2003). Other studies support a selective permeability layer (glycocalyx) at the endothelial level (Sorensson et al., 1998; Ohlson et al., 2000; Ciarimboli et al., 2003; Jeansson and Haraldsson, 2006).

The glomerular endothelium has two key structural characteristics. The first is a set of fenestrations or pores that are sufficiently large enough (36 Å or 3.6 nm) for water and other molecules, including albumin, to move through the endothelial cell layer (Levick and Smaje, 1987). This characteristic alone contradicts the aforementioned evidence implying the

additional presence of a barrier within the fenestrations. The second component is the glycocalyx, which covers the fenestrations and has molecular and charge characteristics that could restrict albumin movement through the glomerular endothelium. Its complex structure consists of proteoglycans, including syndecan, glypican, or biglycan - with HS, N-, and O – glycoproteins containing sialic acid that is expressed on the endothelium luminal surface (Reitsma et al., 2007; Weinbaum et al., 2007). Jeansson was one of the first researchers to study in detail the selective permeability of the GFB in mice and proposed that hyaluronic acid, chondroitin sulfate, sialic acid, and HS are important for selective permeability because of their electrical charges (Jeansson and Haraldsson, 2006). A key observation is the increased ratio of HS and hyaluronic acid over sialic acid (Avasthi and Koshy, 1988). This observation in particular suggests that HS may make a greater contribution to the electrical charge of the GFB because hyaluronic acid lacks TABLE 1 | Involvement of HS and heparanase expression in proteinuric diseases.

Disease/Animal Model	Species	Glomerular Heparanase Expression	HS Expression	Proteinuria	Reference
Diabetic nephropathy	Human	Increased	Reduced	(+)	Makino et al., 1992; van den Born et al., 1993; Tamsma et al., 1994; Katz et al., 2002; Maxhimer et al., 2005; van den Hoven et al., 2006; Wijnhoven et al., 2008; Garsen et al., 2016
Systemic lupus erythematosus	Human/mouse	Increased	Reduced	(+)	Seyger et al., 1998; Rops et al., 2007b; Kim et al., 2017; Szymczak et al., 2017
Membranous glomerulonephritis	Human/mouse	Increased	Reduced	(+)	van den Born et al., 1993; Garsen et al., 2016; Szymczak et al., 2017
Dense deposit disease	Human/Rat	Increased	Reduced	(+)	Smith et al., 2007; Zaferani et al., 2012
Ig A nephropathy	Human	Increased	Reduced	(+)	Sakagami et al., 2004; Celie et al., 2008; Szymczak et al., 2017
Minimal change disease	Human	Not analyzed	Reduced	(+)	Dong et al., 2009

significant negative charges when compared with the sulfated domains of HS. This hypothesis may be supported by studies conducted by Singh et al. (2007), who assessed the glycocalyx structure in a glomerular endothelial cell line to examine its relevance to endothelial-selective permeability. They found that the removal of HS after treatment with human heparanase (the only endogenous enzyme described in mammals that degrades HS) was associated with increased albumin movement through the fenestrations without changing the transendothelial electrical resistance. These results suggest a possible role for the glycocalyx in restricting protein movement through the GFB and raise the possibility that heparanase levels in humans are related to proteinuria in kidney damage (Jin and Zhou, 2017). Additionally, the HS fragments induced by heparanase from GFB could contribute to release local proinflammatory cytokines or chemokines in the extracellular space, modifying the inflammatory response, and the endothelial glycocalix (Digre et al., 2017; Martin et al., 2017; O'Callaghan et al., 2018) (Table 1).

Immortalized human glomerular endothelial cells have a glycocalyx of approximately 200 nm in culture (Singh et al., 2007). The enzymatic removal of glycans, including HS and sialic acid, increases the rate of albumin passage through the monolayers of the glomerular endothelial cells. This has been demonstrated in studies by Singh et al. (2007) and in another by Wijnhoven et al. (2007), who assessed the loss of sialic acid from the glomerular endothelial glycocalyx with neuraminidase, which was directly correlated with the increase in urinary albumin excretion. Glycan expression in the glomerular endothelium may be modulated at high glucose concentrations, which reduce the quantity of HS glycoaminoglycans and increase the passage of FITC-labeled albumin without affecting the interendothelial junctions (Singh et al., 2011). Reactive oxygen species may also cause changes to the glycocalyx of glomerular endothelial cells by depolarizing glycosaminoglycans, thereby inducing an increase in transendothelial albumin movement (Singh et al., 2013). The importance of HS in the GFB to the passage of albumin has been

confirmed by assays in which heparanase knockout mice failed to develop albuminuria, whereas the albuminuria exhibited by the wild-type diabetic mice was reduced with a heparanase inhibitor (Gil et al., 2012).

RENAL DAMAGE IN WOMEN WITH PE INVOLVES A LOSS OF ANIONIC SITES IN THE GLOMERULAR ENDOTHELIUM

Normal pregnant women have higher levels of glomerular protein filtration than do non-pregnant women. Conversely, proteinuria above 300 mg has been detected in 24-h urine samples from women with PE (ACOG, 2013), which indicates a loss of the histological integrity of the GFB. Methods, including dextran sieving, have been described for assessing the restriction of albumin permeability. This polysaccharide is not reabsorbed or secreted by renal tubules. Therefore, it reflects the average permeability of the entire barrier. With sieving and mathematical models, researchers have identified a loss of the restriction of permeability to albumin, particularly at the end of pregnancy in women with PE, allowing for greater excretion than at the beginning of pregnancy or compared with the nonpregnant women who served as controls (Moran et al., 2003). Could the loss of anionic charges of HS from the glomerular endothelium glycocalyx explain the loss of albumin in women with PE?

This question may be partly answered with the following evidence: Histological analyses of this hypertensive disorder show that the lesions on the filtration barrier are mainly limited to endothelial cells, with no significant changes in podocytes (Lafayette et al., 1998; Strevens et al., 2003). Thus, if the damage occurs in the glomerular endothelium, some of its cellular structures must be altered (including the glycocalyx). A study has revealed a decrease in the electrical charge of the glomerular endothelium by morphometrically
assessing the glomerular anionic charge and examining the pathological changes in the renal histology of African women with early onset PE (Naicker et al., 1997). Furthermore, the results showed a strong correlation between the number of anionic sites and the severity of proteinuria (Naicker et al., 1997).

Evidence supporting this earlier hypothesis and providing a more accurate approximation can be found in a more recent study. Khedun et al. (2002) evaluated 84 patients, including normotensive and proteinuric hypertensive pregnant women, as well as women with PE. This result showed a correlation between the reduction in glomerular charges and proteinuria severity. They also assessed HS levels using spectrophotometric methods with dimethylmethylene blue (DMB) and observed an increase in urinary glycosaminoglycan excretion.

The results discussed thus far indicate that HS may play a role in selective permeability as a function of the electrical charge when present in the glomerular endothelial glycocalyx. Thus, anionic charges may generate repulsion to proteins, including albumin, particularly the sulfated domains found throughout the HS chain. However, the specific chemical structures of these domains have not yet been identified.

In this scenario, it is not very clear how damage to the glomerular endothelium and the loss of HS in the glycocalyx occur. Inadequate placentation could lead to an increase in oxidative stress, thereby explaining the increased release of soluble factors including sFIt-1 (Levine et al., 2004; Goswami et al., 2006). This VEGF antagonist prevents proper communication between the podocytes that produce this antagonist and the glomerular endothelium that expresses the VEFGR receptors, thereby causing a loss of endothelial fenestrations (Sugimoto et al., 2003). Moreover, increased production of IL-1, IL-8, and TNF- α resulting from systemic inflammatory responses in women with PE could trigger glycocalyx loss due to increased heparanase activity, as will be discussed shortly (Luppi and Deloia, 2006; Bueno-Sanchez et al., 2013) (Graph 1).

SYSTEMIC INFLAMMATORY RESPONSE IN PE COULD HELP TO EXPLAIN THE PROTEINURIA?

HS involvement has been described in several steps of the inflammatory process: initial binding and leukocyte rolling into the inflamed endothelium, stable adhesion of activated leukocytes to the endothelium, glycocalyx degradation, and, finally, leukocyte migration (Parish, 2006; Taylor and Gallo, 2006; Rops et al., 2007a).

Some studies have shown that HS is capable of interacting with L-selectin and *P*-selectin, thereby participating in the leukocyte rolling process of the adhesion step. Norgard-Sumnicht showed that there is an interaction between Sulfur-35-(an analog of HS with more substitutions by sulfate groups)-labeled heparin and L-selectin through a calcium-dependent process in endothelial cell cultures (Norgard-Sumnicht et al., 1993). Supporting this hypothesis, the ability of HS to bind L-selectin and *P*-selectin

was assessed in *in vitro* models of endothelial cells, and a direct correlation was observed. The same study assessed the ability of heparin to interact with these adhesion molecules, and the results showed that the binding was dependent on highly sulfated NS domains, which had a higher binding affinity for adhesion molecules in heparin than HS (Norgard-Sumnicht et al., 1993).

These and other findings suggest that the HS-analog heparin could be useful as a powerful anti-inflammatory agent by inhibiting the function of L-selectin and P-selectin (Koenig et al., 1998). It has reported strong evidence that HS is the ligand for L-selectin in the endothelium during inflammatory processes. In this study, mice in which the enzyme N-deacetylase-N-sulphotransferase-1 (NDST-1), which is required to add sulfate groups to HS chains, was knocked out exhibited normal development, although neutrophil infiltration was observed in several tissues. These effects resulted from changes in HS that were specific to endothelial cells. In contrast, the results showed that leukocytes migrated to inflammatory sites when partially sulfated HS was expressed (Wang et al., 2005).

In addition to interacting with L-selectin and P-selectin, HS also interacts with cytokines to allow for leukocyte extravasation. Indeed, approximately 45 chemokines have been implicated in the recruitment of leukocytes during endothelial inflammation according to bioinformatic analyses. Furthermore, it is noteworthy that all of these chemokines have the ability to interact with HS in four possible ways at the binding sites (Lortat-Jacob et al., 2002). Reported evidence that chemokines are unable to perform their full range of functions at sites of inflammation unless they can bind to HS highlights the importance of this interaction. Different approaches have shown that HS may control the function of chemokines. First, HS may sequester chemokines by increasing the local concentration, thereby facilitating binding to its receptors that are expressed in leukocytes. Studies using IL-8 have shown that HS may induce oligomerization, and this form is more active. Similarly, the removal of glycosaminoglycan from CHO cells expressing chemokine receptors resulted in decreased binding to RANTES (regulated on activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted), MCP-1 (Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein-1), and IL-8 (Hoogewerf et al., 1997). Second, without chemokines, leukocytes are unable to form selectin-mediated stable interactions with the endothelium or migrate directionally through the endothelium. A study reported such evidence by showing that endothelium-bound chemokines induce an association between lymphocytes and their antigen receptor (lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1 - LFA1), whereas nonsoluble chemokines failed to exhibit this behavior (Shamri et al., 2005). Lastly, chemokine transport through the endothelial cell layer, known as the transcytosis process, apparently depends on HS expression (Wang et al., 2005). Concerning data from Talsma et al. (2018) indicate a pivotal role of endothelial HS in the development of renal inflammation and fibrosis in diabetic nephropathy in mice (Talsma et al., 2018). The results showed that a decrease in sulfations of endothelial HS induced an increased glomerular macrophage infiltration, mannose binding lectin complement deposition, and glomerulosclerosis (Talsma et al., 2018).

Leukocytes that bind to endothelial cells through different selectins (a process in which different cytokines are involved as mentioned above) are apparently able to cross the subendothelial space and, therefore, the basement membrane, which consists of a dense glycocalyx forming a sort of barrier. Leukocytes use several glycosidase-like enzymes that degrade glycocalyx structures to overcome the barrier. Although several enzymes have been reported, heparanase, an endo-\beta-glucoronidase, is the most studied in the inflammatory process. HS cleavage resulting from heparanase activity not only allows for the passage of leukocytes through the endothelium but also contributes to the increase in vascular permeability observed in inflammation (Edovitsky et al., 2006). Several studies have reported heparanase expression during the inflammatory response. Different cells, including platelets, leukocytes, neutrophils, and endothelial cells, are able to produce heparanase and degrade the extracellular matrix after stimulation with cytokines, such as IL-1, IL-8, and TNF-α (Bartlett et al., 1995; Vlodavsky et al., 1999).

Normal pregnancy is reportedly characterized by a controlled local inflammatory response, which is evident during the luteal phase of the menstrual cycle before implantation and develops as pregnancy progresses. In contrast, an exacerbated systemic inflammatory response, which may alter the endothelium and, therefore, different organs including the kidney, has been observed in PE (Sargent et al., 2007). Accumulated evidence suggests that PE might be an immune systemmediated disease, mainly an exacerbated pro-inflammatory state of pregnancy in which an injured endothelium promotes changes in leukocyte recruitment, release of pro-inflammatory cytokines, dysregulation of angiogenic pathways, and disturbances of the glomerular filtration barrier (Germain et al., 2007; Kanasaki and Kalluri, 2009). This systemic inflammation could be explained by the increase in placental factors, including soluble factors and proinflammatory cytokines, or by placental oxidative stress. The soluble receptor for VEGF, known as sFIt-1, is a possible inducer of this inflammation. sFIt-1 is able to neutralize the angiogenic functions of VEGF, and systemic inhibition would lead to generalized endothelial dysfunction because sFIt-1 is a key factor related to angiogenesis (Maynard et al., 2003). HS release from inflamed endothelium can modulate and promote some pathophysiological aspects evidenced in PE, such as the augment of neutrophil trafficking or availability of pro-inflammatory cytokines among others (Rashid et al., 2007; Goodall et al., 2014). These HS actions has not been explored in the context of inflammatory response in PE but some indirect evidences support a possible relationship between renal damage and the systemic pro-inflammatory state observed in PE.

Thus, previous reports described the histopathological finding of glomerular endotheliosis as pathognomonic of PE (Strevens et al., 2003). However, this pathological finding has been reported in women with various glomerular lesions absent from PE and in some pregnant women without complications (Strevens et al., 2003). Furthermore, an increase in proinflammatory cytokines, including TNF- α , is typical of endothelial dysfunction in pregnant women with PE (Luppi and Deloia, 2006; Rops et al., 2008; Bueno-Sanchez et al., 2013). In our laboratory, we have evaluated the effects of TNF- α , IL-1 β , VEGF, and sFlt-1 in the release of heparan sulfate on a cell line of human glomerular endothelial Genc. Our fluorescence results by confocal microscopy show a decrease in the expression of 50% heparan sulfate (P < 0.05) after treatment with TNF- α (1, 5, and 25 ng/mL) for 24 h, largely explained by the increase in heparanase expression observed by Western blotting in a concentration dependent effect. These results were confirmed by the increase in glycosaminoglycans (800 mg/L \pm 78) in culture supernatant compared to basal (400 mg/L \pm 94) (Galvis-Ramirez, 2017). The enzymatic elimination of heparan sulfate induced by TNF- α contributes to the deterioration of the glycocalyx of the glomerular endothelium, which could partially explain the proteinuria observed in preeclampsia.

This inflammatory response scenario leads us to propose a hypothesis according to which PE occurs. The increase in pro-inflammatory cytokines leads to leukocyte activation and deposition in the glomerular endothelium. This triggers heparanase activity, thereby increasing glycocalyx excision, especially of HS, which would explain the loss of anionic sites in the GFB and, therefore, the associated proteinuria. Although mechanisms underlying the relation between renal disease and systemic endothelial cell dysfunction remain incompletely understood, a structural defect in the endothelial surface layer has been proposed as a mechanistic link between vascular dysfunction and albuminuric kidney disease. This approach could be common to all inflammatory diseases, as it is shown in Table 1, in which HS and heparanase are differentially expressed. Thus, inflammatory diseases whose etiology are different may promote an endothelial glycocalix dysfunction by several associated pathways and initiate albuminuria. More evidence needs to be provided in order to verify this hypothesis.

In the case of preeclampsia, this approach is based on the findings of Rops et al. (2007a), who assessed the glomerular endothelial expression of different HS domains in a mouse model of lupus nephritis and in biopsies from patients with this same condition. They observed a decrease in the N- and 6-O-sulfate domains in biopsies from patients and associated this decrease with albuminuria. A second study from the same research group assessed the adhesion of a cell line consisting of 32Dd3 granulocytes and monocytes to immortalized glomerular endothelial cells that were stimulated with two cytokines, TNF-a and IL-8. Their results showed that TNF- α activates the rolling of granulocytes and monocytes into endothelial cells, and this adhesion is mediated by HS and not by other proteoglycans. This was based on the evidence showing that the use of synthetic heparanase reduced the amount of adhesion under basal conditions, and this degraded HS was also found in the cell culture supernatant. A key observation was the increase in the relative expression of heparanase under stimuli with cytokines. However, the evaluation of the specific HS domains that may play a role in the adhesion process stands out the most among these results. Inhibition assays using antibodies directed against specific HS sequences revealed that the N- and 6-O-sulfate domains are crucial for leukocyte adhesion to the glomerular endothelium under dynamic flow conditions (Rops et al., 2008). These results and evidence reported in this review support our hypothesis, and these phenomena identified under other conditions may be occurring in the inflammatory processes that are triggered in PE.

CONCLUSION

HS may play a key role in PE by interacting with different proteins through their sulfated domains. Furthermore, HS contributes to the GFB in a process known as selective permeability to the passage of albumin through the effects of the negatively charged glomerular endothelial glycocalyx. The HS-sulfated domains may contribute to this effect and, therefore, to the selective permeability of the GFB to albumin. Proinflammatory cytokines levels are increased in women with PE and systemic inflammation, which ultimately activates heparanase activity. Therefore, HS could be cleaved from the glycocalyx, which would partially explain the proteinuria observed in PE.

REFERENCES

- ACOG. (2013). Hypertension in pregnancy. Report of the American college of obstetricians and gynecologists' task force on hypertension in pregnancy. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 122, 1122–1131.
- Ai, X., Do, A. T., Lozynska, O., Kusche-Gullberg, M., Lindahl, U., and Emerson, C. P. (2003). QSulf1 remodels the 6-O sulfation states of cell surface heparan sulfate proteoglycans to promote Wnt signaling. *J. Cell Biol.* 162, 341–351. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200212083
- Aoki, S., Saito-Hakoda, A., Yoshikawa, T., Shimizu, K., Kisu, K., Suzuki, S., et al. (2018). The reduction of heparan sulphate in the glomerular basement membrane does not augment urinary albumin excretion. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 33, 26–33. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfx218
- Avasthi, P. S., and Koshy, V. (1988). The anionic matrix at the rat glomerular endothelial surface. Anat. Rec. 220, 258–266. doi: 10.1002/ar.1092200306
- Bartlett, M. R., Underwood, P. A., and Parish, C. R. (1995). Comparative analysis of the ability of leucocytes, endothelial cells and platelets to degrade the subendothelial basement membrane: evidence for cytokine dependence and detection of a novel sulfatase. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* 73, 113–124. doi: 10.1038/ icb.1995.19
- Bueno-Sanchez, J. C., Agudelo-Jaramillo, B., Escobar-Aguilerae, L. F., Lopera, A., Cadavid-Jaramillo, A. P., Chaouat, G., et al. (2013). Cytokine production by non-stimulated peripheral blood NK cells and lymphocytes in earlyonset severe pre-eclampsia without HELLP. *J. Reprod. Immunol.* 97, 223–231. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2012.11.007
- Celie, J. W., Reijmers, R. M., Slot, E. M., Beelen, R. H., Spaargaren, M., Ter Wee, P. M., et al. (2008). Tubulointerstitial heparan sulfate proteoglycan changes in human renal diseases correlate with leukocyte influx and proteinuria. *Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol.* 294, F253–F263. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00429. 2007
- Ciarimboli, G., Hjalmarsson, C., Bokenkamp, A., Schurek, H. J., and Haraldsson, B. (2003). Dynamic alterations of glomerular charge density in fixed rat kidneys suggest involvement of endothelial cell coat. *Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol.* 285, F722–F730. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00227.2001
- Coombe, D. R., and Kett, W. C. (2005). Heparan sulfate-protein interactions: therapeutic potential through structure-function insights. *Cell Mol. Life Sci.* 62, 410–424. doi: 10.1007/s00018-004-4293-7
- Digre, A., Singh, K., Åbrink, M., Reijmers, R. M., Sandler, S., Vlodavsky, I., et al. (2017). Overexpression of heparanase enhances T lymphocyte activities and intensifies the inflammatory response in a model of murine rheumatoid arthritis. *Sci. Rep.* 7:46229. doi: 10.1038/srep46229
- Dong, L. Q., Wang, Z., Yu, P., Guo, Y. N., Wu, J., Feng, S. P., et al. (2009). Expression of glomerular heparan sulfate domains in pediatric patients with

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JQ-C, MG-R, and JB-S contributed to the conception, interpretation of data, and design of the manuscript. Additionally, all of them revised it critically for important intellectual content and provided approval for publication of the content. MG-R is a master student who looked for and selected the bibliography. JQ-C and JB-S designed the paper and proposed the hypothesis.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The financial support of the Departamento Administrativo de Ciencia y Tecnología e Innovacion COLCIENCIAS, Proyecto RC728-2013, Estrategia Sostenibilidad Universidad de Antioquia and Comité Nacional para el Desarrollo de la Investigación CONADI, Universidad Cooperativa de Colombia.

minimal change nephrotic syndrome. *Sichuan Da Xue Xue Bao Yi Xue Ban* 40, 55–58.

- Edovitsky, E., Lerner, I., Zcharia, E., Peretz, T., Vlodavsky, I., and Elkin, M. (2006). Role of endothelial heparanase in delayed-type hypersensitivity. *Blood* 107, 3609–3616. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-08-3301
- Eremina, V., Jefferson, J. A., Kowalewska, J., Hochster, H., Haas, M., Weisstuch, J., et al. (2008). VEGF inhibition and renal thrombotic microangiopathy. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 358, 1129–1136. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0707330
- Galvis-Ramirez, M. F. (2017). Alteraciones Estructurales del Heparan Sulfato del Glicocalix del Endotelio Glomerular Bajo el Efecto de Factores Proinflamatorios y Angiogenicos Presentes en el Suero de Mujeres con Preeclampsia. [Magister en Ciencias Básicas Biomedicas]. Medellin: Universidad de Antioquia.
- Garsen, M., Lenoir, O., Rops, A. L., Dijkman, H. B., Willemsen, B., Van Kuppevelt, T. H., et al. (2016). Endothelin-1 induces proteinuria by heparanase-mediated disruption of the glomerular glycocalyx. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 27, 3545–3551. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2015091070
- Germain, S. J., Sacks, G. P., Sooranna, S. R., Soorana, S. R., Sargent, I. L., and Redman, C. W. (2007). Systemic inflammatory priming in normal pregnancy and preeclampsia: the role of circulating syncytiotrophoblast microparticles. *J. Immunol.* 178, 5949–5956. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.9.5949
- Giachini, F. R., Galaviz-Hernandez, C., Damiano, A. E., Viana, M., Cadavid, A., Asturizaga, P., et al. (2017). Vascular dysfunction in mother and offspring during preeclampsia: contributions from latin-American countries. *Curr. Hypertens. Rep.* 19:83. doi: 10.1007/s11906-017-0781-7
- Gil, N., Goldberg, R., Neuman, T., Garsen, M., Zcharia, E., Rubinstein, A. M., et al. (2012). Heparanase is essential for the development of diabetic nephropathy in mice. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev* 61, 208–216.
- Gilstrap, L., and Ramin, S. (2002). ACOG practice bulletin. diagnosis and management of preeclampsia and eclampsia. *Obs. Gynecol* 99, 159–167.
- Goldman-Wohl, D., and Yagel, S. (2009). Preeclampsia—a placenta developmental biology perspective. J. Reprod. Immunol. 82, 96–99. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2009.05. 002
- Goodall, K. J., Poon, I. K. H., Phipps, S., and Hulett, M. D. (2014). Soluble heparan sulfate fragments generated by heparanase trigger the release of proinflammatory cytokines through TLR-4. *PLoS One* 9:e109596. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0109596
- Goswami, D., Tannetta, D. S., Magee, L. A., Fuchisawa, A., Redman, C. W., Sargent, I. L., et al. (2006). Excess syncytiotrophoblast microparticle shedding is a feature of early-onset pre-eclampsia, but not normotensive intrauterine growth restriction. *Placenta* 27, 56–61. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2004.11.007
- Haraldsson, B., and Sorensson, J. (2004). Why do we not all have proteinuria? An update of our current understanding of the glomerular barrier. *News Physiol. Sci.* 19, 7–10.

- Henao, D. E., Arias, L. F., Mathieson, P. W., Ni, L., Welsh, G. I., Bueno, J. C., et al. (2008). Preeclamptic sera directly induce slit-diaphragm protein redistribution and alter podocyte barrier-forming capacity. *Nephron Exp. Nephrol.* 110, e73– e81. doi: 10.1159/000166993
- Hoogewerf, A. J., Kuschert, G. S., Proudfoot, A. E., Borlat, F., Clark-Lewis, I., Power, C. A., et al. (1997). Glycosaminoglycans mediate cell surface oligomerization of chemokines. *Biochemistry* 36, 13570–13578. doi: 10.1021/ bi971125s
- Jeansson, M., and Haraldsson, B. (2006). Morphological and functional evidence for an important role of the endothelial cell glycocalyx in the glomerular barrier. *Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol.* 290, F111–F116. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00173.2005
- Jin, H., and Zhou, S. (2017). The functions of heparanase in human diseases. *Mini Rev. Med. Chem.* 17, 541–548. doi: 10.2174/1389557516666161101143643
- Kanasaki, K., and Kalluri, R. (2009). The biology of preeclampsia. *Kidney Int.* 76, 831–837. doi: 10.1038/ki.2009.284
- Kang, J. H., Song, H., Yoon, J. A., Park, D. Y., Kim, S. H., Lee, K. J., et al. (2011). Preeclampsia leads to dysregulation of various signaling pathways in placenta. *J. Hypertens.* 29, 928–936. doi: 10.1097/HJH.0b013e328344a82c
- Karumanchi, S. A., Maynard, S. E., Stillman, I. E., Epstein, F. H., and Sukhatme, V. P. (2005). Preeclampsia: a renal perspective. *Kidney Int.* 67, 2101–2113. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2005.00316.x
- Katz, A., Van-Dijk, D. J., Aingorn, H., Erman, A., Davies, M., Darmon, D., et al. (2002). Involvement of human heparanase in the pathogenesis of diabetic nephropathy. *Isr. Med. Assoc. J.* 4, 996–1002.
- Khedun, S. M., Naicker, T., Moodley, J., and Gathiram, P. (2002). Urinary heparan sulfate proteoglycan excretion in black African women with pre-eclampsia. Acta Obstet. Gynecol. Scand. 81, 308–312. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0412.2002.810405.x
- Kim, H. J., Hong, Y. H., Kim, Y. J., Kim, H. S., Park, J. W., Do, J. Y., et al. (2017). Anti-heparan sulfate antibody and functional loss of glomerular heparan sulfate proteoglycans in lupus nephritis. *Lupus* 26, 815–824. doi: 10.1177/ 0961203316678674
- Koenig, A., Norgard-Sumnicht, K., Linhardt, R., and Varki, A. (1998). Differential interactions of heparin and heparan sulfate glycosaminoglycans with the selectins. Implications for the use of unfractionated and low molecular weight heparins as therapeutic agents. J. Clin. Invest. 101, 877–889. doi: 10.1172/ JCI1509
- Kreuger, J., Spillmann, D., Li, J.-P., and Lindahl, U. (2006). Interactions between heparan sulfate and proteins: the concept of specificity. J. Cell Biol. 174, 323–327. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200604035
- Lafayette, R. A., Druzin, M., Sibley, R., Derby, G., Malik, T., Huie, P., et al. (1998). Nature of glomerular dysfunction in pre-eclampsia. *Kidney Int.* 54, 1240–1249. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.1998.00097.x
- Ledin, J., Staatz, W., Li, J. P., Gotte, M., Selleck, S., Kjellen, L., et al. (2004). Heparan sulfate structure in mice with genetically modified heparan sulfate production. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 42732–42741. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M405382200
- Levick, J. R., and Smaje, L. H. (1987). An analysis of the permeability of a fenestra. *Microvasc. Res.* 33, 233–256. doi: 10.1016/0026-2862(87)90020-3
- Levine, R. J., Maynard, S. E., Qian, C., Lim, K. H., England, L. J., Yu, K. F., et al. (2004). Circulating angiogenic factors and the risk of preeclampsia. N. Engl. J. Med. 350, 672–683. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa031884
- Lindahl, U., Backstrom, G., Thunberg, L., and Leder, I. G. (1980). Evidence for a 3-O-sulfated D-glucosamine residue in the antithrombin-binding sequence of heparin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 77, 6551–6555. doi: 10.1073/pnas.77.11. 6551
- Lortat-Jacob, H., Grosdidier, A., and Imberty, A. (2002). Structural diversity of heparan sulfate binding domains in chemokines. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 99, 1229–1234. doi: 10.1073/pnas.032497699
- Luppi, P., and Deloia, J. A. (2006). Monocytes of preeclamptic women spontaneously synthesize pro-inflammatory cytokines. *Clin. Immunol.* 118, 268–275. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2005.11.001
- Maccarana, M., Sakura, Y., Tawada, A., Yoshida, K., and Lindahl, U. (1996). Domain structure of heparan sulfates from bovine organs. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 17804–17810. doi: 10.1074/jbc.271.30.17804
- Makino, H., Ikeda, S., Haramoto, T., and Ota, Z. (1992). Heparan sulfate proteoglycans are lost in patients with diabetic nephropathy. *Nephron* 61, 415–421. doi: 10.1159/000186959
- Martin, L., Gombert, A., Chen, J., Liebens, J., Verleger, J., Kalder, J., et al. (2017). The β -D-endoglucuronidase heparanase is a danger molecule that

drives systemic inflammation and correlates with clinical course after open and endovascular thoracoabdominal aortic aneurysm repair: lessons learnt from mice and men. *Front. Immunol.* 8:681. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00681

- Maxhimer, J. B., Somenek, M., Rao, G., Pesce, C. E., Baldwin, D. Jr., Gattuso, P., et al. (2005). Heparanase-1 gene expression and regulation by high glucose in renal epithelial cells: a potential role in the pathogenesis of proteinuria in diabetic patients. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 54, 2172–2178.
- Maynard, S. E., Min, J. Y., Merchan, J., Lim, K. H., Li, J., Mondal, S., et al. (2003). Excess placental soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase 1 (sFlt1) may contribute to endothelial dysfunction, hypertension, and proteinuria in preeclampsia. J. Clin. Invest. 111, 649–658. doi: 10.1172/JCI17189
- Moran, P., Baylis, P. H., Lindheimer, M. D., and Davison, J. M. (2003). Glomerular ultrafiltration in normal and preeclamptic pregnancy. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 14, 648–652. doi: 10.1097/01.ASN.0000051724.66235.E0
- Naicker, T., Randeree, I. G., Moodley, J., Khedun, S. M., Ramsaroop, R., and Seedat, Y. K. (1997). Correlation between histological changes and loss of anionic charge of the glomerular basement membrane in early-onset pre-eclampsia. *Nephron* 75, 201–207. doi: 10.1159/000189532
- Norden, A. G., Lapsley, M., Lee, P. J., Pusey, C. D., Scheinman, S. J., Tam, F. W., et al. (2001). Glomerular protein sieving and implications for renal failure in Fanconi syndrome. *Kidney Int.* 60, 1885–1892. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2001. 00016.x
- Norgard-Sumnicht, K. E., Varki, N. M., and Varki, A. (1993). Calcium-dependent heparin-like ligands for L-selectin in nonlymphoid endothelial cells. *Science* 261, 480–483. doi: 10.1126/science.7687382
- O'Callaghan, P., Zhang, X., and Li, J. P. (2018). Heparan sulfate proteoglycans as relays of neuroinflammation. *J. Histochem. Cytochem.* 66, 305–319. doi: 10. 1369/0022155417742147
- Ohlson, M., Sorensson, J., and Haraldsson, B. (2000). Glomerular size and charge selectivity in the rat as revealed by FITC-ficoll and albumin. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 279, F84–F91. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.2000.279.1.F84
- Palei, A. C., Spradley, F. T., Warrington, J. P., George, E. M., and Granger, J. P. (2013). Pathophysiology of hypertension in pre-eclampsia: a lesson in integrative physiology. *Acta Physiol.* 208, 224–233. doi: 10.1111/apha.12106
- Parish, C. R. (2006). The role of heparan sulphate in inflammation. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 6, 633–643. doi: 10.1038/nri1918
- Rashid, R. M., Lee, J. M., Fareed, J., and Young, M. R. I. (2007). In vitro heparan sulfate modulates the immune responses of normal and tumor-bearing mice. *Immunol. Invest.* 36, 183–201. doi: 10.1080/08820130600992024
- Reitsma, S., Slaaf, D. W., Vink, H., Van Zandvoort, M. A., and Oude Egbrink, M. G. (2007). The endothelial glycocalyx: composition, functions, and visualization. *Pflugers Arch.* 454, 345–359. doi: 10.1007/s00424-007-0212-8
- Rops, A. L., Jacobs, C. W., Linssen, P. C., Boezeman, J. B., Lensen, J. F., Wijnhoven, T. J., et al. (2007a). Heparan sulfate on activated glomerular endothelial cells and exogenous heparinoids influence the rolling and adhesion of leucocytes. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 22, 1070–1077.
- Rops, A. L., Van Den Hoven, M. J., Bakker, M. A., Lensen, J. F., Wijnhoven, T. J., Van Den Heuvel, L. P., et al. (2007b). Expression of glomerular heparan sulphate domains in murine and human lupus nephritis. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 22, 1891–1902. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfm194
- Rops, A. L., Van Den Hoven, M. J., Baselmans, M. M., Lensen, J. F., Wijnhoven, T. J., Van Den Heuvel, L. P., et al. (2008). Heparan sulfate domains on cultured activated glomerular endothelial cells mediate leukocyte trafficking. *Kidney Int.* 73, 52–62. doi: 10.1038/sj.ki.5002573
- Sakagami, Y., Nakajima, M., Takagawa, K., Ueda, T., Akazawa, H., Maruhashi, Y., et al. (2004). Analysis of glomerular anionic charge status in children with IgA nephropathy using confocal laser scanning microscopy. *Nephron Clin. Pract.* 96, c96–c104. doi: 10.1159/000076747
- Salmivirta, M., Lidholt, K., and Lindahl, U. (1996). Heparan sulfate: a piece of information. *FASEB J.* 10, 1270–1279. doi: 10.1096/fasebj.10.11.8836040
- Sargent, I. L., Borzychowski, A. M., and Redman, C. W. (2007). NK cells and pre-eclampsia. J. Reprod. Immunol. 76, 40–44. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2007.03.009
- Sasisekharan, R., and Venkataraman, G. (2000). Heparin and heparan sulfate: biosynthesis, structure and function. *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.* 4, 626–631. doi: 10.1016/S1367-5931(00)00145-9
- Satchell, S. (2013). The role of the glomerular endothelium in albumin handling. Nat. Rev. Nephrol. 9, 717–725. doi: 10.1038/nrneph. 2013.197

- Schiessl, B. (2007). Inflammatory response in preeclampsia. Mol. Aspects Med. 28, 210–219. doi: 10.1016/j.mam.2007.04.004
- Seyger, M. M., Van Bruggen, M. C., Hardeman, H. K., Van Den Hoogen, F. H., Berden, J. H., Van Den Born, J., et al. (1998). Decreased staining of heparan sulfate in non-lesional skin of a subgroup of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Acta Derm. Venereol.* 78, 326–330. doi: 10.1080/ 000155598442971
- Shamri, R., Grabovsky, V., Gauguet, J. M., Feigelson, S., Manevich, E., Kolanus, W., et al. (2005). Lymphocyte arrest requires instantaneous induction of an extended LFA-1 conformation mediated by endothelium-bound chemokines. *Nat. Immunol.* 6, 497–506. doi: 10.1038/ni1194
- Shukla, D., Liu, J., Blaiklock, P., Shworak, N. W., Bai, X., Esko, J. D., et al. (1999). A novel role for 3-O-sulfated heparan sulfate in herpes simplex virus 1 entry. *Cell* 99, 13–22. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80058-6
- Singh, A., Friden, V., Dasgupta, I., Foster, R. R., Welsh, G. I., Tooke, J. E., et al. (2011). High glucose causes dysfunction of the human glomerular endothelial glycocalyx. *Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol.* 300, F40–F48. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal. 00103.2010
- Singh, A., Ramnath, R. D., Foster, R. R., Wylie, E. C., Friden, V., Dasgupta, I., et al. (2013). Reactive oxygen species modulate the barrier function of the human glomerular endothelial glycocalyx. *PLoS One* 8:e55852. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0055852
- Singh, A., Satchell, S. C., Neal, C. R., Mckenzie, E. A., Tooke, J. E., and Mathieson, P. W. (2007). Glomerular endothelial glycocalyx constitutes a barrier to protein permeability. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 18, 2885–2893. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2007010119
- Smith, R. J., Alexander, J., Barlow, P. N., Botto, M., Cassavant, T. L., Cook, H. T., et al. (2007). New approaches to the treatment of dense deposit disease. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 18, 2447–2456. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2007030356
- Sorensson, J., Ohlson, M., Lindstrom, K., and Haraldsson, B. (1998). Glomerular charge selectivity for horseradish peroxidase and albumin at low and normal ionic strengths. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 163, 83–91. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-201x.1998. 00315.x
- Stella, C. L., and Sibai, B. M. (2006). Preeclampsia: diagnosis and management of the atypical presentation. J. Matern. Fetal Neonatal Med. 19, 381–386. doi: 10.1080/14767050600678337
- Stillman, I. E., and Karumanchi, S. A. (2007). The glomerular injury of preeclampsia. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 18, 2281–2284. doi: 10.1681/ASN. 2007020255
- Strevens, H., Wide-Swensson, D., Hansen, A., Horn, T., Ingemarsson, I., Larsen, S., et al. (2003). Glomerular endotheliosis in normal pregnancy and pre-eclampsia. *BJOG* 110, 831–836. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.2003.02162.x
- Sugimoto, H., Hamano, Y., Charytan, D., Cosgrove, D., Kieran, M., Sudhakar, A., et al. (2003). Neutralization of circulating vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) by anti-VEGF antibodies and soluble VEGF receptor 1 (sFlt-1) induces proteinuria. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 12605–12608. doi: 10.1074/jbc.C300012200
- Szymczak, M., Kuzniar, J., Kopec, W., Zabinska, M., Marchewka, Z., Koscielska-Kasprzak, K., et al. (2017). Increased granulocyte heparanase activity in neutrophils from patients with lupus nephritis and idiopathic membranous nephropathy. Arch. Immunol. Ther. Exp. 65, 83–91. doi: 10.1007/s00005-016-0396-8
- Talsma, D. T., Katta, K., Ettema, M. A. B., Kel, B., Kusche-Gullberg, M., Daha, M. R., et al. (2018). Endothelial heparan sulfate deficiency reduces inflammation and fibrosis in murine diabetic nephropathy. *Lab. Invest.* 98, 427–438. doi: 10.1038/s41374-017-0015-2
- Tamsma, J. T., Van Den Born, J., Bruijn, J. A., Assmann, K. J., Weening, J. J., Berden, J. H., et al. (1994). Expression of glomerular extracellular matrix components in human diabetic nephropathy: decrease of heparan sulphate in the glomerular basement membrane. *Diabetologia* 37, 313–320. doi: 10.1007/BF00398060
- Taylor, K. R., and Gallo, R. L. (2006). Glycosaminoglycans and their proteoglycans: host-associated molecular patterns for initiation and modulation of inflammation. FASEB J. 20, 9–22. doi: 10.1096/fj.05-4682rev

- van den Berg, J. G., van den Bergh Weerman, M. A., Assmann, K. J., Weening, J. J., and Florquin, S. (2004). Podocyte foot process effacement is not correlated with the level of proteinuria in human glomerulopathies. *Kidney Int.* 66, 1901–1906. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2004.00964.x
- van den Born, J., Gunnarsson, K., Bakker, M. A., Kjellen, L., Kusche-Gullberg, M., Maccarana, M., et al. (1995). Presence of N-unsubstituted glucosamine units in native heparan sulfate revealed by a monoclonal antibody. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270, 31303–31309. doi: 10.1074/jbc.270.52.31303
- van den Born, J., van den Heuvel, L. P., Bakker, M. A., Veerkamp, J. H., Assmann, K. J., Weening, J. J., et al. (1993). Distribution of GBM heparan sulfate proteoglycan core protein and side chains in human glomerular diseases. *Kidney Int.* 43, 454–463. doi: 10.1038/ki.1993.67
- van den Hoven, M. J., Rops, A. L., Bakker, M. A., Aten, J., Rutjes, N., Roestenberg, P., et al. (2006). Increased expression of heparanase in overt diabetic nephropathy. *Kidney Int.* 70, 2100–2108. doi: 10.1038/sj.ki.500 1985
- van Kuppevelt, T. H., Dennissen, M. A., van Venrooij, W. J., Hoet, R. M., and Veerkamp, J. H. (1998). Generation and application of type-specific antiheparan sulfate antibodies using phage display technology. Further evidence for heparan sulfate heterogeneity in the kidney. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 12960–12966. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.21.12960
- Visintin, C., Mugglestone, M. A., Almerie, M. Q., Nherera, L. M., James, D., Walkinshaw, S., et al. (2010). Management of hypertensive disorders during pregnancy: summary of NICE guidance. *BMJ* 341:c2207. doi: 10.1136/bmj. c2207
- Vlodavsky, I., Friedmann, Y., Elkin, M., Aingorn, H., Atzmon, R., Ishai-Michaeli, R., et al. (1999). Mammalian heparanase: gene cloning, expression and function in tumor progression and metastasis. *Nat. Med.* 5, 793–802. doi: 10.1038/10518
- Wang, L., Fuster, M., Sriramarao, P., and Esko, J. D. (2005). Endothelial heparan sulfate deficiency impairs L-selectin- and chemokine-mediated neutrophil trafficking during inflammatory responses. *Nat. Immunol.* 6, 902–910. doi: 10.1038/ni1233
- Weinbaum, S., Tarbell, J. M., and Damiano, E. R. (2007). The structure and function of the endothelial glycocalyx layer. Annu. Rev. Biomed. Eng. 9, 121– 167. doi: 10.1146/annurev.bioeng.9.060906.151959
- Wijnhoven, T. J., Lensen, J. F., Wismans, R. G., Lamrani, M., Monnens, L. A., Wevers, R. A., et al. (2007). In vivo degradation of heparan sulfates in the glomerular basement membrane does not result in proteinuria. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 18, 823–832. doi: 10.1681/ASN.200607 0692
- Wijnhoven, T. J., Van Den Hoven, M. J., Ding, H., Van Kuppevelt, T. H., Van Der Vlag, J., Berden, J. H., et al. (2008). Heparanase induces a differential loss of heparan sulphate domains in overt diabetic nephropathy. *Diabetologia* 51, 372–382. doi: 10.1007/s00125-007-0879-6
- Zaferani, A., Vives, R. R., Van Der Pol, P., Navis, G. J., Daha, M. R., Van Kooten, C., et al. (2012). Factor h and properdin recognize different epitopes on renal tubular epithelial heparan sulfate. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287, 31471–31481. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.M112.380386

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Galvis-Ramírez, Quintana-Castillo and Bueno-Sanchez. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Drug Transport at the Brain and Endothelial Dysfunction in Preeclampsia: Implications and Perspectives

Pablo Torres-Vergara^{1,2*}, Carlos Escudero^{2,3,4} and Jeffrey Penny⁵

¹ Department of Pharmacy, Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Concepción, Concepción, Chile, ² Group of Research and Innovation in Vascular Health (GRIVAS Health), Chillán, Chile, ³ Vascular Physiology Laboratory, Department of Basic Sciences, Faculty of Basic Sciences, Universidad del Bío-Bío, Chillán, Chile, ⁴ Red Iberoamericana de Alteraciones Vasculares Asociadas a Trastornos del Embarazo (RIVA-TREM), Chillán, Chile, ⁵ Division of Pharmacy and Optometry, School of Health Sciences, Faculty of Biology, Medicine and Health, The University of Manchester, Manchester, United Kingdom

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Qiaobing Huang, Southern Medical University, China

Reviewed by:

Carmen Clapp, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Mexico Yong Gu, Southern Medical University, China

> *Correspondence: Pablo Torres-Vergara pabltorr@udec.cl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Vascular Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 20 July 2018 Accepted: 05 October 2018 Published: 06 November 2018

Citation:

Torres-Vergara P, Escudero C and Penny J (2018) Drug Transport at the Brain and Endothelial Dysfunction in Preeclampsia: Implications and Perspectives. Front. Physiol. 9:1502. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01502 Transport of drugs across biological barriers has been a subject of study for decades. The discovery and characterization of proteins that confer the barrier properties of endothelia and epithelia, including tight junction proteins and membrane transporters belonging to the ATP-binding cassette (ABC) and Solute Carrier (SLC) families, represented a significant step forward into understanding the mechanisms that govern drug disposition. Subsequently, numerous studies, including both pre-clinical approaches and clinical investigations, have been carried out to determine the influence of physiological and pathological states on drug disposition. Importantly, there has been increasing interest in gaining a better understanding of drug disposition during pregnancy, since epidemiological and clinical studies have demonstrated that the use of medications by pregnant women is significant and this condition embodies a series of significant anatomical and physiological modifications, particularly at excretory organs and barrier sites (e.g., placenta, breast) expressing transporter proteins which influence pharmacokinetics. Currently, most of the research in this field has focused on the expression profiling of transporter proteins in trophoblasts and endothelial cells of the placenta, regulation of drug-resistance mechanisms in disease states and pharmacokinetic studies. However, little attention has been placed on the influence that the cerebrovascular dysfunction present in pregnancy-related disorders, such as preeclampsia, might exert on drug disposition in the mother's brain. This issue is particularly important since recent findings have demonstrated that preeclamptic women suffer from long-term alterations in the integrity of the blood-brain barrier (BBB). In this review we aim to analyze the available evidence regarding the influence of pregnancy on the expression of transporters and TJ proteins in brain endothelial cells, as well the mechanisms that govern the pathophysiological alterations in the BBB of women who experience preeclampsia. Future research efforts should be focused not only on achieving a better understanding of the influence of preeclampsia-associated endothelial dysfunction on drug disposition, but also in optimizing the pharmacological treatments of women suffering pregnancy-related disorders, its comorbidities and to develop new therapies aiming to restore the integrity of the BBB.

Keywords: blood-brain barrier, ABC transporters, SLC transporters, tight junction proteins, endothelial dysfunction, preeclampsia, eclampsia, brain alterations

INTRODUCTION

Worldwide, there has been an increase in the number of prescribed and over-the-counter medications taken by pregnant women (Mitchell et al., 2011; Beyene and Beza, 2018; Navaro et al., 2018). In Latin America, the true extent of the use of therapeutic drugs among pregnant women is not well characterized, but in countries such as Uruguay, 96% of pregnant women take medications and 78% use two or more (Viroga et al., 2013). A prospective cohort study conducted in Brazilian, Argentinian and Peruvian populations showed that immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-infected pregnant women exhibit a better adherence to anti-HIV therapy when compared to post-partum (Kreitchmann et al., 2012). The above-mentioned statistics are significant since pregnancy is a physiological condition associated with anatomical and physiological modifications capable of influencing the disposition of drugs, including increased blood volume, enhanced basal metabolism, and modified hormone levels, among others.

Treatment of chronic diseases within pregnancy carries a risk for both the mother and fetus, as the administered drug could cross the placenta and reach the fetus circulation, with deleterious consequences (Jentink et al., 2010; Tomson et al., 2018). Pharmacokinetic studies carried out in animal models and human suggest that exposure to drugs is reduced in pregnancy since there is an increase in both the renal glomerular filtration rate (thereby increasing renal elimination) and hepatic metabolism mediated by isoforms of cytochrome P450 enzymes and uridine 5'-phosphate glucuronosyltransferases (Pariente et al., 2016; Koren and Pariente, 2018). Furthermore, the expression and activity of transporters involved in drug disposition appears to be modified in excretory organs (Hebert et al., 2008) in a similar fashion to that observed with metabolizing enzymes.

Pregnant women suffering from psychiatric disorders and other central nervous system (CNS) diseases often require pharmacotherapy to stabilize their symptoms, which are likely to continue after labor due to their chronic nature. Clinical studies of pregnant women receiving antiepileptic and antidepressive pharmacotherapy demonstrated that the reduced drug exposure, due to increased clearance, is associated with an increase in the seizure rate (Reisinger et al., 2013) and decreased plasma levels of serotonin reuptake inhibitors, respectively (Westin et al., 2017). These outcomes clearly demonstrate that pregnancy could have a negative impact on the clinical effect of these drugs.

Furthermore, women under pharmacological treatment for epilepsy (Borthen, 2015) or depression (Palmsten et al., 2012) have a higher risk of suffering complications derived from pathophysiological alterations associated with pregnancy, such as preeclampsia. This pathological condition, that is present in 2–8% of all pregnancies (Duley, 2009), is a disorder characterized by hypertension and proteinuria after the twentieth gestational week, which may evolve to vasogenic edema, eclampsia (seizures) and cerebrovascular stroke if not properly controlled (American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, Task Force on Hypertension in Pregnancy, 2013; Cipolla, 2013; Hammer and Cipolla, 2015). It is also reported that 75% of maternal deaths due to preeclampsia are related to cerebrovascular complications including eclampsia, intracranial hemorrhage, and edema (Zeeman, 2009).

Preeclampsia is associated with impaired systemic endothelial function (Roberts et al., 1989) and, in the brain of preeclamptic women, this endothelial dysfunction presents in the form of impaired integrity of the BBB (Bergman et al., 2018), which is apparently maintained even post-partum (Bergman et al., 2016). The influence of endothelial dysfunction on drug disposition in the brain has been studied in disease states, including stroke (Huang et al., 2017) however there is a lack of studies investigating the effect of endothelial dysfunction on brain drug disposition in pregnancy-related disorders. The latter issue is extremely important and needs to be addressed since preeclamptic women may need to receive medications to control symptoms within pregnancy, and/or at some point post-partum, particularly for treatment of chronic conditions, e.g., epilepsy, depression and HIV-infection. Furthermore, it is likely that women with brain endothelial dysfunction could experience increased exposure to the effects of endogenous factors and potentially harmful xenobiotics.

While the function of the BBB and transport of molecules across brain endothelial cells (BECs) has been extensively studied in non-pregnant populations, much less is known about BBB physiology during pregnancy and pregnancy-related disorders. Therefore, this review will summarize the findings related to the effect of pregnancy and preeclampsia on the expression and activity of proteins involved in the transport of drugs at the BBB.

OVERVIEW OF THE BLOOD-BRAIN BARRIER

The BBB (Figure 1A) is a highly restrictive and specialized neurovascular network comprised of BECs, a basal membrane composed on collagen, fibronectin and laminin, pericytes, neurons and glial cells (Abbott, 2013; Daneman and Prat, 2015). In essence, the BBB isolates the brain parenchyma from the systemic circulation, regulating the supply of nutrients,



controlling the bidirectional transport of endogenous mediators and protecting the CNS from exposure to harmful compounds, i.e., xenobiotics and metabolites.

Unlike other vascular beds, the endothelial cells of the BBB express a unique phenotype (**Figure 1B**) with higher levels of expression of tight junction (TJ) proteins, membrane transporters belonging to the ATP-binding cassette (ABC) and Solute Carrier families (SLC), and metabolizing enzymes (Decleves et al., 2011; Shawahna et al., 2011; Daneman and Prat, 2015; Liao et al., 2017).

Findings of *in vitro* and animal models have consistently demonstrated that the transport of molecules across the BBB is strongly regulated by membrane transporters and TJ proteins (Cecchelli et al., 1999; Cantrill et al., 2012; Helms et al., 2016). More recently, the use of imaging techniques and probes have allowed the *in vivo* analysis of transporter functionality, e.g., P-glycoprotein (P-GP) activity at the BBB in both healthy (Bauer et al., 2015) and disease states (Shin et al., 2016).

OVERVIEW OF TIGHT JUNCTION PROTEINS IN BRAIN ENDOTHELIAL CELLS

The paracellular transport of molecules at the BBB is highly selective, and this feature is associated with the expression of high levels of TJ proteins. These proteins act as a biological adhesive, anchoring together adjacent BECs via transmembrane proteins attached to intracellular scaffolding proteins (Haseloff et al., 2015).

The transmembrane proteins occludin, claudins and Junctional Adhesion Molecules (JAMs) form complex strands that interact between cells, reducing paracellular diffusion (Haseloff et al., 2015; Keaney and Campbell, 2015). However, in order to maintain this restrictiveness, TJs are linked to the cytoplasmic zonula occludens (ZO) proteins that provide a structural bridge to the actin cytoskeleton. In zones where there is contact between three BECs, the TJ protein tricellulin (MARVELD2) plays a pivotal role in modulating paracellular permeability by reducing the passage of large molecules (Reinhold and Rittner, 2017).

Since the discovery that the permeability of the BBB could be regulated through reversible disruption of TJs, this principle has served as an approach for the delivery of therapeutics that would not cross this barrier by conventional means, e.g., passive diffusion, carrier-mediated transport (Dithmer et al., 2017; Sol et al., 2017).

OVERVIEW OF TRANSPORTERS INVOLVED IN BRAIN DRUG DISPOSITION

Data from in vitro and animal models have helped establish which membrane transporters impact brain drug disposition. Furthermore, the International Transporter Consortium et al. (2010) has published and updated recommendations (Hillgren et al., 2013) for decision-making processes related to drugtransporter interactions that could be translated to clinical settings. In this regard, the ABC transporters P-glycoprotein (P-GP; Cordon-Cardo et al., 1989), Multidrug Resistance-associated Proteins (MRPs) MRP4 and MRP5 (Huai-Yun et al., 1998; Seetharaman et al., 1998), Breast Cancer Resistance Protein (BCRP; Eisenblatter and Galla, 2002; Eisenblatter et al., 2003), and the Organic Anion Transporting Polypeptides (OATPs) OATP1A2 and OATP2B1 SLC transporters (Roth et al., 2012), are considered the most clinically important transporters within the BBB. Although there is evidence (from pre-clinical models) that other SLC transporters expressed in the BBB, including members of the Monocarboxylate Transporter (MCT; Lee and Kang, 2016), Organic Anion Transporter (OAT) subfamilies (Hosoya and Tachikawa, 2011) are involved in the uptake of drugs, this review will exclusively focus on the transporter proteins expressed in human BECs. The characteristics of these protein families in human BECs are briefly summarized in Table 1 and the following section.

ATP-Binding Cassette Transporters

P-glycoprotein is a 170 kDa efflux transporter encoded by the *ABCB1* gene in human and the *abcb1a/abcb1b* genes in rodent. This protein is located at the luminal side of BECs and is described as a phenotypical marker (Sugawara et al., 1990;

Transporter	Gene	Molecular weight (kDa)	Detected at protein level	Localization and function	References
ABC					
P-GP	ABCB1	170	Yes	Luminal/Efflux	Dauchy et al., 2009; Shawahna et al., 2011; Uchida et al., 2011
BCRP	ABCG2	70 (Monomer)	Yes	Luminal/Efflux	Eisenblatter et al., 2003; Dauchy et al., 2009; Shawahna et al., 2011; Uchida et al., 2011
MRPs	ABCC4	170	Yes	Luminal/Efflux	Nies et al., 2004; Shawahna et al., 2011
	ABCC5	160	Yes		
SLC					
OATP1A2	SLC21A3	≈70	Yes	Luminal/Uptake	Lee et al., 2005; Roth et al., 2012
OATP2B1	SLC21A9	≈77	Yes	Luminal/Uptake	Bronger et al., 2005; Roth et al., 2012

Dauchy et al., 2008; Cantrill et al., 2012). P-GP exhibits a broad substrate specificity that includes anticancer drugs (Mealey and Fidel, 2015), antidepressant drugs (O'Brien et al., 2012), antiepileptic drugs (Stepien et al., 2012), cardiotonic drugs (Ledwitch et al., 2016), HIV protease inhibitors (Liu et al., 2017) and immunosuppressants (Picchianti-Diamanti et al., 2014) among others. This characteristic implies the transporter has a predominant role in regulation the disposition of xenobiotics, including therapeutic drugs, thereby acting as a mechanism of detoxification and drug resistance. Some studies have also proposed a role for P-GP in the transport of endogenous mediators including steroids, bilirubin (Cascorbi, 2011) and amyloid- β , the peptide responsible of the formation of amyloid plaques in Alzheimer's disease (Zhong et al., 2016).

The BCRP is an ABC transporter encoded by the ABCG2 gene in human and *abcg2* gene in rodent, and is expressed at the luminal domain of BBB endothelial cells (Eisenblatter et al., 2003). BCRP is a monomeric protein (70 kDa) that requires the formation of at least a homodimer (and can even form homotetramers) to be functionally active (Ni et al., 2010). There is significant overlap in the substrate specificity of P-GP and BCRP and, like P-GP, BCRP can significantly influence drug transport in the body (Poguntke et al., 2010). In human BECs, BCRP is expressed at higher levels than P-GP (Shawahna et al., 2011; Uchida et al., 2011), but its overall contribution to the transport of substrates is less well understood than P-GP. As well as transporting drug substrates, BCRP also participates in transport of hormones (and conjugated metabolites) (Grube et al., 2018) and urate, a product of purine metabolism whose accumulation causes gout (Woodward et al., 2009; Fujita and Ichida, 2018).

The MRP transporters are encoded by the *ABCC* class of genes in human and *abcc* genes in rodents. MRPs mediate the transport of a diverse array of drugs and endogenous molecules including hormones, prostaglandins, leukotrienes and their conjugates (glucuronides, sulfates, and glutathione) (Zhou et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2015; Bloise et al., 2016). Members of the MRP family are not as highly expressed in BECs as P-GP and BCRP in human BECs, but the findings of proteomic (Shawahna et al., 2011; Uchida et al., 2011) and transcriptomic (Warren et al., 2009) analyses have demonstrated that MRP4, an isoform located at the luminal side, is expressed at detectable levels in human BECs. Luminal expression of MRP5 in human BECs has also been confirmed by means of fluorescent immunohistochemistry (Nies et al., 2004).

Solute Carrier Transporters

The OATPs, a group of SLC transporters belonging to the SLCO subfamily, are ubiquitously expressed throughout the body, and at the human BBB, luminal expression of OATP1A2 (Lee et al., 2005) and OATP2B1 (Bronger et al., 2005), has been reported. OATPs mediate the uptake and efflux of endogenous and exogenous molecules, which tend to possess amphiphilic characteristics (Roth et al., 2012) and substrates include prostaglandins, steroid and thyroid hormone conjugates (Grube et al., 2018), bile acids and therapeutic drugs (Kalliokoski and Niemi, 2009; Roth et al., 2012).

EXPRESSION AND FUNCTIONALITY OF BLOOD-BRAIN BARRIER TIGHT JUNCTIONS PROTEINS AND DRUG TRANSPORTERS IN PREGNANCY

During normal pregnancy there is an increase in blood levels of several endogenous mediators including hormones and their metabolites, pro-inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, matrix metalloproteinases and growth factors (Chavan et al., 2017; Chen and Khalil, 2017). For example, clinical studies report that pro-inflammatory cytokines including interleukin-6 (IL-6) and markers of cyclooxygenase-2 activity were increased in healthy women, suggesting that pregnancy is characterized by a mild, sub-clinical systemic inflammatory state (Palm et al., 2013; Danielsen et al., 2014). Under this physiological proinflammatory condition, expression and functionality of BBB TJ proteins and ABC/SLC transporters involved in drug disposition could be modified as is observed in other conditions (Keaney and Campbell, 2015; Qosa et al., 2015). Although little is known of the influence of pregnancy on the expression of BBB transporters and TJ proteins, recent studies are addressing this issue.

Tight Junction Proteins and Pregnancy

The influence of pregnancy on the integrity of TJs has primarily been studied in endothelial cells of the placenta (Marzioni et al., 2001; Ahn et al., 2015), and to date, we are not aware of any studies reporting the effects of a healthy pregnancy on the expression of TJ proteins in the maternal BBB. During normal pregnancy, high plasma levels of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), an angiogenic mediator that increases BBB permeability through changes in the expression of TJ proteins (Lafuente et al., 2006) including claudin-5 and occludin (Argaw et al., 2012), have been reported (Evans et al., 1998). However, despite elevated plasma levels of VEGF, the permeability of the BBB remains unaltered in normal pregnancy (Cipolla, 2013). Indeed, studies have shown that the serum collected during late pregnancy attenuates the effects of VEGF on permeability of cerebral veins isolated from non-pregnant rats and rats in latepregnancy (Schreurs et al., 2012). The authors attributed this outcome to the fact that, in late pregnancy, high plasma levels of soluble Fms-like tyrosine kinase 1 (sFlt1), a splice variant of the VEGF receptor (VEGFR) lacking activity, counteracts the effects of VEGF (Cipolla, 2013).

Membrane Transporters

Current evidence suggests that expression levels of ABC transporters within the maternal BBB vary throughout pregnancy, although this outcome has only been demonstrated in animal models. Studies report the expression of rodent P-gp and mrp1 in the BBB of pregnant mice is higher at midgestation and decreases in late-gestation (Coles et al., 2009), whilst positron emission tomography (PET) studies conducted on macaques (Chung et al., 2010) report that P-GP activity increased from mid-gestation to late-gestation, as evidenced by reduced accumulation of the radiolabelled P-GP substrate ¹¹C-verapamil. However, the latter study did not confirm if this effect was a result of increased P-GP expression. No studies to date have reported the influence of pregnancy on the expression of SLC transporters in the maternal BBB, although it has been demonstrated expression of rodent Oatp1a4 (a rodent isoform that shows a high homology with human OATP1A2) in the BBB of the newborn increases with maturation (Harati et al., 2013).

ATP-binding cassette and SLC transporters govern movement of a whole array of endogenous and exogenous molecules through endothelial cells of the BBB. Consequently, this transcellular passage of substances may be significantly affected by pregnancy-dependent changes in transporter expression. However, despite the potential implications of modification of the barrier properties of the maternal BBB, to date, the precise mechanisms by which pregnancy could influence the expression of the above transporters are unclear and are only relatively recently being investigated.

A recent study reported that acute exposure of isolated hippocampal rat brain capillaries to serum obtained from pregnant rats reduced P-GP activity (Johnson et al., 2018). The authors hypothesized that this inhibition of P-GP, mediated by high levels of circulating serum factors, was associated with the increased incidence of seizures in normal pregnant rats. However, this study did not identify the molecules responsible for reduced P-GP activity. Furthermore, the findings are in contrast to those reported in studies investigating the relationship between seizures and P-GP activity, which suggest glutamatemediated induction of cyclooxygenase-2 activity is responsible for the up-regulation of P-GP expression and activity in BECs in animal models of epilepsy (Zibell et al., 2009; van Vliet et al., 2010) and in capillaries isolated from human brains (Avemary et al., 2013). These findings are particularly important since studies suggest that in normal pregnancies and in preeclampsia, the cerebral levels of glutamate are reduced when compared to non-pregnant women (Nelander et al., 2018).

The specific effects of endogenous factors on the expression and activity of ABC transporters during pregnancy have been studied more in-depth on the developing fetal BBB than in the maternal BBB. Studies have reported that primary cultures of guinea pig BECs, obtained from late-gestational fetuses and postnatal pups, are highly responsive to the effects of glucocorticoids and pro-inflammatory cytokines, with hydrocortisone and dexamethasone (Iqbal et al., 2011) increasing P-gp activity and IL-1β, IL-6 and TNFα (Iqbal et al., 2012) decreasing P-gp activity. However, despite the opposing effects exerted by glucocorticoids and cytokines on P-gp expression and activity, a later report demonstrated that co-treatment with the synthetic glucocorticoid dexamethasone, apart from increasing the expression of the transporter, enhanced the inhibitory actions of IL-1β, IL-6, and TNFa on P-GP activity (Iqbal et al., 2016). The authors suggested that this enhancement of cytokine inhibitory actions is the result of a dexamethasone-mediated increase in the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines receptors.

Transforming Growth Factor β (TGF β), a protein found at high levels in plasma during pregnancy (Forbes and Westwood, 2010), has also been reported to regulate the expression of P-GP in BECs, and Baello et al. (2016), have reported TGF β -mediated up-regulation of P-GP expression and activity, through activation of the ALK1 and ALK5 signaling pathways, in BECs isolated from male fetuses and postnatal guinea pig pups.

ENDOTHELIAL DYSFUNCTION AT THE BRAIN IN PREGNANCY-RELATED DISORDERS

Pregnancy alone can be considered as an inflammatory (but not pathological) state. One hallmark of pregnancy-related disorders, including preeclampsia, is the manifestation of endothelial dysfunction promoted by high levels of factors released from the placenta (Escudero et al., 2009; Myatt and Roberts, 2015). The brain vasogenic edema present in later stages of preeclampsia is apparently the result of impaired autoregulation of cerebral blood flow and increased BBB permeability (Cipolla and Kraig, 2011; Cipolla, 2013; Hammer and Cipolla, 2015), but the pathophysiological mechanisms involved are still unclear. *In vitro* studies have demonstrated that when rat cerebral vasculature was exposed to plasma from normal and preeclamptic human pregnancies, there was an increase in BBB permeability. Interestingly, this effect was more marked following treatment with preeclamptic plasma (Amburgey et al., 2010).

Furthermore, this study demonstrated that inhibition of VEGF receptor tyrosine kinase activity reversed the effect elicited by the treatment with preeclamptic plasma, suggesting that VEGF could be involved in modulating vascular permeability.

The pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF α is also believed to contribute to the increased BBB permeability in preeclampsia. TNF α infusion in healthy pregnant rats at gestational day 19 increased the water content in the anterior cerebrum without increasing the BBB permeability (Warrington et al., 2015). However, when pregnant rats were subjected to a reduction of

TABLE 2 | Drugs employed for treatment of chronic diseases in pregnancy and preeclampsia as substrates/inhibitors of ABC/SLC transporters expressed in human brain endothelial cells.

Drug	ABC Transp	oorter	SLC Transporter		Reference	
	Substrate	Inhibitor	Substrate	Inhibitor		
Antidepressants						
Citalopram		P-GP			Weiss et al., 2003a; O'Brien et al., 2012	
Fluoxetine		P-GP			Weiss et al., 2003a; O'Brien et al., 2013	
Paroxetine	P-GP	P-GP			Weiss et al., 2003a; O'Brien et al., 2012	
Antiepileptics						
Carbamazepine	P-GP	P-GP			Weiss et al., 2003b; Zhang et al., 2012	
Lamotrigine	P-GP, BCRP	P-GP			Weiss et al., 2003b; Luna-Tortos et al., 2008; Romermann et al., 2015	
Oxcarbazepine	P-GP				Weiss et al., 2003b; Zhang et al., 2011; Antunes Nde et al., 2016	
Phenobarbital	P-GP				Luna-Tortos et al., 2008	
Antihypertensives						
Labetalol	P-GP				Incecayir et al., 2013	
Nicardipine	P-GP				Kadono et al., 2010	
Nifedipine	P-GP				Choi et al., 2013	
Antirretroviral drugs						
Abacavir	P-GP, BCRP	P-GP, BCRP			Pan et al., 2007; Storch et al., 2007	
Atazanavir	P-GP	P-GP, BCRP		OATP2B1	Perloff et al., 2005; Storch et al., 2007; Weiss et al., 2007; Fujimoto et al., 2009	
Darunavir	P-GP	P-GP	OATP1A2	OATP2B1	Annaert et al., 2010; Hartkoorn et al., 2010; Kis et al., 2010	
Efavirenz	BCRP	P-GP, BCRP		OATP2B1	Storch et al., 2007; Weiss et al., 2007; Kis et al., 2010	
Indinavir	P-GP			OATP1A2	Lee et al., 1998; Van Der Sandt et al., 2001; Campbell et al., 2015	
Lopinavir	P-GP	P-GP, BCRP	OATP1A2		Lee et al., 1998; Janneh et al., 2007; Weiss et al., 2007; Hartkoorn et al., 2010	
Nelfinavir	P-GP	P-GP, BCRP		OATP2B1	Kim et al., 1998; Gupta et al., 2004; Storch et al., 2007; Weiss et al., 2007; Kis et al., 2010	
Nevirapine		P-GP, BCRP			Storch et al., 2007; Weiss et al., 2007	
Raltregavir	P-GP, BCRP	- , -			Hashiguchi et al., 2013	
Ritonavir	P-GP	P-GP, BCRP		OATP1A2, OATP2B1	Van Der Sandt et al., 2001; Gupta et al., 2004; Weiss et al., 2007; Hartkoorn et al., 2010	
Saquinavir	P-GP	P-GP, BCRP	OATP1A2	OATP1A2, OATP2B1	Kim et al., 1998; Lee et al., 1998; Gupta et al., 2004; Janneh et al., 2005; Weiss et al., 2007; Hartkoorn et al., 2010; Kis et al., 2010	
Zidovudine	P-GP, BCRP, MRP4	BCRP			Schuetz et al., 1999; Wang et al., 2003; Pan et al., 2007	

uterine perfusion pressure (RUPP), a model of placental ischemia that emulates preeclampsia and impairs the maternal cerebral blood flow, they exhibited an increase in both the water content at the anterior cerebrum and BBB permeability, which was counteracted by treatment with the TNF α inhibitor etanercept.

Findings from other studies conducted in the RUPP model have helped to elucidate how BECs respond to the circulating factors present in preeclampsia. When RUPP was performed in pregnant rats at gestational day 14, edema and increased maternal BBB permeability in the anterior cerebrum were observed, with increased expression of the protein aquaporin 4 and no changes in the expression of TJ proteins (Warrington et al., 2014). However, it has been reported the same procedure led to postpartum edema and increased maternal BBB permeability in the posterior cortex, probably due to reduced expression of the TJ protein occludin (Clayton et al., 2018).

The increased BBB permeability reported by both Warrington et al. (2014) and Clayton et al. (2018), is partly supported by clinical studies which demonstrated that in women developing preeclampsia, blood levels of S100B, neuronal specific enolase (NSE) and neurofilament light chain (NfL), three markers of cerebral injury, were higher than those observed in women with normal pregnancies (Bergman et al., 2018). Indeed, another report showed that in preeclamptic women, the levels of S100B and NSE were still high 1-year post-partum, suggesting that the alterations in the integrity of the BBB are manifest for a substantial period of time following delivery (Bergman et al., 2016).

PHARMACOLOGICAL MANAGEMENT OF PREECLAMPSIA

Hypertension is one of the pathological features of preeclampsia and is routinely managed with the use of antihypertensive drugs including nifedipine, nicardipine, labetalol, hydralazine and methyldopa (Odigboegwu et al., 2018). Although it remains unclear whether the BBB permeability of these drugs is affected during preeclampsia, it is noteworthy that several antihypertensives, namely labetalol, nicardipine and nifedipine, are substrates of efflux transporters including P-GP (Thiel-Demby et al., 2009; Choi et al., 2013; Incecayir et al., 2013). The therapeutic management of neurological complications associated with preeclampsia, including seizures, primarily relies on the intravenous or intramuscular administration of magnesium sulfate, a drug with demonstrated ability to prevent the development of eclampsia and reduce maternal mortality (Altman et al., 2002).

The mechanism of action by which magnesium sulfate exerts its effects is unknown, but despite this limitation, it is widely considered a neuroprotective agent capable of reducing BBB permeability in animal models of brain injury (Li et al., 2017). Furthermore, a recent study demonstrated that magnesium sulfate reduced the water content in the anterior cerebrum, as well protein, cytokine, chemokine and VEGF levels in cerebrospinal fluid of rats subjected to the RUPP procedure (Zhang and Warrington, 2016). The above findings are important since the transport of drugs and endogenous mediators across the choroid plexus, which constitutes the blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier, is a subject that is receiving increasing interest. A better characterization of the mechanisms that govern transport of molecules across this barrier will certainly help to understand brain drug disposition in both healthy and disease states such as preeclampsia.

To date, as the specific effects of magnesium sulfate on the expression/functionality of BBB TJ proteins and drug transporters are unknown, future studies addressing this subject will prove crucial in identifying potential therapeutic targets and in developing treatment strategies.



HOW BLOOD-BRAIN BARRIER ENDOTHELIAL DYSFUNCTION COULD ALTER BRAIN DRUG DISPOSITION IN PREECLAMPSIA

The effect of endothelial dysfunction elicited by preeclampsia on brain drug disposition is unknown. A preeclampsiamediated increase in BBB permeability could potentially result in increased permeation of endogenous, blood-borne substances, including placental derived sFlt-1, and hormones, into the brain. Furthermore, a less restrictive BBB could allow more extensive penetration of therapeutic drugs into the CNS, resulting in increased side effects. In preeclamptic women, in addition to hypertension, which is treated with antihypertensive P-GP drug substrates, comorbidities, including epilepsy, depression and HIV infection, are often reported (Pariente et al., 2016). Since there is evidence that drugs belonging to these pharmacological groups are substrates and/or of ABC/SLC transporters (O'Brien et al., 2012; Stepien et al., 2012; Alam et al., 2016; Han et al., 2017), there is an obvious need to better understand the effect of preeclampsia on BBB transporter physiology and the effects of transporter modifications on brain drug disposition. A list of drugs used for treatment of chronic diseases in pregnancy and preeclampsia is presented in Table 2.

Although the precise mechanisms, and effects, of alterations in BBB permeability associated with preeclampsia have not yet been elucidated, it is possible to gain an insight into the potential consequences of BBB modification from clinical situations in which the expression of BBB drug transporters and BBB integrity are altered. In this regard, ischemic and hemorrhagic stroke are life-threatening conditions whose outcomes include severe BBB disruption (Knowland et al., 2014; Keep et al., 2018). In rodent models of ischemic stroke, based on middle cerebral artery occlusion (MCAO), an increase in brain water content and a decrease in the expression of TJ proteins, including occludin and claudin-5, have been observed (Huang et al., 2017). In functional terms, the cited reports demonstrated an increase in BBB permeability, i.e., increased brain levels of drugs transported through the paracellular pathway. Interestingly, MCAO also resulted in a time dependent up-regulation of P-GP expression (Cen et al., 2013; DeMars et al., 2017), which may serve as a compensatory protective mechanism, especially for drugs that are substrates of this transporter.

Pathological similarities are observed in both ischemic stroke and preeclampsia, including neuroinflammation, vasogenic edema and increased BBB permeability (**Figure 2**). To date, there is a lack of studies addressing the effect of preeclampsia on BBB physiology and, in particular, the effects of this disorder on

REFERENCES

- Abbott, N. J. (2013). Blood-brain barrier structure and function and the challenges for CNS drug delivery. *J. Inherit. Metab. Dis.* 36, 437–449. doi: 10.1007/s10545-013-9608-0
- Abbott, N. J., Patabendige, A. A., Dolman, D. E., Yusof, S. R., and Begley, D. J. (2010). Structure and function of the blood-brain barrier. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 37, 13–25. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2009.07.030

TJ complexes, which govern paracellular permeability, and on ABC/SLC transporters, which regulate transcellular permeability. However, there is potential to monitor ABC transporter functionality, particularly P-GP activity, in women who have a history of preeclamptic pregnancies using non-invasive PET studies employing ¹¹C-verapamil as tracer (Shin et al., 2016). Future studies could employ this technique in women who had suffered preeclampsia or eclampsia, in order to measure P-GP activity and investigate whether there is a correlation between transporter activity and propensity of seizures.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The BBB is a highly restrictive but dynamic system that regulates the transport of ions and molecules into and out of the brain. Consequently, alterations in its function could result in an increased CNS exposure to potentially toxic xenobiotics, including therapeutic drugs, and endogenous factors. Given the findings that preeclampsia is associated with increased BBB permeability, there is an urgent and fundamental need to characterize the functionality of BBB ABC and SLC transporter proteins involved in CNS drug disposition through the use of appropriate pre-clinical models and execution of clinical studies.

A better understanding of preeclampsia-associated changes in BBB physiology would not only allow characterization of the processes responsible for pathophysiological changes, but could help improve the therapeutic management of women experiencing, or those who had experienced, preeclamptic pregnancies. Indeed, this knowledge will help to reduce the risk of acute and chronic complications caused by alterations in BBB function elicited by preeclampsia.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PT-V designed and wrote the manuscript. CE and JP contributed to the writing of the manuscript and provided a critical revision of its contents.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to acknowledge the support from the Chilean National Commission of Science and Technological Research (CONICYT), which fund the project "Red multidisciplinaria para el análisis de los mecanismos fisiopatológicos subyacentes al daño endotelial cerebral presente en preeclampsia" Grant No. REDI170373.

- Ahn, C., Yang, H., Lee, D., An, B. S., and Jeung, E. B. (2015). Placental claudin expression and its regulation by endogenous sex steroid hormones. *Steroids* 100, 44–51. doi: 10.1016/j.steroids.2015.05.001
- Alam, C., Whyte-Allman, S. K., Omeragic, A., and Bendayan, R. (2016). Role and modulation of drug transporters in HIV-1 therapy. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* 103, 121–143. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2016.05.001
- Altman, D., Carroli, G., Duley, L., Farrell, B., Moodley, J., Neilson, J., et al. (2002). Do women with pre-eclampsia, and their babies, benefit from magnesium

sulphate? The Magpie Trial: a randomised placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet* 359, 1877–1890. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(02)08778-0

- Amburgey, O. A., Chapman, A. C., May, V., Bernstein, I. M., and Cipolla, M. J. (2010). Plasma from preeclamptic women increases blood-brain barrier permeability: role of vascular endothelial growth factor signaling. *Hypertension* 56, 1003–1008. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.110. 158931
- Annaert, P., Ye, Z. W., Stieger, B., and Augustijns, P. (2010). Interaction of HIV protease inhibitors with OATP1B1, 1B3, and 2B1. *Xenobiotica* 40, 163–176. doi: 10.3109/00498250903509375
- Antunes Nde, J., Wichert-Ana, L., Coelho, E. B., Della Pasqua, O., Alexandre Junior, V., Takayanagui, O. M., et al. (2016). Influence of verapamil on the pharmacokinetics of oxcarbazepine and of the enantiomers of its 10-hydroxy metabolite in healthy volunteers. *Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 72, 195–201. doi: 10.1007/s00228-015-1970-4
- American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, Task Force on Hypertension in Pregnancy (2013). Hypertension in pregnancy. Report of the American college of obstetricians and gynecologists' task force on hypertension in pregnancy. Obstet. Gynecol. 122, 1122–1131.
- Argaw, A. T., Asp, L., Zhang, J., Navrazhina, K., Pham, T., Mariani, J. N., et al. (2012). Astrocyte-derived VEGF-A drives blood-brain barrier disruption in CNS inflammatory disease. *J. Clin. Invest.* 122, 2454–2468. doi: 10.1172/ JCI60842
- Avemary, J., Salvamoser, J. D., Peraud, A., Remi, J., Noachtar, S., Fricker, G., et al. (2013). Dynamic regulation of P-glycoprotein in human brain capillaries. *Mol. Pharm.* 10, 3333–3341. doi: 10.1021/mp4001102
- Baello, S., Iqbal, M., Gibb, W., and Matthews, S. G. (2016). Astrocyte-mediated regulation of multidrug resistance p-glycoprotein in fetal and neonatal brain endothelial cells: age-dependent effects. *Physiol. Rep.* 4:e12853. doi: 10.14814/ phy2.12853
- Bauer, M., Karch, R., Zeitlinger, M., Philippe, C., Romermann, K., Stanek, J., et al. (2015). Approaching complete inhibition of P-glycoprotein at the human blood-brain barrier: an (R)-[11C]verapamil PET study. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 35, 743–746. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm. 2015.19
- Bergman, L., Akerud, H., Wikstrom, A. K., Larsson, M., Naessen, T., and Akhter, T. (2016). Cerebral biomarkers in women with preeclampsia are still elevated 1 year postpartum. *Am. J. Hypertens.* 29, 1374–1379. doi: 10.1093/ajh/ hpw097
- Bergman, L., Zetterberg, H., Kaihola, H., Hagberg, H., Blennow, K., and Akerud, H. (2018). Blood-based cerebral biomarkers in preeclampsia: plasma concentrations of NfL, tau, S100B and NSE during pregnancy in women who later develop preeclampsia - A nested case control study. *PLoS One* 13:e0196025. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0196025
- Beyene, K. G., and Beza, S. W. (2018). Self-medication practice and associated factors among pregnant women in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. *Trop. Med. Health* 46:10. doi: 10.1186/s41182-018-0091-z
- Bloise, E., Ortiga-Carvalho, T. M., Reis, F. M., Lye, S. J., Gibb, W., and Matthews, S. G. (2016). ATP-binding cassette transporters in reproduction: a new frontier. *Hum. Reprod. Update* 22, 164–181. doi: 10.1093/humupd/ dmv049
- Borthen, I. (2015). Obstetrical complications in women with epilepsy. *Seizure* 28, 32–34. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2015.02.018
- Bronger, H., Konig, J., Kopplow, K., Steiner, H. H., Ahmadi, R., Herold-Mende, C., et al. (2005). ABCC drug efflux pumps and organic anion uptake transporters in human gliomas and the blood-tumor barrier. *Cancer Res.* 65, 11419–11428. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-1271
- Campbell, S. D., Gadel, S., Friedel, C., Crafford, A., Regina, K. J., and Kharasch, E. D. (2015). Influence of HIV antiretrovirals on methadone *N*-demethylation and transport. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 95, 115–125. doi: 10. 1016/j.bcp.2015.03.007
- Cantrill, C. A., Skinner, R. A., Rothwell, N. J., and Penny, J. I. (2012). An immortalised astrocyte cell line maintains the in vivo phenotype of a primary porcine in vitro blood-brain barrier model. *Brain Res.* 1479, 17–30. doi: 10.1016/ j.brainres.2012.08.031
- Cascorbi, I. (2011). P-glycoprotein: tissue distribution, substrates, and functional consequences of genetic variations. *Handb. Exp. Pharmacol.* 201, 261–283. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-14541-4_6

- Cecchelli, R., Dehouck, B., Descamps, L., Fenart, L., Buee-Scherrer, V. V., Duhem, C., et al. (1999). In vitro model for evaluating drug transport across the blood-brain barrier. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* 36, 165–178. doi: 10.1016/S0169-409X(98)00083-0
- Cen, J., Liu, L., Li, M. S., He, L., Wang, L. J., Liu, Y. Q., et al. (2013). Alteration in P-glycoprotein at the blood-brain barrier in the early period of MCAO in rats. *J. Pharm. Pharmacol.* 65, 665–672. doi: 10.1111/jphp. 12033
- Chavan, A. R., Griffith, O. W., and Wagner, G. P. (2017). The inflammation paradox in the evolution of mammalian pregnancy: turning a foe into a friend. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.* 47, 24–32. doi: 10.1016/j.gde.2017. 08.004
- Chen, J., and Khalil, R. A. (2017). Matrix metalloproteinases in normal pregnancy and preeclampsia. *Prog. Mol. Biol. Transl. Sci.* 148, 87–165. doi: 10.1016/bs. pmbts.2017.04.001
- Choi, J. S., Choi, I., and Choi, D. H. (2013). Effects of nifedipine on the pharmacokinetics of repaglinide in rats: possible role of CYP3A4 and P-glycoprotein inhibition by nifedipine. *Pharmacol. Rep.* 65, 1422–1430. doi: 10.1016/S1734-1140(13)71502-0
- Chung, F. S., Eyal, S., Muzi, M., Link, J. M., Mankoff, D. A., Kaddoumi, A., et al. (2010). Positron emission tomography imaging of tissue P-glycoprotein activity during pregnancy in the non-human primate. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 159, 394–404. doi: 10.1111/j.1476-5381.2009.00538.x
- Cipolla, M. J. (2013). The adaptation of the cerebral circulation to pregnancy: mechanisms and consequences. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 33, 465–478. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2012.210
- Cipolla, M. J., and Kraig, R. P. (2011). Seizures in women with preeclampsia: mechanisms and management. *Fetal Matern. Med. Rev.* 22, 91–108. doi: 10. 1017/S0965539511000040
- Clayton, A. M., Shao, Q., Paauw, N. D., Giambrone, A. B., Granger, J. P., and Warrington, J. P. (2018). Postpartum increases in cerebral edema and inflammation in response to placental ischemia during pregnancy. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 70, 376–389. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2018. 03.028
- Coles, L. D., Lee, I. J., Hassan, H. E., and Eddington, N. D. (2009). Distribution of saquinavir, methadone, and buprenorphine in maternal brain, placenta, and fetus during two different gestational stages of pregnancy in mice. *J. Pharm. Sci.* 98, 2832–2846. doi: 10.1002/jps.21644
- Cordon-Cardo, C., O'brien, J. P., Casals, D., Rittman-Grauer, L., Biedler, J. L., Melamed, M. R., et al. (1989). Multidrug-resistance gene (P-glycoprotein) is expressed by endothelial cells at blood-brain barrier sites. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 86, 695–698. doi: 10.1073/pnas.86.2.695
- Daneman, R., and Prat, A. (2015). The blood-brain barrier. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* 7:a020412. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a020412
- Danielsen, I., Granstrom, C., Rytter, D., Halldorsson, T. I., Bech, B. H., Henriksen, T. B., et al. (2014). Subclinical inflammation during third trimester of pregnancy was not associated with markers of the metabolic syndrome in young adult offspring. *Obesity* 22, 1351–1358. doi: 10.1002/oby. 20650
- Dauchy, S., Dutheil, F., Weaver, R. J., Chassoux, F., Daumas-Duport, C., Couraud, P. O., et al. (2008). ABC transporters, cytochromes P450 and their main transcription factors: expression at the human bloodbrain barrier. J. Neurochem. 107, 1518–1528. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2008. 05720.x
- Dauchy, S., Miller, F., Couraud, P. O., Weaver, R. J., Weksler, B., Romero, I. A., et al. (2009). Expression and transcriptional regulation of ABC transporters and cytochromes P450 in hCMEC/D3 human cerebral microvascular endothelial cells. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 77, 897–909. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2008. 11.001
- Decleves, X., Jacob, A., Yousif, S., Shawahna, R., Potin, S., and Scherrmann, J. M. (2011). Interplay of drug metabolizing CYP450 enzymes and ABC transporters in the blood-brain barrier. *Curr. Drug Metab.* 12, 732–741. doi: 10.2174/ 138920011798357024
- DeMars, K. M., Yang, C., Hawkins, K. E., Mccrea, A. O., Siwarski, D. M., and Candelario-Jalil, E. (2017). Spatiotemporal changes in P-glycoprotein levels in brain and peripheral tissues following ischemic stroke in rats. J. Exp. Neurosci. 11:1179069517701741. doi: 10.1177/11790695177 01741

- Dithmer, S., Staat, C., Muller, C., Ku, M. C., Pohlmann, A., Niendorf, T., et al. (2017). Claudin peptidomimetics modulate tissue barriers for enhanced drug delivery. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1397, 169–184. doi: 10.1111/nyas.13359
- Duley, L. (2009). The global impact of pre-eclampsia and eclampsia. Semin. Perinatol. 33, 130–137. doi: 10.1053/j.semperi.2009.02.010
- Eisenblatter, T., and Galla, H. J. (2002). A new multidrug resistance protein at the blood-brain barrier. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 293, 1273–1278. doi: 10.1016/S0006-291X(02)00376-5
- Eisenblatter, T., Huwel, S., and Galla, H. J. (2003). Characterisation of the brain multidrug resistance protein (BMDP/ABCG2/BCRP) expressed at the bloodbrain barrier. *Brain Res.* 971, 221–231. doi: 10.1016/S0006-8993(03)02401-6
- Escudero, C., Puebla, C., Westermeier, F., and Sobrevia, L. (2009). Potential cell signalling mechanisms involved in differential placental angiogenesis in mild and severe pre-eclampsia. *Curr. Vasc. Pharmacol.* 7, 475–485. doi: 10.2174/ 157016109789043865
- Evans, P. W., Wheeler, T., Anthony, F. W., and Osmond, C. (1998). A longitudinal study of maternal serum vascular endothelial growth factor in early pregnancy. *Hum. Reprod.* 13, 1057–1062. doi: 10.1093/humrep/ 13.4.1057
- Forbes, K., and Westwood, M. (2010). Maternal growth factor regulation of human placental development and fetal growth. J. Endocrinol. 207, 1–16. doi: 10.1677/ JOE-10-0174
- Fujimoto, H., Higuchi, M., Watanabe, H., Koh, Y., Ghosh, A. K., Mitsuya, H., et al. (2009). P-glycoprotein mediates efflux transport of darunavir in human intestinal Caco-2 and ABCB1 gene-transfected renal LLC-PK1 cell lines. *Biol. Pharm. Bull.* 32, 1588–1593. doi: 10.1248/bpb.32.1588
- Fujita, K., and Ichida, K. (2018). ABCG2 as a therapeutic target candidate for gout. Expert Opin. Ther. Targets 22, 123–129. doi: 10.1080/14728222.2018. 1420167
- Grube, M., Hagen, P., and Jedlitschky, G. (2018). Neurosteroid transport in the brain: role of ABC and SLC transporters. *Front. Pharmacol.* 9:354. doi: 10.3389/ fphar.2018.00354
- Gupta, A., Zhang, Y., Unadkat, J. D., and Mao, Q. (2004). HIV protease inhibitors are inhibitors but not substrates of the human breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP/ABCG2). J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 310, 334–341. doi: 10.1124/jpet.104. 065342
- Hammer, E. S., and Cipolla, M. J. (2015). Cerebrovascular dysfunction in preeclamptic pregnancies. *Curr. Hypertens. Rep.* 17:64. doi: 10.1007/s11906-015-0575-8
- Han, H., Mann, A., Ekstein, D., and Eyal, S. (2017). Breaking bad: the structure and function of the blood-brain barrier in epilepsy. *AAPS J.* 19, 973–988. doi: 10.1208/s12248-017-0096-2
- Harati, R., Benech, H., Villegier, A. S., and Mabondzo, A. (2013). P-glycoprotein, breast cancer resistance protein, Organic Anion Transporter 3, and Transporting Peptide 1a4 during blood-brain barrier maturation: involvement of Wnt/beta-catenin and endothelin-1 signaling. *Mol. Pharm.* 10, 1566–1580. doi: 10.1021/mp300334r
- Hartkoorn, R. C., Kwan, W. S., Shallcross, V., Chaikan, A., Liptrott, N., Egan, D., et al. (2010). HIV protease inhibitors are substrates for OATP1A2, OATP1B1 and OATP1B3 and lopinavir plasma concentrations are influenced by *SLCO1B1* polymorphisms. *Pharmacogenet. Genomics* 20, 112–120. doi: 10.1097/FPC. 0b013e328335b02d
- Haseloff, R. F., Dithmer, S., Winkler, L., Wolburg, H., and Blasig, I. E. (2015). Transmembrane proteins of the tight junctions at the blood-brain barrier: structural and functional aspects. *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.* 38, 16–25. doi: 10.1016/ j.semcdb.2014.11.004
- Hashiguchi, Y., Hamada, A., Shinohara, T., Tsuchiya, K., Jono, H., and Saito, H. (2013). Role of P-glycoprotein in the efflux of raltegravir from human intestinal cells and CD4+ T-cells as an interaction target for anti-HIV agents. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 439, 221–227. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.08.054
- Hebert, M. F., Easterling, T. R., Kirby, B., Carr, D. B., Buchanan, M. L., Rutherford, T., et al. (2008). Effects of pregnancy on CYP3A and P-glycoprotein activities as measured by disposition of midazolam and digoxin: a University of Washington specialized center of research study. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 84, 248–253. doi: 10.1038/clpt.2008.1
- Helms, H. C., Abbott, N. J., Burek, M., Cecchelli, R., Couraud, P. O., Deli, M. A., et al. (2016). In vitro models of the blood-brain barrier: an overview

of commonly used brain endothelial cell culture models and guidelines for their use. *J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab.* 36, 862–890. doi: 10.1177/0271678X166 30991

- Hillgren, K. M., Keppler, D., Zur, A. A., Giacomini, K. M., Stieger, B., Cass, C. E., et al. (2013). Emerging transporters of clinical importance: an update from the International Transporter Consortium. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 94, 52–63. doi: 10.1038/clpt.2013.74
- Hosoya, K., and Tachikawa, M. (2011). Roles of organic anion/cation transporters at the blood-brain and blood-cerebrospinal fluid barriers involving uremic toxins. *Clin. Exp. Nephrol.* 15, 478–485. doi: 10.1007/s10157-011-0460-y
- Huai-Yun, H., Secrest, D. T., Mark, K. S., Carney, D., Brandquist, C., Elmquist,
 W. F., et al. (1998). Expression of multidrug resistance-associated protein (MRP) in brain microvessel endothelial cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 243, 816–820. doi: 10.1006/bbrc.1997.8132
- Huang, L., Shang, E., Fan, W., Li, X., Li, B., He, S., et al. (2017). S-oxiracetam protect against ischemic stroke via alleviating blood brain barrier dysfunction in rats. *Eur. J. Pharm. Sci.* 109, 40–47. doi: 10.1016/j.ejps.2017.07.029
- Incecayir, T., Tsume, Y., and Amidon, G. L. (2013). Comparison of the permeability of metoprolol and labetalol in rat, mouse, and Caco-2 cells: use as a reference standard for BCS classification. *Mol. Pharm.* 10, 958–966. doi: 10.1021/ mp300410n
- International Transporter Consortium, Giacomini, K. M., Huang, S. M., Tweedie, D. J., Benet, L. Z., Brouwer, K. L., et al. (2010). Membrane transporters in drug development. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 9, 215–236. doi: 10.1038/nrd3028
- Iqbal, M., Baello, S., Javam, M., Audette, M. C., Gibb, W., and Matthews, S. G. (2016). Regulation of multidrug resistance P-glycoprotein in the developing blood-brain barrier: interplay between glucocorticoids and cytokines. J. Neuroendocrinol. 28:12360. doi: 10.1111/jne.12360
- Iqbal, M., Gibb, W., and Matthews, S. G. (2011). Corticosteroid regulation of P-glycoprotein in the developing blood-brain barrier. *Endocrinology* 152, 1067– 1079. doi: 10.1210/en.2010-1227
- Iqbal, M., Ho, H. L., Petropoulos, S., Moisiadis, V. G., Gibb, W., and Matthews, S. G. (2012). Pro-inflammatory cytokine regulation of P-glycoprotein in the developing blood-brain barrier. *PLoS One* 7:e43022. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0043022
- Janneh, O., Jones, E., Chandler, B., Owen, A., and Khoo, S. H. (2007). Inhibition of P-glycoprotein and multidrug resistance-associated proteins modulates the intracellular concentration of lopinavir in cultured CD₄ T cells and primary human lymphocytes. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 60, 987–993. doi: 10.1093/jac/ dkm353
- Janneh, O., Owen, A., Chandler, B., Hartkoorn, R. C., Hart, C. A., Bray, P. G., et al. (2005). Modulation of the intracellular accumulation of saquinavir in peripheral blood mononuclear cells by inhibitors of MRP1, MRP2, P-gp and BCRP. *AIDS* 19, 2097–2102. doi: 10.1097/01.aids.0000194793.36175.40
- Jentink, J., Loane, M. A., Dolk, H., Barisic, I., Garne, E., Morris, J. K., et al. (2010). Valproic acid monotherapy in pregnancy and major congenital malformations. N. Engl. J. Med. 362, 2185–2193. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa09 07328
- Johnson, A. C., Hammer, E. S., Sakkaki, S., Tremble, S. M., Holmes, G. L., and Cipolla, M. J. (2018). Inhibition of blood-brain barrier efflux transporters promotes seizure in pregnant rats: role of circulating factors. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 67, 13–23. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2017.07.017
- Kadono, K., Akabane, T., Tabata, K., Gato, K., Terashita, S., and Teramura, T. (2010). Quantitative prediction of intestinal metabolism in humans from a simplified intestinal availability model and empirical scaling factor. *Drug Metab. Dispos.* 38, 1230–1237. doi: 10.1124/dmd.109.029322
- Kalliokoski, A., and Niemi, M. (2009). Impact of OATP transporters on pharmacokinetics. Br. J. Pharmacol. 158, 693–705. doi: 10.1111/j.1476-5381. 2009.00430.x
- Keaney, J., and Campbell, M. (2015). The dynamic blood-brain barrier. *FEBS J.* 282, 4067–4079. doi: 10.1111/febs.13412
- Keep, R. F., Andjelkovic, A. V., Xiang, J., Stamatovic, S. M., Antonetti, D. A., Hua, Y., et al. (2018). Brain endothelial cell junctions after cerebral hemorrhage: changes, mechanisms and therapeutic targets. *J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab.* 38, 1255–1275. doi: 10.1177/0271678X18774666
- Kim, R. B., Fromm, M. F., Wandel, C., Leake, B., Wood, A. J., Roden, D. M., et al. (1998). The drug transporter P-glycoprotein limits oral absorption and

brain entry of HIV-1 protease inhibitors. J. Clin. Invest. 101, 289–294. doi: 10.1172/JCI1269

- Kis, O., Zastre, J. A., Ramaswamy, M., and Bendayan, R. (2010). pH dependence of organic anion-transporting polypeptide 2B1 in Caco-2 cells: potential role in antiretroviral drug oral bioavailability and drug-drug interactions. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 334, 1009–1022. doi: 10.1124/jpet.110.166314
- Knowland, D., Arac, A., Sekiguchi, K. J., Hsu, M., Lutz, S. E., Perrino, J., et al. (2014). Stepwise recruitment of transcellular and paracellular pathways underlies blood-brain barrier breakdown in stroke. *Neuron* 82, 603–617. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.03.003
- Koren, G., and Pariente, G. (2018). Pregnancy- associated changes in pharmacokinetics and their clinical implications. *Pharm. Res.* 35:61. doi: 10.1007/s11095-018-2352-2
- Kreitchmann, R., Harris, D. R., Kakehasi, F., Haberer, J. E., Cahn, P., Losso, M., et al. (2012). Antiretroviral adherence during pregnancy and postpartum in Latin America. AIDS Patient Care STDS 26, 486–495. doi: 10.1089/apc.2012.0013
- Lafuente, J. V., Argandona, E. G., and Mitre, B. (2006). VEGFR-2 expression in brain injury: its distribution related to brain-blood barrier markers. J. Neural Transm. 113, 487–496. doi: 10.1007/s00702-005-0407-0
- Ledwitch, K. V., Barnes, R. W., and Roberts, A. G. (2016). Unravelling the complex drug-drug interactions of the cardiovascular drugs, verapamil and digoxin, with P-glycoprotein. *Biosci. Rep.* 36:e00309. doi: 10.1042/BSR20150317
- Lee, C. G., Gottesman, M. M., Cardarelli, C. O., Ramachandra, M., Jeang, K. T., Ambudkar, S. V., et al. (1998). HIV-1 protease inhibitors are substrates for the *MDR1* multidrug transporter. *Biochemistry* 37, 3594–3601. doi: 10.1021/ bi972709x
- Lee, N. Y., and Kang, Y. S. (2016). In vivo and in vitro evidence for brain uptake of 4-phenylbutyrate by the monocarboxylate transporter 1 (MCT1). *Pharm. Res.* 33, 1711–1722. doi: 10.1007/s11095-016-1912-6
- Lee, W., Glaeser, H., Smith, L. H., Roberts, R. L., Moeckel, G. W., Gervasini, G., et al. (2005). Polymorphisms in human organic anion-transporting polypeptide 1A2 (OATP1A2): implications for altered drug disposition and central nervous system drug entry. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 9610–9617. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M411092200
- Li, X., Han, X., Yang, J., Bao, J., Di, X., Zhang, G., et al. (2017). Magnesium sulfate provides neuroprotection in eclampsia-like seizure model by ameliorating neuroinflammation and brain edema. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 54, 7938–7948. doi: 10. 1007/s12035-016-0278-4
- Liao, M. Z., Gao, C., Shireman, L. M., Phillips, B., Risler, L. J., Neradugomma, N. K., et al. (2017). P-gp/ABCB1 exerts differential impacts on brain and fetal exposure to norbuprenorphine. *Pharmacol. Res.* 119, 61–71. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2017.01. 018
- Liu, X., Ma, Q., Zhao, Y., Mu, W., Sun, X., Cheng, Y., et al. (2017). Impact of single nucleotide polymorphisms on plasma concentrations of efavirenz and lopinavir/ritonavir in Chinese children infected with the human immunodeficiency virus. *Pharmacotherapy* 37, 1073–1080. doi: 10.1002/phar. 1988
- Luna-Tortos, C., Fedrowitz, M., and Loscher, W. (2008). Several major antiepileptic drugs are substrates for human P-glycoprotein. *Neuropharmacology* 55, 1364– 1375. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2008.08.032
- Marzioni, D., Banita, M., Felici, A., Paradinas, F. J., Newlands, E., De Nictolis, M., et al. (2001). Expression of ZO-1 and occludin in normal human placenta and in hydatidiform moles. *Mol. Hum. Reprod.* 7, 279–285. doi: 10.1093/molehr/7. 3.279
- Mealey, K. L., and Fidel, J. (2015). P-glycoprotein mediated drug interactions in animals and humans with cancer. J. Vet. Intern. Med. 29, 1–6. doi: 10.1111/ jvim.12525
- Mitchell, A. A., Gilboa, S. M., Werler, M. M., Kelley, K. E., Louik, C., Hernandez-Diaz, S., et al. (2011). Medication use during pregnancy, with particular focus on prescription drugs: 1976-2008. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 205, e51–e58. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2011.02.029
- Myatt, L., and Roberts, J. M. (2015). Preeclampsia: syndrome or disease? Curr. Hypertens. Rep. 17:83. doi: 10.1007/s11906-015-0595-4
- Navaro, M., Vezzosi, L., Santagati, G., Angelillo, I. F., and Collaborative Working, G. (2018). Knowledge, attitudes, and practice regarding medication use in pregnant women in Southern Italy. *PLoS One* 13:e0198618. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0198618
- Nelander, M., Wikstrom, A. K., Weis, J., Bergman, L., Larsson, A., Sundstrom-Poromaa, I., et al. (2018). Cerebral osmolytes and plasma osmolality in

pregnancy and preeclampsia: a proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. *Am. J. Hypertens.* 31, 847–853. doi: 10.1093/ajh/hpy019

- Ni, Z., Bikadi, Z., Rosenberg, M. F., and Mao, Q. (2010). Structure and function of the human breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP/ABCG2). *Curr. Drug Metab.* 11, 603–617. doi: 10.2174/138920010792927325
- Nies, A. T., Jedlitschky, G., Konig, J., Herold-Mende, C., Steiner, H. H., Schmitt, H. P., et al. (2004). Expression and immunolocalization of the multidrug resistance proteins, MRP1-MRP6 (ABCC1-ABCC6), in human brain. *Neuroscience* 129, 349–360. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2004.07.051
- O'Brien, F. E., Clarke, G., Dinan, T. G., Cryan, J. F., and Griffin, B. T. (2013). Human P-glycoprotein differentially affects antidepressant drug transport: relevance to blood-brain barrier permeability. *Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 16, 2259–2272. doi: 10.1017/S1461145713000692
- O'Brien, F. E., Dinan, T. G., Griffin, B. T., and Cryan, J. F. (2012). Interactions between antidepressants and P-glycoprotein at the blood-brain barrier: clinical significance of in vitro and in vivo findings. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 165, 289–312. doi: 10.1111/j.1476-5381.2011.01557.x
- Odigboegwu, O., Pan, L. J., and Chatterjee, P. (2018). Use of antihypertensive drugs during preeclampsia. *Front. Cardiovasc. Med.* 5:50. doi: 10.3389/fcvm. 2018.00050
- Palm, M., Axelsson, O., Wernroth, L., Larsson, A., and Basu, S. (2013). Involvement of inflammation in normal pregnancy. Acta Obstet. Gynecol. Scand. 92, 601– 605. doi: 10.1111/aogs.12093
- Palmsten, K., Setoguchi, S., Margulis, A. V., Patrick, A. R., and Hernandez-Diaz, S. (2012). Elevated risk of preeclampsia in pregnant women with depression: depression or antidepressants? *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 175, 988–997. doi: 10.1093/ aje/kwr394
- Pan, G., Giri, N., and Elmquist, W. F. (2007). Abcg2/Bcrp1 mediates the polarized transport of antiretroviral nucleosides abacavir and zidovudine. *Drug Metab. Dispos.* 35, 1165–1173. doi: 10.1124/dmd.106.014274
- Pariente, G., Leibson, T., Carls, A., Adams-Webber, T., Ito, S., and Koren, G. (2016). Pregnancy-associated changes in pharmacokinetics: a systematic review. *PLoS Med.* 13:e1002160. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002160
- Perloff, E. S., Duan, S. X., Skolnik, P. R., Greenblatt, D. J., and Von Moltke, L. L. (2005). Atazanavir: effects on P-glycoprotein transport and CYP₃A metabolism in vitro. *Drug Metab. Dispos.* 33, 764–770. doi: 10.1124/dmd.104.002931
- Picchianti-Diamanti, A., Rosado, M. M., Scarsella, M., Lagana, B., and D'amelio, R. (2014). P-glycoprotein and drug resistance in systemic autoimmune diseases. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 15, 4965–4976. doi: 10.3390/ijms15034965
- Poguntke, M., Hazai, E., Fromm, M. F., and Zolk, O. (2010). Drug transport by breast cancer resistance protein. *Expert Opin. Drug Metab. Toxicol.* 6, 1363–1384. doi: 10.1517/17425255.2010.519700
- Qosa, H., Miller, D. S., Pasinelli, P., and Trotti, D. (2015). Regulation of ABC efflux transporters at blood-brain barrier in health and neurological disorders. *Brain Res.* 1628, 298–316. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2015.07.005
- Reinhold, A. K., and Rittner, H. L. (2017). Barrier function in the peripheral and central nervous system-a review. *Pflugers Arch.* 469, 123–134. doi: 10.1007/ s00424-016-1920-8
- Reisinger, T. L., Newman, M., Loring, D. W., Pennell, P. B., and Meador, K. J. (2013). Antiepileptic drug clearance and seizure frequency during pregnancy in women with epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav.* 29, 13–18. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2013. 06.026
- Roberts, J. M., Taylor, R. N., Musci, T. J., Rodgers, G. M., Hubel, C. A., and Mclaughlin, M. K. (1989). Preeclampsia: an endothelial cell disorder. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 161, 1200–1204. doi: 10.1016/0002-9378(89)9 0665-0
- Romermann, K., Helmer, R., and Loscher, W. (2015). The antiepileptic drug lamotrigine is a substrate of mouse and human breast cancer resistance protein (ABCG2). *Neuropharmacology* 93, 7–14. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2015.01. 015
- Roth, M., Obaidat, A., and Hagenbuch, B. (2012). OATPs, OATs and OCTs: the organic anion and cation transporters of the SLCO and SLC22A gene superfamilies. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 165, 1260–1287. doi: 10.1111/j.1476-5381.2011. 01724.x
- Schreurs, M. P., Houston, E. M., May, V., and Cipolla, M. J. (2012). The adaptation of the blood-brain barrier to vascular endothelial growth factor and placental growth factor during pregnancy. *FASEB J.* 26, 355–362. doi: 10.1096/fj.11-191916

- Schuetz, J. D., Connelly, M. C., Sun, D., Paibir, S. G., Flynn, P. M., Srinivas, R.V., et al. (1999). MRP4: a previously unidentified factor in resistance to nucleoside-based antiviral drugs. *Nat. Med.* 5, 1048–1051. doi: 10.1038/12487
- Seetharaman, S., Barrand, M. A., Maskell, L., and Scheper, R. J. (1998). Multidrug resistance-related transport proteins in isolated human brain microvessels and in cells cultured from these isolates. *J. Neurochem.* 70, 1151–1159. doi: 10.1046/ j.1471-4159.1998.70031151.x
- Shawahna, R., Uchida, Y., Decleves, X., Ohtsuki, S., Yousif, S., Dauchy, S., et al. (2011). Transcriptomic and quantitative proteomic analysis of transporters and drug metabolizing enzymes in freshly isolated human brain microvessels. *Mol. Pharm.* 8, 1332–1341. doi: 10.1021/mp200129p
- Shin, J. W., Chu, K., Shin, S. A., Jung, K. H., Lee, S. T., Lee, Y. S., et al. (2016). Clinical applications of simultaneous PET/MR imaging using (R)-[11C]-verapamil with cyclosporin a: preliminary results on a surrogate marker of drug-resistant epilepsy. *AJNR Am. J. Neuroradiol.* 37, 600–606. doi: 10.3174/ ajnr.A4566
- Sol, Y., Choi, S. H., Kim, H. J., Kim, Y. W., Cho, B. M., Han, H. S., et al. (2017). Morphologic mechanisms of increased vascular permeability of triolein emulsion to the blood-brain barrier. *Microscopy* 66, 366–370. doi: 10.1093/ jmicro/dfx026
- Stepien, K. M., Tomaszewski, M., Tomaszewska, J., and Czuczwar, S. J. (2012). The multidrug transporter P-glycoprotein in pharmacoresistance to antiepileptic drugs. *Pharmacol. Rep.* 64, 1011–1019. doi: 10.1016/S1734-1140(12) 70900-3
- Storch, C. H., Theile, D., Lindenmaier, H., Haefeli, W. E., and Weiss, J. (2007). Comparison of the inhibitory activity of anti-HIV drugs on P-glycoprotein. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 73, 1573–1581. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2007.01.027
- Sugawara, I., Hamada, H., Tsuruo, T., and Mori, S. (1990). Specialized localization of P-glycoprotein recognized by MRK 16 monoclonal antibody in endothelial cells of the brain and the spinal cord. *Jpn. J. Cancer Res.* 81, 727–730. doi: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.1990.tb02636.x
- Thiel-Demby, V. E., Humphreys, J. E., St John Williams, L. A., Ellens, H. M., Shah, N., Ayrton, A. D., et al. (2009). Biopharmaceutics classification system: validation and learnings of an in vitro permeability assay. *Mol. Pharm.* 6, 11–18. doi: 10.1021/mp800122b
- Tomson, T., Battino, D., Bonizzoni, E., Craig, J., Lindhout, D., Perucca, E., et al. (2018). Comparative risk of major congenital malformations with eight different antiepileptic drugs: a prospective cohort study of the EURAP registry. *Lancet Neurol.* 17, 530–538. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30107-8
- Uchida, Y., Ohtsuki, S., Katsukura, Y., Ikeda, C., Suzuki, T., Kamiie, J., et al. (2011). Quantitative targeted absolute proteomics of human blood-brain barrier transporters and receptors. *J. Neurochem.* 117, 333–345. doi: 10.1111/ j.1471-4159.2011.07208.x
- Van Der Sandt, I. C., Vos, C. M., Nabulsi, L., Blom-Roosemalen, M. C., Voorwinden, H. H., de Boer, A. G., et al. (2001). Assessment of active transport of HIV protease inhibitors in various cell lines and the in vitro blood-brain barrier. *AIDS* 15, 483–491. doi: 10.1097/00002030-200103090-00007
- van Vliet, E. A., Zibell, G., Pekcec, A., Schlichtiger, J., Edelbroek, P. M., Holtman, L., et al. (2010). COX-2 inhibition controls P-glycoprotein expression and promotes brain delivery of phenytoin in chronic epileptic rats. *Neuropharmacology* 58, 404–412. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2009.09.012
- Viroga, S., López, M., and Tamosiunas, G. (2013). Seguridad de los medicamentos gastrointestinales en el embarazo. Arch. Med. Interna 35, 49–54.
- Wang, X., Furukawa, T., Nitanda, T., Okamoto, M., Sugimoto, Y., Akiyama, S., et al. (2003). Breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP/ABCG2) induces cellular resistance to HIV-1 nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 63, 65–72. doi: 10.1124/mol.63.1.65
- Warren, M. S., Zerangue, N., Woodford, K., Roberts, L. M., Tate, E. H., Feng, B., et al. (2009). Comparative gene expression profiles of ABC transporters in brain microvessel endothelial cells and brain in five species including human. *Pharmacol. Res.* 59, 404–413. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2009.02.007
- Warrington, J. P., Drummond, H. A., Granger, J. P., and Ryan, M. J. (2015). Placental ischemia-induced increases in brain water content and

cerebrovascular permeability: role of TNF-alpha. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 309, R1425–R1431. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00372.2015

- Warrington, J. P., Fan, F., Murphy, S. R., Roman, R. J., Drummond, H. A., Granger, J. P., et al. (2014). Placental ischemia in pregnant rats impairs cerebral blood flow autoregulation and increases blood-brain barrier permeability. *Physiol. Rep.* 2:e12134. doi: 10.14814/phy2.12134
- Weiss, J., Dormann, S. M., Martin-Facklam, M., Kerpen, C. J., Ketabi-Kiyanvash, N., and Haefeli, W. E. (2003a). Inhibition of P-glycoprotein by newer antidepressants. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 305, 197–204. doi: 10.1124/jpet. 102.046532
- Weiss, J., Kerpen, C. J., Lindenmaier, H., Dormann, S. M., and Haefeli, W. E. (2003b). Interaction of antiepileptic drugs with human P-glycoprotein *in vitro*. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 307, 262–267. doi: 10.1124/jpet.103.054197
- Weiss, J., Rose, J., Storch, C. H., Ketabi-Kiyanvash, N., Sauer, A., Haefeli, W. E., and Efferth, T. (2007). Modulation of human BCRP (ABCG2) activity by anti-HIV drugs. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 59, 238–245. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkl474
- Westin, A. A., Brekke, M., Molden, E., Skogvoll, E., and Spigset, O. (2017). Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors and venlafaxine in pregnancy: changes in drug disposition. *PLoS One* 12:e0181082. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0181082
- Woodward, O. M., Kottgen, A., Coresh, J., Boerwinkle, E., Guggino, W. B., and Kottgen, M. (2009). Identification of a urate transporter, ABCG2, with a common functional polymorphism causing gout. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 10338–10342. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0901249106
- Zeeman, G. G. (2009). Neurologic complications of pre-eclampsia. Semin. Perinatol. 33, 166-172. doi: 10.1053/j.semperi.2009.02.003
- Zhang, C., Kwan, P., Zuo, Z., and Baum, L. (2012). The transport of antiepileptic drugs by P-glycoprotein. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 64, 930–942. doi: 10.1016/j.addr. 2011.12.003
- Zhang, C., Zuo, Z., Kwan, P., and Baum, L. (2011). *In vitro* transport profile of carbamazepine, oxcarbazepine, eslicarbazepine acetate, and their active metabolites by human P-glycoprotein. *Epilepsia* 52, 1894–1904. doi: 10.1111/ j.1528-1167.2011.03140.x
- Zhang, L. W., and Warrington, J. P. (2016). Magnesium sulfate prevents placental ischemia-induced increases in brain water content and cerebrospinal fluid cytokines in pregnant rats. *Front. Neurosci.* 10:561. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2016. 00561
- Zhang, Y. K., Wang, Y. J., Gupta, P., and Chen, Z. S. (2015). Multidrug resistance proteins (MRPs) and cancer therapy. *AAPS J.* 17, 802–812. doi: 10.1208/s12248-015-9757-1
- Zhong, X., Liu, M. Y., Sun, X. H., and Wei, M. J. (2016). Association between ABCB1 polymorphisms and haplotypes and Alzheimer's disease: a metaanalysis. Sci. Rep. 6:32708. doi: 10.1038/srep32708
- Zhou, S. F., Wang, L. L., Di, Y. M., Xue, C. C., Duan, W., Li, C. G., et al. (2008). Substrates and inhibitors of human multidrug resistance associated proteins and the implications in drug development. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 15, 1981–2039. doi: 10.2174/092986708785132870
- Zibell, G., Unkruer, B., Pekcec, A., Hartz, A. M., Bauer, B., Miller, D. S., et al. (2009). Prevention of seizure-induced up-regulation of endothelial P-glycoprotein by COX-2 inhibition. *Neuropharmacology* 56, 849–855. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2009.01.009

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Torres-Vergara, Escudero and Penny. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Are the Cognitive Alterations Present in Children Born From Preeclamptic Pregnancies the Result of Impaired Angiogenesis? Focus on the Potential Role of the VEGF Family

Evelyn Lara^{1,2}, Jesenia Acurio^{1,2}, José Leon^{1,2}, Jeffrey Penny³, Pablo Torres-Vergara^{2,4} and Carlos Escudero^{1,2,5*}

¹ Vascular Physiology Laboratory, Group of Investigation in Tumor Angiogenesis (LFV-GIANT), Department of Basic Sciences, Faculty of Basic Sciences, Universidad del Bío-Bío, Chillán, Chile, ² Group of Research and Innovation in Vascular Health (GRIVAS Health), Chillán, Chile, ³ Division of Pharmacy and Optometry, School of Health Sciences, Faculty of Biology, Medicine and Health, The University of Manchester, Manchester, United Kingdom, ⁴ Department of Pharmacy, Faculty of Pharmacy, Universidad de Concepción, Concepción, Chile, ⁵ Red Iberoamericana de alteraciones Vasculares Asociadas a TRastornos del EMbarazo (RIVA-TREM), Chillán, Chile

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Vincenzo Lionetti, Scuola Sant'Anna di Studi Avanzati, Italy

Reviewed by:

Siu-Lung Chan, The University of Vermont, United States Jingyan Han, Boston University, United States

> *Correspondence: Carlos Escudero cescudero@ubiobio.cl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Vascular Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 28 June 2018 Accepted: 23 October 2018 Published: 14 November 2018

Citation:

Lara E, Acurio J, Leon J, Penny J, Torres-Vergara P and Escudero C (2018) Are the Cognitive Alterations Present in Children Born From Preeclamptic Pregnancies the Result of Impaired Angiogenesis? Focus on the Potential Role of the VEGF Family. Front. Physiol. 9:1591. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01591 Evidence from clinical studies has proposed that children born from preeclamptic women have a higher risk of suffering neurological, psychological, or behavioral alterations. However, to date, the mechanisms behind these outcomes are poorly understood. Here, we speculate that the neurodevelopmental alterations in the children of preeclamptic pregnancies result from impaired angiogenesis. The pro-angiogenic factors vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and placental growth factor (PIGF) are key regulators of both vascular and neurological development, and it has been widely demonstrated that umbilical blood of preeclamptic pregnancies contains high levels of soluble VEGF receptor type 1 (sFIt-1), a decoy receptor of VEGF. As a consequence, this anti-angiogenic state could lead to long-lasting neurological outcomes. In this non-systematic review, we propose that alterations in the circulating concentrations of VEGF, PIGF, and sFIt-1 in preeclamptic pregnancies will affect both fetal cerebrovascular function and neurodevelopment, which in turn may cause cognitive alterations in post-natal life.

Keywords: preeclampsia, angiogenesis, neurovascular, neurocognitive, vascular endothelial growth factor, placental growth factor, sFlt-1

INTRODUCTION

Preeclampsia is a multisystemic syndrome of unknown etiology that affects pregnant women after 20 weeks of gestation. The clinical presentation of preeclampsia is characterized by hypertension with co-morbidities including proteinuria or alterations in coagulation and liver function, thrombocytopenia, pulmonary edema, and brain or visual impairments (ACOG, 2013). The global incidence of preeclampsia ranges from 2 to 8% of all pregnancies, with the condition being the leading cause of maternal morbidity and mortality, premature birth and perinatal death in both developed and developing countries (Duley, 2009). Furthermore, 30% of newborns to

125

preeclamptic mothers experience some form of adverse perinatal outcome, including prematurity and intrauterine growth retardation among others (Villar et al., 2006). Although the remaining percentage (\sim 70%) of newborns may be considered healthy, evidence suggests that children born to preeclampsia have a higher risk of suffering cardiovascular-related diseases compared to children born to normal pregnancies (Davis et al., 2012a).

The etiology of preeclampsia is not well known, but the most accepted hypothesis targets the placenta as a primary source of endogenous factors that, upon release to the systemic circulation, impair the functionality of endothelial cells. Previous reports have proposed that anti-angiogenic factors, including the soluble fms-1-like tyrosine kinase-1, (sFlt-1 or sVEGFR-1) and soluble endoglin (sENG) are responsible for the endothelial dysfunction present in preeclampsia (see details in Roberts and Escudero, 2012).

Furthermore, multiple studies have shown alterations in the balance of pro-angiogenic and anti-angiogenic factors in the placenta at term, in the fetal-placental circulation, and in the circulation of preeclamptic women and their children years after the preeclamptic incident (Maynard and Karumanchi, 2011; Rana et al., 2014; Karumanchi, 2016).

In addition to imbalances in pro and anti-angiogenic processes, endothelial dysfunction is a well-recognized feature in the offspring born to preeclampsia, the consequences of which include cardiovascular disease in adulthood (Davis et al., 2012a,b). In this manuscript, we extend this concept to propose that impaired angiogenesis affects the cognitive development of children born from preeclamptic women.

EVIDENCE OF COGNITIVE ALTERATIONS IN THE OFFSPRING BORN TO PREECLAMPTIC PREGNANCIES

The pathophysiology of pregnancy-related disorders such as preeclampsia is associated with impaired placental function that compromises the interaction between mother and fetus (Barker, 1995; Krause et al., 2009; Escudero et al., 2014b; Thornburg, 2015). These alterations in the mother-fetus interaction apparently generate adaptive changes in the functionality of the endocrine, metabolic, vascular and immune systems of the fetus, with consequences in post-natal life. In this regard, several reports have proposed that the offspring of preeclamptic pregnancies have a higher risk of developing metabolic, neurological and cardiovascular disorders in adulthood (Tenhola et al., 2003; Wu et al., 2008, 2009, 2011; Robinson et al., 2009; Jayet et al., 2010; Davis et al., 2012a; Tuovinen et al., 2012; Escudero et al., 2014b; Alsnes et al., 2016; Pinheiro et al., 2016; Ratsep et al., 2016a,b; Figueiro-Filho et al., 2017a).

At a cognitive level, several studies have described that children born to preeclamptic women exhibit an increased risk of developing cerebral palsy (Szymonowicz and Yu, 1987), cerebral stroke (Kajantie et al., 2009), impaired neurological development (Spinillo et al., 1994), developmental delays at the age of 5 years (Warshafsky et al., 2016), poor cognitive development (Cheng et al., 2004), intellectual disability (Griffith et al., 2011), anxiety (Tuovinen et al., 2012), depressive symptoms (Tuovinen et al., 2010), attention deficit disorder and hyperactivity (Getahun et al., 2013), and other mental disorders (Tuovinen et al., 2014) in comparison with children born to normotensive women. In agreement with this body of evidence, a recent systematic review concluded that preeclampsia is associated with neurocognitive alterations in children (Figueiro-Filho et al., 2017b).

BRAIN ALTERATIONS IN OFFSPRING BORN TO PREECLAMPSIA

Pre-clinical studies have attempted to establish an explanation for the variety of pathoneurological consequences associated with preeclampsia. Studies report that the brain weight at birth of the offspring born to hypertensive pregnant rats was significantly lower compared to the offspring born to their normotensive counterparts (Liu et al., 2016). Furthermore, reduced brain weight was associated with reduced expression of markers of neurogenesis, markers of neuroproliferation in the cortex and with severe impairments in spatial learning and memory.

In the clinical setting, Dr. Ana Croy's group have been conducting pioneering studies which attempt to correlate cognitive parameters with brain anatomy (Ratsep et al., 2016a,c) or neuronal networking (Mak et al., 2018). The findings of these magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) studies, in 10 children born to preeclampsia and 10 children born to normotensive pregnancies, demonstrated that at least five brain regions, including the cerebellum, temporal lobe, brainstem, and right and left amygdala, were larger in children born to preeclampsia compared with controls (Ratsep et al., 2016c). The study also demonstrated cerebral blood flow in both parietal and occipital lobes in children born to preeclamptic women was lower than in controls. The authors proposed that changes in brain vasculature may have preceded the structural alterations. Consistent with these findings, the MRI studies of Figueiro-Filho et al. (2017a) reported increased volumes of the tract for the superior longitudinal fasciculus and the caudate nucleus, amongst other alterations, in the brains of children born to preeclamptic pregnancies.

More recently, a study suggested that children born from preeclamptic pregnancies demonstrated higher levels of connectivity between the left amygdala and bilateral frontal pole; the right amygdala and the left frontal pole, and between the medial prefrontal cortex and precuneus, compared to matchedcontrol children (Mak et al., 2018). Furthermore, this study also found that children born from preeclamptic pregnancies exhibit decreased connectivity between the medial prefrontal cortex and the left occipital fusiform gyrus.

The body of findings available therefore provides strong, albeit preliminary, evidence for the hypothesis that the neurological and cognitive impairments present in children delivered from preeclamptic pregnancies are likely the result of neurodevelopmental alterations. Furthermore, complementary to this hypothesis is the fact that impaired vascular development in the fetal brain could be a contributing factor to preeclampsiaassociated impairments.

Crucially, a more in-depth understanding of (i) the potential confounding factors which impact fetal development, such as altered placental functionality (hypoxia), (ii) subject-specific data, including the weight of the newborn, gestational age at birth and the socioeconomic and nutritional context in which the newborn develops, and (iii) the physiological and morphological modifications in the cerebral vasculature of children from preeclamptic women, will be key to strengthening this hypothesis.

EVIDENCE OF ALTERATIONS IN THE VASCULATURE OF CHILDREN BORN TO PREECLAMPTIC WOMEN

Angiogenesis, defined as the formation of new vessels from an existing vessel, is widespread during fetal and neonatal development, although it is rarely observed in adults under normal conditions (Carmeliet and Ruiz de Almodovar, 2013; Watson et al., 2016, 2017). Although several processes drive vascular development, angiogenesis is one of the most studied in the context of preeclampsia. Conversely, vascular remodeling or "vascular pruning," the process by which pro-angiogenic signaling is suppressed, resulting in accelerated apoptosis of endothelial cells (Watson et al., 2017) and organized loss of blood vessels, is also observed in the fetus. Consequently, angiogenesis and vascular remodeling are complementary processes, the relative extents of which can influence vascular development not only in the fetuses of normotensive and preeclamptic pregnancies, but can impact vascular architecture in neonates, and in individuals in later life.

Although studies have investigated the characteristics of accessible vascular networks in individuals born to preeclamptic pregnancies, no studies report on how preeclampsia influences the anatomy and physiology of the blood brain barrier in neonates, children, and adults.

Our research group (Escudero et al., 2013, 2014a; Acurio et al., 2014, 2016) and others (Staff et al., 2005; Tsao et al., 2005; Stark et al., 2009; Antonios et al., 2012; Touwslager et al., 2012; Yu et al., 2016) have studied how angiogenesis may be impaired in the children born to preeclamptic pregnancies. Interestingly, it has been shown that full-term babies of hypertensive pregnancies (including preeclampsia) exhibited a reduction in the maximum capillary density per square millimeter on the plantar surface of the big toe compared with control infants (Antonios et al., 2012).

The above results are in agreement with previous findings (Stark et al., 2009; Touwslager et al., 2012) that demonstrated structural and functional alterations in the microvasculature of newborns and increased vascular remodeling in the skin of 3-month old babies born to hypertensive pregnancies (Yu et al., 2016). Also, it is reported (Yu et al., 2012) that children born to preeclampsia exhibited a 45% reduction in the risk of prematurity-associated retinopathy, a condition characterized by increased retinal angiogenesis. Furthermore, studies report the retinal arteriolar caliber, but not the retinal venular caliber, was

narrower in school-age children from hypertensive pregnancies, including preeclamptic pregnancies, than in children born from normotensive pregnancies (Yesil et al., 2016). Since prematurity-associated retinopathy is a condition characterized by an increase in the formation of blood vessels in the retina, differences in retinal arteriolar caliber are suggestive of differences in vascular remodeling in the two cohorts.

However, as far as we are aware, although Ratsep et al. (2016c) demonstrated alterations in blood flow to the parietal and occipital lobes in the offspring of preeclamptic pregnancies, the effects of preeclampsia on blood brain barrier anatomy and physiology in neonates, children, and adults are yet to be established. In this manuscript we propose that cerebral angiogenesis is altered in children born to mothers with preeclampsia, thereby initially influencing the early neonatal stage and subsequently throughout life (**Figure 1**).

Since preeclampsia-associated alterations in vascular networks (Stark et al., 2009; Antonios et al., 2012; Touwslager et al., 2012; Yesil et al., 2016; Yu et al., 2016), neurocognition (Wu et al., 2009; Dang et al., 2016; Ratsep et al., 2016a) and neuroanatomy (Ratsep et al., 2016a,b,c; Figueiro-Filho et al., 2017a; Mak et al., 2018) have been reported, there is an obvious need for an improved understanding of the molecular mechanisms underpinning such physiological changes. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), placental growth factor (PIGF) and soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase (sFlt-1) play key roles in angiogenesis and neurogenesis (Ruiz de Almodovar et al., 2009; Carmeliet and Ruiz de Almodovar, 2013) and have therefore been extensively studied in preeclampsia. These important biomarkers are discussed in more detail in the next section.

VEGF AND ANGIOGENESIS AND NEUROGENESIS

The VEGF family of proteins is one of the key regulators of both angiogenesis and neurogenesis (Carmeliet and Ruiz de Almodovar, 2013). This family is comprised of five members including VEGF-A, VEGF-B, VEGF-C, VEGF-D, and PlGF, which activate vascular endothelial growth factor receptors (VEGFRs), namely VEGFR-1, VEGFR-2, and VEGFR-3, a group of membrane receptors possessing tyrosine kinase activity. Once activated these receptors mediate several processes including cell migration, proliferation and survival (Shibuya, 2013). In addition, VEGFRs are involved in development of the morphological features of blood vessels and regulate vascular permeability (Olsson et al., 2006). The activity of VEGF and PIGF is regulated by sFlt-1, a circulating variant of VEGRF-1 that prevents their binding to their membrane receptors, thus decreasing their activity (Ahmad et al., 2011). Deletion of VEGF (Carmeliet et al., 1996), VEGFR1 (Fong et al., 1995) or VEGFR2 (Shalaby et al., 1995), or even tyrosine residues (Y1175) responsible for VEGFR2 activation (Sakurai et al., 2005) causes severe failure in angiogenesis, and are embryonic lethal in mice. Furthermore, mice deficient in VEGFR1 die at the embryonic stage due to hypertrophy and disorganization of blood vessels (Fong et al., 1995), rather than a lack of vessel formation.



Several reports have demonstrated that in preeclampsia there is an increase in circulating levels of placental derived sFlt-1 (and other anti-angiogenic molecules such as sENG), thereby generating a state of systemic vascular dysfunction in the mother (see details in Karumanchi, 2018).

VEGF-mediated activation of VEGFR2 leads to cell migration, proliferation and angiogenesis (Koch and Claesson-Welsh, 2012; **Figure 2A**), and activation is mediated by phosphorylation of the tyrosine 951 (Y951) and tyrosine 1175 (Y1175) residues. Consequently, alterations in angiogenesis may well be a multifactorial process, influenced not only by circulating levels of ligand and levels of receptor expression, but by actual kinase-mediated phosphorylation of the receptor itself. Few publications have described activation of VEGFR2 (i.e., tyrosine phosphorylation) in preeclampsia, the findings of which are conflicting (Ahmad and Ahmed, 2004; Escudero et al., 2014a).

Activation of VEGFRs has also been linked with neural development (Ruiz de Almodovar et al., 2009; Carmeliet and Ruiz de Almodovar, 2013) and *in vitro* and animal studies (see details in Carmeliet and Ruiz de Almodovar, 2013) report VEGF and PIGF stimulate multiple processes, including neurogenesis, enhanced neuronal survival, axonal growth, and migration and proliferation of glial cells.

Therefore, VEGFRs are excellent candidates to study to further understand the mechanism(s) of angiogenesis impairment and neural development in children born to preeclamptic pregnancies.

VEGF FAMILY AND PREECLAMPSIA

Preeclamptic women exhibit high plasma levels of sFlt-1 (Levine et al., 2004), and circulating levels of anti-angiogenic sFlt-1 in the fetoplacental circulation and children born to preeclamptic mothers are summarized in **Table 1**. Since the discovery of elevated sFlt-1 plasma levels in preeclamptic women, several studies have attempted to characterize the role of sFlt-1, PlGF, and VEGF in the pathophysiology of the condition (see details in Karumanchi, 2016, 2018), and the roles of these factors in preeclampsia are discussed below.

VEGF, sFIt-1 and Angiogenesis in the Offspring of Preeclamptic Pregnancies

Elevated levels of sFlt-1 have been reported in blood collected from umbilical cord (Staff et al., 2005; Tsao et al., 2005) and in adults (between 20 and 30 years old) originally born



FIGURE 2 | VEGFR1 and VEGFR2 in brain vessel formation. (A) The extent of perfusion of brain tissue depends on both angiogenesis and vascular remodeling processes, which are mediated by pro- and anti-angiogenic factors. (B) VEGF and PIGF activate VEGFR1 and VEGFR2. Phosphorylation of tyrosine 951 (Y951) or Y1175 is associated with activation of VEGFR2, leading preferentially to cell migration or cell proliferation, respectively. These regulatory mechanisms are involved in angiogenesis and neuronal survival. In contrast, sFIt-1 prevents the binding of VEGF and PIGF to VEGFRs, thus decreasing their pro-angiogenic and neuronal survival activity. In this manuscript it is postulated that children born to preeclampsia exhibit a reduced number of blood vessels in the brain cortex, through impaired angiogenesis and/or increased vascular remodeling. We also propose that the underling mechanism might involve dysregulation in VEGFR2 activation due to high sFIt-1 circulating levels in preeclampsia.

TABLE 1 | Summary of findings of angiogenic factors in children born to preeclampsia in comparison with matched normotensive controls.

Age	Type of study	Sample size	Type of sample	Findings in preeclampsia	Reference
23–36 weeks of gestation	Cohort	123	Umbilical cord blood	VEGF was positively correlated, and sFIt-1 was negatively correlated, with birth weight and percentiles of weight for gestational age. Higher cord blood VEGF levels were associated with reduced risk of postnatal growth failure. The above biomarker associations were attenuated after adjustment for maternal preeclampsia.	(Voller et al., 2014)
30 weeks of gestation Prospective 2		4108	Umbilical cord blood	High sFIt-1 (and reduced PIGF) were associated with reduced growth from the gestational stage to 6 years of age.	(Bergen et al., 2015)
Newborns at birth Case-control		70	Umbilical cord blood	Elevated sFlt-1 in children of mothers with preeclampsia.	(Staff et al., 2005)
Newborns at birth Cross-sectional		39	Umbilical cord blood	Lower VEGF levels and higher sFlt-1 levels.	(Olmos et al., 2013)
0–30 years	Prospective	204	Antecubital vein blood	Elevated levels of sFlt-1.	(Lewandowski et al., 2015)
5–8 years		43	Antecubital vein blood	No difference in sFIt-1 levels.	(Kvehaugen et al., 2011)

sFLT-1: soluble receptor tyrosine kinase similar to fms-1; VEGF: Vascular endothelial growth factor; PIGF: Placental growth factor.

to preeclamptic pregnancies (Lewandowski et al., 2015). Also, studies have shown that neonates born from preeclamptic pregnancies exhibit lower levels of VEGF and higher levels of sFlt-1 when compared to children born to normotensive women (Olmos et al., 2013). In addition, it has been suggested that high levels of sFlt-1 in the umbilical cord are associated with impaired function of both endothelial cell progenitors (Xia et al., 2007) and human umbilical vein endothelial cells (Yu et al., 2016). Furthermore the impact of sFlt-1 on tissue function has been reported, and in the thyroid gland, a highly vascularized tissue, there is a negative association between thyroid hormone production and umbilical cord blood levels of sFlt-1 (Korevaar et al., 2014). Moreover, in the broader context of the systemic effects of sFlt-1 on infant growth and development, it has been reported that high umbilical levels of sFlt-1 are negatively associated with growth in infants in uncomplicated pregnancies (Bergen et al., 2015), and sFlt-1 levels are also negatively correlated with body weight percentile in preterm babies (Voller et al., 2014).

At the central nervous system level, the precise role of sFlt-1 in modifying neuroanatomical and vascular architecture, and circulatory characteristics in the brain is unknown. Interestingly, high circulating levels of sFlt-1 are associated with adult psychiatric and neurological alterations (Kim et al., 2007; Fulzele and Pillai, 2009; Emanuele et al., 2010; Lee et al., 2010; Lizano et al., 2016, 2017; Pillai et al., 2016) and studies also reveal a reduction in total frontal lobe volume in patients with schizophrenia/schizoaffective disorder (Pillai et al., 2016). Whether this association is the result of alterations in microvascular development in those patients is unknown, however, gene transfer of sFlt-1 in rats leads to a reduction in brain edema and in blood brain barrier permeability, suggesting a direct effect on brain endothelium (Kumai et al., 2007).

A limited number of studies have investigated the effect of sFlt-1 on brain development, including those of Carver et al. (2014) which report that, in a mouse model of preeclampsia, adenoviral transfer of sFlt-1 to the mother was associated with sex-dependent neuroanatomical alterations in the offspring at 6 months of age, which were partly counteracted by treating mothers with pravastatin (Carver et al., 2014).

If high levels of sFlt-1 in the mother or in the fetus effectively impair the proper development of brain blood vessels, and potentially brain development, in the offspring born from preeclamptic pregnancies (**Figure 2B**), sFlt-1 would represent a reliable prognostic biomarker that would help to predict adverse outcomes in children born from preeclamptic pregnancies.

PIGF and Cerebral Circulation in Offspring of Preeclampsia

PIGF is highly expressed at all brain development stages (Luna et al., 2016) and is considered the key cerebral angiogenic factor (Liu et al., 2006; Gaal et al., 2013). Mechanistically, PIGF stimulates growth of neurons (Dewerchin and Carmeliet, 2012; Carmeliet and Ruiz de Almodovar, 2013) and formation of new blood vessels in the brain (Gaal et al., 2013) although the influence of PIGF on brain vasculature in preeclampsia has not been investigated.

However, studies report low levels of PIGF in maternal and fetal blood (Schlembach et al., 2007) and low levels of PIGF mRNA in the placenta (Andraweera et al., 2012) of preeclamptic pregnancies compared to normotensive pregnancies. Furthermore, low maternal levels of PIGF in the second trimester of gestation were associated with a narrower retinal arteriolar caliber (but not with a narrower retinal venular caliber) in childhood, compared to children who had experienced a normotensive pregnancy (Gishti et al., 2015). These findings suggest a highly selective role for PIGF in retinal vascular development.

A more direct relationship between PIGF levels during pregnancy and brain angiogenesis in offspring has been documented by Lecuyer et al. (2017), who demonstrated low

placental levels of PIGF were associated with a reduction in radial distribution of fetal cerebral cortical microvasculature. Studies in normotensive mice virally transfected with PIGF (Gaal et al., 2013) and in PIGF ($Plgf^{-/-}$) deficient mice (Freitas-Andrade et al., 2012; Luna et al., 2016) highlight the key role PIGF in the development of brain vasculature. Furthermore, seminal studies from Dr. Ana Croy's group found that $Plgf^{-/-}$ mice showed anatomical alterations in the cerebral macrocirculation at the level of anterior communicating cerebral arteries and anterior collateral vessels forming Willis' polygon. These structural changes in cerebral circulation observed in $Plgf^{-/-}$ mice were associated with impaired cognitive function (Luna et al., 2016), however, the latter study did not characterize the brain microcirculation, nor the profile of pro or antiangiogenic factors in the $Plgf^{-/-}$ mice. More recently, the same group has reported that $PIGF^{-/-}$ mice also exhibited alterations in the development of neurons (Chaballe et al., 2011) and the retina (Kay et al., 2017).

IS IT ALL ABOUT BRAIN ANGIOGENESIS?

Mechanistically, impaired brain angiogenesis is unlikely to be the unique alteration that fully explains the complexities of the adverse cognitive outcomes present in children born from preeclamptic pregnancies. Considering the hypothesis of fetal programming, it is feasible to speculate that other factors including oxidative stress, inflammation, neuronal structural modifications and epigenetic modifications driven by intrauterine hypoxia, among others, are involved. Furthermore, the contribution of many other post-natal factors, including socioeconomic environment, breastfeeding and social interactions to increase brain stimulation, to cognitive function in children born from preeclamptic pregnancies need to be established. Several excellent reports, including (Van den Bergh, 2011; Babenko et al., 2015) address the concept of fetal programming and alterations at brain level.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The syndrome of preeclampsia is a frequent complication of pregnancy, affecting both the mother and the fetus. This disorder is characterized by an imbalance between pro and antiangiogenic factors released from the placenta and may lead to a series of adverse consequences in individuals throughout their post-natal life.

The evidence discussed in this review suggests that children of mothers with preeclampsia have a higher risk of developing cognitive disorders. However, despite increased research in this field, it is still unclear whether other confounding factors, such as intrauterine growth restriction, prematurity or asphyxia, contribute to the cognitive disorders in children born to preeclamptic pregnancies, and further studies are required to establish the underlying mechanisms responsible for such cognitive disorders. Herein, we present supporting evidence for alterations in the characteristics of brain microvasculature in the offspring born to preeclamptic women, although some studies include a small sample size that indirectly suggests structural alterations. While we highlight a potential key role of impaired brain vessel formation as an underling mechanism for cognitive alterations in children born to preeclampsia, it is also unlikely that this would be a unique mechanism for explaining the complex alterations in brain development and cognitive deficiencies observed. Furthermore, both inflammation and nutrient access (both over and undernutrition) represent potential contributory factors involved in brain alterations of offspring born to preeclamptic pregnancies.

We acknowledge that focusing on impaired VEGFR-mediated brain angiogenesis is an oversimplification of the complexity of the underling mechanisms of adverse cognitive outcomes in offspring born to preeclampsia. However, as indicated in this review, literature in this field is extremely limited and there is a substantial need for more focused research to establish the precise contribution of preeclampsia, independent of other confounding factors, on cognitive alterations in children. In particular, a better understanding of the roles of VEGF, PIGF, and sFLT-1 in impaired brain angiogenesis may aid in early diagnosis and management, and also in development of new treatment interventions.

REFERENCES

ACOG (2013). Hypertension in Pregnancy. Washington, DC: ACOG.

- Acurio, J., Herlitz, K., Troncoso, F., Aguayo, C., Bertoglia, P., and Escudero, C. (2016). Adenosine A2A receptor regulates expression of vascular endothelial growth factor in feto-placental endothelium from normal and late-onset preeclamptic pregnancies. *Purinergic Signal*. 13, 51–60. doi: 10.1007/s11302-016-9538-z
- Acurio, J., Troncoso, F., Bertoglia, P., Salomon, C., Aguayo, C., Sobrevia, L., et al. (2014). Potential role of A2B adenosine receptors on proliferation/migration of fetal endothelium derived from preeclamptic pregnancies. *Biomed Res. Int.* 2014:274507. doi: 10.1155/2014/274507
- Ahmad, S., and Ahmed, A. (2004). Elevated placental soluble vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1 inhibits angiogenesis in preeclampsia. *Circ. Res.* 95, 884–891. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000147365.86159.f5
- Ahmad, S., Hewett, P. W., Al-Ani, B., Sissaoui, S., Fujisawa, T., Cudmore, M. J., et al. (2011). Autocrine activity of soluble Flt-1 controls endothelial cell function and angiogenesis. *Vas. Cell* 3:15. doi: 10.1186/2045-824X-3-15
- Alsnes, I. V., Janszky, I., Asvold, B. O., Okland, I., Forman, M. R., and Vatten, L. J. (2016). Maternal preeclampsia and androgens in the offspring around puberty: a follow-up study. *PLoS One* 11:e0167714. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0167714
- Andraweera, P. H., Dekker, G. A., Laurence, J. A., and Roberts, C. T. (2012). Placental expression of VEGF family mRNA in adverse pregnancy outcomes. *Placenta* 33, 467–472. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2012.02.013
- Antonios, T. F., Raghuraman, R. P., D'Souza, R., Nathan, P., Wang, D., and Manyonda, I. T. (2012). Capillary remodeling in infants born to hypertensive pregnancy: pilot study. *Am. J. Hypertens.* 25, 848–853. doi: 10.1038/ajh. 2012.51
- Babenko, O., Kovalchuk, I., and Metz, G. A. (2015). Stress-induced perinatal and transgenerational epigenetic programming of brain development and mental health. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 48, 70–91. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.11.013
- Barker, D. J. (1995). Fetal origins of coronary heart disease. *BMJ* 311, 171–174. doi: 10.1136/bmj.311.6998.171
- Bergen, N. E., Bouwland-Both, M. I., Steegers-Theunissen, R. P., Hofman, A., Russcher, H., Lindemans, J., et al. (2015). Early pregnancy maternal and fetal angiogenic factors and fetal and childhood growth: the generation R study. *Hum. Reprod.* 30, 1302–1313. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dev070

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

EL wrote the draft of the manuscript. JA, JL, JP, and PT-V critically revised the manuscript. CE generated the original hypothesis and proposed the development of the review article.

FUNDING

This work was supported by DIUBB 184309 4/R.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are deeply grateful to the midwives and medical staff of the Obstetrics and Gynecology Department of Hospital Clínico Herminda Martin from Chillán, Chile. We would like to thank all research staff at the Vascular Physiology Laboratory and the Group of Investigation of Tumor Angiogenesis (GIANT) of the Universidad del Bío-Bío for their technical support. We also thank the researchers in the GRIVAS Health group for outstanding discussion regarding hypothesis presented in this manuscript.

- Carmeliet, P., Ferreira, V., Breier, G., Pollefeyt, S., Kieckens, L., Gertsenstein, M., et al. (1996). Abnormal blood vessel development and lethality in embryos lacking a single VEGF allele. *Nature* 380, 435–439. doi: 10.1038/380435a0
- Carmeliet, P., and Ruiz de Almodovar, C. (2013). VEGF ligands and receptors: implications in neurodevelopment and neurodegeneration. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 70, 1763–1778. doi: 10.1007/s00018-013-1283-7
- Carver, A. R., Andrikopoulou, M., Lei, J., Tamayo, E., Gamble, P., Hou, Z., et al. (2014). Maternal pravastatin prevents altered fetal brain development in a preeclamptic CD-1 mouse model. *PLoS One* 9:e100873. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0100873
- Chaballe, L., Close, P., Sempels, M., Delstanche, S., Fanielle, J., Moons, L., et al. (2011). Involvement of placental growth factor in Wallerian degeneration. *Glia* 59, 379–396. doi: 10.1002/glia.21108
- Cheng, S. W., Chou, H. C., Tsou, K. I., Fang, L. J., and Tsao, P. N. (2004). Delivery before 32 weeks of gestation for maternal pre-eclampsia: neonatal outcome and 2-year developmental outcome. *Early Hum. Dev.* 76, 39–46. doi: 10.1016/j. earlhumdev.2003.10.004
- Dang, F., Croy, B. A., Stroman, P. W., and Figueiro-Filho, E. A. (2016). Impacts of preeclampsia on the brain of the offspring. *Rev. Bras. Ginecol. Obstet.* 38, 416–422. doi: 10.1055/s-0036-1584515
- Davis, E. F., Lazdam, M., Lewandowski, A. J., Worton, S. A., Kelly, B., Kenworthy, Y., et al. (2012a). Cardiovascular risk factors in children and young adults born to preeclamptic pregnancies: a systematic review. *Pediatrics* 129:e1552-61. doi: 10.1542/peds.2011-3093
- Davis, E. F., Newton, L., Lewandowski, A. J., Lazdam, M., Kelly, B. A., Kyriakou, T., et al. (2012b). Pre-eclampsia and offspring cardiovascular health: mechanistic insights from experimental studies. *Clin. Sci.* 123, 53–72. doi: 10.1042/ CS20110627
- Dewerchin, M., and Carmeliet, P. (2012). PIGF: a multitasking cytokine with disease-restricted activity. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. 2:a011056. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a011056
- Duley, L. (2009). The global impact of pre-eclampsia and eclampsia. Semin. Perinatol. 33, 130–137. doi: 10.1053/j.semperi.2009.02.010
- Emanuele, E., Orsi, P., Barale, F., di Nemi, S. U., Bertona, M., Politi, P., et al. (2010). Serum levels of vascular endothelial growth factor and its receptors in patients with severe autism. *Clin. Biochem.* 43, 317–319. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiochem. 2009.10.005

- Escudero, C., Bertoglia, P., Hernadez, M., Celis, C., Gonzalez, M., Aguayo, C., et al. (2013). Impaired A2A adenosine receptor/nitric oxide/VEGF signaling pathway in fetal endothelium during late- and early-onset preeclampsia. *Purinergic Signal.* 9, 215–226. doi: 10.1007/s11302-012-9341-4
- Escudero, C., Celis, C., Saez, T., San Martin, S., Valenzuela, F. J., Aguayo, C., et al. (2014a). Increased placental angiogenesis in late and early onset preeclampsia is associated with differential activation of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2. *Placenta* 35, 207–215. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2014. 01.007
- Escudero, C., Roberts, J. M., Myatt, L., and Feoktistov, I. (2014b). Impaired adenosine-mediated angiogenesis in preeclampsia: potential implications for fetal programming. *Front. Pharmacol.* 5:134. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2014. 00134
- Figueiro-Filho, E. A., Croy, B. A., Reynolds, J. N., Dang, F., Piro, D., Ratsep, M. T., et al. (2017a). Diffusion tensor imaging of white matter in children born from preeclamptic gestations. *Am. J. Neuroradiol.* 38, 801–806. doi: 10.3174/ajnr. A5064
- Figueiro-Filho, E. A., Mak, L. E., Reynolds, J. N., Stroman, P. W., Smith, G. N., Forkert, N. D., et al. (2017b). Neurological function in children born to preeclamptic and hypertensive mothers – A systematic review. *Pregnancy Hypertens*. 10, 1–6. doi: 10.1016/j.preghy.2017.07.144
- Fong, G. H., Rossant, J., Gertsenstein, M., and Breitman, M. L. (1995). Role of the Flt-1 receptor tyrosine kinase in regulating the assembly of vascular endothelium. *Nature* 376, 66–70. doi: 10.1038/376066a0
- Freitas-Andrade, M., Carmeliet, P., Charlebois, C., Stanimirovic, D. B., and Moreno, M. J. (2012). PIGF knockout delays brain vessel growth and maturation upon systemic hypoxic challenge. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 32, 663–675. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2011.167
- Fulzele, S., and Pillai, A. (2009). Decreased VEGF mRNA expression in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex of schizophrenia subjects. *Schizophr. Res.* 115, 372–373. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2009.06.005
- Gaal, E. I., Tammela, T., Anisimov, A., Marbacher, S., Honkanen, P., Zarkada, G., et al. (2013). Comparison of vascular growth factors in the murine brain reveals placenta growth factor as prime candidate for CNS revascularization. *Blood* 122, 658–665. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-07-441527
- Getahun, D., Rhoads, G. G., Demissie, K., Lu, S. E., Quinn, V. P., Fassett, M. J., et al. (2013). In utero exposure to ischemic-hypoxic conditions et al. and attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Pediatrics* 131, e53–e61. doi: 10.1542/peds.2012-1298
- Gishti, O., Jaddoe, V. W., Felix, J. F., Reiss, I., Hofman, A., Ikram, M. K., et al. (2015). Influence of maternal angiogenic factors during pregnancy on microvascular structure in school-age children. *Hypertension* 65, 722–728. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.114.05008
- Griffith, M. I., Mann, J. R., and McDermott, S. (2011). The risk of intellectual disability in children born to mothers with preeclampsia or eclampsia with partial mediation by low birth weight. *Hypertens. Pregnancy* 30, 108–115. doi: 10.3109/10641955.2010.507837
- Jayet, P. Y., Rimoldi, S. F., Stuber, T., Salmon, C. S., Hutter, D., Rexhaj, E., et al. (2010). Pulmonary and systemic vascular dysfunction in young offspring of mothers with preeclampsia. *Circulation* 122, 488–494. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.110.941203
- Kajantie, E., Eriksson, J. G., Osmond, C., Thornburg, K., and Barker, D. J. (2009). Pre-eclampsia is associated with increased risk of stroke in the adult offspring: the Helsinki birth cohort study. *Stroke* 40, 1176–1180. doi: 10.1161/ STROKEAHA.108.538025
- Karumanchi, S. A. (2016). Angiogenic factors in preeclampsia: from diagnosis to therapy. *Hypertension* 67, 1072–1079. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.116. 06421
- Karumanchi, S. A. (2018). Angiogenic factors in pre-eclampsia: implications for clinical practice. BJOG 125:1396. doi: 10.1111/1471-0528.15180
- Kay, V. R., Tayade, C., Carmeliet, P., and Croy, B. A. (2017). Influences of placental growth factor on mouse retinal vascular development. *Dev. Dyn.* 246, 700–712. doi: 10.1002/dvdy.24540
- Kim, T., Lee, K., Son, B., and Jung, J. (2007). The effect of antipsychotic drug treatment on serum VEGF, sVEGFR-1, and sVEGFR-2 level in schizophrenia- a preliminary study. *Korean J. Biol. Psychiatry* 14, 232–240.

- Koch, S., and Claesson-Welsh, L. (2012). Signal transduction by vascular endothelial growth factor receptors. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med.* 2:a006502. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a006502
- Korevaar, T. I., Steegers, E. A., Schalekamp-Timmermans, S., Ligthart, S., de Rijke, Y. B., Visser, W. E., et al. (2014). Soluble Flt1 and placental growth factor are novel determinants of newborn thyroid (dys)function: the generation R study. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 99, E1627–E1634. doi: 10.1210/jc.2014-1884
- Krause, B., Sobrevia, L., and Casanello, P. (2009). Epigenetics: new concepts of old phenomena in vascular physiology. *Curr. Vas. Pharmacol.* 7, 513–520. doi: 10.2174/157016109789043883
- Kumai, Y., Ooboshi, H., Ibayashi, S., Ishikawa, E., Sugimori, H., Kamouchi, M., et al. (2007). Postischemic gene transfer of soluble Flt-1 protects against brain ischemia with marked attenuation of blood-brain barrier permeability. *J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab.* 27, 1152–1160. doi: 10.1038/sj.jcbfm.9600420
- Kvehaugen, A. S., Dechend, R., Ramstad, H. B., Troisi, R., Fugelseth, D., Staff, A. C., et al. (2011). Endothelial function and circulating biomarkers are disturbed in women and children after preeclampsia. *Hypertension* 58, 63–69. doi: 10.1161/ HYPERTENSIONAHA.111.172387
- Lecuyer, M., Laquerriere, A., Bekri, S., Lesueur, C., Ramdani, Y., Jegou, S., et al. (2017). PLGF, a placental marker of fetal brain defects after in utero alcohol exposure. Acta Neuropathol. Commun. 5:44. doi: 10.1186/s40478-017-0444-6
- Lee, S. C., Lee, K. Y., Kim, Y. J., Kim, S. H., Koh, S. H., and Lee, Y. J. (2010). Serum VEGF levels in acute ischaemic strokes are correlated with long-term prognosis. *Eur. J. Neurol.* 17, 45–51. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2009.02731.x
- Levine, R. J., Maynard, S. E., Qian, C., Lim, K. H., England, L. J., Yu, K. F., et al. (2004). Circulating angiogenic factors and the risk of preeclampsia. N. Engl. J. Med. 350, 672–683. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa031884
- Lewandowski, A. J., Davis, E. F., Yu, G., Digby, J. E., Boardman, H., Whitworth, P., et al. (2015). Elevated blood pressure in preterm-born offspring associates with a distinct antiangiogenic state and microvascular abnormalities in adult life. *Hypertension* 65, 607–614. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.114.04662
- Liu, H., Honmou, O., Harada, K., Nakamura, K., Houkin, K., Hamada, H., et al. (2006). Neuroprotection by PIGF gene-modified human mesenchymal stem cells after cerebral ischaemia. *Brain* 129(Pt 10), 2734–2745. doi: 10.1093/brain/ awl207
- Liu, X., Zhao, W., Liu, H., Kang, Y., Ye, C., Gu, W., et al. (2016). Developmental and functional brain impairment in offspring from preeclampsia-like rats. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 53, 1009–1019. doi: 10.1007/s12035-014-9060-710.1007/s12035-014-9060-7
- Lizano, P. L., Keshavan, M. S., Tandon, N., Mathew, I. T., Mothi, S. S., Montrose, D. M., et al. (2016). Angiogenic and immune signatures in plasma of young relatives at familial high-risk for psychosis and first-episode patients: a preliminary study. *Schizophr. Res.* 170, 115–122. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2015. 12.001
- Lizano, P. L., Yao, J. K., Tandon, N., Mothi, S. S., Montrose, D. M., and Keshavan, M. S. (2017). Association of sFlt-1 and worsening psychopathology in relatives at high risk for psychosis: a longitudinal study. *Schizophr. Res.* 183, 75–81. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2016.11.015
- Luna, R. L., Kay, V. R., Ratsep, M. T., Khalaj, K., Bidarimath, M., Peterson, N., et al. (2016). Placental growth factor deficiency is associated with impaired cerebral vascular development in mice. *Mol. Hum. Reprod.* 22, 130–142. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gav069
- Mak, L. E., Croy, B. A., Kay, V., Reynolds, J. N., Ratsep, M. T., Forkert, N. D., et al. (2018). Resting-state functional connectivity in children born from gestations complicated by preeclampsia: a pilot study cohort. *Pregnancy Hypertens*. 12, 23–28. doi: 10.1016/j.preghy.2018.02.004
- Maynard, S. E., and Karumanchi, S. A. (2011). Angiogenic factors and preeclampsia. Semin. Nephrol. 31, 33–46. doi: 10.1016/j.semnephrol.2010. 10.004
- Olmos, A., Diaz, L., Avila, E., Barrera, D., Lopez-Marure, R., Biruete, B., et al. (2013). Associations between insulin-like growth factor I, vascular endothelial growth factor and its soluble receptor 1 in umbilical serum and endothelial cells obtained from normotensive and preeclamptic pregnancies. *Growth Fact.* 31, 123–129. doi: 10.3109/08977194.2013.802692
- Olsson, A. K., Dimberg, A., Kreuger, J., and Claesson-Welsh, L. (2006). VEGF receptor signalling - in control of vascular function. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 7, 359–371. doi: 10.1038/nrm1911

- Pillai, A., Howell, K. R., Ahmed, A. O., Weinberg, D., Allen, K. M., Bruggemann, J., et al. (2016). Association of serum VEGF levels with prefrontal cortex volume in schizophrenia. *Mol. Psychiatry* 21, 686–692. doi: 10.1038/mp.2015.96
- Pinheiro, T. V., Brunetto, S., Ramos, J. G., Bernardi, J. R., and Goldani, M. Z. (2016). Hypertensive disorders during pregnancy and health outcomes in the offspring: a systematic review. J. Dev. Orig. Health Dis. 7, 391–407. doi: 10.1017/ S2040174416000209
- Rana, S., Karumanchi, S. A., and Lindheimer, M. D. (2014). Angiogenic factors in diagnosis, management, and research in preeclampsia. *Hypertension* 63, 198–202. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.113.02293
- Ratsep, M. T., Hickman, A. F., and Croy, B. A. (2016a). The Elsevier trophoblast research award lecture: impacts of placental growth factor and preeclampsia on brain development, behaviour, and cognition. *Placenta* 48(Suppl. 1), S40–S46. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2016.02.001
- Ratsep, M. T., Hickman, A. F., Maser, B., Pudwell, J., Smith, G. N., Brien, D., et al. (2016b). Impact of preeclampsia on cognitive function in the offspring. *Behav. Brain Res.* 302, 175–181. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2016.01.030S0166-4328(16) 30027-4
- Ratsep, M. T., Paolozza, A., Hickman, A. F., Maser, B., Kay, V. R., Mohammad, S., et al. (2016c). Brain structural and vascular anatomy is altered in offspring of pre-eclamptic pregnancies: a pilot study. *AJNR Am. J. Neuroradiol.* 37, 939–945. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A4640ajnr.A4640
- Roberts, J. M., and Escudero, C. (2012). The placenta in preeclampsia. Pregnancy Hypertens. 2, 72–83. doi: 10.1016/j.preghy.2012.01.001
- Robinson, M., Mattes, E., Oddy, W. H., de Klerk, N. H., Li, J., McLean, N. J., et al. (2009). Hypertensive diseases of pregnancy and the development of behavioral problems in childhood and adolescence: the Western Australian pregnancy cohort study. J. Pediatr. 154, 218–224. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2008.07.061
- Ruiz de Almodovar, C., Lambrechts, D., Mazzone, M., and Carmeliet, P. (2009). Role and therapeutic potential of VEGF in the nervous system. *Physiol. Rev.* 89, 607–648. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00031.2008
- Sakurai, Y., Ohgimoto, K., Kataoka, Y., Yoshida, N., and Shibuya, M. (2005). Essential role of Flk-1 (VEGF receptor 2) tyrosine residue 1173 in vasculogenesis in mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 1076–1081. doi: 10. 1073/pnas.0404984102
- Schlembach, D., Wallner, W., Sengenberger, R., Stiegler, E., Mortl, M., Beckmann, M. W., et al. (2007). Angiogenic growth factor levels in maternal and fetal blood: correlation with Doppler ultrasound parameters in pregnancies complicated by pre-eclampsia and intrauterine growth restriction. *Ultrasound Obstet. Gynecol.* 29, 407–413. doi: 10.1002/uog.3930
- Shalaby, F., Rossant, J., Yamaguchi, T. P., Gertsenstein, M., Wu, X. F., Breitman, M. L., et al. (1995). Failure of blood-island formation and vasculogenesis in Flk-1-deficient mice. *Nature* 376, 62–66. doi: 10.1038/376 062a0
- Shibuya, M. (2013). Vascular endothelial growth factor and its receptor system: physiological functions in angiogenesis and pathological roles in various diseases. J. Biochem. 153, 13–19. doi: 10.1093/jb/mvs136
- Spinillo, A., Iasci, A., Capuzzo, E., Egbe, T. O., Colonna, L., and Fazzi, E. (1994). Two-year infant neurodevelopmental outcome after expectant management and indicated preterm delivery in hypertensive pregnancies. *Acta Obstet. Gynecol. Scand.* 73, 625–629. doi: 10.3109/0001634940901 3455
- Staff, A. C., Braekke, K., Harsem, N. K., Lyberg, T., and Holthe, M. R. (2005). Circulating concentrations of sFlt1 (soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase 1) in fetal and maternal serum during pre-eclampsia. *Eur. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Reprod. Biol.* 122, 33–39. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2004.11.015
- Stark, M. J., Clifton, V. L., and Wright, I. M. (2009). Neonates born to mothers with preeclampsia exhibit sex-specific alterations in microvascular function. *Pediatr. Res.* 65, 292–295. doi: 10.1203/PDR.0b013e318193edf1
- Szymonowicz, W., and Yu, V. Y. (1987). Severe pre-eclampsia and infants of very low birth weight. Arch. Dis. Child. 62, 712–716. doi: 10.1136/adc.62.7.712
- Tenhola, S., Rahiala, E., Martikainen, A., Halonen, P., and Voutilainen, R. (2003). Blood pressure, serum lipids, fasting insulin, and adrenal hormones in 12-yearold children born with maternal preeclampsia. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 88, 1217–1222. doi: 10.1210/jc.2002-020903
- Thornburg, K. L. (2015). The programming of cardiovascular disease. J. Dev. Orig. Health Dis. 6, 366–376. doi: 10.1017/S2040174415001300

- Touwslager, R. N., Houben, A. J., Gielen, M., Zeegers, M. P., Stehouwer, C. D., Zimmermann, L. J., et al. (2012). Endothelial vasodilatation in newborns is related to body size and maternal hypertension. *J. Hypertens.* 30, 124–131. doi: 10.1097/HJH.0b013e32834d75c6
- Tsao, P. N., Wei, S. C., Su, Y. N., Chou, H. C., Chen, C. Y., and Hsieh, W. S. (2005). Excess soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase 1 and low platelet counts in premature neonates of preeclamptic mothers. *Pediatrics* 116, 468–472. doi: 10.1542/peds. 2004-2240
- Tuovinen, S., Eriksson, J. G., Kajantie, E., and Raikkonen, K. (2014). Maternal hypertensive pregnancy disorders and cognitive functioning of the offspring: a systematic review. J. Am. Soc. Hypertens. 8, 832.e1–847.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jash. 2014.09.005
- Tuovinen, S., Raikkonen, K., Kajantie, E., Pesonen, A. K., Heinonen, K., Osmond, C., et al. (2010). Depressive symptoms in adulthood and intrauterine exposure to pre-eclampsia: the Helsinki Birth Cohort Study. *BJOG* 117, 1236–1242. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.2010.02634.x
- Tuovinen, S., Raikkonen, K., Pesonen, A. K., Lahti, M., Heinonen, K., Wahlbeck, K., et al. (2012). Hypertensive disorders in pregnancy and risk of severe mental disorders in the offspring in adulthood: the Helsinki Birth Cohort Study. J. Psychiatr. Res. 46, 303–310. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2011.11.015
- Van den Bergh, B. R. (2011). Developmental programming of early brain and behaviour development and mental health: a conceptual framework. *Dev. Med. Child Neurol.* 53(Suppl. 4), 19–23. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8749.2011.0 4057.x
- Villar, J., Carroli, G., Wojdyla, D., Abalos, E., Giordano, D., Ba'aqeel, H., et al. (2006). Preeclampsia, gestational hypertension and intrauterine growth restriction, related or independent conditions? *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 194, 921–931. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2005.10.813
- Voller, S. B., Chock, S., Ernst, L. M., Su, E., Liu, X., Farrow, K. N., et al. (2014). Cord blood biomarkers of vascular endothelial growth (VEGF and sFlt-1) and postnatal growth: a preterm birth cohort study. *Early Hum. Dev.* 90, 195–200. doi: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2014.01.003
- Warshafsky, C., Pudwell, J., Walker, M., Wen, S. W., and Smith, G. N. (2016). Prospective assessment of neurodevelopment in children following a pregnancy complicated by severe pre-eclampsia. *BMJ Open* 6:e010884. doi: 10.1136/ bmjopen-2015-010884bmjopen-2015-010884
- Watson, E. C., Grant, Z. L., and Coultas, L. (2017). Endothelial cell apoptosis in angiogenesis and vessel regression. *Cell Mol. Life Sci.* 74, 4387–4403. doi: 10.1007/s00018-017-2577-y
- Watson, E. C., Koenig, M. N., Grant, Z. L., Whitehead, L., Trounson, E., Dewson, G., et al. (2016). Apoptosis regulates endothelial cell number and capillary vessel diameter but not vessel regression during retinal angiogenesis. *Development* 143, 2973–2982. doi: 10.1242/dev.137513
- Wu, C. S., Nohr, E. A., Bech, B. H., Vestergaard, M., Catov, J. M., and Olsen, J. (2009). Health of children born to mothers who had preeclampsia: a population-based cohort study. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 201, 269.e1–269.e10. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2009.06.060
- Wu, C. S., Nohr, E. A., Bech, B. H., Vestergaard, M., Catov, J. M., and Olsen, J. (2011). Diseases in children born to mothers with preeclampsia: a populationbased sibling cohort study. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 204, 157.e1–157.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2010.08.046
- Wu, C. S., Sun, Y., Vestergaard, M., Christensen, J., Ness, R. B., Haggerty, C. L., et al. (2008). Preeclampsia and risk for epilepsy in offspring. *Pediatrics* 122, 1072–1078. doi: 10.1542/peds.2007-3666
- Xia, L., Zhou, X. P., Zhu, J. H., Xie, X. D., Zhang, H., Wang, X. X., et al. (2007). Decrease and dysfunction of endothelial progenitor cells in umbilical cord blood with maternal pre-eclampsia. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. Res. 33, 465–474. doi: 10.1111/j.1447-0756.2007.00555.x
- Yesil, G. D., Gishti, O., Felix, J. F., Reiss, I., Ikram, M. K., Steegers, E. A., et al. (2016). Influence of maternal gestational hypertensive disorders on microvasculature in school-age children: the generation R study. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 184, 605–615. doi: 10.1093/aje/kww059
- Yu, G. Z., Aye, C. Y., Lewandowski, A. J., Davis, E. F., Khoo, C. P., Newton, L., et al. (2016). Association of maternal antiangiogenic profile at birth with early postnatal loss of microvascular density in offspring of hypertensive pregnancies. *Hypertension* 68, 749–759. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.116. 07586

Yu, X. D., Branch, D. W., Karumanchi, S. A., and Zhang, J. (2012). Preeclampsia and retinopathy of prematurity in preterm births. *Pediatrics* 130, e101–e107. doi: 10.1542/peds.2011-3881

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Lara, Acurio, Leon, Penny, Torres-Vergara and Escudero. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

